
Page 1 of 4 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, AUGUST 07, 2023 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL, 220 CLAY STREET 

 

 
 
Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular meeting of July 17, 2023. 

Agenda Revisions 

Special Presentations 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics relevant to City 
business.) 

Staff Updates 

Special Order of Business 

2. Public hearing on the proposed revised plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for 
the 2023 Sidewalk Assessment Project - Zone 1. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published 07/22/2023) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution approving and adopting the revised plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of 
cost for the 2023 Sidewalk Assessment Project - Zone 1. 

3. Continuation of a public hearing to consider entering into an Agreement for Private Development, 
and to consider conveyance of certain city-owned real estate to Ryan Companies US, Inc.  
 
a) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
b) Staff comments. 
 
c) Public comments. 
 
d) Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for Private Development, and 
approving and authorizing execution of a Deed Without Warranty conveying certain city-owned real 
estate to Ryan Companies US, Inc. 

Old Business 

1



Page 2 of 4 

4. Pass Ordinance #3031, amending the Zoning Map by removing approximately 2.26 acres of property 
located at 702 LeClair Street from the C-1, Commercial Zoning District and placing the same in the 
PC-2, Planned Commercial Zoning District, upon its third & final consideration. 

5. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a PC-2, Planned Commercial Zoning District 
Developmental Procedures Agreement with Randy W. Howe Revocable Trust, and approving a PC-
2, Planned Commercial Master Plan relative to construction of a warehouse/storage building. 

6. Pass Ordinance #3032, amending Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
allowance of vinyl siding on residential buildings with six or fewer dwelling units in the Neighborhood 
Frontages within the CD-DT, Downtown Character District, upon its third & final consideration. 

7. Pass Ordinance #3034, amending Chapter 19, Streets and Sidewalks, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to removal of snow and ice, upon its third & final consideration. 

8. Pass Ordinance #3035, amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicle, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to prohibiting parking on certain portions of Bluebell Road, upon its third & final 
consideration. 

9. Pass Ordinance #3036, amending Chapter 3, Advertising, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
political signs, upon its second consideration. 

10. Pass Ordinance #3037, amending Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
salaries for elected officials, upon its second consideration. 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 

discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

11. Receive and file the City Council Standing Committee minutes of July 17, 2023 relative to the 
following items: 
a) Grow Cedar Valley Update. 
b) Parking Permits for Downtown Residents. 
c) City Council Emails on City Website. 
d) Request for 4-Way Stop at the Lone Tree and Center Street Intersection.         

12. Approve the following recommendations of the Mayor relative to the appointment of members to 
Boards and Commissions: 
a) Nick Evens, Utilities Board of Trustees, term ending 08/31/2027. 
b) Sandy Thomas, Visitors & Tourism Board, term ending 07/01/2026. 

13. Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of June 2023. 

14. Approve a request for a temporary sign/banner to be located on city-owned property at 205 West 1st 
Street for 60 days. 

15. Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) Main Street Sweets, 307 Main Street, Special Class B retail native wine – renewal. 
b) Amigo, 5809 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - renewal. 
c) The Pump Haus Pub & Grill, 311 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - renewal. 
d) Wilbo, 118 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - renewal. 
e) Live to 9, 200 Block of State Street and 100 Block of East 2nd Street including adjacent sidewalks, 
Special Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service – 5-day permit. 
f) Kwik Star, 4515 Coneflower Parkway, Class B retail alcohol - new. 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

16. Resolution Calendar with items considered separately. 

17. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of Memorandum of Understanding with the Iowa 
Department of Revenue relative to participation in the State Setoff Program. 

2



Page 3 of 4 

18. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Master Services Agreement with CivicPlus 
relative to content management software for the City's web site. 

19. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with ByWater Solutions relative to 
an Integrated Library System (ILS) for the Waterloo and Cedar Falls Public Libraries. 

20. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with Tree Town Consultants, LLC 
for the purchase and training of a dual-purpose police dog. 

21. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a First Amendment to the Wellness Program 
Services Agreement with TMA @ Your Service, LLC, d/b/a “Wellworks For You” relative to a platform 
for the City’s employee wellness program. 

22. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Offer to Buy Real Estate and Acceptance for 
8,000 square feet of city-owned property adjacent to 6317 Development Drive within the West Viking 
Road Industrial Park. 

23. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Owner-Occupied Rehabilitation Contract with 
Daniels Home Improvement relative to a Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) housing 
rehabilitation project. 

24. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with Iowa Northland Regional 
Council of Governments (INRCOG) for administration and technical services related to Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG) Funding Project Delivery for FY2024 (Federal Fiscal Year 2023). 

25. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with Iowa Northland Regional 
Council of Governments (INRCOG) for technical services related to Home Investment Partnerships 
Program (HOME) Funding Project Delivery for FY2024 (Federal Fiscal Year 2023). 

26. Resolution approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the purchase of a pickup truck for 
the Parks Section. 

27. Resolution approving and authorizing submission of an Application for Site-Specific Traffic Safety 
Improvement Program (TSIP) funding to the Iowa Department of Transportation (IDOT) relative to 
the Prairie Parkway and Viking Road Intersection Improvements Project. 

28. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a License Agreement with Windstream Intellectual 
Property Services, LLC relative to installing a fiber optic telecommunications system within the public 
right-of-way along Leversee Road. 

29. Resolution approving the Certificate of Completion for the 2021 Public Sidewalk Repair and Infill 
Project. 

30. Resolution approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the work of Peterson Contractors, 
Inc. for the 2021 Street Construction Project, and approving and authorizing the transfer of funds 
from the Street Construction Fund, GO 2022, Sanitary Sewer Rental Fund and Golf Improvement 
Fund to the Street Repair Fund (LOST). 

31. Resolution approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the work of Peterson Contractors, 
Inc. for the 2022 Street Construction Project, and approving and authorizing the transfer of funds 
from the Street Construction Fund, GO 2022, Sanitary Sewer Rental Fund and Golf Improvement 
Fund to the Street Repair Fund (LOST). 

32. Resolution approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the work of Benton’s Sand & 
Gravel, Inc. for the Clay Street Park Water Quality Improvements Project. 

33. Resolution setting August 21, 2023 as the date of public hearing on the proposed conveyance of 
certain vacated city right-of-way along Hudson Road. 

3



Page 4 of 4 

34. Resolution setting August 21, 2023 as the date of public hearing on proposed amendments to 
Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to parking requirements for institutional uses 
in the Downtown Character District (CD-DT). 

Ordinances 

35. Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to establishing temporary long-term daily permits for municipal parking lots or facilities, upon 
its first consideration. 

36. Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to prohibiting parking on certain portions of Dakota Street, upon its first consideration. 

37. Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to establishing a 4-way stop at the intersection of Center Street & Lone Tree Road, upon its 
first consideration.  

Allow Bills and Claims 

38. Allow Bills and Claims for August 7, 2023. 

Council Updates and Announcements 

Council Referrals 

Executive Session 

39. Executive Session to discuss Property Acquisition per Iowa Code Section 21.5(1)(j) to discuss the 
purchase or sale of particular real estate only where premature disclosure could be reasonably 
expected to increase the price the governmental body would have to pay for that property or reduce 
the price the governmental body would receive for that property; and to discuss the City 
Administrator’s performance pursuant to Iowa Code Section 21.5(1)(i) and City Code Section 2-217. 

Adjournment 

4



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, JULY 17, 2023 
REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 

MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN PRESIDING 
  

The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, at 7:08 P.M. on the above date. Members present: Schultz, deBuhr, 
Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Absent: None. Mayor Green led the 
Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

54364 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that the minutes of the Regular 
Meeting of June 20, 2023 be approved as presented and ordered of record. City 
Clerk Danielsen noted a scrivener’s error on CR54352 that would be corrected to 
reflect Councilmember Dunn’s vote as a Nay. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54365 - Councilmembers agreed by consensus to Mayor Green’s request to consider 

item #11 on the Consent Calendar at this time.  
 
  It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Dunn to approve the following 

recommendations of the Mayor relative to the appointment of members to Boards 
and Commissions: 
a) Robert Seymour, Metropolitan Transit Board, 06/30/2026. 
b) Gregory Holt, Art and Culture Board, 07/01/2025. 
c) Matthew Hundley, Art and Culture Board, 07/01/2026. 
d) Matthew Wilson, Art and Culture Board, 07/01/2027. 
e) Sandy Benak, Health Trust Fund Board, 12/31/2028. 
f) Brent Johnson, Visitors & Tourism Board, 07/01/2026. 

 
   Motion carried unanimously. 
    

54366 -  Rosemary Beach, Cedar Falls, spoke about the Sturgis Falls Celebration and 
expressed appreciation for all of the volunteers who help make the event 
successful. 

 
  Larry Stumme, Pastor at St. Paul Lutheran Church, spoke about the 24/7 Wall 

Street Journal (WSJ) report that ranked Waterloo/Cedar Falls one of the worst 
cities for Black Americans and requested coordinated efforts to improve by 2030. 

 
  Tim Troyer, Cedar Falls, requested the sidewalk assessment for his property be 

removed due to communication with engineering staff and his understanding that 
the sidewalk didn’t need to be replaced. 

 
  Michael Blackwell, Cedar Falls, referenced the 24/7 WSJ report and spoke about 

racism and quality of life, and requested cities coordinate efforts for 
improvement. 

 
  Charles Pearson, Iowa African American Heritage Trail, spoke about Cedar Falls 

history of Black Americans and requested that cities come together to develop 

5

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

initiatives to improve the quality of life for Black Americans in the metro area. 
  
54367 -     Public Safety Director Berte announced National Night Out at the Public Safety 

Center on August 1st from 4:30 - 7:00 PM. 
 
54368 - Mayor Green announced that this was the time and place for a hearing on a 

proposed resolution adopting and levying the final schedule of assessments for 
the 2022 Sidewalk Assessment Project, Zone 5.  City Engineer Wicke provided a 
brief summary of the sidewalk assessment process. Mayor Green noted Mr. 
Troyer’s previous comments during public forum and Melinda Severson also 
commented. Both provided pictures to Public Works Director Schrage. Director 
Schrage noted that he would remove both addresses from the list so they could 
be reviewed. 

 
54369 -    It was moved by Kruse and seconded by deBuhr that Resolution #23,246, 

adopting and levying the final schedule of assessments for the 2022 Sidewalk 
Assessment Project - Zone 5, as amended, be adopted. Following comments 
and questions by Councilmembers Ganfield and Kruse, and responses by Public 
Works Director Schrage and City Clerk Danielsen, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, 
Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #23,246 
duly passed and adopted. 

    
54370 - Mayor Green announced that in accordance with the public notices of June 9, 

2023, and July 7, 2023, this was the time and place for a public hearing on the 
FY2024 (FFY2023) Annual Action Plan for Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) and HOME Program Funding. It was then moved by Kruse and 
seconded by Harding that the proof of publication of notices of hearing be 
received and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54371 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed plan. Upon being advised that there were no written communications 
on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Planner III Pezley provided a 
summary of the proposed plan. There being no one else present wishing to 
speak about the proposed plan, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and 
passed to the next order of business. 

 
54372 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Schultz that Resolution #23,247, 

approving the FY2024 (FFY2023) Annual Action Plan for Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG) and HOME Program Funding, be adopted. 
Following a question by Councilmember Ganfield, and responses by Planner III 
Pezley and Community Development Director Sheetz, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, 
Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #23,247 
duly passed and adopted. 

 

6

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

54373 - Mayor Green announced that in accordance with the public notice of July 6, 
2023, this was the time and place for a public hearing on a proposal to consider 
entering into an Agreement for Private Development, and to consider 
conveyance of certain city-owned real estate to Ryan Companies US, Inc. It was 
then moved by Kruse and seconded by Schultz that the proof of publication of 
notice of hearing be received and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54374 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed agreement. Upon being advised that there were no written 
communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Economic 
Development Coordinator Graham commented on the proposed agreement and 
requested that the public hearing be continued. It was then moved by Ganfield 
and seconded by Kruse to continue the hearing to the August 7, 2023 City 
Council meeting. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54375 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Ordinance #3031, 

amending the Zoning Map by removing approximately 2.26 acres of property 
located at 702 LeClair Street from the C-1, Commercial Zoning District and 
placing the same in the PC-2, Planned Commercial Zoning District, be passed 
upon its second consideration. Following due consideration by the Council, the 
Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, 
Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
54376 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Ordinance #3032, 

amending Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to allowance of 
vinyl siding on residential buildings with six or fewer dwelling units in the 
Neighborhood Frontages within the CD-DT, Downtown Character District, be 
passed upon its second consideration. Following due consideration by the 
Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Ganfield, 
Sires. Nay: Harding, Dunn. Motion carried. 

 
54377 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Ordinance #3033, 

amending Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
salaries for elected officials, be passed upon its second consideration.  Following 
comments by Councilmembers Kruse, Dunn, Schultz, Harding and deBuhr, and 
Mayor Green, it was moved by Dunn and seconded by Schultz to amend the 
motion to strike $12,000 per year and change it to $8,500 per year. Following 
comments by Councilmembers Kruse, Dunn, Harding, deBuhr and Sires, and 
response by Director Rodenbeck, the motion to amend carried 4-3, with Kruse, 
Harding and Ganfield voting Nay. Following due consideration by the Council, the 
Mayor put the question on the motion as amended and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, 
Dunn. Nay: deBuhr, Sires. Motion carried for passage of new Ordinance #3037 
upon its first consideration.  

 
54378 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by deBuhr that Ordinance #3034, 

7

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

amending Chapter 19, Streets and Sidewalks, of the Code of Ordinances relative 
to removal of snow and ice, be passed upon its second consideration. Following 
due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and 
upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, 
deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
54379 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Kruse that Ordinance #3035, 

amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicle, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to prohibiting parking on certain portions of Bluebell Road, be passed 
upon its second consideration. Following due consideration by the Council, the 
Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, 
Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
54380 - It was moved by Harding and seconded by Dunn that the following items on the 

Consent Calendar be received, filed and approved: 
 

 Receive and file the City Council Standing Committee minutes of June 20, 2023 
relative to the following items: 
a) Youth Commission Presentation. 
b) Longevity of Board and Commission Members. 
c) Public Safety Update. 

 Receive and file a communication from the Civil Service Commission relative to 
the certified list for the position of Public Safety Officer. 

 Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of May 2023. 

 Approve an Order Accepting Acknowledgment/Settlement Agreement with 
National Cigar Store, d/b/a Hillstreet News & Tobacco, 2217 College Street, for a 
second tobacco violation. 

 Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) Chuck E. Cheese's, 5911 University Avenue, Special Class C retail alcohol - 
renewal. 
b) Buffalo Wild Wings, 6406 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor 
service - renewal. 
c) Cypress Lounge, 209 A State Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - 
renewal. 
d) Hy-Vee Market Grille, 6301 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol - 
renewal. 
e) Octopus, 2205 College Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - 
renewal. 
f) The Black Hawk Hotel/Bar Winslow, 115-117 Main Street, Class C retail 
alcohol - renewal. 
g) The Library, 2222 College Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - 
renewal. 
h) The Other Place, 4214 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor 
service - renewal. 

8

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

i) Wal-Mart, 525 Brandilynn Boulevard, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 
j) Wal-Mart, 525 Brandilynn Boulevard, Class E retail alcohol – change in 
ownership. 
k) Dollar General, 1922 Valley Park Drive, Class B retail alcohol - new. 
l) King Star, 2228 Lincoln Street, Class B retail alcohol - new. 
m) Le Petit, 119 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol – new. 

 Motion carried unanimously.    

54381 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Schultz that the following resolutions 
be introduced and adopted: 

 
 Resolution #23,248, approving and adopting a revised job classification for the 

position of Education Coordinator at the Hearst Center for the Arts. 

 Resolution #23,249, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with 
Nelson & Schaefer Construction LLC relative to renovations at the Recreation 
Center. 

 Resolution #23,250, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with 
Scott Easton Design for graphic design services relative to the 2024 Cedar Falls 
Visitor Guide. 

 Resolution #23,251, approving a Shopping Center (S-1) Zoning District site plan 
for façade improvements at 6207 University Avenue. 

 Resolution #23,252, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for 
Elevator Maintenance with TK Elevator Company, f/n/a O’Keefe Elevator 
Company, Inc., relative to elevator maintenance services for city-owned elevators 
from August 1, 2023 thru July 31, 2024. 

 Resolution #23,253, approving and authorizing execution of a 28E Agreement 
with Black Hawk County for Maintenance of Certain Right-of-Ways at or Near the 
City Limits. 

 Resolution #23,254, approving and accepting two Warranty Deeds, in 
conjunction with the North Cedar Heights Area Reconstruction Project. 

 Resolution #23,255, approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental 
Agreement No. 2 to the Professional Service Agreement with Foth Infrastructure 
& Environment, LLC for additional design services relative to the Center Street 
Corridor Streetscape Project. 

 Resolution #23,256, approving and authorizing execution of an Owner Purchase 
Agreement, in conjunction with the Ashworth Drive Roadway Extension Project. 

 Resolution #23,257, approving and accepting the contract and bond of Blacktop 
Service Company for the 2023 Seal Coat Project. 

 Resolution #23,258, receiving and filing, and setting August 7, 2023 as the date 
of public hearing on the proposed revised plans, specifications, form of contract 

9

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 6 - 

 

& estimate of cost for the 2023 Sidewalk Assessment Project – Zone 1.  

Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #23,248 through #23,258 duly 
passed and adopted. 

54382 -  It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that a Resolution approving 
and authorizing execution of a Consolidated Public Safety Communications 28E 
Agreement with participating government agencies in Black Hawk County relative 
to providing consolidated dispatch and communications services, be adopted. 
Following comments and questions by Councilmembers Ganfield, Dunn, Schultz, 
Harding, deBuhr, Sires and Kruse, and responses by City Attorney Rogers, 
Mayor Green and Public Safety Director Berte, the Mayor put the question on the 
original motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers 
voted. Aye: Schultz, Sires. Nay: deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Dunn. Motion 
failed. 

54383 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Ganfield that Ordinance #3036, 
amending Chapter 3, Advertising, of the Code of Ordinances relative to political 
signs, be passed upon its first consideration. Following a question by 
Councilmember Ganfield and response by City Attorney Rogers, the Mayor put 
the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, 
Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
54384 -  It was moved by Harding and seconded by deBuhr that the bills and claims of 

July 17, 2023 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer be 
authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper funds in 
payment of the same. Following a comment by Councilmember Harding, the 
Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, 
Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
54385 - Councilmember Dunn announced the 36th Annual Cedar River Cleanup on July 

29 and the Cedar River Festival on July 30, at Gateway Park from 12PM – 7PM. 
 
  Councilmembers deBuhr and Sires recognized Scout Troop 55 in attendance at 

the meeting. 
 
54386 - It was moved by Harding and seconded by Schultz that the meeting be 

adjourned at 8:36 P.M. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
  ________________________________ 
                                                                  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

10

Item 1.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Brett Armstrong, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: August 7th, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: 2023 Sidewalk Assessment Project – Zone 1 
  SW-000-3301 
  Public Hearing 
 
Submitted within for City Council Approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs 
and Quantities for the 2023 Sidewalk Assessment Project – Zone 1.  
 
This project involves the replacement of deficient sidewalk adjacent to various property owners. 
The project will replace the deficient sidewalk for the adjacent property owner and assess the 
cost of replacement to the property owner.   
 
Once the replacement has been completed, the Engineering Division will submit a bill to the City 
Clerk. The City Clerk will then send notice of a bill in the mail to the adjacent property owner. 
The adjacent property owner will have 30 days to pay the bill without interest or penalty. If the 
adjacent property owner fails to pay the bill in 30 days, the cost of replacement will be applied to 
the property owners’ property taxes. 
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $104,724.40.  
 
The Engineering Division recommends approving the Plans, Specifications and Estimate of 
Costs and Quantities for the 2023 Sidewalk Assessment Project – Zone 1.  
 
xc: David Wicke, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
  

11

Item 2.



ITEM ITEM UNIT TOTAL

NO. CODE DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE QUANTITY COST

1 2010-108-D-3 OFF SITE TOPSOIL C.Y. $100.00 26.34 2,634.00$          

2 7030-108-A-0 REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK S.Y. $90.00 367.90 33,111.00$        

3 7030-108-E-0 SIDEWALK REPLACEMENT, P.C.C., CLASS "C", 4 INCH S.Y. $125.00 357.28 44,660.00$        

4 7030-108-E-0 SIDEWALK REPLACEMENT, P.C.C., CLASS "C", 6 INCH S.Y. $150.00 10.62 1,593.00$          

5 8030-108-A-0 TEMPORARY TRAFFIC CONTROL L.S. $15,000.00 1.00 15,000.00$        

6 9010-108-B-0 SEEDING, FERTILIZING, AND MULCHING FOR HYDRAULIC SEEDING S.F. $5.50 1404.80 7,726.40$          

$104,724.40

BID TABULATION

2023 SIDEWALK ASSESSMENT PROJECT
CITY PROJECT NO. SW - 000 - 3301

ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE

TOTAL PROJECT ESTIMATE

12

Item 2.



    ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: July 31, 2023 

SUBJECT:      Ryan Companies US, Inc. Economic Development Project 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
For the past several months, staff has been working with representatives of Ryan 
Companies US, Inc. on an industrial park project which will result in the construction of 
a minimum 40,000 square foot industrial warehouse building for a client of theirs. The 
proposed project will occur on Lots 12 and 13 of West Viking Road Industrial Park 
Phase V, which is part of the new industrial park expansion area that the City has been 
preparing for development over the past year. This new facility will have a minimum 
building valuation and permit valuation of $4,000,000 and a total project minimum 
assessed valuation of $4,747,000 (including land). 

DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT 
 

As noted in the Introduction, the proposed building will be a minimum of 40,000 square 
foot in size and will be located at the southwest corner of Venture Way and Innovation 
Drive in the new expansion area of the West Viking Road Industrial Park (see attached 
map for location). The proposed project will have a minimum building valuation of 
$4,000,000, and a total project valuation including land of $4,747,000. Ryan Companies 
plans to commence construction this year with completion anticipated within 24 months.  

 

COMPANY PROFILE 
 

Ryan Companies US, Inc. is a national Developer and Builder with a longstanding 
presence in the Midwest and a great history in Cedar Falls.  Since being founded in 
1938, Ryan Companies has been a trusted partner in helping clients achieve their real 
estate goals. With offices across the country, including three Midwest locations, and a 
team of experts, Ryan has earned a reputation for integrity, quality and dependability by 
prioritizing client relationships, finding creative solutions, staying nimble through tight 
deadlines and challenges and leveraging the collective insight of our construction, 
design, real estate management, development and capital markets services. 
 

13

Item 3.



The Ryan team is grateful for the opportunity to work with the community of Cedar Falls 
again for this distribution project.  This project will be located in the Cedar Falls 
Industrial Park and bring additional investment and employment opportunities to the 
region.   
 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVES 

Land Incentive 

 

For this proposed project, Ryan Companies US, Inc. would receive at no cost, Lots 12 
and 13 of West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase V. The two lots total approximately 9 
acres in size, of which this size property is needed for this project, as there is a semi-
truck access and delivery area on the north side of the building, employee parking on 
the east side of the building, and delivery truck parking and staging area on the south 
side of the building. Although the land incentive of donating 9 acres of land for a 
minimum 40,000 square foot building is more land than is typical for a building of this 
size, you can see on the proposed site plan that the developer will be utilizing the entire 
site for their operation, with little or no excess useable areas.  

Industrial Partial Property Tax Exemption 

 
Consistent with our ongoing local economic development incentive guidelines, the City 
of Cedar Falls typically will consider a Five-Year Partial Property Tax Exemption on 
projects having a minimum assessed valuation of $1,200,000+.  Section 8.11 of the 
Agreement for Private Development references sections 21-48 through 21-57 of the 
Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances and Chapter 427B of the Iowa Code with respect to the 
provisions of the applicable partial property tax exemption. For this proposed project, 
the following exemption schedule is estimated using the existing industrial tax 
rate/valuation and projecting annual building property taxes of $124,248: 
 

Year  % Exemption  $ Abated  $ Amount Paid  $ Total Taxes  
         

1  75%  $93,186  $31,062  $124,248 
2  60%  $74,549  $49,699  $124,248 
3  45%  $55,912  $68,336  $124,248 
4  30%  $37,274  $86,974  $124,248 
5  15%       $18,637   $105,611  $124,248 

    $279,558  $341,682    $621,239 
 
It should be noted that following City Council consideration of the Agreement for Private 
Development, an actual Ordinance will be drafted and adopted implementing the 
proposed exemption schedule noted above. The Ordinance granting the applicable 
partial property tax exemption will be presented to City Council once construction of the 
new facility has commenced. 
 

14

Item 3.



Conclusion 

 
As this memorandum indicates, Ryan Companies US, Inc. is proposing to construct a 
new minimum 40,000 square foot industrial warehouse facility on Lots 12 and 13 of 
West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase V.  The proposed new construction building 
project will have a minimum building permit valuation of $4,000,000 and a total 
Minimum Assessed Valuation of $4,747,000 including land.  Construction is anticipated 
to commence this year with completion anticipated within 24 months. 
 
The Agreement for Private Development by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
and Ryan Companies US, Inc. has been reviewed by both parties, and is attached for 
your review and approval. 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
Staff recommends that the City Council adopt and approve the following: 
 
1. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for Private 

Development and a Minimum Assessment Agreement by and between the City 
of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and Ryan Companies US, Inc., and approving and 
authorizing execution of a Deed Without Warranty conveying title to certain real 
estate to Ryan Companies US, Inc. 

 
If you have any questions regarding this proposed economic development project, 
please feel free to let me know. 
 
xc: Ron Gaines, P.E., City Administrator 
 
         
        
 
 
 

15

Item 3.



De
ve

lop
me

nt 
Dr

W Viking Rd

Inn
ova

tio
n D

r

Technology Pkwy

Capital Way

Venture Way

S U
nio

n R
d

Hawkeye
Corrugated

Box

¨
1 " = 500 '

Bossard

Project Location

Ryan Companies US, Inc.
40,000 SF Industrial
Warehouse Facility

16

Item 3.



Sanitary Stub Post

Storm Intake
Rim=975.45
F.L.=971.71 6" CMP N
F.L.=971.79 6" CMP S
F.L.=970.84 15" RCP E

Storm Intake
Rim=974.15
F.L.=970.55 6" CMP S
F.L.=970.64 6" CMP N
F.L.=969.17 18" RCP W
F.L.=969.16 24" RCP E

F.L.=970.76 18" RCP FES

Storm Intake
Rim=971.93
F.L.=968.68 6" CMP S
F.L.=968.80 6" CMP N
F.L.=967.16 15" RCP E

Storm Intake
Rim=968.36
F.L.=965.25 6" CMP S
F.L.=965.25 6" CMP N
F.L.=963.33 15" RCP E

Sanitary Stub Per Plan

F.L.=962.23 24" RCP FES

Storm MH
Rim=965.75
F.L.=962.43 6" CMP E
F.L.=961.88 6" CMP W
F.L.=959.78 24" RCP S

Storm Intake
Rim=965.09
F.L.=961.65 15" RCP N
F.L.=959.86 15" RCP W
F.L.=959.71 24" RCP E

Storm Intake
Rim=965.09
F.L.=963.51 6" CMP W
F.L.=963.41 6" CMP E
F.L.=961.70 15" RCP N
F.L.=961.69 15" RCP W
F.L.=961.63 15" RCP E

Storm Intake
Rim=969.49
F.L.=966.33 6" CMP W
F.L.=966.59 6" CMP E
F.L.=964.66 15" RCP N
F.L.=964.65 15" RCP S
F.L.=964.64 15" RCP E

Black Dirt Stockpile
Not Measured for Volume

Outline Shown Only

FES Per Plan (Buried)

970

97
5 97
5

975

980

971
972

973

974

976
97

6

97
6

97
7

97
7

97
7

97
8

97
8

97
8

97
9

97
9

97
9

981

982

983

97
5

97
5

97
1

97
2

97
3

97
4

97
4

97
4

97
6

97
6

965

970

975

980

963
964
966

967

968

969

971

972

973

974

976

977
978

979

981

98
2

965
963964

966966967

96
8969

975

973974
97

897
8

97
9

97
9

IN
N

O
VA

TI
O

N
 D

R
IV

E

VENTURE    WAY

IN
N

O
VA

TI
O

N
 D

R
IV

E

BUILDING
FFE= 976.50

LOT 8

LOT 9

LOT 15

LOT 16

LOT 14

LOT 3LOT 4 LOT 1LOT 2

LOT 17
LOT 11

LOT 12

LOT 13

V:
\P

ro
je

ct
s\

20
23

\1
23

.0
14

6.
01

\C
AD

D
\S

P_
12

30
14

6_
SI

T.
dw

g 
JE

R
EM

Y 
W

 M
C

C
O

R
M

IC
K,

 O
VE

R
AL

L 
SI

TE
 L

AY
O

U
T,

 2
02

3/
05

/2
5,

 1
1:

23
 A

M
, A

N
SI

 F
U

LL
 B

LE
ED

 D
 (3

4.
00

 X
 2

2.
00

 IN
C

H
ES

)

BY
DA

TE
R

EV
IS

IO
N

M
AR

K
Sc

al
e:

Te
ch

ni
ci

an
:

T-
R

-S
:

SN
YD

ER
 & 

AS
SO

CIA
TE

S, 
INC

. 
|

C
he

ck
ed

 B
y:

En
gi

ne
er

:

D
at

e:

1"
 =

Pr
oj

ec
t N

o:
Sh

ee
t

Project No:

Sheet

27
27

 S
.W

. S
N

YD
ER

 B
LV

D
AN

KE
N

Y,
 IO

W
A 

50
02

3
51

5-
96

4-
20

20
 | 

w
w

w
.s

ny
de

r-a
ss

oc
ia

te
s.

co
m

ED
C

JW
M

JF
S

05
-0

4-
20

23

60
'

12
3.

01
46

.0
1

C
30

0

123.0146.01

C300

PR
O

JE
C

T 
PA

N
TH

ER
O

VE
R

A
LL

 S
IT

E 
LA

YO
U

T
C

ED
A

R
 F

A
LL

S,
 IA

R
EV

IS
ED

 A
S 

PE
R

 O
W

N
ER

R
EV

IS
ED

 A
S 

PE
R

 O
W

N
ER

R
EV

IS
ED

 A
S 

PE
R

 C
IT

Y 
C

O
M

M
EN

TS
 

5-
1-

23
5-

18
-2

3
5-

25
-2

3
 

JW
M

JW
M

JW
M 

123 

TT
N

-R
R

W
-S

S

FEET

0 60

17

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Armada Van 24' x 8'



 

  
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT  
 
 
 

BY AND BETWEEN 
 
 
 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
 

AND 
 
 

RYAN COMPANIES US, INC. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

18

Item 3.



2 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

 

 

ARTICLE I.  DEFINITIONS………………………………………………..  6 

Section 1.1.  Definitions……………………………………………… 6 

 

ARTICLE II.  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES………………  8 

Section 2.1.  Representations and Warranties of the City……………  8 

Section 2.2.  Representations and Warranties of Developer.….……..  9 

 

ARTICLE III.  CONSTRUCTION OF MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS…..  11 

Section 3.1.  Construction of Minimum Improvements…………….  11                                                                     

Section 3.2 Building Permit Valuation Amount…………………….  12 

Section 3.3.  Construction Plans……………………………………… 12 

Section 3.4.  Commencement and Completion of Construction……… 12 

Section 3.5.  Certificate of Completion………………………………  13 

 

ARTICLE IV.  RESTRICTIONS UPON USE OF DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 13 

Section 4.1.  Restrictions on Use……………………………………… 13 

 

ARTICLE V.  INSURANCE AND CONDEMNATION………………………… 14 

Section 5.1.  Insurance Requirements………………………………… 14 

Section 5.2. Condemnation………………………………………….. 17 

Section 5.3. Reconstruction or Payment…………………………….. 17 

 

ARTICLE VI.  MINIMUM ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT AND OTHER 

COVENANTS……………………………………………………………….. 17 

 Section 6.1 Execution of Minimum Assessment Agreement………  17 

Section 6.2. Maintenance of Properties……………………………..  18 

Section 6.3 Maintenance of Records……………………………….  18 

Section 6.4. Compliance with Laws………………………………...  18 

Section 6.5. Real Property Taxes….……………………………….  18 

Section 6.6.   Sales Tax………………………………………………  19 

Section 6.7.   Utility Usage…………………….…………………….  19 

Section 6.8.   Annual Certification………………..………………….  20 

Section 6.9 Use of Tax Increments…………………………………  20 

Section 6.10. Opinion of Counsel……………………………………  20 

 Section 6.11. Provisions To Be Included In Leases Covering Development 

   Property……………………………………………….  20 

 Section 6.12 Relocation .......................................................................  20 

19

Item 3.



3 

 

 

ARTICLE VII.  PROHIBITIONS AGAINST ASSIGNMENT AND 

TRANSFER………………………………………………………………….  21 

Section 7.1.  Representation As to Development……………………… 21 

Section 7.2.  Prohibition Against Transfer of Property and Assignment of 

Agreement……………..………………………………  21 

Section 7.3.  Approvals………………………………………………  23 

Section 7.4 Transfer of Interest in Developer or Transfer of 

  Interest in Development Property to Permitted  

  Transferees .......................................................................  24 

Section 7.5   Prohibition Against Use as Non-Taxable or Centrally 

  Assessed Property……………………………………….. 24 

 

ARTICLE VIII.  CONVEYANCE OF DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY; 

CONDITIONS……………………………………………………………….. 25 

Section 8.1.   Conveyance of Development Property………………...  25 

Section 8.2.   Form of Deed…………………………………………… 25 

Section 8.3.   Condition of Property; Care and Maintenance…………. 25 

Section 8.4.   Environmental Matters…………………………………. 25 

Section 8.5.   Survey and Platting…………………………………….. 26 

Section 8.6.   Time and Place for Closing and Delivery of Deed……... 26 

Section 8.7.   Recordation of Deed……………………………………. 26 

Section 8.8.   Abstract of Title………………………………………… 26 

Section 8.9.   Conditions Precedent to Conveyance of Property……… 26 

Section 8.10. Failure to Commence Construction….…………….......  27 

Section 8.11. Partial Property Tax Exemption…………………..........           27 

 

ARTICLE IX.  INDEMNIFICATION………………………………………  28 

Section 9.1.  Release and Indemnification Covenants……………  28 

 

ARTICLE X.  REMEDIES………………………………………………  29 

Section 10.1.  Events of Default Defined…………….………………  29 

Section 10.2   Remedies on Default………………………………….  30 

Section 10.3  No Remedy Exclusive………………………………..  32 

Section 10.4  No Implied Waiver……………………………………  32 

Section 10.5   Agreement to Pay Attorneys' Fees and Expenses……..  32 

 

ARTICLE XI.  MISCELLANEOUS………………………………………..  33 

Section 11.1.  Conflict of Interest……………………………………  33 

Section 11.2  Non-Discrimination…………………………………… 33 

Section 11.3.  Notices………………………………………………...  33 

Section 11.4.  Titles of Articles and Sections………………………… 34 

Section 11.5.  Provisions Not Merged With Deed……………………… 34 

20

Item 3.



4 

 

Section 11.6.  Governing Law………………………………………… 34 

Section 11.7.  Entire Agreement……………………………………… 34 

Section 11.8.    Successors and Assigns……………………………  34 

Section 11.9.    Termination Date……………………………………… 34 

Section 11.10.  Memorandum of Agreement………..……………….. 34 

Section 11.11.  Immediate Undertaking……………………………… 34 

Section 11.12.  No Partnership or Joint Venture……………………… 34 

Section 11.13.  Captions……………………………………………… 35 

Section 11.14.  Number and Gender of Words………………………  35 

Section 11.15.  Invalid Provisions……………………………………  35 

Section 11.16.  Multiple Counterparts… ……………………………  35 

Section 11.17.  Authorization………… ……………………………..  35 

Section 11.18.  Time of the Essence… ………………………………  35 

Section 11.19.  Survival…………… … ……………………………..  35 

Section 11.20.  Brokers……………………………………………….  36 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A  Development Property…………………………………. 39 

EXHIBIT B   Minimum Improvements………………..……………..  40 

EXHIBIT C  Certificate of Completion……………………………… 41 

EXHIBIT D  Minimum Assessment Agreement…………………….. 43 

EXHIBIT E  Form of Legal Opinion………………………………… 47 

EXHIBIT F  Memorandum of Agreement for Private Development... 49 

EXHIBIT G  Form of Deed…………………………………………..  52 

  

21

Item 3.



5 

 

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

 

 THIS AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT (hereinafter called 

"Agreement"), is made on the _____ day of __________________, 2023, to be effective as 

of the ______ day of _____________________, 2023, by and between the CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, a municipality (hereinafter called "City"), established pursuant to 

the Code of the State of Iowa and acting under the authorization of Chapters 15A and 403 

of the Code of Iowa, 2023 (Chapter 403 hereinafter called "Urban Renewal Act"); and Ryan 

Companies US, Inc. (hereinafter called the "Developer"),  a Minnesota corporation having 

its principal place of business at 533 South Third Street, Suite 100, Minneapolis, MN 55415. 

 

 WITNESSETH: 

 

 WHEREAS, in furtherance of the objectives of the Urban Renewal Act, the City has 

undertaken a program for the development of an economic development area and, in this 

connection, is engaged in carrying out urban renewal project activities in an area known as 

the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area (“Area” or “Urban 

Renewal Area”) as set forth in the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal 

Plan, as amended (“Plan” or “Urban Renewal Plan”); and 

 

 WHEREAS, a copy of the foregoing Urban Renewal Plan, as amended, has been 

recorded among the land records in the office of the Recorder of Black Hawk County, Iowa; 

and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Developer desires to acquire certain real property located in the 

foregoing Urban Renewal Plan and as more particularly described in Exhibit A attached 

hereto and made a part hereof (which property as so described is hereinafter referred to as 

the "Development Property"); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Developer is willing to develop the Development Property for and 

in accordance with the uses specified in the Urban Renewal Plan and in accordance with 

this Agreement by constructing certain Minimum Improvements (as hereafter defined) on 

the Development Property; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City believes that the development of the Development Property 

pursuant to this Agreement and the fulfillment generally of this Agreement, are in the vital 

and best interests of the residents of the City, and in accord with the public purposes and 

provisions of the applicable State and local laws and requirements under which the 

foregoing project has been undertaken and is being assisted, including but not limited to 

Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual obligations of 

the parties hereto, each of them does hereby covenant and agree with the others as follows: 

22

Item 3.



6 

 

 

ARTICLE I.  DEFINITIONS 

 

 Section 1.1.  Definitions.  In addition to other definitions set forth in this Agreement, 

all capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the following 

meanings unless a different meaning clearly appears from the context: 

 

 Agreement means this Agreement and all Exhibits hereto, as the same may be from 

time to time modified, amended or supplemented. 

 

 Assessor's Minimum Actual Value means the minimum actual value, before rollback, 

of the Minimum Improvements and the Development Property for calculation and 

assessment of real property taxes as set forth in the Minimum Assessment Agreement.  

 

 Certificate of Completion means a certification in the form of the certificate attached 

hereto as Exhibit C and hereby made a part of this Agreement. 

 

 City or Cedar Falls means the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, or any successor to its 

functions.   

 

 Code or Code of Iowa means the Code of Iowa, 2023, as amended. 

 

 Construction Plans means the plans, specifications, drawings and related documents 

of the construction work to be performed by the Developer on the Development Property; 

the plans (a) shall be as detailed as the plans, specifications, drawings and related documents 

which are submitted to the building inspector of the City, and (b) shall include at least the 

following: (1) site plan; (2) foundation plan; (3) basement plans; (4) floor plan for each 

floor; (5) cross sections of each (length and width); (6) elevations (all sides); and (7) 

landscape plan. 

 

 County means the County of Black Hawk, Iowa. 

 

 Deed means the form of Quit Claim Deed substantially in the form contained in 

Exhibit G attached hereto, by which the City shall convey the Development Property to the 

Developer. 

 

 Developer means Ryan Companies US, Inc.  

 

 Development Property means that portion of the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 

Corridor Urban Renewal Project Plan of the City described in Exhibit A hereto. 

 

 Event of Default means any of the events described in Section 10.1 of this Agreement. 

 

23

Item 3.



7 

 

 

 Industrial Use Warehouse means the Minimum Improvements. 

 

 Mortgage means any mortgage or security agreement in which the Developer has 

granted a mortgage or other security interest in the Development Property, or any portion 

or parcel thereof, or any improvements constructed thereon. 

 

 Net Proceeds means any proceeds paid by an insurer to the Developer under a policy 

or policies of insurance required to be provided and maintained by the Developer pursuant 

to Article V of this Agreement and remaining after deducting all expenses (including fees 

and disbursements of counsel) incurred in the collection of such proceeds. 

 

 Ordinance shall mean Ordinance(s) of the City under which the taxes levied on the 

taxable property in the Urban Renewal Area shall be divided, with a portion of said taxes to 

be paid into the Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund, referred to and authorized 

by Section 403.19(2) of the Code of Iowa. 

 

 Minimum Improvements shall mean the construction of an industrial use warehouse 

totaling at least 40,000 square feet of space, together with all related site improvements 

described in the Construction Plans, as outlined in Exhibit B hereto. 

 

 Project shall mean the construction and operation of the Minimum Improvements, as 

described in this Agreement and the Exhibits hereto. 

 

 State means the State of Iowa. 

 

 Tax Increments means the property tax increment revenues on the Minimum 

Improvements and Development Property divided and made available to the City for deposit 

in the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue 

Fund, under the provisions of Section 403.19 of the Code of Iowa and the Ordinance. 

 

 Termination Date means the date of expiration of the Minimum Assessment 

Agreement, as provided in Section 11.9 of this Agreement. 

 

 Unavoidable Delays means delays resulting from unforeseeable events, including but 

not limited to storms, floods, fires, explosions or other casualty losses, unusual weather 

conditions, strikes, boycotts, lockouts or other labor disputes, delays in transportation or 

delivery of material or equipment, litigation commenced by third parties, or the acts of any 

federal, State or local governmental unit (other than the Party claiming the delay), including, 

without limitation, permitting delays. 

 

 Urban Renewal Area means the area included within the boundaries of the Cedar Falls 

Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area, as amended. 

24

Item 3.



8 

 

 

 Urban Renewal Plan means the Urban Renewal Plan approved in respect of the Cedar 

Falls Unified Highway 58 Urban Corridor Renewal Plan, described in the preambles hereof. 

 

 Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund means the special fund of the City 

created under the authority of Section 403.19(2) of the Code and the Ordinance, which fund 

was created in order to pay the principal of and interest on loans, monies advanced to or 

indebtedness, whether funded, refunded, assumed or otherwise, including bonds or other 

obligations issued under the authority of Chapters 15A, 403, or 384 of the Code, incurred 

by the City to finance or refinance in whole or in part projects undertaken pursuant to the 

Urban Renewal Plan for the Urban Renewal Area. 

 

   ARTICLE II.  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

 

 Section 2.1.  Representations and Warranties of the City.  The City makes the 

following representations and warranties:  

 

 (a) The City is a municipal corporation and political subdivision organized under 

the provisions of the Constitution and the laws of the State and has the power 

to enter into this Agreement and carry out its obligations hereunder. 

 

 (b) This Agreement has been duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered 

by the City and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the 

Developer, is in full force and effect and is a valid and legally binding 

instrument of the City enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as the 

same may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws 

relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally. 

 

 (c) The execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of the 

transactions contemplated hereby, and the fulfillment of or compliance with the 

terms and conditions of this Agreement are not prevented by, limited by, in 

conflict with, nor will they result in a breach of, the terms, conditions or 

provisions of any contractual restriction, evidence of indebtedness, agreement 

or instrument of whatever nature to which the City is now a party or by which 

it is bound, nor do they constitute a default under any of the foregoing. 

 

 (d) The City has not received any notice from any State or federal official that the 

activities of the Developer with respect to the Development Property may or 

will be in violation of any environmental law or regulation (other than those 

notices, if any, of which the Developer has previously been notified in writing).  

The City is not currently aware of any State or federal claim filed or planned to 

be filed by any party relating to any violation of any local, State or federal 

environmental law, regulation or review procedure applicable to the 

25

Item 3.



9 

 

Development Property, and the City is not currently aware of any violation of 

any local, State or federal environmental law, regulation or review procedure 

which would give any person a valid claim under any State or federal 

environmental statute with respect thereto. 

 

 (e) The City will cooperate fully and promptly with the Developer in resolution of 

any building, traffic, parking, trash removal or public safety problems which 

may arise in connection with the design, construction and operation of the 

Minimum Improvements, including but not limited to any problems which may 

arise with respect to traffic at the intersections where access drives on the 

Development Property meet roadways or streets owned by the City. 

 

 (f) The City would not undertake its obligations under this Agreement without the 

consideration being made to the City pursuant to this Agreement. 

 

 (g) All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the City 

contained herein shall be deemed to be the covenants, stipulations, promises, 

agreements and obligations of the City, and not of any governing body member, 

officer, agent, servant or employee of the City in the individual capacity thereof. 

  

 (h) The Development Property is zoned “M-1-P, Planned Industrial District”.  The 

“M-1-P, Planned Industrial District” zoning classification permits by right the 

construction, equipping and operation of the Minimum Improvements. 

 

 Section 2.2.  Representations and Warranties of the Developer.  The Developer makes 

the following representations and warranties: 

 

(a) The Developer is a corporation duly organized and validly existing under the 

laws of the State of Minnesota, is properly authorized to conduct business in the 

State of Iowa, and has all requisite power and authority to own and operate its 

properties, to carry on its business as now conducted and as presently proposed 

to be conducted, and to enter into and perform its obligations under the 

Agreement. 

  

(b) The Developer desires to construct the Minimum Improvements on the 

Development Property, which is to be acquired by the Developer pursuant to 

this Agreement, and which is more particularly described in Exhibit A.  

 

(c) This Agreement has been duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered 

by the Developer and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by 

the other parties hereto, is in full force and effect and is a valid and legally 

binding instrument of the Developer enforceable in accordance with its terms, 

26

Item 3.



10 

 

except as the same may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or 

other laws relating to or affecting creditors' rights generally. 

 

 (d) The execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of the 

transactions contemplated hereby, and the fulfillment of or compliance with the 

terms and conditions of this Agreement are not prevented by, limited by, in 

conflict with, nor will  they result in a violation or breach of, the terms, 

conditions or provisions of the certificate of organization and operating 

agreement, together with all amendments thereto, of the Developer or of any 

contractual restriction, evidence of indebtedness, agreement or instrument of 

whatever nature to which the Developer is now a party or by which it or its  

properties are bound, nor do they constitute a default under any of the foregoing. 

 

 (e) There are no actions, suits or proceedings pending or threatened against or 

affecting the Developer in any court or before any arbitrator or before or by any 

governmental body in which there is a reasonable possibility of an adverse 

decision which could materially adversely affect the business (present or 

prospective), financial position or results of operations of the Developer or 

which in any manner raises any questions affecting the validity of the 

Agreement or the ability of Developer to perform its obligations under this 

Agreement. 

 

 (f) The Developer will cause the Minimum Improvements to be constructed in 

accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Urban Renewal Plan and all 

applicable local, State and federal laws and regulations, except for variances 

necessary to construct the Minimum Improvements contemplated in the 

Construction Plans.  

 

 (g) The Developer will use reasonable efforts to obtain, or cause to be obtained, in 

a timely manner, all required permits, licenses and approvals, and will meet, in 

a timely manner, all requirements of all applicable local, State, and federal laws 

and regulations which must be obtained or met before the Minimum 

Improvements may be lawfully constructed. 

 

 (h) The construction of the Minimum Improvements will require direct building 

costs of not less than $4,000,000, and a valuation for purposes of calculating 

and assessing real property taxes of $4,747,000 as of the completion of the 

Minimum Improvements is reasonable for the Minimum Improvements and the 

land that together comprise the Development Property. 

 

 (i) The Developer has not received any notice from any local, State or federal 

official that the activities of the Developer with respect to the Development 

Property may or will be in violation of any environmental law or regulation 

27

Item 3.



11 

 

(other than those notices, if any, of which the City has previously been notified 

in writing). The Developer is not currently aware of any State or federal claim 

filed or planned to be filed by any party relating to any violation of any local, 

State or federal environmental law, regulation or review procedure applicable to 

the Development Property, and the Developer is not currently aware of any 

violation of any local, State or federal environmental law, regulation or review 

procedure which would give any person a valid claim under any State or federal 

environmental statute with respect thereto. 

 

 (j) The Developer has funds sufficient to successfully complete the construction of 

the Minimum Improvements, in accordance with the Construction Plans 

contemplated by this Agreement. 

 

 (k) The Developer will cooperate in good faith with the City in resolution of any 

temporary traffic, parking, trash removal or public safety problems which may 

arise in connection with the construction of the Minimum Improvements, 

including but not limited to any problems which may arise with respect to traffic 

at the intersections where access drives on the Development Property meet 

roadways or streets owned by the City. 

 

 (l) The Developer expects that, barring Unavoidable Delays, the Minimum 

Improvements will be substantially completed within twenty-four (24) months 

after the commencement of construction.  

 

 (m) The Developer would not undertake its obligations under this Agreement 

without the consideration being made to the Developer pursuant to this 

Agreement. 

 

 (n) All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the 

Developer contained herein shall be deemed to be the covenants, stipulations, 

promises, agreements and obligations of the Developer, and not of any member, 

officer, agent, servant or employee of the Developer in the individual capacity 

thereof. 

 

ARTICLE III.  CONSTRUCTION OF MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS 

 

 Section 3.1.  Construction of Minimum Improvements. The Developer agrees that it 

will cause the Minimum Improvements to be constructed on the Development Property in 

conformance with the Construction Plans submitted to the City.  The Developer agrees that 

the direct building cost of the Minimum Improvements to be constructed shall not be 

significantly less than $4,000,000. 

 

28

Item 3.



12 

 

 Section 3.2  Building Permit Valuation Amount.  The Developer shall apply to the 

City for a building permit, and shall pay all necessary permit fees, in connection with the 

construction of the Minimum Improvements on the Development Property, based upon a 

building permit valuation amount (hereinafter the "Building Permit Valuation Amount") of 

a minimum of $4,000,000, by no later than twelve (12) months after the Closing Date.  

 

 Section 3.3.  Construction Plans.  The Developer shall cause Construction Plans to be 

provided for the Minimum Improvements which shall be subject to approval by the City as 

provided in this Section 3.3, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, 

conditioned, or delayed.  The Construction Plans shall be in conformity with the Urban 

Renewal Plan, this Agreement, and all applicable State and local laws and regulations, 

except for variances the Developer and the City agree are necessary to construct or operate 

the Minimum Improvements.  The City shall approve the Construction Plans in writing if: 

(a) the Construction Plans conform to the terms and conditions of this Agreement; (b) the 

Construction Plans conform to the terms and conditions of the Urban Renewal Plan; (c) to 

the best of City's knowledge, the Construction Plans conform to all applicable federal, State 

and local laws, ordinances, rules and regulations and City permit requirements; (d) the 

Construction Plans are adequate for purposes of this Agreement to provide for the 

construction of the Minimum Improvements; and (e) no Event of Default under the terms 

of this Agreement has occurred and is continuing; provided, however, that any such 

approval of the Construction Plans pursuant to this Section 3.3 shall constitute approval for 

the purposes of this Agreement only and shall not be deemed to constitute approval or 

waiver by the City with respect to any building, fire, zoning or other ordinances or 

regulations of the City, and shall not be deemed to be sufficient plans to serve as the basis 

for the issuance of a building permit if the Construction Plans are not as detailed or complete 

as the plans otherwise required for the issuance of a building permit.  The site plans 

submitted by the Developer to the building official of the City for the Development Property 

shall be adequate to serve as the Construction Plans, if such site plans are approved by the 

building official. 

 

 Approval of the Construction Plans by the City shall not relieve the Developer of any 

obligation to comply with the terms and provisions of this Agreement, or the provisions of 

applicable federal, State and local laws, ordinances and regulations, nor shall approval of 

the Construction Plans by the City be deemed to constitute a waiver of any Event of Default. 

 

 Approval of Construction Plans hereunder is solely for purposes of this Agreement, 

and shall not constitute approval for any other City purpose nor subject the City to any 

liability for the Minimum Improvements as constructed. 

 

 Section 3.4.  Commencement and Completion of Construction.  Subject to 

Unavoidable Delays, the Developer shall cause construction of the Minimum Improvements 

to be commenced within twelve (12) months after receipt of a building permit, and 

substantially completed (i) by no later than twenty-four (24) months after commencement 

29

Item 3.



13 

 

of construction, or (ii) by such other date as the parties shall mutually agree upon in writing.  

For purposes of this Agreement, construction shall be deemed to have commenced on the 

date mass grading begins on the Development Property.  Time lost as a result of 

Unavoidable Delays shall be added to extend the completion date by a number of days equal 

to the number of days lost as a result of Unavoidable Delays.  All work with respect to the 

Minimum Improvements to be constructed or provided by the Developer on the 

Development Property shall be in substantial conformity with the Construction Plans as 

submitted by the Developer and approved by the City.  The Developer agrees that it shall 

permit designated representatives of the City to enter upon the Development Property 

during the construction of the Minimum Improvements to inspect such construction upon 

prior notice to Developer, provided that such designated representatives comply with all 

safety rules and regulations at the Development Property. 

 

 Section 3.5.  Certificate of Completion.  Upon written request of the Developer after 

issuance of an occupancy permit for the Minimum Improvements, the City will furnish the 

Developer with a Certificate of Completion in recordable form, in substantially the form set 

forth in Exhibit C attached hereto. Such Certificate of Completion shall be a conclusive 

determination of satisfactory termination of the covenants and conditions of this Agreement 

with respect to the obligations of the Developer to cause construction of the Minimum 

Improvements.  

 

 The Certificate of Completion may be recorded in the Black Hawk County Recorder's 

office at the Developer's sole expense.  If the City shall refuse or fail to provide a Certificate 

of Completion in accordance with the provisions of this Section 3.5, the City shall, within 

twenty (20) days after written request by the Developer, provide to the Developer a written 

statement indicating in adequate detail in what respects the Developer has failed to complete 

the Minimum Improvements in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, or is 

otherwise in default under the terms of this Agreement, and what measures or acts it will be 

necessary, in the opinion of the City, for the Developer to take or perform in order to obtain 

such Certificate of Completion, and once all such acts have been performed, shall issue the 

Certificate of Completion.  

 

ARTICLE IV.  RESTRICTIONS UPON USE OF DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 

 

 Section 4.1.  Restrictions on Use.   

 

(a) The Developer shall: use the Development Property for any lawful use, and 

devote the Development Property to, and only to and in accordance with, the 

uses specified in the Urban Renewal Plan and this Agreement until the 

Termination Date. 

 

(b) The Developer shall not discriminate upon the basis of race, creed, color, sex, 

gender, sexual orientation, gender identity, religion, age, disability or national 

30

Item 3.



14 

 

origin in the sale, lease, or rental or in the use or occupancy of the Development 

Property or any improvements erected or to be erected thereon, or any part 

thereof. 

 

(c) It is intended and agreed that the agreements and covenants provided in this 

Section shall be covenants running with the land and that they shall, in any 

event, and without regard to technical classification or designation, legal or 

otherwise, and except only as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, 

be binding, to the fullest extent permitted by law and equity, for the benefit and 

in favor of, and enforceable by, the City, its successors and assigns, as against 

every successor in interest to the Development Property, or any part thereof or 

any interest therein, and as against any party in possession or occupancy of the 

Development Property or any part thereof.  It is further intended and agreed that 

the agreements and covenants provided in subdivisions (a) and (b) of this 

Section shall remain in effect only through the Termination Date. 

 

(d) It is intended and agreed that the City and its successors and assigns shall be 

deemed beneficiaries of the agreements and covenants provided in this Section, 

both for and in its own right and also for the purposes of protecting the interests 

of the community and other parties, public or private, in whose favor or for 

whose benefit such agreements and covenants have been provided.  Such 

agreements and covenants shall run in favor of the City, until the Termination 

Date, during which time such agreements and covenants shall be in force and 

effect, without regard to whether the City has at any time been, remains, or is an 

owner of any land or interest therein to or in favor of which such agreements 

and covenants relate.  The City shall have the right, in the event of any breach 

of any such agreement or covenant, and after the lapse of any applicable notice 

and cure periods, to exercise all the rights and remedies, and to maintain any 

actions or suits at law or in equity or other proper proceedings to enforce the 

curing of such breach of agreement or covenant, to which it or any other 

beneficiaries of such agreement or covenant may be entitled. 

 

 ARTICLE V.  INSURANCE AND CONDEMNATION 

 

 Section 5.1.  Insurance Requirements. 

 

 (a) The Developer will provide and maintain or cause to be maintained at all times 

during the process of constructing the Minimum Improvements: 

 

  (i) Builder's risk insurance, written on the so-called "Builder's Risk -- 

Completed Value Basis", in an amount equal to one hundred percent 

(100%) of the insurable value of the Minimum Improvements at the date 

31

Item 3.



15 

 

of completion, and with coverage available in nonreporting form on the 

so-called "all risk" form of policy;  

 

  (ii) Comprehensive general liability insurance (including operations, 

contingent liability, operations of subcontractors, completed operations 

and contractual liability insurance), with limits against bodily injury and 

property damage of at least $2,000,000.  The City shall be named as an 

additional insured for the City's liability for losses arising out of or in any 

way associated with the Minimum Improvements and arising out of any 

act, error, or omission of the Developer, its members, managers, officers, 

contractors and subcontractors or anyone else for whose acts the City 

may be held responsible (with coverage to the City at least as broad as 

that which is provided to the Developer and not lessened or avoided by 

endorsement).  The policy shall contain a "severability of interests" 

clause and provide primary insurance over any other insurance 

maintained by the City.  The policy shall waive subrogation rights against 

the City and shall contain a Governmental Immunities endorsement in a 

form acceptable to the City. 

 

  (iii) Worker's compensation insurance, with statutory coverage. 

 

 (b) Upon completion of construction of the Minimum Improvements and at all 

times prior to the Termination Date, the Developer shall maintain, or cause to 

be maintained, at its cost and expense insurance as follows: 

 

  (i) Insurance against loss and/or damage to the Minimum Improvements 

under a policy or policies covering such risks as are ordinarily insured 

against by similar businesses, including (without limiting the generality 

of the foregoing) fire, extended coverage, vandalism and malicious 

mischief, explosion, water damage, demolition cost, debris removal, and 

collapse in an amount not less than the full insurable replacement value 

of the Minimum Improvements and valuation for premium purposes shall 

not be less than ninety percent (90%) of full insurance replacement value.  

Co-insurance, deductible, or other provisions shall not reduce insurance 

proceeds by more than ten percent (10%) of full insurance replacement 

value. 

 

  (ii) Comprehensive commercial general liability insurance in the minimum 

amount for each occurrence and for each year of $2,000,000. 

 

  (iii) Such other insurance, including worker's compensation insurance 

respecting all employees of the Developer, in such amount as is 

32

Item 3.



16 

 

customarily carried by like organizations engaged in like activities of 

comparable size and liability exposure. 

 

 (c) All insurance required by this Article V to be provided prior to the Termination 

Date shall be taken out and maintained in responsible insurance companies 

selected by the Developer which are authorized under the laws of the State to 

assume the risks covered thereby.  The Developer will deposit annually with the 

City certificates of insurance or memoranda evidencing all such insurance.  

Unless otherwise provided in this Article V, each policy shall contain a 

provision that the insurer shall not cancel it without giving written notice to the 

Developer and the City at least thirty (30) days before the cancellation becomes 

effective.  Developer will provide City notice of any change or reduction in 

coverage below the requirements set forth above.  Prior to the expiration of any 

policy, the Developer shall furnish the City evidence satisfactory to the City that 

the policy has been renewed or replaced by another policy conforming to the 

provisions of this Article V, or that there is no necessity therefor under the terms 

hereof.  In lieu of separate policies, Developer may maintain a single policy, or 

blanket or umbrella policies, or a combination thereof, which provide the total 

coverage required herein, in which event the Developer shall deposit with the 

City a certificate(s) or memorandum(a) of the respective insurers as to the 

amount of coverage in force upon the Minimum Improvements. 

 

 (d) Developer shall notify the City promptly after the occurrence of an insured 

casualty at the Property.  Net Proceeds of any such insurance shall be paid 

directly to the Developer, and Developer will forthwith repair, reconstruct and  

restore the Minimum Improvements to substantially the same or an improved 

condition or value as they existed prior to the event causing such damage and, 

to the extent necessary to accomplish such repair, reconstruction and restoration, 

the Developer will apply the Net Proceeds of any insurance relating to such 

damage received by Developer to the payment or reimbursement of the costs 

thereof.  The provisions of this paragraph shall apply to casualties that occur 

prior to the Termination Date. 

 

 (e)  Developer shall complete the repair, reconstruction and restoration of the 

Minimum Improvements, whether or not the Net Proceeds of insurance received by 

Developer for such purposes are sufficient.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in lieu of 

reconstructing or restoring the Minimum Improvements, Developer may construct other 

improvement(s) on the Property so long as such replacement improvements do not 

adversely affect the minimum assessed value.  Such newly constructed improvements, upon 

completion, shall be considered the Minimum Improvements for purposes of this 

Agreement.  

 

33

Item 3.



17 

 

  Section 5.2.  Condemnation.  Prior to construction, if any portion of the Development 

Property is taken by condemnation, or if the City receives notice that all or any portion of 

the Development Property is under threat of a taking by condemnation, Developer shall 

have the option to terminate this Agreement at any time prior to commencement of 

construction, in which event the parties shall have no obligations to each other hereunder.  

Following commencement of construction, in the event that title to and possession of the 

Minimum Improvements or any other part thereof shall be taken in condemnation or by the 

exercise of the power of eminent domain by any governmental body or other person, so long 

as the Minimum Assessment Agreement shall remain in effect, the Developer or his 

successor shall, with reasonable promptness after such taking, notify the City as to the nature 

and extent of such taking. 

 

 Section 5.3. Reconstruction or Payment.  Upon receipt of any condemnation award, 

the Developer shall use the entire condemnation award (excluding any portion thereof paid 

to a tenant) to reconstruct the Minimum Improvements (or, in the event only a part of 

Minimum Improvements have been taken, then to reconstruct such part) upon the 

Development Property. 

          

ARTICLE VI.  MINIMUM ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT AND OTHER 

COVENANTS 

 

 Section 6.1. Execution of Minimum Assessment Agreement.  The Developer shall 

agree to, and with the City shall execute, concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, 

a Minimum Assessment Agreement pursuant to the provisions of Section 403.19, Code of 

Iowa, substantially in the form and content of Exhibit D attached hereto, specifying the 

Assessor's Minimum Actual Value for the Development Property together with the 

Minimum Improvements to be constructed on the Development Property for calculation of 

real property taxes.  Specifically, the Developer shall agree to an Assessor’s Minimum 

Actual Value, of not less than $4,747,000 as of the completion of the Minimum 

Improvements.   Nothing in the Minimum Assessment Agreement shall limit the discretion 

of the Assessor to assign an actual value to the Minimum Improvements and Development 

Property, in excess of such Assessor's Minimum Actual Value nor prohibit the Developer 

or its successors from seeking through the exercise of legal or administrative remedies a 

reduction in such actual value for property tax purposes; provided, however, that the 

Developer or its successors shall not seek a reduction of such actual value below the 

Assessor's Minimum Actual Value for any period during which the Minimum Assessment 

Agreement shall remain in effect.  The Minimum Assessment Agreement shall remain in 

effect until ten (10) years after completion of the Minimum Improvements (the 

"Termination Date").  The Minimum Assessment Agreement shall be certified by the 

Assessor for the County as provided in Section 403.19 of the Code of Iowa, and shall be 

filed for record in the office of the County Recorder of the County, and such filing shall 

constitute notice to any subsequent encumbrancer or purchaser of the Development Property 

(or part thereof), whether voluntary or involuntary, and such Minimum Assessment 

34

Item 3.



18 

 

Agreement shall be binding and enforceable in its entirety against any such subsequent 

purchaser or encumbrancer, as well as all prior lienholders and the holder of first mortgage. 

 

 Section 6.2.  Maintenance of Properties.   The Developer shall maintain, preserve and 

keep the Minimum Improvements (and any part thereof) in good repair and working order, 

ordinary wear and tear and events of casualty and condemnation excepted, and from time 

to time shall make all necessary repairs, replacements, renewals and additions, until the 

Termination Date. 

 

 Section 6.3 Maintenance of Records.  The Developer shall keep at all times proper 

books of record and account in which full, true and correct entries shall be made of all 

dealings and transactions by Developer of or in relation to the Project in accordance with 

generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied throughout the period 

involved, and Developer shall provide reasonable protection against loss or damage to such 

books of record and account.  The provisions of this paragraph shall apply for all periods 

prior to the Termination Date but no earlier than the date of this Agreement. 

 

 Section 6.4. Compliance with Laws.  The Developer shall comply with all laws, rules 

and regulations relating to the Minimum Improvements, other than laws, rules and 

regulations the failure to comply with which or the sanctions and penalties resulting 

therefrom, would not have a material adverse effect on the Developer’s business, property, 

operations, or condition, financial or otherwise.  The provisions of this paragraph shall apply 

for all periods prior to the Termination Date. 

 

 Section 6.5. Real Property Taxes.  The Developer shall pay, when due, all real 

property taxes and assessments payable with respect to all and any parts of the Development 

Property acquired and owned by it.  The Developer shall be allowed to pay any and all such 

taxes and assessments in the maximum number of installments allowed under applicable 

laws.  

 

 The Developer and its successors agree that prior to the Termination Date: 

 

 (a) It will not seek any tax exemption, either presently or prospectively authorized 

under any State or federal law with respect to taxation of real property contained 

on the Development Property between the date of execution of this Agreement 

and the Termination Date.  The foregoing shall not impair any rights to appeal 

the valuation set by the Black Hawk County Assessor as provided by law. 

 

 (b) It will not seek administrative review or judicial review of the applicability or 

constitutionality of any tax statute in effect on the date hereof relating to the 

taxation of real property contained on the Development Property determined by 

any tax official to be applicable to the Development Property, Minimum 

Improvements or to the Developer to the extent inconsistent with the Minimum 

35

Item 3.



19 

 

Assessment Agreement, or raise the inapplicability or constitutionality of any 

such tax statute as a defense in any proceedings relating to the Development 

Property or the Minimum Improvements, including delinquent tax proceedings, 

in a manner inconsistent with the Minimum Assessment Agreement.  In no event 

shall review or defense as related to a future tax statute prior to the Termination 

Date result in taxation of real property contained on the Development Property 

less than provided for in the Minimum Assessment Agreement.  

 

 (c) It will not seek any tax deferral or abatement, either presently or prospectively 

authorized under Iowa Code Chapter 403, 404, 427B, or any other local, State 

or federal law, of the taxation of real property contained on the Development 

Property between the date of execution of this Agreement and the Termination 

Date. 

 

 Section 6.6.   Sales Tax.  The Developer shall pay, when due, all sales tax payable 

with respect to the Minimum Improvements.  Nothing herein shall prevent Developer from 

seeking rebates and other incentives in connection with such sales tax. 

 

 Section 6.7.  Utility Usage.  The Developer agrees for itself and its successors and 

assigns, and any occupants of the Development Property, specifically including all 

commercial tenants and all other persons, firms or other entities operating any business on 

the Development Property or any portion thereof, that for all periods up to the Termination 

Date that all utility needs for the Development Property  shall be furnished from City-owned 

utilities where sufficient capacity is available from such City-owned utilities, including 

electricity, natural gas, water, and sanitary sewer, but specifically excluding cable 

television, internet and other fiber-optic communications.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 

Developer and the occupants of the Development Property shall not be obligated to use 

City-owned utilities to address any emergency utility needs in the case of any unavailability 

or interruption of City-owned utility services, and such emergency utilities may be secured 

from alternative sources. Developer and its successors and assigns shall not, however, have 

any obligation or duty to use or take any minimum amount of City-owned utilities, and shall 

have no obligation to pay any amount in excess of the generally applicable rates for like 

users based upon actual use.  Without limiting the foregoing, the City confirms that (a) 

Cedar Falls Utilities (“CFU”) recognizes that the Developer or successors, assigns or 

occupants may require a primary and secondary backup service for cable, 

telecommunications, and fiber optic services for business continuity reasons, and (b) CFU 

has extensive fiber assets within the City of Cedar Falls, including within the industrial park 

areas, to enable a diverse path as required and can provide corporate network connections 

to numerous carriers.  Developer agrees it will solicit a proposal from CFU in fulfilling 

Developer’s needs for cable, telecommunications, and fiber optic services for the 

Development Property.   

  

36

Item 3.



20 

 

 Section 6.8.  Annual Certification. To assist the City in monitoring and performance 

of Developer hereunder, a duly authorized representative of the Developer shall annually 

provide to the City: (a) proof that all ad valorem taxes on the Development Property have 

been paid for the prior fiscal year; and (b) certification that, to the best of such 

representative’s knowledge during the preceding twelve (12) months, the Developer was 

not in default in the fulfillment of any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement and 

that no Event of Default is continuing as of the date of such certificate or during such period, 

or if the signer is aware of any such Event of Default, said representative shall disclose in 

such statement the nature thereof, its period of existence and what action, if any, has been 

taken or is proposed to be taken with respect thereto.  Such statement, proof and certificate 

shall be provided not later than October 15 of each year, commencing after the issuance by 

the City of a Certificate of Completion and ending as of the Termination Date. 

 

 Section 6.9. Use of Tax Increments.  The City shall be free to use any and all Tax 

Increments collected in respect of the Development Property for any purpose for which the 

Tax Increments may lawfully be used pursuant to the provisions of the Urban Renewal Act; 

and the City shall have no obligations to the Developer with respect to the use of such 

increments. 

 

 Section 6.10.  Opinion of Counsel.  Concurrent with execution of this Agreement, 

Developer shall cause its counsel to execute and deliver to City an Opinion of Counsel 

substantially in the form and of the content of Exhibit E attached hereto. 

  

 Section 6.11.  Provisions To Be Included In Leases Covering Development Property.  

The Developer agrees to include provisions in each commercial lease agreement the 

Developer enters into with any tenant that will occupy the Development Property or operate 

a business thereon, for all periods up to the Termination Date, which provide as follows: (a) 

that tenant acknowledges that the leased premises are part of the Development Property and 

are subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement; (b) that this Agreement is binding 

upon Developer’s successors and assigns; (c) that certain of the terms and conditions of this 

Agreement specifically impact the tenant’s use of and conduct of its business operations on 

the Development Property, which terms and conditions include, but are not necessarily 

limited to, Sections 4.1, 6.2, 6.7, 7.2, 7.3 and 10.2; and (d) that such terms and conditions 

specifically impacting the tenant’s use of and conduct of its business operation on the 

Development Property shall be binding on the tenant during the term of its lease and the 

tenant agrees to conduct its business operations on the Development Property in a manner 

consistent therewith. 

 

 Section 6.12.  Relocation.  Developer agrees and covenants that it shall not, absent 

written consent from the City, sell or lease the Minimum Improvements or Development 

Property (or any part thereof) to any enterprise that is relocating (“Relocating”) to the City 

from another part of the County or a contiguous county during the term (the “Term”) of this 

Relocation provision (the “Relocation Provision”).  “Relocating” or “Relocation” means the 

37

Item 3.



21 

 

closure or substantial reduction of an enterprise’s existing operations in one area of the State 

and the initiation of substantially the same operation in the same county or a contiguous 

county in the State.  The Term of this Relocation Provision will expire on the Termination 

Date.  In general, urban renewal incentives cannot be used for projects that involve a 

Relocating enterprise (whether the relocating enterprise is the developer, land owner, tenant, 

or otherwise) unless there is a written agreement regarding the use of economic incentives 

between the city where the business is currently located and the city to which the business 

is Relocating, either specific to this Project or in general (i.e., a fair play or neutrality 

agreement), or if the City finds that the use of tax increments in connection with the 

Relocation is in the public interest, which means that the business has provided a written 

affirmation that it is considering moving part or all of its operations out of the State and 

such action would result in either significant employment or wage loss in Iowa.  Developer 

understands and agrees that if it sells or leases to a Relocating enterprise in violation of the 

Relocation Provision, as determined by the City in its sole discretion, such action shall be 

deemed an Event of Default under this Agreement, and, in addition to any remedies set forth 

in Section 10.2. 

 

ARTICLE VII.  PROHIBITIONS AGAINST ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFER 

 

 Section 7.1.  Representation as to Development. The Developer represents and agrees 

that the purchase and improvement of the Development Property, and the other undertakings 

pursuant to this Agreement, are, and will be used, for the purpose of development of the 

Development Property and not for speculation in land holding.  The Developer further 

acknowledges: 

 

(a) the importance of the development of the Development Property to the general 

welfare of the community; 

 

(b) the substantial financing and other public aids that have been made available by 

law and by the City for the purpose of making such development possible; and 

 

(c) the fact that any act or transaction involving or resulting in a significant change 

of control of the development, is for practical purposes a transfer or disposition 

of the Development Property then owned and operated by the Developer, and 

the qualifications and identity of the Developer are of particular concern to the 

community and the City.  The Developer further recognizes that it is because of 

such qualifications and identity that the City is entering into this Agreement with 

the Developer. 

 

 Section 7.2.  Prohibition Against Transfer of Property and Assignment of Agreement.  

Except as otherwise expressly provided for in Section 7.4, Transfer of Interest in Developer 

or Transfer of Development Property to Permitted Transferees, for the foregoing reasons 

38

Item 3.



22 

 

the Developer represents and agrees for itself, and its successors and assigns, that in addition 

to the provisions of Section 6.12 of this Agreement: 

 

 (a) Until such time as the Minimum Improvements have been completed and a 

Certificate of Completion has been issued by the City, and excepting only for 

(i) the purpose of obtaining financing necessary to enable the Developer to 

perform its obligations with respect to making the Minimum Improvements 

under this Agreement, (ii) leases and subleases to commercial tenants for all or 

a portion of the Minimum Improvements, (iii) utility easements and other 

easements or similar transfers required or convenient to the construction or 

operation of the Minimum Improvements, (iv) a sale-leaseback transaction 

where Developer or its successor-in-interest continues to control the 

Development Property, or (v) any other purpose authorized by this Agreement, 

the Developer (except as so authorized) has not made or created, and that the 

Developer will not, make or create, or suffer to be made or created, any total or 

partial sale, assignment, or conveyance, or any trust or power, or transfer in any 

other mode or form of or with respect to this Agreement or the Development 

Property, or any part thereof or any interest therein, or any contract or 

agreement to do any of the same, without the prior written approval of the City, 

which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed. 

Until such time as the Minimum Improvements have been completed, any total 

or partial sale, assignment, or conveyance, or any trust or power, or transfer in 

any other mode or form of or with respect to this Agreement or the 

Development Property, or any part thereof or any direct interest therein, or any 

contract or agreement to do any of the same, without prior written notice to and 

approval by the City to the extent required by this Article VII, shall be null and 

void.  The City may require that any transferee of the Development Property 

assume the obligations of Developer hereunder as a condition of any such 

transfer requiring delivery of prior written notice to the City, and Developer 

shall notify City staff of any such transfer prior to the effective date thereof.  

After completion of the Minimum Improvements, Developer will provide 

notice to the City of any such transfer, but the City’s approval thereof shall not 

be required so long as the transferee has assumed all of Developer’s outstanding 

obligations hereunder in connection with such transfer and the Developer 

provides the evidence, instruments, and documents described in Section 

7.2(b)(1-3) with respect to such transfer. 

  

(b) Prior to completion of the Minimum Improvements and issuance by the City 

of a Certificate of Completion, the City shall be entitled to require, upon 

notice to Developer within twenty (20) days after receipt that Developer will 

transfer the Development Property that: 

 

39

Item 3.



23 

 

(1) Evidence, in the form of a written certification by Developer, that any 

proposed transferee shall have the qualifications and financial 

responsibility, as reasonably determined by the City, necessary and 

adequate to fulfill the obligations undertaken in this Agreement by the 

Developer (or, in the event the transfer is of or relates to part of the 

Development Property, such obligations to the extent that they relate 

to such part). 

 

(2) Any proposed transferee, by instrument in writing satisfactory to the 

City and in form recordable among the land records, shall, for itself 

and its successors and assigns, and expressly for the benefit of the City, 

have expressly assumed all of the obligations of the Developer under 

this Agreement and shall have agreed to be subject to all the conditions 

and restrictions to which the Developer is subject (or, in the event the 

transfer is of or relates to part of the Development Property, such 

obligations, conditions, and restrictions to the extent that they relate to 

such part). 

 

(3) Except leases or subleases to commercial tenants for all or a portion of 

the Minimum Improvements as provided in subsection (a)(ii) of this 

section, and utility easements and other easements or similar transfers 

required or convenient to the construction or operation of the Minimum 

Improvements as provided in subsection (a)(iii), Developer shall 

deliver to the City executed copies of any documents running with title 

to the Development Property promptly after execution thereof. 

 

Provided, further, that in the absence of specific written agreement by the City to the 

contrary, no such transfer or approval by the City thereof shall be deemed to relieve the 

Developer, or any other party bound in any way by this Agreement or otherwise with respect 

to the construction of the Minimum Improvements, from any of its obligations with respect 

thereto.  After completion of the construction of the Minimum Improvements and issuance 

by the City of a Certificate of Completion as provided in Section 3.5, upon assignment of 

this Agreement consistent with this Section 7.2,, the City shall release Developer from 

future obligations hereunder, so long as such assignee assumes all of Developer’s 

continuing obligations hereunder and Developer provides the evidence, instruments, and 

documents described in Section 7.2(b)(1-3), which release the City shall confirm in a 

recordable writing upon request therefore from Developer. 

 

 Section 7.3.  Approvals.  Any approval of a transfer of interest in the Developer, this 

Agreement, or the Development Property required to be given by the City under this Article 

VII may be denied only in the event that the City reasonably determines that the ability of 

the Developer to perform its obligations under this Agreement and its statutory duty, as 

owner, to pay ad valorem real property taxes assessed with respect to the Development 

40

Item 3.



24 

 

Property, or the overall financial security provided to the City under the terms of this 

Agreement, or the likelihood of the Minimum Improvements being successfully constructed 

and operated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, will be materially impaired by the 

action for which approval is sought.   

 

Section 7.4.  Transfer of Interest in Developer or Transfer of Interest in Development 

Property to Permitted Transferee. Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 7.2 and 7.3, 

the City and the Developer agree that a transfer of ownership of the Development Property 

to a newly established corporation or limited liability company the ownership of which 

consists solely of the members of Developer (the “Permitted Transferee”), shall not trigger 

the provisions of Section 7.2 or Section 7.3; provided, however, that any transfer of the 

Development Property to the Permitted Transferee shall require the Permitted Transferee to 

agree in writing with the City (a) to expressly assume all of the obligations of the Developer 

under this Agreement, and (b) to agree to be subject to all of the conditions and restrictions 

to which the Developer is subject (or, in the event the transfer is of or relates to only part of 

the Development Property, such obligations, conditions, and restrictions to the extent that 

they relate to such part). Upon execution of an agreement in writing by the Permitted 

Transferee that (a) assumes all of the obligations of the Developer under this Agreement 

and (b) agrees to be subject to all of the conditions and restrictions to which the Developer 

is subject, the transfer of the Development Property, or the part thereof, shall be deemed 

approved upon delivery of such written assumption agreement to the City Clerk of the City.  

 

Section 7.5. Prohibition Against Use as Non-Taxable or Centrally Assessed 

Property.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, during the term of this 

Agreement, Developer, or its successors or assigns, agree that the Development Property 

and Minimum Improvements cannot be transferred or sold to a non-profit entity or used for 

a purpose that would exempt the Development Property or Minimum Improvements from 

property tax liability. Nor can the Development Property or Minimum Improvements be 

used as centrally assessed property (including but not limited to, Iowa Code § 428.24 to 

428.29 (Public Utility Plants and Related Personal Property); Chapter 433 (Telegraph and 

Telephone Company Property); Chapter 434 (Railway Property); Chapter 437 (Electric 

Transmission Lines); Chapter 437A (Property Used in the Production, Generation, 

Transmission or Delivery of Electricity or Natural Gas); and Chapter 438 (Pipeline 

Property) and any subsequent successor laws related thereto). 

 

41

Item 3.



25 

 

ARTICLE VIII.  CONVEYANCE OF DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY; CONDITIONS 

 

 Section 8.1  Conveyance of Development Property.  Subject to hearing and 

authorization required under law, and written notice from the Developer that it is ready to 

take title to the land, the City shall make a conveyance of title to the Development Property 

to Developer without any additional consideration other than the Developer’s covenants as 

contained in this Agreement. 

 

 Section 8.2  Form of Deed.  On the Closing Date, the City shall convey clear title to 

the Development Property to the Developer by Quit Claim Deed (hereinafter called the 

“Deed”).  Such conveyance and title shall be subject to the conditions, covenants and 

restrictions contained in the Urban Renewal Plan and this Agreement, shall be subject to 

restrictive covenants, ordinances, and limited access provisions of record, if any, and to 

existing easements of record, but shall otherwise be free and clear of all other liens and 

encumbrances of record. 

 

 Section 8.3. Condition of the Property; Care And Maintenance.  As of the Closing 

Date, Developer agrees to take the Development Property "As Is," subject only to the City’s 

representations and warranties as expressly set forth in Section 2.1 of this Agreement.  

Except as expressly set forth in Section 2.1 of this Agreement, the City makes no warranties 

or representations as to the condition of the Development Property.  The City and Developer 

acknowledge and agree that City has undertaken no investigations with respect to the 

suitability of the Development Property for Developer’s proposed uses, including but not 

limited to subsurface investigations regarding the soil conditions of the Development 

Property. Any geological or other inspection of the Development Property is the sole 

responsibility of the Developer (at its own cost). Developer waives all claims against the 

City as to the condition of the Development Property.  

 

 Section 8.4. Environmental Matters. At Closing, although not required by law, the 

City shall file with the County Recorder’s office a properly executed Groundwater Hazard 

Statement.  Developer takes the property "As Is" with regard to any environmental matters, 

except for the City’s representations and warranties as expressly set forth in Section 2.1 of 

this Agreement.  The City makes no warranties and representations as to the environmental 

condition of the Development Property, other than the information provided in any 

Groundwater Hazard Statement filed by the City at Closing and in Section 2.1 of this 

Agreement.  Developer shall be responsible for securing and paying for all inspections or 

documentation required by the county board of health in order to lawfully transfer the 

Development Property to Developer.  Developer agrees to indemnify, release, defend and 

hold harmless the City for all claims, damages or costs relating to the Development Property 

that arise after the Closing Date, except to the extent arising as a result of pre-existing 

conditions or a breach of the representations or warranties by City, provided, Developer 

shall not pursue any claims against the City as a result of such pre-existing conditions.  

Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement to the contrary, Developer shall 

42

Item 3.



26 

 

have a period of 180 days from the execution of this Agreement to inspect and investigate 

the Development Property and the physical condition thereof, including, without limitation, 

environmental contamination or deficiencies, to Developer’s sole satisfaction, and at any 

time during this period, may cancel this Agreement if Developer determines, in its sole 

discretion, that the Development Property or the physical condition thereof is not suitable 

for any reason (including, without limitation, due to the existence of any such environmental 

contamination or deficiencies) by giving to the City written notice of its decision to cancel 

this Agreement.  The City authorizes Developer and/or its agents, contractors and invitees 

access to the Development Property for purposes of conducting such inspections and 

investigations as Developer may desire. 

   

 Section 8.5. Survey and Platting.  Developer shall be responsible for all survey and 

platting of the Development Property.  The City authorizes Developer and/or its agents, 

contractors and invitees access to the Development Property for survey and platting 

purposes. 

 

 Section 8.6  Time and Place for Closing and Delivery of Deed.  The City shall deliver 

the Deed and vacant possession of the Development Property to the Developer, within ten 

(10) days after written notice from the Developer that it is ready to take title to the land, 

which notice may not be given later than December 1, 2023, or on such other date as the 

parties hereto may mutually agree in writing (the “Closing Date”). 

 

 Section 8.7  Recordation of Deed.  The City shall promptly file the Deed for 

recordation among the land records in the office of the Recorder of the County.  The City is 

exempt from the payment of transfer taxes, and no transfer tax will be payable upon 

recording of the Deed.  The City shall pay all filing costs for recording the Deed. 

 

 Section 8.8  Abstract of Title.  Immediately following the execution of this Agreement, 

the City shall provide an abstract of title continued only to the date of filing of the plat.  It 

shall be the Developer’s responsibility to pay to have the abstract updated.  Following the 

updating of the abstract of title by the Developer, it shall show marketable title in the City 

in conformity with Iowa law and the Title Standards of the Iowa State Bar Association.  The 

City shall make every reasonable effort to promptly perfect title.  If closing is delayed due 

to the City’s inability to provide marketable title, this Agreement shall continue in force and 

effect until either party rescinds the Agreement after giving ten days written notice to the 

other party.  The abstract shall become the property of the Developer at the time of delivery 

of the Deed. 

 

 Section 8.9  Conditions Precedent to Conveyance of Property.  The City’s obligation 

to convey title and possession of the Development Property to the Developer on the Closing 

Date shall be subject to satisfaction of the following conditions precedent: 

 

43

Item 3.



27 

 

(a) The Developer shall be in material compliance with all the terms and provisions 

of this Agreement; 

 

(b) The Developer shall have furnished the City with evidence, in a form 

reasonably satisfactory to the City (such as a letter of commitment from a bank 

or other lending institution), that the Developer has firm commitments for 

financing for the Project in an amount sufficient, together with equity 

commitments, to complete the Project in conformance with the Construction 

Plans, or the City shall have received such other evidence of the Developer’s 

financial ability as in the reasonable judgment of the City is required for the 

Project; 

 

(c) Execution of a Minimum Assessment Agreement by the City, the County and 

the Developer pursuant to Section 6.1 of this Agreement; and 

 

(e) Receipt of an opinion of counsel to the Developer in the form attached hereto 

as Exhibit E.  

   

 Section 8.10 Failure to Commence Construction of Minimum Improvements.  In the 

event the Developer has not commenced construction of the Minimum Improvements on 

the Development Property within twelve (12) months after receipt of a building permit (as 

such date may be extended by City delay, or Unavoidable Delays), and commencement of 

construction does not appear imminent, in the reasonable discretion of the City, then subject 

to the notice and cure period set forth in Section 10.1(a) below, Developer shall have 

committed an Event of Default within the meaning of Article X and Section 10.1 of this 

Agreement, and Developer shall convey title to the Development Property to the City by no 

later than sixty (60) days after the occurrence of such Event of Default if construction of the 

Minimum Improvements has not commenced and such Event of Default has not been cured 

on or before such date.  

 

 Section 8.11.  Partial Property Tax Exemption. Subject to Developer’s compliance 

with all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, City agrees that the Developer may 

apply to the County and to the City, for a partial exemption from taxation of industrial 

property as may be provided by the Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances, and by Chapter 427B, 

Code of Iowa, with respect to the actual value added by the Minimum Improvements. 

Subject to Developer’s timely application and qualification under Sections 21-48 through 

21-57 of the Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances, and Chapter 427B, Code of Iowa, the partial 

property tax exemption shall be according to the following schedule: 

  

(a) For the first assessment year after the Minimum Improvements are fully 

assessed – 75% exemption of the actual value added. 

 

44

Item 3.



28 

 

(b) For the second assessment year after the Minimum Improvements are fully 

assessed – 60% exemption of the actual value added. 

 

(c) For the third assessment year after the Minimum Improvements are fully 

assessed – 45% exemption of the actual value added. 

 

(d) For the fourth assessment year after the Minimum Improvements are fully 

assessed – 30% exemption of the actual value added. 

 

(e) For the fifth assessment year after the Minimum Improvements are fully 

assessed – 15% exemption of the actual value added. 

 

ARTICLE IX.  INDEMNIFICATION 

 

 Section 9.1.  Release and Indemnification Covenants. 

 

 (a) The Developer releases the City and the governing body members, officers, 

agents, servants and employees thereof (hereinafter, for purposes of this Article 

IX, the "indemnified parties") from, covenants and agrees that the indemnified 

parties shall not be liable for, and agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless 

the indemnified parties against, any loss or damage to property or any injury to 

or death of any person occurring at or about or resulting from any defect in the 

Minimum Improvements. 

 

 (b) Except for any willful misrepresentation, or any willful or wanton misconduct, 

or any unlawful act, or any negligent act or omission of the indemnified parties 

or the City, Developer agrees to protect and defend the indemnified parties, now 

or forever, and further agrees to hold the indemnified parties harmless, from any 

claim, demand, suit, action or other proceedings whatsoever arising or 

purportedly arising from any actual (but not alleged) violation of any agreement 

or condition of this Agreement by the Developer, including but not limited to 

claims for the construction, installation, ownership, and operation of the 

Minimum Improvements. 

 

 (c) The indemnified parties shall not be liable for any damage or injury to the 

persons or property of the Developer or its officers, agents, servants or 

employees or any other person who may be about the Minimum Improvements 

due to any act of negligence, including a negligent failure to act, of any person, 

other than any act of negligence on the part of any such indemnified party or its 

officers, agents, servants or employees. 

 

 (d) The provisions of this Article IX shall survive the termination of this 

Agreement. 

45

Item 3.



29 

 

 

ARTICLE X.  REMEDIES 

 

 Section 10.1.  Events of Default Defined.  The following shall be "Events of Default" 

under this Agreement and the term "Event of Default" shall mean, whenever it is used in 

this Agreement, any one or more of the following events: 

  

 (a) Failure by the Developer to cause the construction of the Minimum 

Improvements to be commenced and completed pursuant to the terms, 

conditions and limitations of Article III and Section 8.10 of this Agreement, 

subject to Unavoidable Delays, where such failure continues for thirty (30) days 

after notice and demand for cure; 

 

 (b) Failure by the Developer or its successors to cause the Minimum Improvements 

to be reconstructed when required pursuant to Article III of this Agreement 

within a reasonable amount of time after the casualty or condemnation; 

 

 (c) Failure by the City to cause the Development Property to be conveyed to the 

Developer pursuant to the terms, conditions and limitations of Article VIII of 

this Agreement; 

 

 (d) Transfer of the Developer's direct ownership interest in the Development 

Property or any direct interest of Developer in this Agreement, or the assets of 

Developer outside the ordinary course of business in violation of the provisions 

of Article VII of this Agreement; 

 

 (e) Failure by the Developer until the Termination Date, to pay ad valorem taxes on 

the Development Property, where such failure continues for thirty (30) days 

after notice and demand for cure;  

 

 (f) Failure by the Developer until the Termination Date (or such shorter timeframe 

set forth in this Agreement as may be applicable) to substantially observe or 

perform any other covenant, condition, obligation or agreement on its part to be 

observed or performed under this Agreement, where such failure continues for 

thirty (30) days after notice and demand for cure; 

 

 (g) The holder of any Mortgage on the Development Property, or any improvements 

thereon, or any portion thereof, commences foreclosure proceedings as a result 

of any default under the applicable Mortgage documents; 

 

 (h) Sale or lease of the Minimum Improvements or Development Property in 

violation of the provisions of Section 6.12, Relocation, of this Agreement; 

 

46

Item 3.



30 

 

 (i) The Developer shall: 

 

  (i) file any petition in bankruptcy or for any reorganization, arrangement, 

composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution, or similar relief 

under the United States Bankruptcy Act of 1978, as amended, or under 

any similar federal or state law; or 

 

  (ii) make an assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or 

 

  (iii) admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become 

due; or 

 

  (iv) be adjudicated a bankrupt or insolvent; or if a petition or answer 

proposing adjudication as a bankrupt or reorganization under any present 

or future federal bankruptcy act or any similar federal or state law shall 

be filed in any court and such petition or answer shall not be discharged 

or denied within ninety (90) days after the filing thereof; or a receiver, 

trustee or liquidator of the Developer or the Minimum Improvements, or 

part thereof, shall be appointed in any proceedings brought against the 

Developer and shall not be discharged within ninety (90) days after such 

appointment, or if the Developer shall consent to or acquiesce in such 

appointment; or 

 

 (j) Any obligation, representation or warranty made by any party to this 

Agreement, any Exhibit hereto, or made by any party in any written statement 

or certificate pursuant to this Agreement, shall prove to have been incorrect, 

incomplete or misleading in any material respect on or as of the date of the 

issuance or making thereof, and the party in breach fails to cure the default 

within thirty (30) days after notice and demand for cure from the other party.   

 

 Section 10.2.  Remedies on Default.  Whenever any Event of Default referred to in 

Section 10.1 of this Agreement occurs and is continuing, any party not in default may take 

any one or more of the following actions, after the giving of thirty (30) days' written notice 

to the party in default, and the holder of the Mortgage, of the Event of Default, but only if 

the Event of Default has not been cured within said thirty (30) days, or if the Event of 

Default cannot reasonably be cured within thirty (30) days and the party in default does not 

provide assurances reasonably satisfactory to the party giving notice that the Event of 

Default will be cured as soon as reasonably possible: 

 

 (a) The party giving notice may suspend its performance under this Agreement until 

it receives assurances from the party in default, deemed adequate by the party 

giving notice, that the party in default will cure the default and continue 

performance under this Agreement; 

47

Item 3.



31 

 

 

 (b) If the Developer is in default, the City may withhold the Certificate of 

Completion;  

 

 (c) The party who is not in default may take any action, including legal, equitable 

or administrative action, which may appear necessary or desirable to enforce 

performance and observance of any obligation, agreement, or covenant, under 

this Agreement; or 

 

 (d) In the event Developer has failed to timely complete construction of the 

Minimum Improvements for reasons other than Unavoidable Delays or City 

default hereunder, the City may require that Developer reconvey the 

Development Property to the City within sixty (60) days after the deadline for 

completion.  Upon receipt of such notice, Developer shall have twelve (12) 

months in which to raze any portion of the Minimum Improvements or twenty-

four (24) months in which to complete the Minimum Improvements.  Within ten 

(10) days after Developer has razed such Minimum Improvements, it shall 

thereupon immediately convey title to the Development Property to the City, 

free and clear of all monetary liens.  If Developer elects to complete such 

Minimum Improvements within the 24-month period, it shall retain title to the 

improved Development Property, unless it fails to timely complete the 

Minimum Improvements during such 24-month period, in which case it shall 

convey title to the Development Property to the City, free and clear of all 

monetary liens. City acknowledges and agrees that, if it accepts such 

reconveyance it will take the Development Property subject to restrictive 

covenants, ordinances, and limited access provisions of record, if any, and to 

existing easements, if any.  Developer shall also establish to the satisfaction of 

the City and its legal counsel that no labor has been performed and no materials 

have been furnished by any contractor, subcontractor, or any person, firm, or 

entity, in connection with any improvements made to the Development Property 

within ninety (90) days immediately preceding the date of said conveyance; 

provided, that if such statement is untrue, the City may postpone accepting title 

to the Property until such statement is true, as confirmed by Developer on a 

customary seller’s affidavit.  Developer shall also deliver to City an abstract of 

title covering the Development Property, certified to the date of said 

conveyance, showing that marketable title to the Development Property is 

vested in Developer and complies with the requirements of this subsection.  

Developer shall pay to City all general property taxes and special assessments, 

if any, due or to become due with respect to the Development Property, 

continuing until the Development Property is assessed to the City and is exempt 

from assessment for general property taxes by reason of its conveyance to and 

ownership by the City as a tax-exempt governmental body.  Developer shall pay 

for all costs associated with conveyance of the Development Property to the 

48

Item 3.



32 

 

City, including, but not limited to, abstracting, recording fees, and reasonable 

attorneys' fees.  In the event the Developer fails to comply with the terms and 

conditions of this subsection (d) within the thirty (30) day period described in 

Section 10.2 of this Article, then the City may proceed as provided in Section 

10.2(c) of this Article, to obtain a decree of specific performance against 

Developer for the conveyance of the Development Property to the City or, in 

lieu thereof, at the City’s sole discretion, to obtain a judgment for monetary 

damages to compensate the City for the Developer’s default, plus attorneys’ fees 

and expenses as provided in Section 10.5.  In connection with Developer’s 

financing of the construction at the Development Property, the City shall 

confirm the subordination of its reconveyance rights hereunder in a written 

agreement with Developer’s lender, which agreement may be recorded by 

Developer or its lender, at Developer’s sole cost and expense.  Nothing herein 

shall be construed to preclude the City from recovering from Developer all costs 

and expenses incurred by the City in obtaining title to the Development Property 

free and clear of all liens and encumbrances. 

 

 Section 10.3.  Limitation on Damages; No Remedy Exclusive.  No remedy herein 

conferred upon or reserved to the parties is intended to be exclusive of any other available 

remedy or remedies, but each and every remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition 

to every other remedy given under this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in 

equity or by statute.  No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any 

default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver thereof, but 

any such right and power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed 

expedient.  In no event shall either party hereto be liable to the other for consequential, 

punitive, or special damages, it being agreed that any party’s damages in the Event of 

Default shall be limited to actual damages only.   

 

 Section 10.4.  No Implied Waiver.  In the event any agreement contained in this 

Agreement should be breached by any party and thereafter waived by any other party, such 

waiver shall be limited to the particular breach so waived and shall not be deemed to waive 

any other concurrent, previous or subsequent breach hereunder. 

 

 Section 10.5.  Agreement to Pay Attorneys' Fees and Expenses. Whenever any Event 

of Default occurs and a party not in default shall commence a lawsuit to enforce the 

obligations of a party in default hereunder for the enforcement or performance or 

observance of any obligation or agreement on the part of a party in default herein contained, 

the prevailing party shall pay to the non-prevailing party in such lawsuit the reasonable fees 

of such attorneys and such other expenses as may be reasonably and appropriately incurred 

by the prevailing party in connection therewith. 

 

 

 

49

Item 3.



33 

 

ARTICLE XI.  MISCELLANEOUS 

 

 Section 11.1.  Conflict of Interest.  Developer agrees that, to its best knowledge and 

belief, no member, officer or employee of the City, or its designees or agents, nor any 

consultant or member of the governing body of the City, and no other public official of the 

City who exercises or has exercised any functions or responsibilities with respect to the 

Project during his or her tenure, or who is in a position to participate in a decision-making 

process or gain insider information with regard to the Project, shall have any interest, direct 

or indirect, in any contract or subcontract, or the proceeds thereof, for work to be performed 

in connection with the Project, or in any activity, or benefit therefrom, which is part of this 

Project at any time during or after such person's tenure. 

 

 Section 11.2.  Non-Discrimination.  In carrying out the construction and operation 

of the Minimum Improvements, the Developer shall not discriminate against any employee 

or applicant for employment because of race, creed, color, gender, sex, sexual orientation, 

gender identity, religion, national origin, age or disability.  The Developer shall insure that 

applicants for employment are employed, and the employees are treated during 

employment, without regard to their race, creed, color, gender, sex, sexual orientation, 

gender identity, religion, national origin, age or disability.   

 

 Section 11.3.  Notices.  Whenever this Agreement requires or permits any consent, 

approval, notice, request, proposal, or demand (collectively, "Notice") from one party to 

another, the Notice must be in writing and shall be effective upon actual receipt by the 

intended recipient, at the following addresses:    

 

DEVELOPER:  Andy Moffitt, Vice President of Development 

    Ryan Companies US, Inc.  

    111 East Grand Avenue, Suite 200 

    Des Moines, IA 50309    

 

With a copy to:  Audra Williams, Associate General Counsel 

    Ryan Companies US, Inc. 

    533 South Third Street, Suite 100 

    Minneapolis, MN 55415 

 

 CITY   City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

    City Administrator 

    220 Clay Street 

    Cedar Falls, IA  50613 

 

or to such other designated individual or officer or to such other address as any party shall 

have furnished to the other in writing in accordance herewith.  Any party entitled to receive 

a Notice hereunder may change the address which it previously had specified for receiving 

50

Item 3.



34 

 

the same, at any time and from time to time, by delivering a written change notice in 

accordance with the above provisions to the other parties at least five (5) business days prior 

to the effective date of such change. 

 

 Section 11.4.  Titles of Articles and Sections.  Any titles of the several parts, Articles, 

and Sections of this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only and shall be 

disregarded in construing or interpreting any of its provisions. 

 

 Section 11.5.  Provisions Not Merged With Deed.  None of the provisions of this 

Agreement shall be merged by reason of the delivery of the Deed, and the Deed shall not 

be deemed to affect or impair the provisions and covenants of this Agreement. 

 

 Section 11.6.  Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed and construed in 

accordance with the laws of the State of Iowa. 

 

 Section 11.7.  Entire Agreement.  This Agreement and the exhibits hereto reflect the 

entire agreement between the parties regarding the subject matter hereof, and supersedes 

and replaces all prior agreements, negotiations or discussions, whether oral or written.  This 

Agreement may not be amended except by a subsequent writing signed by all parties hereto. 

 

 Section 11.8.  Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement is intended to and shall inure 

to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective successors and 

assigns. 

 

 Section 11.9.  Termination Date of Minimum Assessment Agreement.  This 

Agreement shall terminate and be of no further force or effect with respect to the Minimum 

Improvements on the termination of the Minimum Assessment Agreement, as provided in 

Section 6.1 of this Agreement and in the Minimum Assessment Agreement, the form of 

which is attached hereto as Exhibit D. 

 

 Section 11.10.  Memorandum of Agreement.  The parties agree to execute and record 

a Memorandum of Agreement for Private Development, in substantially the form attached 

as Exhibit F, to serve as notice to the public of the existence and provisions of this 

Agreement, and the rights and interests held by the City by virtue hereof.  Developer shall 

pay all costs of recording. 

 

 Section 11.11.  Prompt Undertaking.  All parties agree to undertake promptly upon 

execution of this Agreement all of those obligations which require prompt action. 

 

 Section 11.12.  No Partnership or Joint Venture.  The relationship herein created 

between the parties is contractual in nature and is in no way to be construed as creating a 

partnership or joint venture between the Developer and any or all of the other parties. 

 

51

Item 3.



35 

 

 Section 11.13.  Captions.  The captions, headings, and arrangements used in this 

Agreement are for convenience only and shall not in any way affect, limit, amplify, or 

modify the terms and provisions hereof. 

 

 Section 11.14.  Number and Gender of Words.  Whenever herein the singular number 

is used, the same shall include the plural where appropriate, and words of any gender shall 

include each other where appropriate. 

   

 Section 11.15.  Invalid Provisions.  If any provision of this Agreement or any 

agreement contemplated hereby is held to be illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable under 

present or future laws effective during the term of such agreement; then: (i) such provision 

shall be fully severable; (ii) such agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such 

illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable provision had never comprised a part of such 

agreement; and (iii) the remaining provisions of such agreement shall remain in full force 

and effect and shall not be affected by the illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable provision 

or by its severance from such agreement.  Furthermore, in lieu of such illegal, void, invalid, 

or unenforceable provision there shall be added automatically as a part of such agreement a 

provision as similar in terms to such illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable provision as 

may be legal, valid, and enforceable, whether or not such a substitute provision is 

specifically provided for in such agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event 

any provision involving material consideration by the City for the benefit of the Developer 

shall be held illegal, void, invalid or unenforceable, then the Developer shall have the right 

to cancel this Agreement, and upon such cancellation, this Agreement, in its entirety, shall 

be rendered null and void; however, in that event, Developer shall proceed as described in 

Section 10.2(d) of this Agreement. 

 

 Section 11.16.  Multiple Counterparts.  This Agreement has been executed in a number 

of identical counterparts, each of which is to be deemed an original for all purposes and all 

of which constitute collectively one agreement, but in making proof of this Agreement it 

shall not be necessary to produce or account for more than one such counterpart. 

 

 Section 11.17.  Authorization.  Each party hereto represents that prior to its execution 

hereof all necessary company, governmental or other appropriate action, as applicable, 

including without limitation resolutions of their governing boards or bodies, has been taken 

to authorize the execution of this Agreement and the performance by such party of its 

respective obligations hereunder. 

 

 Section 11.18.  Time of the Essence.  Time is of the essence with respect to all matters 

described in this Agreement.  

 

 Section 11.19.  Survival.  Each provision of this Agreement shall survive the 

occurrence of the other provisions of this Agreement to the extent necessary to ensure full 

performance of said surviving provision. 

52

Item 3.



36 

 

 

 Section 11.20.  Brokers.  The City represents and warrants it has dealt with no brokers 

in connection with this Agreement and will indemnify and hold Developer harmless against 

any claims for commissions, finders fees, or the like arising out of any claims by brokers 

arising by or through the City.  Developer shall pay its own broker pursuant to a separate 

agreement. 

53

Item 3.



37 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Agreement to be duly executed in 

its name and behalf by its Mayor and its seal to be hereunto duly affixed and attested by its 

City Clerk, and the Developer has caused this Agreement to be duly executed in its name 

and behalf by its member, all on or as of the day first above written. 

 

 

 

(SEAL)     CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

      By: _________________________________ 

              Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

By: ________________________________________ 

 Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk      

       

 

 

STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK, ss: 

  

 

This record was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 2023, 

by Robert M. Green as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa. 

 

     ______________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

 

 

Ryan Companies US, Inc., 

A Minnesota corporation  

 

 

By: ________________________________________ 

 Andy Moffitt, Authorized Representative 

 

 

DEVELOPER 

 

 

 

 

54

Item 3.



38 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF ___________________, ss: 

 

 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ______________, 2023, 

by Andy Moffitt, Authorized Representative, Ryan Companies US, Inc., a Minnesota 

corporation. 

    

 

     _________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

  

55

Item 3.



39 

 

EXHIBIT A 

 

DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 

 

 

 The Development Property is described as consisting of all that certain parcel or 

parcels of land located generally in the City of Cedar Falls, County of Black Hawk, State 

of Iowa, more particularly described as follows: 

 

Lots 12 and 13, West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase V, City of Cedar Falls, Black 

Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 9.33 acres more or less). 

 

 

  

56

Item 3.



40 

 

EXHIBIT B 

 

MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS 

 

 The Minimum Improvements shall consist of the construction of an industrial use 

warehouse facility totaling at least 40,000 square feet of space, all as set forth in the 

Construction Plans approved by the City in compliance with the terms of the Agreement. 

 

 The Developer agrees to connect to the sanitary sewer, storm sewer, natural gas, 

electricity, water, underground telephone cable, internet and any other utilities services from 

their present locations to such location or locations on the Development Property as 

Developer deems appropriate, at its cost.  The Developer also agrees to construct any 

driveway approaches and other paving as Developer deems appropriate, at its cost, in 

accordance with City ordinances.  

 

 The Developer also agrees to perform or cause to be performed all necessary grading, 

land preparation and all necessary building improvements, landscaping, storm water 

detention, signage, and all other site improvements, in all respects in entire conformity with 

all applicable codes and ordinances of the City, all at the Developer's cost.   

57

Item 3.



 

41 

 

                                                       EXHIBIT C 

 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION 

 

 WHEREAS, the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, a municipality (hereinafter called 

"City"), established pursuant to the Code of the State of Iowa and acting under the 

authorization of Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa, 2023 (Chapter 403 hereinafter 

called "Urban Renewal Act"); and Ryan Companies US, Inc., (hereinafter called the 

"Developer"), a Minnesota corporation having its principal place of business at 533 South 

Third Street, Suite 100, Minneapolis, MN 55415; did on or about the _____ day of 

_______________, 2023, make, execute and deliver, each to the other, an Agreement for 

Private Development (the "Agreement"), wherein and whereby Developer agreed, in 

accordance with the terms of the Agreement, to develop and maintain certain real property 

located within the City and as more particularly described as follows: 

 

Lots 12 and 13, West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase V, City of Cedar Falls, Black 

Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 9.33 acres more or less) 

 

(the "Development Property"); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Agreement incorporated and contained certain covenants and 

restrictions with respect to the development of the Development Property, and obligated 

Developer to construct certain Minimum Improvements (as defined therein) in accordance 

with the Agreement; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Developer performed said covenants and conditions insofar as they relate 

to the construction of said Minimum Improvements in a manner deemed by the City to be 

in conformance with the approved building plans to permit the execution and recording of 

this certification. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to the Agreement, this is to certify that all covenants 

and conditions of the Agreement with respect to the obligations of Developer and its 

successors and assigns, to construct the Minimum Improvements have been completed and 

performed by Developer and are hereby released absolutely and forever terminated insofar 

as they apply to the land described herein.  The County Recorder of Black Hawk County is 

hereby authorized to accept for recording and to record the filing of this instrument, to be a 

conclusive determination of the satisfactory termination of the covenants and conditions of 

said Agreement with respect to the construction of the Minimum Improvements. 

 

58

Item 3.



 

42 

 

 All other provisions of the Agreement shall otherwise remain in full force and effect 

until termination as provided therein. 

 

  

 

(SEAL)     THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

      By: ________________________________ 

             Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

By: _________________________________________ 

       Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK, ss: 

  

 

 This record was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 

2023, by Robert M. Green as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

 

     ______________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

 

 

  

59

Item 3.



 

43 

 

EXHIBIT D 

 

MINIMUM ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT 

 

 THIS MINIMUM ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT, dated as of this _________ day 

of ______________, 2023, by and among the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, (the 

"City"), and Ryan Companies US, Inc., a Minnesota corporation, (the "Developer"), and the 

COUNTY ASSESSOR for the County of Black Hawk, State of Iowa (the "Assessor"). 

 

WITNESSETH: 

 

 WHEREAS, on or before the date hereof the City and Developer have entered into 

an Agreement for Private Development dated as of ______________________________, 

2023 (the "Agreement") regarding certain real property located in the City legally described 

as: 

 

Lots 12 and 13, West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase V, City of Cedar Falls, Black 

Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 9.33 acres more or less). 

 

(the "Development Property"); and 

 

 WHEREAS, it is contemplated that pursuant to said Agreement, the Developer will 

undertake the development of the Development Property, which is within the Cedar Falls 

Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Plan; and 

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 403.6(19) of the Code of Iowa, 2023, as amended, 

the City and the Developer desire to establish a minimum actual value for the facilities 

thereon to be constructed by the Developer pursuant to the Agreement (defined therein as 

the "Minimum Improvements"); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City and the Assessor have reviewed the preliminary plans and 

specifications for the Minimum Improvements which it is contemplated will be erected. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, the parties to this Minimum Assessment Agreement, in 

consideration of the promises, covenants and agreements made by each other, do hereby 

agree as follows: 

 

 1.   Upon completion of construction of the above-referenced Minimum 

Improvements by the Developer, the minimum actual value which shall be fixed for 

assessment purposes for the Minimum Improvements to be constructed on the Development 

Property by the Developer and the land that together comprise the Development Property, 

shall be not less than $4,747,000.00 (hereafter referred to as the "Minimum Actual Value") 

until termination of this Minimum Assessment Agreement.  The parties hereto expect that 

60

Item 3.



 

44 

 

the construction of the above-referenced Minimum Improvements will be completed within 

two (2) years after commencement of construction. 

 

 Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive the Developer's rights under Iowa Code 

Section 403.6(19) to contest that portion of any actual value assignment made by the 

Assessor in excess of the Assessor’s Minimum Actual Value established herein, or any 

actual value assignment made by the Assessor to the Minimum Improvements or to the 9.33 

acres of land, which together comprise the Development Property.  In no event, however, 

shall the Developer seek to reduce the actual value assigned below the Assessor’s Minimum 

Actual Value established herein for any period during the term of this Minimum Assessment 

Agreement. 

 

 2.   The Assessor’s Minimum Actual Value herein established shall be of no further 

force and effect and this Minimum Assessment Agreement shall terminate ten (10) years 

after the completion of the Minimum Improvements. 

 

 3.   This Minimum Assessment Agreement shall be promptly recorded by the 

Developer with the Recorder of Black Hawk County, Iowa.  The Developer shall pay all 

costs of recording. 

 

 4.   Neither the preambles nor provisions of this Minimum Assessment Agreement 

are intended to, or shall be construed as, modifying the terms of the Agreement between the 

City and the Developer. 

 

 5.   This Minimum Assessment Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding 

upon the successors and assigns of the parties, and all holders of mortgages upon or security 

interests in the Development Property, including the land and the Minimum Improvements, 

to secure any loans with respect to the Development Property, including the land and the 

Minimum Improvements. 

 

 

      THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

      By: ____________________________________ 

             Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

________________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

61

Item 3.



 

45 

 

 

 

DEVELOPER: 

 

Ryan Companies US, Inc., 

A Minnesota corporation  

 

 

By: ________________________________________ 

 Andy Moffitt, Authorized Representative 

 

 

 

 
 

STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK, ss: 

 

 This record was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 

2023, by Robert M. Green as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

 

     __________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF ____________________, ss: 

 

 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________, 

2023, by Andy Moffitt, Authorized Representative, Ryan Companies US, Inc., a Minnesota 

corporation. 

    

 

     __________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

 

 

  

62

Item 3.



 

46 

 

CERTIFICATION OF ASSESSOR 

 

 The undersigned, having reviewed the preliminary plans and specifications for the 

Minimum Improvements to be constructed and the market value assigned to such Minimum 

Improvements, and being of the opinion that the minimum market value contained in the 

foregoing Minimum Assessment Agreement appears reasonable, hereby certifies as 

follows:  The undersigned Assessor, being legally responsible for the assessment of the 

property described in the foregoing Minimum Assessment Agreement, upon completion of 

Minimum Improvements to be made on it and in accordance with the Minimum Assessment 

Agreement, certifies that the actual taxable value assigned to such Minimum Improvements 

and the 9.33 acres of land on which such Minimum Improvements are to be constructed, 

which together comprise the Development Property, upon completion shall not be less than 

$4,747,000.00, until termination of this Minimum Assessment Agreement pursuant to the 

terms hereof. 

 

      _______________________________________ 

      County Assessor for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

 

      _______________________________________ 

      Date 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK, ss:    

 

 Subscribed and sworn to before me by T.J. Koenigsfeld, County Assessor for Black 

Hawk County, Iowa. 

 

      ______________________________________ 

Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

 

      _______________________________________ 

      Date 
 

 

63

Item 3.



 

47 

 

EXHIBIT E 

 

FORM OF LEGAL OPINION 

 

City of Cedar Falls 

Attn: City Clerk 

City Hall 

220 Clay Street 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

 

 

RE: Agreement for Private Development by and between the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa and Ryan Companies US, Inc., a Minnesota corporation 

 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa: 

 

 As counsel for Ryan Companies US, Inc.  (the "Developer"), and in connection with 

the execution and delivery of a certain Agreement for Private Development (the 

"Development Agreement") between the Developer and the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the 

"City") dated as of ________________, 2023, we hereby render the following opinion: 

 

 We have examined the original certified copy, or copies otherwise identified to our 

satisfaction as being true copies, of the following: 

 

(a) The certificate of organization and operating agreement, together with 

all amendments thereto, of the Developer; 

 

(b) Resolutions of the members of the Developer at which action was 

taken with respect to the transactions covered by this opinion; 

 

  (c) The Development Agreement; 

 

and such other documents and records as we have deemed relevant and necessary as a basis 

for the opinions set forth herein. 

 

 Based on the pertinent law, the foregoing examination and such other inquiries as we 

have deemed appropriate, we are of the opinion that: 

 

 1. The Developer has been duly organized and is validly existing as a corporation 

under the laws of the State of Minnesota and is authorized to do business in the State of 

Iowa.  The Developer has full power and authority to execute, deliver and perform in full 

the Development Agreement and the Minimum Assessment Agreement; and the 

Development Agreement and the Minimum Assessment Agreement have been duly and 

validly authorized by action of the members, have been executed and delivered by an 

64

Item 3.



 

48 

 

authorized representative of the Developer and, assuming due authorization, execution and 

delivery by the City, are in full force and effect and are valid and legally binding instruments 

of the Developer enforceable in accordance with their  terms, except as the same may be 

limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws relating to or affecting 

creditors' rights generally. 

 

 2. The execution, delivery and performance by the Developer of the Development 

Agreement, the Minimum Assessment Agreement, and the carrying out of the terms thereof, 

will not result in violation of any provision of, or in default under, the certificate of 

organization and operating agreement of the Developer or any indenture, mortgage, deed of 

trust, indebtedness, agreement, judgment, decree, order, statute, rule, regulation or 

restriction to which the Developer is a party or by which it or its property is bound or subject. 

 

 3. To our knowledge and after inquiry to Developer, there are no actions, suits or 

proceedings pending or threatened against or affecting the Developer in any court or before 

any arbitrator or before or by any governmental body in which there is a reasonable 

possibility of an adverse decision which could materially adversely affect the business 

(present or prospective), financial position or results of operations of the Developer or 

which in any manner raises any questions affecting the validity of the Development 

Agreement, the Minimum Assessment Agreement, or the Developer's ability to perform its 

obligations thereunder. 

 

 

Very truly yours, 

 

 

By:______________________________________ 

 Audra Williams, Attorney at Law 

       533 South Third Street, Suite 100 

 Minneapolis, MN 55415 

 

  

65

Item 3.



 

49 

 

EXHIBIT F 

 

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

 

 WHEREAS, the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, a municipality (hereinafter called 

"City"), established pursuant to the Code of the State of Iowa and acting under the 

authorization of Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa, 2023 (Chapter 403 hereinafter 

called "Urban Renewal Act"); and Ryan Companies US, Inc.,  (hereinafter called the 

"Developer"), a Minnesota corporation having its principal place of business at 533 South 

Third Street, Suite 100, Minneapolis, MN 55415, did on or about the _____ day of 

______________, 2023, make, execute and deliver, each to the other, an Agreement for 

Private Development (the "Agreement"), wherein and whereby Developer agreed, in 

accordance with the terms of the Agreement and the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 

Corridor Urban Renewal Plan (the "Plan"), to develop certain real property located within 

the City and within the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Plan and 

as more particularly described as follows: 

 

Lots 12 and 13, West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase V, City of Cedar Falls, Black 

Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 9.33 acres more or less) 

 

(the "Development Property"), and  

 

 WHEREAS, the term of the Agreement commenced on __________, and terminates 

on _____________, with respect to the Development Property, unless otherwise terminated 

as set forth in the Agreement; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Parties desire to record a Memorandum of the Agreement referring 

to the Development Property and their respective interests therein.   

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 1. That the recording of this Memorandum of Agreement for Private 

Development shall serve as notice to the public that the Agreement contains provisions 

restricting conveyance, development and use of the Development Property and the 

improvements located and operated on such Development Property, and contains provisions 

dealing with the dollar amount of the minimum taxable value of the Development Property 

for general property tax purposes, and the length of time during which said minimum 

assessed value continues in effect, as provided for in Section 403.6(19), Code of Iowa. 

 

 2. That all of the provisions of the Agreement and any subsequent amendments 

thereto, if any, even though not set forth herein, are by the filing of this Memorandum of 

Agreement for Private Development made a part hereof by reference, and that anyone 

making any claim against any of said Development Property in any manner whatsoever 

66

Item 3.



 

50 

 

shall be fully advised as to all of the terms and conditions of the Agreement, and any 

amendments thereto, as if the same were fully set forth herein. 

 

         3.       That a copy of the Agreement and any subsequent amendments thereto, if any, 

shall be maintained on file for public inspection during ordinary business hours in the office 

of the City Clerk, City Hall, Cedar Falls, Iowa.   

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Memorandum of 

Agreement for Private Development on the ______ day of _______________________, 

2023. 

 

 

 

(SEAL)     CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

      By: _________________________________ 

               Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

By: _________________________________________ 

 Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

 

Ryan Companies US, Inc. 

A Minnesota corporation 

 

 

By: ________________________________________ 

 Andy Moffitt, Authorized Representative 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

67

Item 3.



 

51 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA , COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK, ss:   

 

 This record was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 

2023, by Robert M. Green as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

     _________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

 

 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF _______________________, ss: 

 

 This record was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________, 2023, 

by Andy Moffitt, Authorized Representative, Ryan Companies US, Inc., a Minnesota 

corporation. 

 

 

     __________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

 
 

68

Item 3.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by:  Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa (319) 268-5160 

 
RESOLUTION NO. _______ 

 
RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF AN 
AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT AND A MINIMUM ASSESSMENT 
AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND 
RYAN COMPANIES, US, INC., AND APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING 
EXECUTION OF A DEED WITHOUT WARRANTY CONVEYING TITLE TO 
CERTAIN REAL ESTATE TO RYAN COMPANIES US, INC. 

 
 WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 8196 approved and adopted on November 12, 1990 
(Ordinance No. 1923), amended a first time by Resolution No. 10,224 on November 13, 1995 
(Ordinance No. 2122), amended a second time by Resolution No. 13,862 on November 17, 2003 
(Ordinance No. 2461), amended a third time by Resolution No. 18,377 on December 10, 2012 
(Ordinance No. 2785), amended a fourth time by Resolution 19,263 on November 3, 2014, 
amended a fifth time by Resolution No. 19,963 on April 18, 2016, amended a sixth time by 
Resolution No. 21,279 on May 7, 2018 (Ordinance No. 2923), amended a seventh time by 
Resolution No. 21,368 on December 17, 2018 (Ordinance No. 2953), and amended an eighth 
time by Resolution No. 22,205 on December 21, 2020, the City Council has approved and adopted 
an urban renewal plan designated as the “Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban 
Renewal Plan” (the “Urban Renewal Plan”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is desirable that properties within the Urban Renewal Plan be developed as 
part of the overall development area covered by said Plan; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City has received a proposal from Ryan Companies US, Inc. 
("Developer"), in the form of a proposed Agreement for Private Development (the "Agreement") 
by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the "City") and the Developer, a copy of which 
Agreement is attached hereto and incorporated by this reference, pursuant to which Agreement, 
among other things, the Developer would agree to construct certain Minimum Improvements (as 
defined in the Agreement) on certain real property located within the Urban Renewal Plan as 
legally described in the Agreement attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference 
(defined in the Agreement as the "Development Property"), consisting of the construction of an 
Industrial Use Warehouse Facility totaling at least 40,000 square feet of space, together with all 
related site improvements, as outlined in the proposed Development Agreement; and 
 

69

Item 3.



 2 

 WHEREAS, the Agreement further proposes that the City provide certain financial 
incentives for the urban renewal project under the terms and following satisfaction of the 
conditions set forth in the Agreement, consisting of conveyance of title to the Development 
Property to the Developer, the Development Property being legally described as follows: 
 

Lots 12 and 13, West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase V, City of Cedar Falls, Black 
Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 9.33 acres more or less); and 

 
 WHEREAS, Iowa Code Chapters 15A and 403 (the "Urban Renewal Law") authorize cities 
to convey real property to developers for economic development purposes in furtherance of the 
objectives of an urban renewal project and to appropriate such funds, make such expenditures 
and convey such real property as may be necessary to carry out the purposes of said Chapters, 
and to levy taxes and assessments for such purposes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agreement further proposes that the City, the Developer and the 
Assessor of Black Hawk County, Iowa, enter into a Minimum Assessment Agreement (the 
"Minimum Assessment Agreement"), whereby the minimum actual taxable value of the Minimum 
Improvements and the Development Property would be established at an amount not less than 
$4,747,000 for a period of ten (10) year after completion of the Minimum Improvements; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Council hereby finds and determines that the Agreement is in the best 
interests of the City and the residents thereof, and that the performance by the City of its 
obligations thereunder is a public undertaking and purpose and in furtherance of the Urban 
Renewal Plan and the Urban Renewal Law and, further, that the Agreement and the City's 
performance thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate economic development activities and 
objectives of the City within the meaning of Chapters 403 and 15A of the Iowa Code, taking into 
account the factors set forth in Chapter 15A, to-wit: 
 

a) Businesses that add diversity to or generate new opportunities for the Iowa 
economy should be favored over those that do not. 

 
b) Development policies in the dispensing of the funds should attract, retain, or 

expand businesses that produce exports or import substitutes or which generate 
tourism-related activities. 

 
c) Development policies in the dispensing or use of the funds should be targeted 

toward businesses that generate public gains and benefits, which gains and 
benefits are warranted in comparison to the amount of the funds dispensed. 

 
d) Development policies in dispensing the funds should not be used to attract a 

business presently located within the state to relocate to another portion of the 
state unless the business is considering in good faith to relocate outside the state 
or unless the relocation is related to an expansion which will generate significant 
new job creation.  Jobs created as a result of other jobs in similar Iowa businesses 
being displaced shall not be considered direct jobs for the purpose of dispensing 
funds; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Council hereby finds and determines that the requirements of Iowa Code 

Section 403.8 with respect to the transfer of property in an urban renewal area are satisfied insofar 
as the Development Property is being disposed of for the purpose of development of an industrial 

70

Item 3.



 3 

building (see Iowa Code Section 403.8(2)(b)), and because the terms of the Minimum 
Assessment Agreement satisfy the safe harbor contained in Iowa Code Section 403.8(3); and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to notice published as required by law, this Council has held a public 

meeting and hearing upon the proposal to approve and authorize execution of the Agreement, 
and has considered the extent of objections received from residents or property owners as to said 
proposed Agreement; and, accordingly the following action is now considered to be in the best 
interests of the City and residents thereof. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
 Section 1.  That the performance by the City of its obligations under the Agreement, 
including but not limited to conveyance of the Development Property to the Developer in 
consideration of Developer’s proposed development of the Development Property under the 
terms set forth in the Agreement, be and is hereby declared to be a public undertaking and 
purpose and in furtherance of the Urban Renewal Plan and the Urban Renewal Law and, further, 
that the Agreement and the City's performance thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate 
economic development activities and objectives of the City within the meaning of chapters 403 
and 15A of the Iowa Code, taking into account the factors set forth therein. 
 
 Section 2.  That the form and content of the Agreement, the provisions of which are 
incorporated herein by reference, be and the same hereby are in all respects authorized, 
approved and confirmed, and the Mayor and the City Clerk be and they are hereby authorized, 
empowered and directed to execute, attest, seal and deliver the Agreement for and on behalf of 
the City in substantially the form and content now before this meeting, and that from and after the 
execution and delivery of the Agreement, the Mayor and the City Clerk are hereby authorized, 
empowered and directed to do all such acts and things and to execute all such documents as 
may be necessary to carry out and comply with the provisions of the Agreement as executed, 
including but not limited to execution and delivery of a deed conveying title to the Development 
Property to the Developer consistent with the terms and conditions of the Agreement. 
 
 Section 3.  That the form and content of the Minimum Assessment Agreement, the 
provisions of which are incorporated herein by reference, be and the same are hereby in all 
respects authorized, approved and confirmed, and the Mayor and the City Clerk be and they are 
hereby authorized, empowered and directed to execute, attest, seal and deliver the Minimum 
Assessment Agreement for and on behalf of the City in substantially the form and content now 
before this meeting, and that from and after the execution and delivery of the Minimum 
Assessment Agreement, the Mayor and the City Clerk are hereby authorized, empowered and 
directed to do all such acts and things and to execute all such documents as may be necessary 
to carry out and comply with the provisions of the Minimum Assessment Agreement, as executed. 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

71

Item 3.



 4 

PASSED AND APPROVED this _____ day of ________________, 2023. 
 
 

     
 _________________________________________ 

      Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

72

Item 3.



 5 

CERTIFICATE 
 
 
STATE OF IOWA   ) 
     ) SS: 
COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK: ) 
 
 

I, Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby 

certify that the above and foregoing is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution 

No. _____ duly and legally adopted by the City Council of said City on the _____ day of 

____________________, 2023. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the official 

seal of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of ____________________, 2023. 

  
 
 

  
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
 

73

Item 3.



                                             DEED WITHOUT WARRANTY 

 

 For the consideration of One Dollar ($1.00) and other valuable consideration, the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, a municipal corporation organized and existing under the laws of Iowa (“Grantor”), does 

hereby convey to Ryan Companies US, Inc., a Minnesota corporation (“Grantee”), the following described 

real estate in Black Hawk County, Iowa: 

Lots 12 and 13, West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase V, City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa; 
subject to the conditions, covenants and restrictions contained in the Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban 
Renewal Plan approved by Cedar Falls City Council Resolution No. 8196 approved and adopted on 
November 12, 1990 (Ordinance No. 1923), amended a first time by Resolution No. 10,224 on November 
13, 1995 (Ordinance No. 2122), amended a second time by Resolution No. 13,862 on November 17, 
2003 (Ordinance No. 2461), amended a third time by Resolution No. 18,377 on December 10, 2012 
(Ordinance No. 2785), amended a fourth time by Resolution No. 19,263 on November 3, 2014, amended 
a fifth time by Resolution No. 19,963 on April 18, 2016, amended a sixth time by Resolution No. 21,079 
on May 7, 2018 (Ordinance No. 2923), amended a seventh time by Resolution No. 21,368 on December 
17, 2018 (Ordinance No. 2953), and amended an eighth time by Resolution No. 22,205 on December 21, 
2020, and further subject to restrictive covenants, ordinances and limited access provisions of record, if 
any, and to existing easements of record. 
 
This transfer is exempt according to Iowa Code § 428A.2(6). 
 

There is no known private burial site, well, solid waste disposal site, underground storage tank, 

hazardous waste, or private sewage disposal system on the property as described in Iowa Code 

Section 558.69, and therefore the transaction is exempt from the requirement to submit a 

groundwater hazard statement. 

            Words and phrases herein, including acknowledgment hereof, shall be construed as in the 
singular or plural number, and as masculine or feminine gender, according to the context. 

 

Dated: ___________________________. 

 

GRANTOR: 

By: ______________________________  By: _____________________________ 

         Robert M. Green, Mayor                                                   Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK: 

          This record was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of _________________, 2023, 

by Robert M. Green, as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen, as City Clerk, of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa. 

 ________________________________________ 

NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR IOWA 

 

My commission expires: __________________ 

74

Item 3.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
             TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), City Planner I 

 DATE: June 20, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Rezoning Request for property at 702 LeClair Street (RZ23-002) 
  Land Use Map Amendment (LU23-001) 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Amend Future Land Use Map to reflect commercial use of the property. 
Rezone property from C-1 Commercial District to PC-2: Planned Commercial 
District. 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Randy Howe, Owner; Bradley Best, Applicant  
 

LOCATION: 
 

702 LeClair Street  

 
PROPOSAL 
The proposal is to rezone a 2.26-acre (94,446 SF) parcel owned by Randy Howe from C-1 
Commercial District to PC-2 Planned Commercial District. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The subject property is Lot 21 of the Star View subdivision platted in 1950. The first building on 
the subject property was a 1-story office building built in 1965, located on the north portion of 
the parcel. The owner has operated a wholesale business, Advanced Technical Services, on 
the site for several decades. Wholesale businesses are not allowed in the C-1 Zone, so the 
current business is a nonconforming use.  In 2011, a 3,600 sq. ft. warehouse/storage building 
was added on site, southwest of the office building. 
 
With changes ongoing in the business including general supply chain issues in the market, and 
the associated need for pre-ordering and warehousing of materials and equipment for clients, 
the applicant would like to add another approximately 7000 square foot storage building on site 
that will help in operation of the business. However, The C-1 district has restrictions on the 
amount of storage allowed on the site and with the current storage building the site already 
exceeds that limit.    
 
 

75

Item 4.



Therefore, Mr. Howe has requested a rezoning of the property from C-1 Commercial to the 
PC-2 Planned Commercial District to continue the ongoing business on the property at 702 Le 
Clair Street. A master plan for the site has been submitted for review along with supplemental 
materials for the project. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
CURRENT ZONING 
The purpose of the C-1 Commercial District is to provide commercial uses to nearby residence 
districts which support the daily needs of the nearby residents. The subject property and two 
properties east of LeClair Street are zoned C-1, one of which has a business/professional 
office allowed in the district and the other is vacant. 
 
PROPOSED ZONING 
The PC-2 Planned Commercial District Zone 
will allow the applicant to add a 6,900 square 
foot, one-story building to expand his 
business. The purpose of the PC-2 Planned 
Commercial district is to facilitate imaginative 
and comprehensively planned commercial 
developments that are harmoniously 
designed to complement the surrounding 
community. As per the PC-2 district 
guidelines, smaller tracts are eligible for such 
zoning if the site is amenable to long-term 
planning and in cases where careful site 
planning is needed. As part of the process, 
the PC-2 district requires the preparation of a 
master plan and a developmental 
procedures agreement that will allow more 
controlled development on the site, keeping 
in mind the adjacent uses. The 
developmental procedures agreement 
establishes the anticipated use of the site 
and any specific requirements, restrictions, 
or limitations to guide development of the 
site.  
 
The PC-2 zone allows any use that is allowed in any commercial zone with some limitations. 
Looking at the uses allowed in other commercial zones, “wholesale warehouse or business” is 
an allowed use in the C-3 Commercial District, so would also be allowed in PC-2.  However, 
staff also notes that the PC-2 Zone prohibits “any use with physical and operational 
characteristics or requirements that generate substantial truck traffic, noise, odor, dust, glare, 
heat or vibrations, or of a character not compatible with the high aesthetic standards of the 
district.” One of the examples of prohibited uses is “wholesaling/warehousing motor freight 
terminal.” The applicant has provided information about the operation of the site and limited 
amount of truck traffic, so staff finds that the proposed use is reasonable and does not have 
the same intensive industrial characteristics of a warehousing and freight terminal, so could be 
an allowed in the PC-2 Zone, provided the master plan and developmental procedures 
agreement notes conditions and limitations to ensure that it remains compatible with its 

76

Item 4.



adjacency to residential areas.  
 
The proposed master plan (image above) includes the existing and proposed buildings located 
on the site, the driveways used to access the site, the stormwater detention basin, and 
landscaping. The master plan also shows a future trail extension with a bench to provide a bike 
path amenity for the public. The applicant has no plans currently for the area south of the 
proposed new storage building, so will maintain this as landscaped greenspace.   
 
The master plan has been well thought out and includes elements like landscape screening, 
stormwater detention basin, and greater setback from adjacent residential uses to the west of 
the property, which all align well with PC-2 district regulations. In addition, the applicant has 
presented renderings of the proposed building (see below), to give an idea about the scale of 
the building and its proportion to the existing site and immediate surroundings. The proposed 
renderings don’t show any details about the building materials, openings, and other 
architectural details, which all will be reviewed when the site plan for the new building is 
submitted to ensure its compliance with the PC-2 district regulations.

 
 
Staff also took some existing site pictures 
(See images to right and below) that show the 
buildings on site with existing landscaping 
around them, just to give an idea about the 
proposed project and existing site context. 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The applicant held a neighborhood meeting on April 5th, 2023 to discuss the proposed project 
and has included several suggestions from the neighbors in the proposal including reducing 
the height of the building, adjusting security lighting to eliminate glare, adding a bike path 
amenity, and will also be offering neighbors to have some input about landscaping plan along 
the west side of the property. These items are stated in the letter of intent submitted as part of 

Existing Site 

Existing Site Existing Site 

77

Item 4.



the rezoning application. Staff notes that some of the site plan level details including building 
design, architectural characteristics, landscaping plan, etc. will be reviewed in detail when the 
site plan for the proposed building is submitted for review, to ensure its compliance with the 
PC-2 district regulations. 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AND FUTURE LAND USE MAP 
The Future Land Use Map identifies the subject parcel as low density residential with typical 
densities of 1 to 4 units per acre. In this case, both the current zoning C-1 Commercial Zoning 
district and the proposed PC-2 Planned Commercial Zoning district are not consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan and Future Land Use Map.  
 
The subject property, in addition to two properties east of LeClair Street, are currently zoned 
C-1 and two have commercial uses and the other is an undeveloped parcel. These properties 
are designated as low-density residential on the Future Land Use map. To align with the C-1 
Commercial District and the proposed PC-2 Planned Commercial District, the entire area 
outlined in blue, inclusive of the subject property (marked by hatched area and a star), will 
need to be amended to “Neighborhood Commercial/Mixed Use” designated by pink color on 
the future land use map. See attached “Exhibit A” for more reference. 

 
A proposal to amend the Future Land Use Map concurrent with the rezoning consideration will 
make the current and proposed zoning of these properties and the Future Land Use Map 
consistent. The “Neighborhood Commercial Mixed Use” designation includes a range of low-
impact commercial uses, providing a variety of neighborhood services. As per the 
comprehensive plan, the “Neighborhood Commercial Mixed Use” designation should be 
located along major streets, promotes buffering to eliminate negative effects on surrounding 
residential areas, and have good landscaping for enhancement of the site as well as provide a 
visual buffer. With the proposal of the master plan that aligns with the intent of the 
“Neighborhood Commercial Mixed Use” designation and keeping in mind the uses in the 
immediate surroundings of the site, this change will be a more appropriate land use 

78

Item 4.



designation for the site and the area east of LeClair Street currently zoned C-1.   
 
ACCESS TO PUBLIC SERVICES 
The property is in a developed area of the city and has access to all utilities and public 
services on site. 
 
ACCESS TO ADEQUATE STREET NETWORK 
The property is located on the NW corner of LeClair Street and W. 1st Street. The property 
currently has access from LeClair Street.  
 
To eliminate any traffic concerns, the applicant has provided a traffic summary of how the site 
is used currently, with local delivery/pickup trucks approximately three times per week and 
about two to three semis per week. With the proposal for a new building, the applicant is 
expecting the traffic volume to remain unchanged. 
 
PUBLIC NOTICE 
City staff mailed letters to the surrounding property owners notifying them of the rezoning 
request on May 2, 2023.  
 
Notice of the Planning and Zoning Commission Public Hearing was published in the Waterloo-
Cedar Falls Courier on May 16, 2023 and notice of Council’s hearing was published in the 
Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier on June 9, 2023. 
 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
The City technical staff, including Cedar Falls Utilities, have no concerns about the proposed 
rezoning request. The PC-2 Planned Commercial District requires the submittal and adoption 
of a master plan and developmental procedures agreement that outlines any specific 
conditions pertaining to the development, any timing and phasing of the project, and other 
details as necessary.  
 
For this case, staff recommends including the following conditions in the developmental 
procedures agreement: 

1. To restrict the allowed uses to only those uses allowed in the C-1, Commercial District 
and additionally allow one “wholesale business use with associated warehouse space”, 
with a limitation of warehouse space not to exceed 11,000 square feet in total. 

2. To construct a 4-foot-wide public sidewalk along the LeClair Street frontage of the subject 
property and connect it to the 1st Street trail if the undeveloped area south of the 
proposed storage building is developed in the future. 

3. Noting that no access drive will be granted off W. 1st Street for the subject property. 
4. Ensure that the intensity and scale of the “wholesale business use with associated 

warehouse space” may not increase to a level that the use of the subject property 
changes to “wholesaling/warehousing motor freight terminal,” which is a prohibited use in 
the PC-2 Planned Commercial District. 
 

With these conditions, any future use of the property would be of an intensity consistent with its 
current C-1 zoning and adjacency to residential but will allow a long-time business to continue 
in its existing location. See attached development agreement for more reference. This 
development agreement must be finalized prior to the public hearing at the City Council.  
 
The PC-2 Planned Commercial Zoning District requires all site plans in the district to be 

79

Item 4.



approved by the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council. If the rezoning is 
approved, the applicant will submit a site plan application that that is consistent with the 
submitted master plan and developmental procedures agreement and that meets all PC-2 
District regulations. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Planning and Zoning Commission recommends approval of the submitted land use map 
amendment (LU23-001) and the request to rezone the property at 702 LeClair Street from C-1 
Commercial District to PC-2 Planned Commercial District (RZ23-002) as per staff’s 
recommendation at their regular meeting on 24th May 2023 with a vote of 7 ayes and 0 nays. 
Staff also recommends approval of the case LU23-001 and RZ23-002 subject to compliance 
with submitted master plan and a development procedures agreement that includes the 
conditions noted in the staff report above.  
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Introduction 
5/10/2023 

Acting Chair Hartley introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provide background  
information. He explained that the property is located on SE corner of West 1st  

Street and LeClair Street, but has access only from LeClair Street. It is  
proposed to amend the Future Land Use Map to reflect commercial use of the  
property and to rezone the property from C-1 Commercial to PC-2 Planned  
Commercial District. He provided the background of the uses of the property  
from 1950 until now, and explained that the existing storage building on the site  
exceeds the required limit and the property owner is requesting to rezone the  
property to allow continued ongoing business and growth on the property. He  
also discussed the Master Plan for the property and the uses allowed in that  
area. The submittal provides for limited truck traffic and staff feels that the use  
is reasonable. Renderings were displayed to give an idea of the scale of the  
building and its proportion to the existing site and its surroundings. Site plan  
details, including building design, architectural characteristics, landscaping  
plan, etc. will be reviewed with a site plan for the proposed building is  
submitted. 

 
Mr. Atodaria discussed the need for compliance with the Comprehensive Plan 
and Future Land Use Map, explaining that the entire area would need to be 
amended to “Neighborhood Commercial/Mixed Use to align with the C-1 and 
PC-2 zoning. The amendment will make the current and proposed zoning of 
these properties consistent with the Future Land Use Map. He also noted that 
there is access to public services on the site as well as access to an adequate 
street network. At the time of rezoning, a development agreement will be 
required that will spell out any condition or agreement about the proposed 
master plan and the anticipated land use. Staff recommends adding language 
to restrict the uses to only those allowed in the C-1 District plus the whole sale 
use and associated warehouse space. The development agreement will need 
to be finalized prior to the public hearing at City Council. He explained that all 
site plans in the PC-2 district require approval by the Planning and Zoning 
Commission and City Council and the applicant will need to submit a site plan 
application that is consistent with the submitted master plan and PC-2 district 
regulations. 

 
Staff recommends setting a date of public hearing for May 24, 2023 to discuss 
amending the Future Land Use Map to Neighborhood Commercial and Mixed 
Use as noted in the staff report, and to rezone the property at 702 LeClair 
Street from C-1 Commercial District to PC-2 Planned Commercial District. 

80

Item 4.



 
Brad Best, Peters Construction and Randy Howe, 2314 Sunset Boulevard  
came forward to speak regarding the project and make themselves available for  
any questions. 
 
Ms. Moser addressed the fact that there was a neighborhood meeting and feels 
that was very helpful. 
 
Mr. Larson asked why it was decided to rezone to PC-2 instead of C-3. Ms. 
Howard explained that C-3 is a specific zone for a downtown setting. This is not 
in a downtown setting and it’s just for this particular business. C-3 zoning would 
not be consistent as it has R-1 zoning next to it.  
 
Mr. Larson made a motion to set a public hearing for the items. Ms. Crisman 
seconded the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 5 ayes 
(Crisman, Grybovych, Hartley, Larson and Moser), and 0 nays. 

 
Discussion 
& Vote   

5/24/2023 

Chair Lynch introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provided background  
information. He explained that the property is located on the corner of West 1st   
and LeClair Streets and covered background that was discussed at the last 
meeting. He provided a rendering of the location that showed existing and 
proposed building locations on the site, as well as landscaping and bike plan. 
He also showed the future land use map and discussed the proposed changes, 
speaking about current access from LeClair Street and traffic volume on site. 
Mr. Atodaria also went over the technical comments that have been brought 
forward. PC-2 districts require that all site plans in the district be approved by 
the Planning and Zoning Commission. The applicant will need to submit a site 
plan application that is consistent with the submitted master plan and district 
regulations. A development agreement will also be needed at the same time to 
ensure that all conditions are followed. Staff recommends restricting allowed 
uses to those uses allowed in the C-1 District and additionally allow one 
“wholesale business use with associated warehouse space” with a limitation of 
warehouse space to not exceed 11,000 square feet total. If the undeveloped 
area south of the proposed storage building is developed in the future, a public 
sidewalk along the LeClair Street frontage should be constructed that connects 
to the 1st Street Trail. An access drive will not be granted off West 1st Street and 
the developer must ensure that the intensity and scale of the “wholesale 
business use with associated warehouse space” may not increase to a level 
that the use of the subject property becomes a “wholesaling/warehousing motor 
freight terminal,” which is prohibited in the PC-2 Planned Commercial District. 
With these stipulations, staff recommends approval of the land use map 
amendment and rezoning.  
Ms. Grybovych made a motion to approve the land use map amendment. Mr. 
Leeper seconded the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 7 
ayes (Alberhasky, Crisman, Grybovych, Larson, Leeper, Lynch and Stalnaker), 
and 0 nays. 
 
Ms. Grybovych made a motion to approve the rezoning request subject to staff 
recommendations. Mr. Larson seconded the motion. The motion was approved 
unanimously with 7 ayes (Alberhasky, Crisman, Grybovych, Larson, Leeper, 
Lynch and Stalnaker), and 0 nays. 
 

 
  

81

Item 4.



  
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

82

Item 4.



1st St Trail

Sta
nle

y S
t

LeC
lair

 St

W 1st St ®¬57

R-1

R-1

C-1

R-5

A-1

702

612

626

619

704

611

703

625

701 713707

605

331
5

351
2

Cedar Falls City Council
June 5, 2023

Rezoning from C-1 to PC-2
702 Le Clair Street
(RZ23-002)

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Orchard Dr

Rainbow Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
R d

C enter St

W Ridgeway Ave

Ma
in

St

E Greenhill Rd

W 12th St

W 1st St

E Vikin

gRd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

SM
ain

St

L incoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

W
Green hill Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27

£¤218

£¤20 £¤63

^
Location

Map

83

Item 4.



1st St Trail

N Ridge Cir

Sta
nle

y S
t

Sh
irle

y S
t

Windi ng Ridge Rd

LeC
lair

 St

Lakeshore Dr

W 1st St®¬57

R-1

R-1

C-1

R-5 R-1

A-1

Cedar Falls City Council
June 20, 2023

Updating Future Land Use Map from
 "Low Density Residential" to
"Neighborhood Commercial & Mixed Use"
(LU23-001) "Exhibit A"

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Orchard Dr

Rainbow Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
R d

C enter St

W Ridgeway Ave

Ma
in

St

E Greenhill Rd

W 12th St

W 1st St

E Vikin

gRd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

SM
ain

St

L incoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

W
Green hill Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27

£¤218

£¤20 £¤63

^
Location

Map

84

Item 4.



ENGINEERING & ENVIRONMENTAL
Ó 

85

Item 4.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRIL 6, 2023

AutoCAD SHX Text
ILLINOIS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
IOWA

AutoCAD SHX Text
WISCONSIN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
40 FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
\\westunion\Drawings\C3D\22\22-1118 Cedar Falls - ATS\22-1118_Design - Copy.dwg, FG-11x17 Exhibit

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLOT DATE: 4/6/234/6/23

AutoCAD SHX Text
2023 FEHR GRAHAM   FEHR GRAHAM  

AutoCAD SHX Text
FUTURE TRAIL LANDSCAPING

AutoCAD SHX Text
LACLAIR ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 1ST ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED BUILDING 115' X 60'; 6900 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  PCC STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING STORAGE BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING OFFICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING PCC DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED STORM WATER DETENTION BASIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 16 WILLIAM PENDRY 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 17 MARK DEGROOTE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 18 SCOTT GILROY 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 19 DOUGLAS WIDEN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 20 MELODY KING 

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER RANDY HOWE 2314 SUNSET BLVD CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE DEVELOPMENT PLAN  LOT 21, STAR VIEW ADDITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED GRASS UNDEVELOPED AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED ZONING: PC-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 21

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED TREE, TYP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING TREES

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED DRIVEWAY



86

Item 4.



1 

PC-2, PLANNED COMMERCIAL ZONING DISTRICT 

DEVELOPMENTAL PROCEDURES AGREEMENT 

 

This Developmental Procedures Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into this 

____ day of______________, 2023, by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the “City”) 

and Randy W. Howe Revocable Trust U/A dated December 19, 2007 (“Owner”) for the 

purpose of outlining procedures and conditions to be followed for the development of certain real 

estate (the “Property”) located within certain portions of Star View Subdivision, containing 2.26 

acres, being owned by the Owner, which is legally described as follows: 

 

LOT NO. TWENTY-ONE (21) IN STAR VIEW, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, EXCEPT 

THE SOUTH TWENTY-SEVEN (27) FEET THEREOF; AND EXCEPT BEGINNING AT 

THE SOUTHEASTERLY CORNER OF SAID LOT 21; THENCE NORTH 00° (DEGREES) 

57' (MINUTES) 40" (SECONDS) WEST ON THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 21, 

ALSO BEING THE WESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF LE CLAIR STREET, 27.00 

FEET TO THE PRESENT NORTHERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF WEST 1ST STREET, 

BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE SOUTH 89°04'09" WEST ON THE 

PRESENT NORTHERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF WEST 1ST STREET, 10.50 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 44°08'07" EAST, 14.83 FEET TO THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 

21, ALSO BEING THE PRESENT WESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF LE CLAIR 

STREET; THENCE SOUTH 00°57'40" EAST ON THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 21, 

ALSO BEING THE PRESENT WESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF LE CLAIR STREET, 

10.47 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; CONTAINING 55 SQUARE FEET. THE 

EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 21 IS ASSUMED TO BEAR NORTH 00°57'40" WEST FOR 

THE PURPOSE OF THE DESCRIPTION, ALL IN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, BLACK 

HAWK COUNTY, IOWA 

RECITALS 

 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the Owner to rezone the Property from C-1 Commercial 

District to PC-2 Planned Commercial District in Cedar Falls, Iowa; and 

 

WHEREAS, the PC-2 Planned Commercial District requires the submittal and approval 

of a master plan and developmental procedures agreement that outlines any specific conditions 

pertaining to the development, any timing and phasing of the project, and other details as 

necessary; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the City to ensure that said development proceeds in an 

orderly manner and in accordance with the principles of the Comprehensive Plan and the 

provisions of the PC-2 Planned Commercial District; and 

 

WHEREAS, the PC-2 Planned Commercial District allows a wide range of uses, which 

may not be appropriate for all properties, requiring instead that the developer define the allowed 

use(s), as appropriate for the subject property in a development agreement;  

 

87

Item 4.



2 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has recommended approval of the 

rezoning subject to the submitted master plan and a developmental procedures agreement;   

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter contained, the 

City, and Owner agree as follows: 

 

1.  The Property will be developed according to the Master Plan, attached hereto, and 

incorporated herein as Exhibit A. In addition to the existing buildings on the site, the 

development will include  a new, approximately 7000 square foot storage building that is 

associated with  the existing wholesale business, “Advanced Technical Services, Inc.”, as 

shown on Exhibit A. Prior to any construction on the site, the Owner shall submit a detailed 

site plan, including a landscaping plan and architectural drawings of all proposed buildings, 

which will be reviewed by the Planning and Zoning Commission and approved by the City 

Council according to the submitted Master Plan (Exhibit A) and the standards of the PC-2 

Planned Commercial zoning district and all applicable requirements of the Cedar Falls 

Code of Ordinances. 

 

2. Owner agrees to restrict the allowed uses for the Property to only those uses allowed in 

the C-1 Commercial District but additionally allowing one “wholesale business use with 

associated warehouse space,” said warehouse space not to exceed 11,000 square feet in 

total. No other uses will be permitted on the Property. 

 

3.  Owner agrees that the intensity and scale of the “wholesale business use with associated 

warehouse space” may not increase to a level that the use of the Property becomes a 

“wholesaling/warehousing motor freight terminal,” which is a prohibited use in the PC-2 

Planned Commercial District. Evidence of such a change may include but is not limited to 

increased truck traffic beyond what has been characterized in the traffic analysis submitted 

with the application.  

 

4. If the undeveloped area south of the proposed storage building, as shown on Exhibit A, is 

proposed for further development, Owner agrees to construct a 4-foot-wide public 

sidewalk along the LeClair Street frontage of the Property and connect it to the 1st Street 

trail in accordance with City engineering standards.  

 

5. Owner agrees that no access drive will be granted off W. 1st Street.  

 

6. Owner agrees that the signage within the development will be in accordance with the PC-

2 Planned Commercial zoning district regulations, and any new signage will be reviewed 

at the time a detailed site plan is submitted for approval.   

 

7.      In connection with all aspects of the development of the Property, whether specifically 

described in this Agreement, or otherwise, the Owner shall fully comply with all applicable 

provisions and requirements of the Code of Ordinances, policies and practices of the City 

of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and, to the extent applicable, with all provisions of local, state and 

federal laws and regulations. 

88

Item 4.



3 

8. The foregoing conditions shall be binding upon the Owner, and their successors and 

assigns and shall apply to the Property and shall run with the land. 

 

9. This Agreement is governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of 

the State of Iowa. 

10.   Any litigation arising out of the provisions of this Agreement shall be commenced in the 

Iowa District Court for Black Hawk County, which shall be the exclusive jurisdiction and 

venue for such litigation. 

11.   If any portion of this Agreement is for any reason held invalid, such holding shall not 

affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Agreement. 

12.   The action, inaction or delay of either party to enforce any provision of this Agreement 

shall not constitute a waiver or release. 

13.  Any amendment to this Agreement shall be in writing, signed by both parties, and is 

subject to approval by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.   

 

 

Signature page to follow 

  

89

Item 4.



4 

 

      THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

      By: ____________________________________ 

             Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

 

Owner: 

Randy W. Howe Revocable Trust U/A dated December 19, 2007 

 

By: ________________________________________ 

 Randy W. Howe, Trustee  

 

STATE OF IOWA ) 

                       )  ss: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK  ) 

 

 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________, 2023, 

by Randy W. Howe, Trustee of the Randy W. Howe Revocable Trust U/A dated December 19, 

2007; 

 

     ____________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

90

Item 4.



Advanced Technical Services – South Storage Building Exterior Site Perspectives – 4/7/23 
 

 

 
 

91

Item 4.



92

Item 4.



Traffic Summary 
Advanced Technical Services, 703 LeClair Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 

Exis�ng Site 

Advanced Technical Services has operated from this loca�on (702 LeClair Street) for several 
decades with the most recent site improvements made in 2011.  The site consists of an 
office building with outdoor and indoor equipment storage areas.  Currently, six employees 
work at this loca�on.  Traffic to this property can be summarized as follows: 

• UPS delivery in morning and a�ernoon, daily
• FedEx delivery approximately three �mes per week
• Local delivery/pickup trucks approximately three �mes per week
• Approximately one customer per day to the office
• Typical employee traffic for lunch, errands, etc..
• Mowing service one �me per week during warm weather months
• Two to three semis per week

Altogether, approximately fi�een vehicles per day visit this loca�on. 

Two driveways exist on the site.  These were sized to allow a semi to enter, exit and work 
well – see atached exhibit indica�ng a vehicle path.  Equipment/materials are 
loaded/unloaded from the driveway area and moved to either indoor or outdoor storage 
areas.  There are parking spaces for nine plus vehicles (employees and customers).  This has 
proven to be an adequate amount for the current opera�on. 

Proposed Improvements 

The proposed project will construct a storage building to protect some of the materials and 
equipment currently stored outside.  A driveway will connect the exis�ng driveway, interior 
to the lot, to the exis�ng paved driveway area. No new street access is proposed. 

The number of employees is not changing with this project nor is the type of work.  There 
will be no manufacturing taking place.  Delivery and employee/customer traffic are 
expected to remain the same as exis�ng, with approximately fi�een vehicles per day. 

Conclusion 

Traffic volume and type of traffic to 702 LeClair Street are expected to be unchanged with 
the proposed project.  The driveway and parking infrastructure are sa�sfactory for the 
current and proposed use. 

93

Item 4.



ENGINEERING & ENVIRONMENTAL
Ó 94

Item 4.

AutoCAD SHX Text
\\westunion\Drawings\C3D\22\22-1118 Cedar Falls - ATS\22-1118_Design - Copy.dwg, FG-8.5x11

AutoCAD SHX Text
ILLINOIS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
IOWA

AutoCAD SHX Text
WISCONSIN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLOT DATE: 3/28/233/28/23

AutoCAD SHX Text
2023 FEHR GRAHAM   FEHR GRAHAM  

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER RANDY HOWE 2314 SUNSET BLVD CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
60 FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAFFIC DESCRIPTION  SEMI PULLS INTO NORTH DRIVEWAY, TURNS INTO SOUTH DRIVEWAY TO BACK INTO LOADING AREA, WHERE THEY CAN THEN EXIT SOUTH DRIVE. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LACLAIR ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 1ST ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED BUILDING 120' X 60'; 7200 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  PCC STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING STORAGE BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING OFFICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 21

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED DRIVEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAFFIC SUMMARY EXHIBIT 702 LECLAIR STREET



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), Planner I, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 (319) 273-8600 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 3031 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

FOR APPROXIMATELY 2.26 ACRES OF LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN, REMOVING SAID 

AREA FROM THE C-1, COMMERCIAL ZONING DISTRICT AND ADDING IT TO THE PC-2, 

PLANNED COMMERCIAL ZONING DISTRICT 

 

WHEREAS, a proposal was submitted to the Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission 

to rezone approximately 2.26 acres of property from C-1, Commercial Zoning District to PC-2, 

Planned Commercial Zoning District, more specifically described below; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the City to ensure that said development proceeds in an orderly 

manner and in accordance with the principles of the Comprehensive Plan and the provision of the 

PC-2 Planned Commercial District; and 

 

WHEREAS, said PC-2, Planned Commercial Zoning District requires the submittal and 

adoption of a master plan and developmental procedures agreement that outlines any specific 

conditions pertaining to the development, timing and phasing of the project, and other development 

details as necessary; and 

 

WHEREAS, a PC-2 master plan has been submitted with the rezoning application (case 

#RZ23-002), the principles and provisions of which will be incorporated into a developmental 

procedures agreement between the City and owners of the property, which will be considered for 

adoption in a separate action by resolution concurrent with this rezoning; and 

 

WHEREAS, said developmental procedures agreement restricts the use(s) allowed, sets 

expectation for future development, limits the traffic to maintain neighborhood character; and   

 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission considered the rezoning request and 

proposed elements of the PC-2 Master Plan and finds that said rezoning and master plan is consistent 

with the City of Cedar Falls Comprehensive Plan and the intent of the PC-2, Planned Commercial 

Zoning District and therefore recommends approval; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it to be in the best interests of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to approve said rezoning; and  

 

 WHEREAS, Section 26-118, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of Article III, 

Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-Six (26), Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances of 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, provides that the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa is 

incorporated into and made a part of said Ordinance by reference; and 

 
95

Item 4.



 WHEREAS, notice of public hearing has been published, as provided by law, and such 

hearing held on the proposed amendment; and 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, IOWA: 

 

 Section 1.  That the following described real estate, be and the same is hereby removed from 

the C-1, Commercial Zoning District and added to the PC-2, Planned Commercial Zoning District: 

 

Legal Description: 

 

LOT NO. TWENTY-ONE (21) IN STAR VIEW, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, EXCEPT THE 
SOUTH TWENTY-SEVEN (27) FEET THEREOF; AND EXCEPT BEGINNING AT THE 
SOUTHEASTERLY CORNER OF SAID LOT 21; THENCE NORTH 00° (DEGREES) 57' (MINUTES) 
40" (SECONDS) WEST ON THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 21, ALSO BEING THE WESTERLY 
RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF LE CLAIR STREET, 27.00 FEET TO THE PRESENT NORTHERLY RIGHT-
OF-WAY LINE OF WEST 1ST STREET, BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE SOUTH 
89°04'09" WEST ON THE PRESENT NORTHERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF WEST 1ST STREET, 
10.50 FEET; THENCE NORTH 44°08'07" EAST, 14.83 FEET TO THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 
21, ALSO BEING THE PRESENT WESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF LE CLAIR STREET; THENCE 
SOUTH 00°57'40" EAST ON THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 21, ALSO BEING THE PRESENT 
WESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF LE CLAIR STREET, 10.47 FEET TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING; CONTAINING 55 SQUARE FEET. THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 21 IS 
ASSUMED TO BEAR NORTH 00°57'40" WEST FOR THE PURPOSE OF THE DESCRIPTION.   

Containing 94,446 Square Feet or 2.26 Acre.  

 

Section 2. That the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is hereby 

amended to show the property described in Section 1, above, as now being in the PC-2, Planned 

Commercial Zoning District, and the amended map is hereby ordained to be the zoning map of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as amended. 

 

  

INTRODUCED:     June 20, 2023   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   June 20, 2023   

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:   July 17, 2023   

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:       

ADOPTED:          

 

 

         _________________________ 

ATTEST:        Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

96

Item 4.



 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8606 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Mayor and City Council 

 FROM: Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: June 19, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Petition from City Council to amend the Downtown Character District (TA23-003) 

 

 
In 2022 City Council made several referrals to the Planning and Zoning Commission requesting 
consideration for various changes to the Downtown Character District Code. The Planning and 
Zoning Commission has been systematically working through each of those referrals over the last 
year. This memo is related to the petition from the City Council to consider amending the building 
materials standards in the code to allow vinyl siding on small residential buildings in the 
Neighborhood Frontage Areas.  
 
Background 
The previous Central Business District (CBD) Overlay had building materials standards for new 
buildings that did not include an allowance for vinyl siding for commercial, mixed-use and multi-
unit residential buildings containing more than 6 units. In neighborhood areas surrounding 
downtown that were not in the CBD Overlay, there were previously no standards for exterior 
building materials.  
 
The adopted Downtown Character District Code prohibits vinyl siding in the Urban General, Urban 
General 2, and Storefront Areas, which generally encompasses the area previously subject to the 
CBD Overlay. During public review of the new code prior to adoption, the Planning and Zoning 
Commission had several discussions about allowance for vinyl siding in the Neighborhood 
Frontage Areas and considered the pros and cons (see attached excerpt of the decision matrix).  
At that time, the Commission decided not to allow vinyl siding on any new buildings. However, the 
Commission decided that vinyl siding should be allowed on any existing single-unit dwelling, even 
if it is not currently clad in vinyl siding. For example, a homeowner could replace or cover the 
wood siding on their existing house with vinyl siding. In addition, for any existing building that is 
currently clad with vinyl siding, that siding may be replaced or repaired with vinyl siding and any 
addition(s) may be clad with vinyl siding.      
 
Council Petition 
The Council indicated they would like to maintain the prohibition of vinyl siding in the downtown 
core areas – Urban General, Urban General 2, and Storefront frontage areas in the Downtown 
Character District similar to what was disallowed in the previous CBD Overlay.  However, the 
Council indicated that they would like the Commission to consider allowing vinyl siding in the 

97

Item 6.



 
 

Neighborhood Frontage Areas on any new single unit dwelling and also to consider allowing it for 
new construction of other small residential buildings, such as duplexes, townhomes, and small 
apartment buildings up to 6 units.  
 
At the Commission’s May 10th meeting, there was a request for a link to the video recording of 
the April 14, 2021 meeting where the Commission specifically discussed allowing the use of 
vinyl siding in the Neighborhood Frontages. Here is the link to that P&Z meeting with the 
discussion about vinyl siding starting at about 1:56: 
https://meetings.municode.com/multimediaPage/index?cc=CEDARFLS&mm=c4d50e74f9ea446
593cbec201ec7249d&me=4cdd4e408e1841d7b713389df74a2f9d&ts=3109&ei=6ce2fda7ac0e4
59d9b1245971e00a4e8 
   
P&Z Recommendation 
At their May 24 meeting, after a public hearing, the Commission discussed the two petitions from 
City Council. 
 
On a vote of 6-1, the Commission recommends approval of the following:  
 

1. Amend the ordinance to allow vinyl siding on new single-unit dwellings in the Neighborhood 
Frontages, as follows:  
 

b. For Neighborhood Frontages only:  
(i) Wood or approved fiber cement siding;  
(ii) Vinyl siding may be used to replace other types of siding on existing single-unit residential 

buildings only, except as noted in the paragraph (iii) below;  
(iii) On other buildings with existing vinyl siding, that siding may be replaced or repaired with 

vinyl siding and any additions may be clad with vinyl siding.  
 

On a vote of 5-2, the Commission, also recommends approval of the following alternative, which 
would allow vinyl siding on new duplexes as well as single-unit dwellings:  
 

2. Amend the ordinance to allow vinyl siding on new single-unit and two-unit residential 
buildings in the Neighborhood Frontages.  

 

b. For Neighborhood Frontages only:  
(i) Wood or approved fiber cement siding;  
(ii) Vinyl siding may be used to replace other types of siding on existing single-unit and two -

unit residential buildings only, except as noted in the paragraph (iii) below;  
(iii) On other buildings with existing vinyl siding, that siding may be replaced or repaired with 

vinyl siding and any additions may be clad with vinyl siding.  
 

A motion was made to approve vinyl siding on new residential buildings with six or fewer units but 
was subsequently rescinded in favor of a motion to allow vinyl siding on single-unit and duplex 
units only.  Therefore, the Council petition to amend the ordinance as follows was disapproved 
and will take a 2/3 majority vote of Council to approve.   
 

b. For Neighborhood Frontages only:  
(i) Wood or approved fiber cement siding;  
(ii) Vinyl siding may be used to replace other types of siding on existing single-unit residential 

buildings with six or fewer dwelling units only, except as noted in the paragraph (iii) below;  

98

Item 6.

https://meetings.municode.com/multimediaPage/index?cc=CEDARFLS&mm=c4d50e74f9ea446593cbec201ec7249d&me=4cdd4e408e1841d7b713389df74a2f9d&ts=3109&ei=6ce2fda7ac0e459d9b1245971e00a4e8
https://meetings.municode.com/multimediaPage/index?cc=CEDARFLS&mm=c4d50e74f9ea446593cbec201ec7249d&me=4cdd4e408e1841d7b713389df74a2f9d&ts=3109&ei=6ce2fda7ac0e459d9b1245971e00a4e8
https://meetings.municode.com/multimediaPage/index?cc=CEDARFLS&mm=c4d50e74f9ea446593cbec201ec7249d&me=4cdd4e408e1841d7b713389df74a2f9d&ts=3109&ei=6ce2fda7ac0e459d9b1245971e00a4e8


 
 

(iii) On other buildings with existing vinyl siding, that siding may be replaced or repaired with 
vinyl siding and any additions may be clad with vinyl siding.  

 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MINUTES 

Introduction 

05/10/23 
 

The next item for consideration by the Commission was a Zoning Code Text 
Amendment regarding vinyl siding allowance in CD-DT. Acting Chair Hartley 
introduced the item and Ms. Howard provided background information. She explained 
that the City Council has petitioned the Planning and Zoning Commission to consider 
allowing vinyl siding on any new single unit dwelling and to consider allowing vinyl 
siding for new construction of other small residential buildings with six or fewer 
dwelling units (duplexes, townhomes, small apartment buildings, etc.). As most of the 
Commissioners were not on the Commission when this was originally brought for 
consideration, Ms. Howard gave background on what was discussed previously by 
the Planning and Zoning Commission and the decisions that were made with regard 
to vinyl siding. She provided a map of the Downtown Character District Regulating 
Plan and discussed the neighborhood areas that the proposed changes would apply 
to, including the Neighborhood Small and Neighborhood Medium areas. She noted 
that the 2021 Decision Matrix that was used by the Commission when the decision 
was made was included in the packet, which list the pros and cons of vinyl siding 
considered at the time.  
 
Mr. Larson feels that the suggestions from Council are clear and make sense to him, 
and this change doesn’t affect anything as far as architectural compliance or 
compatibility set up in the zoning code. He feels that vinyl siding provides an 
affordable option in the housing market today. 
 
Ms. Grybovych asked if it was worthwhile for Commissioners to go back and view the 
video of the previous conversations with regard to this matter. Ms. Howard stated that 
staff could find the dates of the discussions so that the conversation would be 
available. 
 
Acting Chair Hartley stated that he supports the change. 
 
Ms. Crisman asked if there have been any applicants that have come forward that fall 
into this category of change. Ms. Howard stated that the only new construction that 
has come through has been the Cottage Court project. Ms. Crisman feels that 
environmental concerns should be kept in mind.  
  
Mr. Larson made a motion to set a public hearing for the item. Ms. Crisman seconded 
the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 5 ayes (Crisman, Grybovych, 
Hartley, Larson and Moser), and 0 nays. 

  
   

Public hearing and 

Vote 

5/24/2023 

 
The next item for consideration by the Commission was a zoning code text 
amendment regarding allowance of vinyl siding in the Downtown Character District. 
Chair Lynch introduced the item and Ms. Howard provided background information. 
She explained that the item stems from a referral from City Council to consider 
allowing vinyl siding on any new single-unit dwelling and on new construction of other 
small residential buildings with six or fewer dwelling units (i.e. duplexes, townhomes, 
small apartment buildings) in the Neighborhood frontage areas of the Downtown 
Character District. Previously vinyl siding was not allowed in the Central Business 

99

Item 6.



 
 

District Overlay, but residential neighborhoods outside of the CBD previously had no 
standards for exterior cladding. The Downtown Character District prohibits the use of 
vinyl siding in the Urban General, Urban General 2 and Storefront areas. In 
Neighborhood Frontage areas, vinyl siding is allowed on existing single-family 
dwellings, even if it is not currently clad in vinyl siding. Existing buildings with vinyl 
siding can be replaced with the same, and any additions can also be clad with vinyl 
siding. Ms. Howard displayed the Downtown Character District Regulating Plan that 
shows where these specific neighborhoods are located. She discussed the options 
that the Commission has at this time. They may: recommend no change to the 
current ordinance; amend to allow vinyl siding on single-unit dwellings in the 
Neighborhood Frontages; amend to allow vinyl siding on residential buildings with six 
or fewer dwelling units in the Neighborhood Frontages, or any other combination as 
recommended by the Commission.  
 
Ms. Crisman noted that it is interesting that in the initial conversation it was opted for 
new builds to require old materials but the old structures could use the newer 
materials. In driving around the Downtown Character District there’s a definite 
difference between the older and newer buildings and feels that the older materials 
maintain the character of the district. Mr. Larson stated that he feels that if someone 
were following that design idea, people might be using asbestos siding. He stated 
that, with the issue of housing affordability, requiring more expensive siding materials 
is not a good idea.  
 
Mr. Larson made a motion to approve vinyl siding for single-unit dwellings and 
residential buildings with six or fewer dwelling units in the Neighborhood Frontages. 
Ms. Lynch seconded the motion.  
 
After further discussion and concerns expressed by other Commissioners about 
allowing vinyl siding on new construction of larger buildings, Mr. Larson agreed and 
withdrew his motion and made a new motion to amend the code to allow vinyl siding 
on single-unit dwellings and to amend the code to allow vinyl siding on two-unit 
dwellings as well. Mr. Leeper seconded the motions.  
 
Commission members discussed further comments and concerns with the items. 
 
The motion was approved to allow vinyl siding on single-unit dwellings with 6 ayes 
(Alberhasky, Grybovych, Larson, Leeper, Lynch and Stalnaker), and 1 nay (Crisman). 
 
The motion was approved to allow vinyl siding on two-unit dwellings (duplexes) with 5 
ayes (Alberhasky, Larson, Leeper, Lynch and Stalnaker), and 2 nays (Crisman and 
Grybovych). 
 

 

100

Item 6.



Prepared by: Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager, City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street,  
Cedar Falls, Iowa (319) 268-5169 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 3032 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SUBSECTION 26-194C. ARCHITECTURAL 
STANDARDS: BUILDING WALLS, OF DIVISION 2, SPECIFIC DISTRICTS, 
OF ARTICLE III, DISTRICTS AND DISTRICT REGULATIONS, OF CHAPTER 
26, ZONING, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 
FALLS, IOWA TO ALLOW VINYL SIDING AS A PRIMARY FAÇADE 
MATERIAL ON RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS WITH SIX OR FEWER 
DWELLING UNITS IN THE NEIGHBORHOOD FRONTAGES OF THE 
DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICT.  

 
WHEREAS, Subsection 26-194C of the Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances, sets forth the 

regulations regarding the types of building materials allowed on exterior walls of buildings in 
the Downtown Character District; and 

 
WHEREAS, due to environmental and durability concerns, vinyl siding has been listed as 

a prohibited exterior building material, except for certain exceptions in the Neighborhood 
Frontage areas; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council petitioned the Planning and Zoning Commission to consider 

amending the ordinance to allow vinyl siding on single-unit dwellings and other residential 
buildings with six or fewer dwelling units in the Neighborhood Frontages as it is a commonly 
used exterior material for small residential buildings in the community; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission considered a motion, but 
said motion was withdrawn before a vote was taken and therefore did not recommend 
approval of an amendment to the zoning code to allow vinyl siding on multi-unit residential 
buildings with six or fewer dwelling units and therefore a 2/3 majority of Council is required to 
approve this ordinance;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, THAT: 
 

Section 1: Subsection 26-194C., Architectural Standards: Building Walls, within Division 2, 
Specific Districts, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 26, Zoning, of 
the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended, deleting 
paragraph 3b, related to primary building materials standards in the Neighborhood 
Frontages, and in lieu thereof replacing it with the following paragraph:  
 

b. For Neighborhood Frontages only:  
(i) Wood or approved fiber cement siding;  
(ii) Vinyl siding may be used on residential buildings with six or fewer dwelling units only, 

except as noted in the paragraph (iii) below;  
(iii) On other buildings with existing vinyl siding, that siding may be replaced or repaired 

with vinyl siding and any additions may be clad with vinyl siding.  
 

101

Item 6.



 
 

 
INTRODUCED:     June 20, 2023   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   June 20, 2023   

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:   July 17, 2023   

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:       

ADOPTED:          

 
 
 

____________________________ 
       Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  
 

102

Item 6.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Inspection Services Division 

 

  

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert Green & City Council  
 
 FROM: Jamie Castle, AIA 
  Building Official   
 
 DATE: June 13, 2023  
 
SUBJECT:  First Reading for amendments to Ordinance Sections 19-4 and 19-185 

Removal of Snow and Ice 
 
 
Attached are the proposed amendments to Ordinance Sections 19-4 and 19-185 
Removal of Snow and Ice.  These potential amendments were initially presented at the 
March 20, 2023 committee meeting. 

103

Item 7.



- CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 19 STREETS AND SIDEWALKS 

 

 

 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-01-12 12:30:51 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 15) 

 
Page 1 of 8 

Chapter 19 STREETS AND SIDEWALKS 

ARTICLE I. IN GENERAL 

Sec. 19-1. Obedience to persons entrusted with care of streets. 

It shall be unlawful for any person within the city to disobey or disregard the lawful commands or directions 
of any person in charge of work or repair or connected with such work or repair on any street with respect to the 
care of the street, the removal of obstructions and the general convenience of traffic and travel.  

(Code 2017, § 23-1) 

Sec. 19-2. Right-of-way, public park, public area meetings; parades. 

(a) It shall be unlawful for any person to hold public meetings of any character or description upon any public 
right-of-way of the city, or in any public park or area under the control of the city, without a permit being 
first secured as set forth in this section, or for any person to congregate about or upon any public right-of-
way of the city so as to obstruct public travel or city services, or for any person to parade or march upon any 
street or public right-of-way of the city without a permit being first secured as set forth in this section.  

(b) Public meetings may be held on public right-of-ways of the city and in public parks or other public areas, and 
parades or marches may be held in the city by a person first obtaining from the city a written permit as 
described in section 17-210. This section is not intended to apply to funeral processions, students engaged in 
educational activities under the direct supervision of proper school authorities, or governmental agencies 
acting within the scope of their functions.  

(c) Any person violating any provision of this section, or who holds, conducts, manages, directs or has charge of 
a public meeting, parade or march otherwise than in accordance with the terms of the written permit issued 
as provided in this section, shall be guilty of a municipal infraction, punishable as provided in section 1-9 of 
this Code.  

(Ord. No. 2949, § 4, 8-5-19) 

Editor's note(s)—Ord. No. 2949, § 4, adopted August 5, 2019, repealed the former § 19-2 and enacted a new § 19-
2 as set out herein. The former § 19-2 pertained to street meetings; parades and derived from Code 2017, § 
23-3.  

Sec. 19-3. Use of barbed wire on street. 

(a) The use of barbed wire on any property where such wire abuts any street or on the right-of-way of any street 
within the corporate limits of the city is hereby prohibited, and it is hereby made the duty of the operations 
and maintenance manager to remove any barbed wire so used on private property within the corporate 
limits of the city after first giving the owner or person occupying the premises 24 hours' notice to remove the 
same; provided, however, that, where such barbed wire is on the right-of-way of any street, the same may 
be removed by the manager without notice.  

104

Item 7.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-01-12 12:30:48 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 15) 

 
Page 2 of 8 

(b) Any person failing, refusing or neglecting to remove any such barbed wire, when notified to do so by the 
operations and maintenance manager within 24 hours after such notice, or any person who shall use barbed 
wire in violation of the provisions of this section, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor.  

(Code 2017, § 23-4) 

Sec. 19-4. Clearing of snow and ice from sidewalks.Reserved 

It shall be the duty of the owner to keep sidewalks abutting the property clear of the natural accumulations 
of snow or ice. If the owner fails to do so within a reasonable time, the operations and maintenance manager may 
have the natural accumulations of snow or ice removed without notice to the property owner. The manager shall 
give the council an itemized and verified statement of the costs and a legal description of the property. The costs 
shall be assessed against the property as taxes.  

(Code 2017, § 23-5) 

Sec. 19-5. Depositing gasoline, oil, etc., on paved streets. 

No person shall allow any gasoline, kerosene or oil of any character to be deposited upon any pavement or 
to drip from any wagon, tank or vessel upon any pavement within the city.  

(Code 2017, § 23-7) 

Sec. 19-6. Depositing dirt, ashes or rubbish on paved streets. 

No person shall deposit or cause to be deposited any dirt, ashes or rubbish of any kind or character on any 
paved street within the city.  

(Code 2017, § 23-8) 

Sec. 19-7. Cleanup of glass and other material on removal of wrecked vehicle from street. 

Any person removing a wrecked or damaged vehicle from a street shall remove any glass or other injurious 
substance dropped upon the street from such vehicle.  

(Code 2017, § 23-9) 

Sec. 19-8. Deposit of injurious material on street. 

(a) No person shall throw or deposit upon any street in the city any glass, bottle, nails, tacks, wire, cans, trash, 
garbage, rubbish, litter, offal or any other debris. No substance likely to injure any person, animal or vehicle 
upon a street shall be thrown or deposited by any person upon such street.  

(b) Any person who drops or permits to be dropped or thrown upon any street any destructive or injurious 
materials and other materials as defined in subsection (a) of this section shall immediately remove the 
material or cause it to be removed.  

(Code 2017, § 23-10) 

105

Item 7.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-01-12 12:30:48 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 15) 

 
Page 3 of 8 

Sec. 19-9. Sweeping refuse or waste into street. 

It shall be unlawful for any business house or firm to sweep refuse or waste material of any kind into the 
street.  

(Code 2017, § 23-11) 

Sec. 19-10. Animals on streets. 

(a) It shall be unlawful to drive any animal on the streets of the city, unless properly harnessed and ridden, 
driven or led so as to be under the full control of the person so riding, driving or leading such animal; 
provided, however, that this section shall not prevent the transporting of animals in vehicles over the public 
streets of the city.  

(b) It shall be unlawful to leave any horses or livestock unattended on the streets of the city.  

(c) All provisions of chapter 23 shall, when applicable, apply to animals ridden, driven or led on the streets of 
the city.  

(Code 2017, § 23-12) 

Sec. 19-11. Depositing snow or ice upon streets, sidewalks or municipal parking lots. 

It shall be unlawful for any person to deposit any accumulations of snow or ice upon the traveled portion of 
any street or highway, or upon any public sidewalk, or upon any municipally owned or leased parking lot, 
anywhere within the city. Any person violating this section shall be deemed to have committed a municipal 
infraction and shall be punished as provided in section 1-9.  

(Code 2017, § 23-13; Ord. No. 2077, 11-14-1994) 

Sec. 19-12. Camping on public rights-of-way. 

(a) Definitions. The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this section, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this subsection, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Camp or camping means residing in or using city-owned property for night-time living accommodation 
purposes such as sleeping activities, making preparations to sleep overnight, including the laying down of bedding 
for the purpose of sleeping; erecting, maintaining or occupying any structure with natural or artificial material, 
including a building or tent, or living in a parked camper, trailer, motor home, motor vehicle, or any other vehicle, 
or city-owned property.  

(b) Unlawful camping. Except as otherwise provided in section 17-201 with respect to city parks, it shall be 
unlawful for any person to camp on any city-owned property, including public street rights-of-way, public 
sidewalks, public parks, or any other publicly-owned or maintained area or facilities; and no person shall set 
up a tent, shack, or any other shelter or structure on, nor park a camper, trailer, motor home, or any other 
vehicle for the purpose of sleeping or camping on, any city-owned property, including public street rights-of-
way, public sidewalks, public parks, or any other publicly-owned or maintained area or facilities.  

(Code 2017, § 23-14; Ord. No. 2522, § 1, 6-13-2005) 

106

Item 7.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-01-12 12:30:48 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 15) 

 
Page 4 of 8 

Sec. 19-13. Penalty for violation of article. 

Any person violating any of the provisions of this article shall be deemed to have committed a municipal 
infraction and shall be punished as provided in section 1-9.  

(Code 2017, § 23-15; Ord. No. 2522, § 2, 6-13-2005) 

ARTICLE V. SIDEWALK CONSTRUCTION AND REPAIR 

Sec. 19-172. Purpose of article. 

The purpose of this article is to clarify the responsibilities of the city and the owners of abutting property for 
the maintenance, repair, replacement or reconstruction of sidewalks.  

(Code 2017, § 23-121) 

Sec. 19-173. Definitions. 

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings ascribed to them 
in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

City engineer means the city engineer or the officer designated by the city council to perform the duties 
prescribed for the engineer by this article.  

Defective sidewalk means any public sidewalk exhibiting deficient characteristics, as defined by the city 
engineer and approved by the city council. A list of the deficient characteristics shall be kept on file in the office of 
the city clerk.  

Owner means the person owning the fee title or the contract purchaser for purposes of notification required 
under this article. For all other purposes, the term "owner" shall include the lessee, if any.  

Sidewalk improvements means the reconstruction, repair, replacement or removal of a public sidewalk or the 
excavating, filling or depositing of material in the public right-of-way in connection therewith.  

(Code 2017, § 23-122) 

Sec. 19-174. Penalty for violation of article. 

Any person violating any of the provisions of this article shall be deemed to have committed a municipal 
infraction, and shall be punished as provided in section 1-9.  

(Code 2017, § 23-123) 

Sec. 19-175. Standard specifications; supervision by city engineer. 

(a) The city engineer shall prepare complete plans and specifications for the construction, reconstruction and 
repair of sidewalks and driveway crossings in the sidewalk, which, upon approval of the city council, shall be 
kept on file in the office of the city clerk. The specifications shall include descriptions and standards for 
location of barricades and warning lights.  

107

Item 7.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-01-12 12:30:50 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 15) 

 
Page 5 of 8 

(b) All sidewalk improvements on public property, whether performed by the owner of the abutting property or 
by the city, shall be performed under the supervision and inspection of the city engineer, and in accordance 
with the plans and specifications adopted in accordance with this article.  

(Code 2017, § 23-124) 

Sec. 19-176. Permit required; issuance. 

No person shall make any sidewalk improvements unless such person shall obtain a permit from the city 
engineer. The permit shall state that the person will comply with the ordinances of the city and with the 
specifications for sidewalks adopted by the city. The permit also shall state that the work will be done under the 
direction and approval of the city engineer. A charge, in such amount as established by the council from time to 
time, shall be made for all such permits. A copy of the permit, with the application, shall be filed and preserved in 
the office of the city engineer. The permit shall state when the work is to be commenced and when the work is to 
be completed. The time of completion for the sidewalk improvements may be extended by the city engineer. All 
permits for sidewalk improvements not ordered by resolution of the city council shall be issued in compliance with 
this article. The city engineer may withhold the issuance of any permit for any sidewalk improvements for a 
sufficient period to determine the necessity for the proposed improvements, or when weather conditions will 
adversely affect the sidewalk improvements.  

(Code 2017, § 23-125) 

Sec. 19-177. Commencement of work without permit; failure to comply with specifications. 

Whenever any sidewalk improvements are made that do not conform to the provisions of this article and 
with the city specifications, or when any sidewalk improvements are made without a permit, the city engineer shall 
serve notice to obtain a permit upon the property owner and upon the contractor doing the work. If the sidewalk 
is in the course of construction, the notice shall order the work to stop until a permit is obtained and the work is 
corrected to comply with the specifications. If the sidewalk work has been completed, the owner shall obtain a 
permit immediately and perform any needed corrections within five days from receipt of the permit. If the owner 
fails to comply with this notice, the engineer shall have the work completed, and the costs shall be assessed to the 
property owner as provided in section 23-135(c).  

(Code 2017, § 23-126) 

Sec. 19-178. Bond; insurance. 

(a) Any person constructing or building sidewalks within the city must first file a bond with the city clerk, with a 
copy to the city engineer, in the sum of $5,000.00, or the estimated total cost of the construction work 
covered by the permit as determined by the city engineer, whichever is greater, conditioned on:  

(1) The faithful performance of all duties and regulations required by this article regulating the 
construction, reconstruction or repair of sidewalks within the city;  

(2) The prompt payment to the city of any sums that may become due by reason of this article; and  

(3) The payment of all fines imposed on said person for violation of this article when such violations occur 
during the life of the bond.  

(b) In addition, such person shall provide a certificate of liability insurance to the city clerk with a copy to the city 
engineer, which policy shall indemnify the city from all liability for damages arising from negligence in doing, 
protecting or completing the sidewalk work. Said insurance policy shall have limits in the aggregate of 

108

Item 7.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-01-12 12:30:50 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 15) 

 
Page 6 of 8 

$1,000,000.00, and shall include the city as an additional named insured. Said bond and liability insurance 
policy shall provide coverage on a calendar year basis. Owners doing only their own sidewalk work are not 
required to furnish a bond or liability insurance policy if the owners execute an agreement with the city to 
hold the city harmless from any and all claims that may arise out of the sidewalk work.  

(Code 2017, § 23-127; Ord. No. 2758, § 2, 1-23-2012) 

Sec. 19-179. Inspection and approval of work. 

Upon final completion of sidewalk improvements, the city engineer shall inspect the work. He may order 
corrections if the work does not meet specifications. When the work does meet all requirements of this article, the 
specifications and the permit, the engineer shall indicate this on both copies of the permit.  

(Code 2017, § 23-128) 

Sec. 19-180. Barricades and warning lights. 

Proper warning lights and barricades shall be placed at sidewalk improvements to protect persons from 
materials, equipment and dangerous conditions. Placement and maintenance of adequate warnings is the 
responsibility of the constructor, the owner and the lessee of the property.  

(Code 2017, § 23-129) 

Sec. 19-181. Interference with sidewalk improvements. 

No person shall knowingly or willfully drive any vehicle upon any portion of any sidewalk or approach thereto 
while it is in the process of being improved, or upon any portion of any completed sidewalk or approach thereto, 
or shall remove or destroy any part or all of any sidewalk or approach thereto, or shall remove, destroy, mar or 
deface any sidewalk at any time or destroy, mar, remove or deface any notice or warning device provided for by 
this article.  

(Code 2017, § 23-130) 

Sec. 19-182. Authority to order sidewalk improvements. 

The city engineer may order the reconstruction, repair or replacement of permanent sidewalks upon any 
street or court. Notice of this order shall be sent to the owner by certified mail. The notice shall include the fact 
that the owner may request a hearing by the city council within 15 days of receipt of the notice.  

(Code 2017, § 23-131) 

Sec. 19-183. Duty of abutting property owner to repair defective sidewalk. 

It shall be the duty of the abutting property owner at any time, or upon receipt of 30 days' notice from the 
city, to repair, replace or reconstruct all broken or defective sidewalks in the street right-of-way abutting the 
property owner's property. The abutting property owner shall be liable for damages caused by the failure of the 
abutting property owner to use reasonable care in the repair, replacement or reconstruction of broken or 
defective sidewalks abutting the property owner's property. If, after the expiration of the 30 days as provided in 
the notice, the required work has not been done or is not in the process of completion, the city engineer shall 
proceed to repair, replace or reconstruct the sidewalk. Upon completion of the work, the city engineer shall 

109

Item 7.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-01-12 12:30:50 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 15) 

 
Page 7 of 8 

prepare and submit to the city council an itemized and verified statement of expenditures for material and labor, 
and the legal description of the property abutting the sidewalk on which work has been performed. These costs 
shall be assessed against the abutting property for collection in the same manner as a property tax. The 
assessment of such costs against the property does not relieve the abutting property owner of liability for damages 
imposed by this section. The city does not have a duty to repair, replace or reconstruct broken or defective 
sidewalks.  

(Code 2017, § 23-132; Ord. No. 2410, § 1, 1-13-2003) 

Sec. 19-184. Notification of city in case of inability to repair or barricade sidewalk. 

It shall be the duty of the owner of the property abutting the sidewalk, or of the contractor or agent of the 
owner, to notify the city immediately if the owner is unable to make necessary sidewalk improvements or to install 
or erect warnings and barricades as required by this article.  

(Code 2017, § 23-133) 

Sec. 19-185. Removal of snow and ice. 

The abutting property owner is responsible for the removal of the natural accumulations of snow and ice 
from for the full width of all sidewalks abutting the property owner's property within a reasonable amount of 
time48 hours of the end of a weather event. The abutting property owner shall be liable for damages caused by 
the failure of the abutting property owner to use reasonable care in the removal of the snow or ice. If the abutting 
property owner fails to remove the natural accumulations of snow or ice within a reasonable amount of time48 
hours of the end of the weather event, the public workscommunity development department may notify the 
property owner of violation of this section by posting notice in a conspicuous place on the property or in the right-
of-way adjacent to the property.  If the property owner fails to remove have the natural accumulations of snow or 
ice within 24 hours of the notice the City shall have the snow or ice removed without further notice to the 
property owner. Upon completion of the work, the public workscommunity development director shall prepare 
and submit to the city council an itemized and verified statement of the costs and a legal description of the 
property, and the costs shall be assessed against the abutting property for collection in the same manner as a 
property tax. The assessment of such costs against the property does not relieve the abutting property owner of 
liability for damages imposed by this section. The city does not have a duty to remove natural accumulations of 
snow or ice from the sidewalks.  

If removal of snow and ice from an abutting sidewalk would create an unsafe condition or would be a 
hardship on the owner, as determined by the city, an alternate route may be approved by the director of 
community development if the following conditions are met. 

1.  A plan is submitted to the City for approval. 

2. The plan clearly demonstrates hardship and specifically identifies the proposed alternate route. 

3. The alternate route provides a safe and level path with a minimum clearance of four feet and which 
leads to another adjacent sidewalk or right-of-way within five feet of the uncleared sidewalk. 

1.4. The alternate route is no longer than fifteen feet in total distance. 

(Code 2017, § 23-134; Ord. No. 2410, § 2, 1-13-2003; Ord. No. 2941, § 6, 6-3-2019) 

110

Item 7.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-01-12 12:30:50 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 15) 

 
Page 8 of 8 

Sec. 19-186. Assessment for repair or clearing cost. 

(a) Notice. When the city engineer submits a bill for sidewalk improvements or for removal of accumulations as 
provided in sections 19-177, 19-183 and 19-185, the city clerk shall send a notice of such facts to the owner 
of the abutting property. The notice may be given either by personal service or by certified mail to the last 
known address of the owner. The notice shall contain a statement of the work performed, the cost of the 
work that is being assessed and a description of the property affected, and shall state the fact that the 
person may pay the amount assessed by a certain date without interest or penalty. The notice also shall 
indicate that the person may object to such assessment and give the place and time at which the city council 
will hear such objections. The time set for hearing shall be at least 15 days after the service or mailing of the 
notice.  

(b) Hearing. At the time and place designated in the notice, the city council shall consider all objections to the 
assessment, correct all errors or omissions, and adopt a corrected list as the amounts to be assessed against 
the property.  

(c) Billing and certifying to county. Thirty days after the city council's decision, the city clerk shall certify any 
unpaid amounts to the county auditor. The unpaid assessments shall constitute a lien against the property 
and shall be collected by the county treasurer in the same manner as other taxes. Any assessment that 
exceeds $500.00 may be paid in installments as set by the city council, not exceeding 15, in the same manner 
and at the same interest rates as for special assessments under Iowa Code ch. 384, div. IV (Iowa Code § 
384.37 et seq.). No interest shall be charged for assessments, or parts thereof, paid within 30 days of the 
time the city council determines the final amounts.  

(Code 2017, § 23-135) 

Secs. 19-187—19-210. Reserved. 

 

111

Item 7.



ORDINANCE NO. 3034 

AN ORDINANCE (1) REPEALING SECTION 19-4, CLEARING OF SNOW AND ICE FROM 
SIDEWALKS, OF ARTICLE I, IN GENERAL, IN ITS ENTIRETY; AND (2) REPEALING 

SECTION 19-185, REMOVAL OF SNOW AND ICE, OF ARTICLE V, SIDEWALK 
CONSTRUCTION AND REPAIR, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW SECTION 19-
185, REMOVAL OF SNOW AND ICE, ALL CONTAINED IN CHAPTER 19, STREETS AND 
SIDEWALKS, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA; 

 Section 1.  Section 19-4, Clearing of snow and ice from sidewalks, of Article I, In 
General, of Chapter 19, Streets and Sidewalks, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa is hereby repealed in its entirety. 

 Section 2. Section 19-185, Removal of snow and ice, of Article V, Sidewalk construction 
and repair, of Chapter 19, Streets and Sidewalks, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 19-185, Removal of snow 
and ice, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 19-185. Removal of snow and ice. 

The abutting property owner is responsible for the removal of accumulations of snow and 
ice for the full width of all sidewalks abutting the property owner's property within 48 hours of the 
end of a weather event. The abutting property owner shall be liable for damages caused by the 
failure of the abutting property owner to use reasonable care in the removal of the snow or ice. If 
the abutting property owner fails to remove accumulations of snow or ice within 48 hours of the 
end of the weather event, the community development department may notify the property 
owner of violation of this section by posting notice in a conspicuous place on the property or in 
the right-of-way adjacent to the property.  If the property owner fails to remove  the 
accumulations of snow or ice within 24 hours of the notice the City shall have the snow or ice 
removed without further notice to the property owner. Upon completion of the work, the 
community development director shall prepare and submit to the city council an itemized and 
verified statement of the costs and a legal description of the property, and the costs shall be 
assessed against the abutting property for collection in the same manner as a property tax. The 
assessment of such costs against the property does not relieve the abutting property owner of 
liability for damages imposed by this section. The city does not have a duty to remove 
accumulations of snow or ice from the sidewalks.  

If removal of snow and ice from an abutting sidewalk would create an unsafe condition or 
would be a hardship on the owner, as determined by the city, an alternate route may be 
approved by the director of community development if the following conditions are met. 

1.  A plan is submitted to the City for approval. 

2. The plan clearly demonstrates hardship and specifically identifies the proposed 
alternate route. 

3. The alternate route provides a safe and level path with a minimum clearance of four 
feet and which leads to another adjacent sidewalk or right-of-way within five feet of the 
uncleared sidewalk. 

4. The alternate route is no longer than fifteen feet in total distance. 

112

Item 7.



INTRODUCED:     June 20, 2023    

PASSED 1st CONSIDERATION:   June 20, 2023    

PASSED 2nd CONSIDERATION:   July 17, 2023    

PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:        

ADOPTED:           

 

 

_____________________________ 
                                                                           Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 

113

Item 7.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
  
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 
 DATE: June 12, 2023 
 
SUBJECT:  Updates to City Code Section 23-374 – Parking Prohibited on Specific 

Streets 
 
Parking is currently allowed on both sides of Bluebell Road from South Main Street to 
Coneflower Parkway. This area creates concerns of a congested corridor that can lead 
to single lane traffic and also potential vehicular movement conflicts into and out of area 
businesses along the corridor.   
 
The Engineering Division is recommending that the current parking that exists on Bluebell 
Road be modified to restrict parking on certain portions of the road and have these areas 
designated as permanently prohibited parking. This will make the street safer with regards 
to traffic activities and vehicular movements within the corridor.    
 
The Engineering Division is proposing changes to City Code Section 23-374 – Parking 
Prohibited on Specific Streets so the code will match the proposed limits of the no parking 
along Bluebell Road. Please see the attached changes to City Code Section 23-374 – 
Parking Prohibited on Specific Streets.  
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends approval to set 
the newly defined area to prohibit on-street parking. This area is shown on the attached 
exhibit.    
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
    

114

Item 8.



115

Item 8.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:40 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 1 of 1 

Sec. 23-374. Parking prohibited on specific streets. 

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle at any time upon any of the 
streets or portions of streets enumerated in this section.  

Street  Portion Where  
Parking Prohibited  

Bluebell Road  On both sides of Bluebell Road from Coneflower Parkway to 250 feet west of 
Coneflower Parkway.  

 On the south side of Bluebell Road from Coneflower Parkway to 410 feet south/east 
of Coneflower Parkway. 

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

116

Item 8.



 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 3035 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 23-374, PARKING PROHIBITED ON 
SPECIFIC STREETS, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE IV, 
STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING, OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND 
MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, BY ENACTING A NEW SUBSECTION PROHIBITING 
PARKING ON SPECIFIC SECTIONS OF BLUEBELL ROAD.  
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
Section 23-374, Parking Prohibited on Specific Streets, of Division 1, Generally, of 
Article IV, Stopping, Standing and Parking, of Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of 
the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended by adding a 
new unnumbered subsection which shall read as follows: 

 

            Street                                    Portion Where Parking Prohibited 

Bluebell Road On both sides of the Bluebell Road from Coneflower 
Parkway to 250 feet west of Coneflower Parkway. 

 
 On the south side of the Bluebell Road from Coneflower 

Parkway to 410 feet south/east of Coneflower Parkway.  
  
  

 
 

INTRODUCED:     June 20, 2023    
 
PASSED 1st CONSIDERATION:   June 20, 2023    
 
PASSED 2nd CONSIDERATION:   July 17, 2023    
 
PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:        
 
ADOPTED:           
 
 
 
 

_____________________________ 
                                                                             Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

117

Item 8.



1 

 

   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Green, City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: July 18, 2023 

   SUBJECT:   Political sign ordinance amendment 
 
 

Section 3-64 of the Code of Ordinances addressing political signs is unlawful in a couple of 

respects.  Courts have held that requiring a permit and fee for posting political signs on private 

property is an unconstitutional abridgment of First Amendment rights.  Also, it is a similar 

unlawful abridgment to impose a deadline for removing such signs from private property.   

 

Campaign signs may not be placed on public property according to State law.  State law also 

prohibits the placement of campaign signs near polling places as provided in the current 

ordinance.  That is why no changes to those provisions of the current ordinance are 

recommended.   

 

Attached to this Memorandum please find proposed ordinance changes to bring Sec. 3-64 into 

legal compliance.  It should be noted that at my recommendation the provisions to be stricken 

have not been enforced since we learned of the problems with the ordinance. 

 

I recommend approval of the changes. 

        

Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions.  Thank you.  

118

Item 9.



1 
 

 

ORDINANCE NO. ________ 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING SECTION 3-64, POLITICAL SIGNS, OF ARTICLE II, 

SIGNS, OF CHAPTER 3, ADVERTISING, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW SECTION 

3-64, POLITICAL SIGNS. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

       Section 3-64, Political Signs, of Article II, Signs, of Chapter 3, Advertising, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 

3-64, Political Signs, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 3-64. Political signs. 

Any person who desires to post political signs within the city limits shall first obtain a temporary sign permit. 
All of such signs must be removed within one week after the election which the signs refer to. A political sign shall 
not be attached to any city property, nor shall any such No political sign shall be posted on the premises of any 
polling place or within 300 feet of any outside door of any building affording access to any room where the polls 
are held, or any outside door of any building to any hallway, corridor, stairway or other means of reaching the 
room where the polls are held, except that this prohibition shall not apply to the posting of signs on private 
property not a polling place.  

(Code 2017, § 3-65) 

 

INTRODUCED:      July 17, 2023      

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:    July 17, 2023      

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:           

PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:           

ADOPTED:              

 
 
 
                                                                                             ___________________________ 
                                                                                              Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  
         

119

Item 9.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
Financial Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members  

 FROM: Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

 DATE: May 18, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Council Salary Ordinance 

 
Please find attached proposed changes to Section 2-47 of the Code of Ordinances 

relating to the Salary of Councilmembers.  These changes were discussed during the 

Committee of the Whole meeting on April 17, 2023. 

 

The effects of Section 2-47 changes are to establish $8,500 $12,000 as the annual rate 

of pay beginning January 1, 2024, and to use October as the month of the federal 

consumer price index rate (CPI-U) to calculate the annual increase, which will be 

effective beginning January 1, 2025. 

 

Please feel free to contact me with any questions.  

  
CC: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 
       Ron Gaines, City Administrator 
 
 
 
  

120

Item 10.



 

 

 
ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 

AN ORDINANCE INCREASING THE SALARY OF COUNCIL MEMBERS BY REPEALING 

SECTION 2-47, SALARY OF MEMBERS, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE II, 

CITY COUNCIL, OF CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF 

A NEW SECTION 2-47, SALARY OF MEMBERS OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

     Section 2-47, Salary of Members, of Division I, Generally, of Article II, City Council, of 

Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby 

repealed in its entirety and a new Section 2-47, Salary of Members, is enacted in lieu thereof, as 

follows: 

           Sec. 2-47. - Salary of members. 

Each councilmember of the city shall receive an annual salary of 
$8,500.00$12,000.00$4,098.60 as of January 1, 2024, and beginningafter January 1, 
2025,2000 an annual salary adjustment shall be awarded equal to the latest calendar 
year annual federal consumer price index rate (CPI-U) for the month of October that 
precedes the effective date of the annual salary adjustmentawarded at the start of 
each fiscal year. Said salary shall be payable in such manner as the council shall by 
motion direct. 

(Code 2017, § 2-43; Ord. No. 2085, § 1, 2-13-1995; Ord. No. 2250, § 1, 1-11-1999) 

      

INTRODUCED:         

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:       

ADOPTED:          

 

____________________________ 
                Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

121

Item 10.



 

 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 3037 

AN ORDINANCE INCREASING THE SALARY OF COUNCIL MEMBERS BY REPEALING 

SECTION 2-47, SALARY OF MEMBERS, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE II, 

CITY COUNCIL, OF CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF 

A NEW SECTION 2-47, SALARY OF MEMBERS OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

     Section 2-47, Salary of Members, of Division I, Generally, of Article II, City Council, of 

Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby 

repealed in its entirety and a new Section 2-47, Salary of Members, is enacted in lieu thereof, as 

follows: 

           Sec. 2-47. - Salary of members. 

Each councilmember of the city shall receive an annual salary of $8,500.00 as of 
January 1, 2024, and beginning January 1, 2025, an annual salary adjustment shall be 
awarded equal to the federal consumer price index rate (CPI-U) for the month of 
October that precedes the effective date of the annual salary adjustment. Said salary 
shall be payable in such manner as the council shall by motion direct. 

      

INTRODUCED:     July 17, 2023    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   July 17, 2023    

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:        

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:        

ADOPTED:           

 

 

____________________________ 
       Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

122

Item 10.



  
 

MEETING OF STANDING COMMITTEES 
City Hall, 220 Clay Street 

July 17, 2023 
 

The meeting of Standing Committees met at City Hall at 5:15 p.m. on July 17, 2023, with the 
following Committee persons in attendance: Councilmembers Susan deBuhr, Kelly Dunn, Simon 
Harding, Daryl Kruse, Dustin Ganfield, Gil Schultz, and Dave Sires. Staff members from all City 
Departments and members of the community attended in person.   
 
Finance and Business Operations Committee: 
Chair Dunn called the meeting to order and introduced the first item on the Finance & Business 
Operations Committee Agenda, Grow Cedar Valley Update and introduced Mike Mallaro, Chair of 
the Grow Cedar Valley Board.  Mr. Mallaro gave a brief overview of Grow Cedar Valley and 
introduced Lisa Skubal, Vice President of Economic Development.  Ms. Skubal gave an overview 
of current and new projects and leads, meetings, and outreaches; she introduced Stephanie 
Detweiler, Director of Workforce and Talent.  Ms. Detweiler gave an overview of surveys 
conducted, future surveys, and use of the data collected; she introduced Nicole Sallis, Director of 
Communications.  Ms. Sallis gave an overview of the “Live the Valley” campaign and the Livability 
magazine for 2024; she introduced Cary Darrah, CEO.  Ms. Darrah talked about the marketing 
messages to the community and the Destination Iowa project.   
 
Finance and Business Operations Committee: 
Chair Dunn called the meeting to order and introduced the second item on the Finance & Business 
Operations Committee Agenda, Parking Permits for Downtown Residents and introduced Parking 
Supervisor Marcie Breitbach.  Ms. Breitbach presented four options for City lot permit parking:  
continue the current ordinance, including 48 hour parking and towing regulations; allow a monthly 
resident permit, $100/month, with a designated space for Main Street residents with proof of 
residency and one spot limit per address; allow a monthly resident permit, $70/month, lot specific 
but no designated space, for Main Street residents with proof of residency and one spot limit per 
address; or continue the current $35/month permit with option to purchase additional time beyond 
48 hours for $3/day.  Ms. Breitbach stated the City recommends option four.  Councilmembers and 
staff discussed:  identification of resident vehicles, permits are tracked by license plate; number of 
available permits; long-term parking payment and towing during snow emergencies; clarity in 
ordinance wording for long-term parking; and addition of contact information to permit application.  
Director of Community Main Street Kim Bear read a letter submitted to Council regarding 
downtown parking.  Councilmember Harding moved to keep current permit regulations but add the 
$3/day additional longer-term parking with the clause that during the extra time purchased the 
vehicle cannot be towed; Councilmember Schultz seconded.  Councilmembers discussed current 
number of permits and inclusion of additional information on the City website.  There being no 
public comment, Chair Dunn called for a voice vote.  Aye:  Schultz, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, 
and Dunn.  Nay:  deBuhr.  Motion carried. 
 
Finance and Business Operations Committee: 
Chair Dunn called the meeting to order and introduced the third item on the Finance & Business 
Operations Committee Agenda, City Council E-Mails on City Website and introduced Information 
Services Manager Julie Sorensen.  Ms. Sorensen reviewed past policy for use of external e-mail 
address and the February change to City e-mail addresses for Council after consultant review and 
recommendations to meet cybersecurity insurance, retention, and FOIA record request 
requirements.  Ms. Sorensen recommended continued use of City e-mail addresses.  
Councilmembers and staff discussed:  cybersecurity risks of e-mail forwarded from shared Council 
inbox to external e-mail; responsibility of City for City e-mail and Councilmember for external e-mail 
for retention and disclosure of e-mails for FOIA record requests; e-mail notifications; risks to 
cybersecurity and cybersecurity insurance requirements for use of external e-mail.  Councilmember 
Kruse moved to keep personal e-mail if that’s Councilmember’s choice, with clause that if it affects 
use of shared inbox to discontinue use; Councilmember Ganfield seconded.  There being no public 
comment and no further Council discussion, Chair Dunn called for a voice vote.  Aye:  deBuhr, 
Kruse, Ganfield, and Sires; Nay:  Schultz, Harding, and Dunn.  Motion carried.  City Administrator 

123

Item 11.



Ron Gaines stated this does not require Council action but will be the practice moving forward.  
Ms. Sorensen stated she will update the website with Councilmembers’ preferred e-mail addresses 
and provide a letter stating the responsibility of Councilmembers who choose to utilize an external 
e-mail regarding cybersecurity, retention, and FOIA record requests. 

Public Works Committee: 
Chair Schultz called the meeting to order and introduced the only item on the Public Works 
Committee Agenda, Request for 4-Way Stop at the Lone Tree Road and Center Street Intersection 
and introduced City Engineer David Wicke.  Mr. Wicke provided the criteria for an all-way stop and 
if they were met:  use as an interim measure for a traffic signal, not met; crash data supports use, 
not met; and minimum volumes, number of vehicles and speed, not met.  He stated stop signs are 
not a traffic calming tool.  Mr. Wicke stated the City recommends installation of an “Intersection 
Ahead” sign on Center Street and addition of a “Cross Traffic Does Not Stop” sign on currently 
installed Lone Tree Road stop signs.  Councilmembers and staff discussed:  use of the Manuel on 
Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD); liability to the City; and previous speed study.  Chair 
Schultz stated Council had received petitions for the four-way stop from the public, asked for public 
comment.  Steve Smith, Cedar Falls; Jim Newcomb, Cedar Falls; Mark Sharp, Cedar Falls; Amy 
Jardon, Cedar Falls; and Mark Suchy, Cedar Falls: spoke in favor of the four-way stop and 
expressed concern for pedestrian/bike traffic and the school crossing.  Councilmembers discussed: 
conducting a pedestrian/bike traffic study and study for installation of a Rapid Beacon.  
Councilmember Ganfield motioned the committee recommend to Council to add a four-way stop 
including painted pedestrian crossing; Councilmember Sires seconded.  Chair Schultz called for a 
voice vote.  Aye:  Schultz, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, and Dunn; Nay:  deBuhr.  Motion 
carried.  City Administrator Ron Gaines stated staff will draft an ordinance to bring to Council for 
implementation after approval. 
 
 
Meeting adjourned at 6:58 p.m. 
 
Minutes by Katie Terhune, Administrative Assistant 

124

Item 11.



 MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN                                                                                                   CFD 9520
  
 CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA   
 220 CLAY STREET 
 CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 PHONE  319-268-5118 
 EMAIL mayor@cedarfalls.com 

 www.cedarfalls.com 
 

                     
  FROM: Mayor Robert M. Green 

        TO:      City Council 

    DATE:  July 28, 2023 

     SUBJ: Appointment to Cedar Falls Utilities Board of Trustees – Mr. Nick Evens 

       REF: (a) Code of Ordinances, City of Cedar Falls §2-448: Utilities Board of Trustees 

 

1. In accordance with reference (a), I hereby appoint Mr. Nick Evens to the Cedar Falls Utilities 

Board of Trustees for to fill the vacancy of a six-year term ending on August 31, 2027.  

2. Because this appointment occurred within the two-year validity window of the previous 

appointment process, a new selection panel was not convened.  Instead, in keeping with my 

process, the first alternate has been offered the vacancy appointment. That window expires 

in August, so a new selection list will be generated for the next vacancy. 

3. Councilor Gil Schultz was not part of the selection process nearly two years ago at the Public 

Works Committee Chair, so I have given him the opportunity to interview Mr. Evens to ensure 

Councilor Schultz’s comfort with this appointment.  

4. This appointment would retain the required gender balance, with three males and two 

females.  Please contact me with any additional questions. 

Encl:     (1) Mr. Nick Even’s General Application and Candidate Questionnaire 

 

Xc: City Administrator 

CFU General Manager    

### 

 
 
 
 
 
 

125

Item 12.



126

Item 12.



127

Item 12.



128

Item 12.



129

Item 12.



130

Item 12.



131

Item 12.



132

Item 12.



133

Item 12.



134

Item 13.



135

Item 13.



136

Item 13.



137

Item 13.



138

Item 13.



139

Item 13.



140

Item 13.



141

Item 13.



142

Item 13.



143

Item 13.



144

Item 13.



145

Item 13.



146

Item 13.



147

Item 13.



148

Item 13.



149

Item 13.



150

Item 13.



151

Item 13.



152

Item 13.



153

Item 13.



154

Item 13.



155

Item 13.



156

Item 13.



157

Item 13.



158

Item 13.



159

Item 13.



160

Item 13.



161

Item 13.



162

Item 13.



163

Item 13.



164

Item 13.



165

Item 13.



 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Thomas Weintraut, AICP, Planner III 

 DATE: August 7, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Temporary Sign Request 
Future Rotary Plaza site located between Behrens-Rapp Filling Station and the 
Little Red Schoolhouse on W 1st Street.    

   
Planning & Community Services has 
received a request from the Rotary Club to 
place a temporary banner on the City’s 
property located at 205 W 1st Street, the 
future site of the Rotary Plaza. 
 
The banner was installed in mid-July. 
However, City Council approval is required 
to post any sign on public property.  The 
organization was unaware of this 
requirement, so is now requesting Council 
approval. Temporary banners are allowed to 
be displayed for a maximum of 60 days in 
any 12-month period. The organization is requesting permission to place the banner on the 
property for 60 days. 

The banner announces the anticipated start of the 
construction of the plaza which has a proposed 
groundbreaking later this summer.  
 
The Planning and Community Services Division 
recommends approval to display the banner sign 
on the City’s property through September 18, 
2023. The club will monitor and maintain the sign 
in good condition during this time.   
 
 

 
cc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development 
 Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

166

Item 14.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  4600 SOUTH MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Green and City Councilmembers 

From:  Craig Berte, Public Safety Services Director 

  Mark Howard, Police Chief 

Date:  July 31, 2023 

Re:  Retail Alcohol License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for retail alcohol licenses. We find no records that would 
prohibit these licenses and recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Main Street Sweets, 307 Main Street, Special Class B retail native wine – renewal. 

b) Amigo, 5809 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - renewal. 

c) The Pump Haus Pub & Grill, 311 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - renewal. 

d) Wilbo, 118 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - renewal. 

e) Live to 9, 200 Block of State Street and 100 Block of East 2nd Street including adjacent sidewalks, 
Special Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service – 5-day permit. 

f) Kwik Star, 4515 Coneflower Parkway, Class B retail alcohol - new. 

 

167

Item 15.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Financial Services Division 

 

  

 TO:  Mayor Green and City Council 

      FROM:  Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

       DATE:  July 28, 2023 

 SUBJECT: State Setoff Program – Revised Memorandum of Understanding  

 
Attached for your review is a revised Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with the Iowa 
Department of Revenue for the State Setoff Program.  Participation in this program is voluntary 
and requires a signed Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), along with a completed Setoff 
Participant Enrollment Application Form.   
 
The City has been using this is as a form of collection services for the City’s uncollectible 
accounts since March 2008.  The City of Cedar Falls must in good faith, attempt to collect past 
due debt from the entity.  We generally do this by a phone call and one or two letters with the 
intent to recover the debt.  We document and retain all correspondence.  If resolution of the debt 
does not occur, and the debt is at least $50, we can include the liability with the Statewide Setoff 
Program.  A $7.00 fee is charged on each offset when money is kept.  In order to submit a past 
due debt for collection, we are required to have the customers Federal ID Number or the 
individual’s Social Security Number.  Due to privacy issues we are not always able to obtain this 
information. However the State Setoff Program gives the City another way of collecting past due 
debts. 
 
The Memorandum of Understanding will be included on the August 7, 2023 Council meeting for 
approval.   
 
If you have any questions or comments concerning the contract, please feel free to contact me. 
 
 
CC:  Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

Jacqueline Danielsen, City Clerk 
Marcie Breitbach, Administrative Supervisor 

168

Item 17.



169

Item 17.



170

Item 17.



171

Item 17.



172

Item 17.



173

Item 17.



174

Item 17.



175

Item 17.



176

Item 17.



177

Item 17.



178

Item 17.



179

Item 17.



180

Item 17.



181

Item 17.



182

Item 17.



183

Item 17.



184

Item 17.



185

Item 17.



186

Item 17.



187

Item 17.



188

Item 17.



189

Item 17.



190

Item 17.



191

Item 17.



192

Item 17.



DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 

Information Systems Division 
 

 TO: Mayor Rob Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Julie Sorensen, Information Systems Manager 

 DATE: July 24, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Agreement with CivicPlus 

 

 

CivicPlus hosts and designs the City’s website.  Their contract renews every three 
years.  This year they are implementing a price increase and require a new Master 
Service Agreement.  Because the City is to be bound by the new Master Services 
Agreement, this needs to be presented for approval. 
 
CivicPlus provides multiple services to the city but this agreement pertains to design 
and hosting our website, design and maintenance of the mobile app, and our website 
service request feature.  Although no one likes a price increase, I feel quite happy with 
the services they provide and feel they are still one of the best options for a content 
management software.   
 
The attached is the Service Order for the renewal and the renewed Master Service 
Agreement.    
 
Please reach out to me with any questions, either at 319-268-5111 or email at 
Julie.sorensen@cedarfalls.com.   
 
 
Attachment:   
CivicPlus Master Services Agreement March 2023 
Cedar falls IOWA 

193

Item 18.

mailto:Julie.sorensen@cedarfalls.com


 

civicplus.com  |  302 South 4th Street, Suite 500  |  Manhattan, KS 66502  |  888-228-2233 

 

CivicPlus Master Services Agreement 

 
This Master Services Agreement (this “Agreement”) governs all Statements of Work (“SOW”) entered into by and 

between CivicPlus, LLC (“CivicPlus”) and the customer entity identified on the SOW (“Customer”). This Agreement 

governs the use and provision of any Services purchased by Customer, as described in any signed SOW, and the effective 

date of this Agreement shall commence on the date of signature of the SOW (“Effective Date”). If a SOW has not been 

executed, then the Effective Date shall be determined as the start date of implementation of any software solution by 

CivicPlus for Customer. CivicPlus and Customer referred to herein individually as “Party” and jointly as “Parties”. 

 

Recitals 

 
I. WHEREAS, CivicPlus is engaged in the business of developing and providing access to proprietary community 

engagement and government content, workflow, and general management software solutions, platforms and associated 

services (the “Services”); and 

 
II. WHEREAS, Customer wishes to engage CivicPlus for the procurement of the Services and/or receive a license 

subscription for the ongoing use of the Services, as set forth in the SOW; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, Customer and CivicPlus agree as follows: 

 

Agreement 

 

Term & Termination 
 

1. This Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall remain in full force and effect for as long as any 

SOW is in effect between CivicPlus and Customer, or Services are being provided by CivicPlus to Customer, unless 

terminated in accordance with this §1 or as otherwise provided in this Agreement (the “Term”). Either Party may terminate 

this Agreement or any SOW as set forth in such SOW, or at its discretion, effective immediately upon written notice to 

the other Party, if the other Party materially breaches any provision of this Agreement and does not substantially cure the 

breach within thirty (30) days after receiving notice of such breach. A delinquent Customer account remaining past due 

for longer than 90 days is a material breach by Customer and is grounds for CivicPlus termination. CivicPlus reserves the 

right to withhold, remove and/or discard Customer Data without notice for any breach, including, without limitation, 

Customer’s non-payment. Upon termination for Customer’s breach, Customer’s right to access or use Customer Data 

immediately ceases, and CivicPlus shall have no obligation to maintain or forward any Customer Data. 

 

2. Upon termination of this Agreement or any SOW for any reason, (a) the licenses granted for such relevant SOW by 

§11 below will terminate and Customer shall cease all use of the CivicPlus Property and Services associated with the 

terminated SOW and (b) any amounts owed to CivicPlus for work performed prior to termination shall immediately 

become due in full and payable. If Customer has paid in advance for the Services, and this Agreement terminates due to 

material breach of this Agreement by CivicPlus, CivicPlus shall refund Customer a prorated amount of any amount already 

paid. Upon termination by Customer for convenience or due to material breach by Customer, in addition to any remedy 

194

Item 18.



 

civicplus.com  |  302 South 4th Street, Suite 500  |  Manhattan, KS 66502  |  888-228-2233 

 

provided in this Agreement or provided in law or equity, CivicPlus shall be entitled to retain any amounts already paid. 

Sections 7, 8, 10, 14, 15, 18, 32 -34, 40, and 42 will survive any expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

 

3. At any time during the Term, CivicPlus may, immediately upon notice to Customer, suspend Customer and any of 

its Users access to any Service due to a threat to the technical security or technical integrity of the Services. 

 

Invoicing & Payment Terms 
 

4. Customer will pay the amounts owed to CivicPlus for the development and implementation of the Customer’s 

Services, as defined in the SOW (“Project Development”), subscription and licensing, and annual hosting, support and 

maintenance services (“Annual Recurring Services”) in accordance with the payment schedule set forth on the applicable 

SOW. Invoices shall be sent electronically to the individual/entity designated in the SOW’s contact sheet that is required 

to be filled out and submitted by Customer (the “Contact Sheet”). Customer shall provide accurate, current and complete 

information of Customer’s legal business name, address, email address, and phone number in the Contact Sheet upon 

submission of a signed SOW. Customer will maintain and promptly update the Contact Sheet information if it should 

change. Upon Customer’s request, CivicPlus will mail hard-copy invoices for a $5.00 convenience fee to be added to the 

mailed invoice. 

 

5. Each SOW will state the amount of days from date of invoice payment is due. Unless otherwise limited by law, a 

finance charge of 1.5 percent (%) per month or the maximum rate permitted by applicable law, whichever is less, will be 

added to past due accounts from due date until paid. Payments received will be applied first to finance charges, then to the 

oldest outstanding invoice(s). If the Customer's account exceeds 60 days past due, support will be discontinued until the 

Customer's account is made current. If the Customer's account exceeds 90 days past due, CivicPlus may suspend in progress 

Project Development and Annual Recurring Services will be discontinued, and the Customer will no longer have access 

to the Services until the Customer's account is made current. Customer will be given 15 days’ notice prior to discontinuation 

of Services for non-payment. 

 

6. During the performance of Project Development, if Customer requests a change that requires repeated efforts to 

previously approved work product and such change causes CivicPlus to incur additional expenses (i.e. airline change fees, 

resource hours, consultant fees, Customer does not show up for scheduled meetings or trainings), Customer agrees to 

reimburse CivicPlus for such additional expenses. CivicPlus shall notify Customer prior to incurring such expenses and 

shall only incur those expenses which are approved by Customer. 

 

Ownership & Content Responsibility 
 

7. Upon full and complete payment of amounts owed for Project Development under the applicable SOW, Customer 

will own any website graphic designs, Services content, module content, importable/exportable data, and archived 

information (“Customer Content”) created by CivicPlus on behalf of Customer pursuant to this Agreement. “Customer 

Content” also includes, without limitation, any elements of text, graphics, images, photos, audio, video, designs, artworks, 

logos, trademarks, services marks, and other materials or content which Customer provides to CivicPlus for processing, 

transmission, storage, or inputs into any website, software or module in connection with any Services. Customer Content 

excludes any content in the public domain and any content owned or licensed by CivicPlus, whether in connection with 

providing Services or otherwise. 

 

8. Upon completion of the Project Development, Customer will take over the management and control of the Services 

and Customer will assume full responsibility for Customer Content maintenance and administration. Customer, not 

CivicPlus, shall have sole responsibility for the accuracy, quality, integrity, legality, reliability, appropriateness, and 

195

Item 18.



 

civicplus.com  |  302 South 4th Street, Suite 500  |  Manhattan, KS 66502  |  888-228-2233 

 

intellectual property ownership or right to use of all Customer Content. Customer hereby grants CivicPlus a worldwide, 

non-exclusive right and license to reproduce, distribute and display the Customer Content as necessary to provide the 

Services. Customer represents and warrants that Customer owns all Customer Content or that Customer has permission 

from the rightful owner to use each of the elements of Customer Content and that Customer has all rights necessary for 

CivicPlus to use the Customer Content in connection with providing the Services. Customer agrees that CivicPlus shall 

not be responsible or liable for the content of messages created by Customer or by Customer’s Users or end-users who 

access Service. Notwithstanding the foregoing, CivicPlus retains the right, but not the obligation, to remove any Customer 

Content that is libelous, harassing, abusive, fraudulent, defamatory, excessively profane, obscene, abusive, hate related, 

violent, harmful to minors,  that advocates racial or ethnic intolerance, intended to advocate or advance computer hacking 

or cracking, or other material, products or services that violate or encourage conduct that would violate any laws or third-

party rights.  

 

9. At any time during the term of the applicable SOW, Customer will have the ability to download the Customer Content 

and export the data that is processed through the Services (“Customer Data”). Customer may request CivicPlus to perform 

the export of Customer Data and provide the Customer Data to Customer in a commonly used format, at any time, for a 

fee to be quoted at time of request and approved by Customer. Upon termination of the applicable SOW for any reason, 

whether or not Customer has retrieved or requested the Customer Data, CivicPlus reserves the right to permanently and 

definitively delete the Customer Content and Customer Data held in the Services thirty (30) days following termination of 

the applicable SOW. During the thirty (30) day period following termination of the SOW, regardless of the reason for its 

termination, Customer will not have access to the Services. 

 

10. Intellectual Property in the software or other original works created by or licensed to CivicPlus, including all software 

source code, documents, and materials used in performing the Services (“CivicPlus Property”) will remain the property of 

CivicPlus. CivicPlus Property specifically excludes Customer Content. Customer shall not (i) license, sublicense, sell, 

resell, reproduce, transfer, assign, distribute or otherwise commercially exploit or make available to any third party any 

CivicPlus Property in any way, except as specifically provided in the applicable SOW; (ii) adapt, alter, modify or make 

derivative works based upon any CivicPlus Property; (iii) create internet “links” to the CivicPlus Property software or 

“frame” or “mirror” any CivicPlus Property administrative access on any other server or wireless or internet-based device 

that may allow third party entities, other than Customer, to use the Services; (iv) reverse engineer, decompile, disassemble 

or otherwise attempt to obtain the software source code to all or any portion of the Services; (v) make any attempt to gain 

unauthorized access to the Services and/or any of CivicPlus’ systems or networks; or (vi) access any CivicPlus Property 

in order to: (a) build a competitive product or service, (b) build a product using similar ideas, features, functions or graphics 

of any CivicPlus Property, or (c) copy any ideas, features, functions or graphics of any CivicPlus Property. The CivicPlus 

name, the CivicPlus logo, and the product and module names associated with any CivicPlus Property are trademarks of 

CivicPlus, and no right or license is granted to use them outside of the licenses set forth in this Agreement. 

 

11. Provided Customer complies with the terms and conditions herein, the relevant SOW, and license restrictions set 

forth in §10, CivicPlus hereby grants Customer a limited, nontransferable, nonexclusive, non-assignable license to access 

and use the CivicPlus Property associated with any valid and effective SOW, for the term of the respective SOW. The 

license set forth herein, shall only apply to the extent that Customer is using the Services for legitimate business use as 

intended by the purpose of the Services and not for the purpose of comparing the Services to a competitor or similar 

product of CivicPlus. Customer hereby warrants and affirms its purpose in accessing or otherwise using the Services is 

for their intended purpose only and understands and agrees that any other use shall be considered fraud.  

 

12. All CivicPlus helpful information and user’s guides for the Services (“Documentation”) are maintained and updated 

electronically by CivicPlus and can be accessed through the CivicPlus “Help Center”. CivicPlus does not provide paper 

copies of its Documentation. Customer and its Users are granted a limited license to access Documentation as needed. 

Customer shall not copy, download, distribute, or make derivatives of the Documentation. 

 

13. Customer acknowledges that CivicPlus may continually develop, alter, deliver, and provide to the Customer ongoing 

196

Item 18.



 

civicplus.com  |  302 South 4th Street, Suite 500  |  Manhattan, KS 66502  |  888-228-2233 

 

innovation to the Services, in the form of new features and functionalities. CivicPlus reserves the right to modify the 

Services from time to time. Any modifications or improvements to the Services listed on the SOW will be provided to the 

Customer at no additional charge. In the event that CivicPlus creates new products or significant enhancements to the 

Services (“New Services”), and Customer desires these New Services, then Customer will have to pay CivicPlus the 

appropriate fee for the access to and use of the New Services. CivicPlus shall use its reasonable best efforts to provide 

workarounds in the event any modification to the Services causes Customer to lose substantial functionality of the Services. 

 

14. CivicPlus in its sole discretion, may utilize all comments and suggestions, whether written or oral, furnished by 

Customer to CivicPlus in connection with its access to and use of the Services (all reports, comments and suggestions 

provided by Customer hereunder constitute, collectively, the “Feedback”). Customer hereby grants to CivicPlus a 

worldwide, non-exclusive, irrevocable, perpetual, royalty-free right and license to incorporate the Feedback in the 

CivicPlus products and services. 

 

Indemnification 
 

15. CivicPlus will defend at its expense or settle any third-party claim against Customer alleging that the Services 

provided under this Agreement infringe intellectual property rights. CivicPlus will pay infringement claim defense costs, 

CivicPlus–negotiated settlement amounts, and damages finally awarded by a court. CivicPlus has no obligation for any 

claim of infringement arising from Customer's use of the Services for purposes not contemplated by this Agreement. 

CivicPlus’s indemnification obligations under this Section 15 are conditioned upon the Customer (i) promptly notifying 

the CivicPlus of any claim in writing; (ii) cooperating with CivicPlus in the defense of the claim; and (iii) granting 

CivicPlus sole control of the defense or settlement of the claim. The indemnification obligations of CivicPlus herein shall 

not apply to any claims of intellectual property infringement related to Client Content. 

 

Responsibilities of the Parties 
 

16. CivicPlus will not be liable for any act, omission of act, negligence or defect in the quality of service of any 

underlying carrier, licensor or other third-party service provider whose facilities or services are used in furnishing any 

portion of the Service received by the Customer. 

 
17. CivicPlus will not be liable for any failure of performance that is caused by or the result of any act or omission by 

Customer or any entity employed/contracted on the Customer’s behalf. During Project Development, Customer will be 

responsive and cooperative with CivicPlus to ensure the Project Development is completed in a timely manner. 

•   

18. Customer agrees that it is solely responsible for the end-user’s personal data that Customer decides to solicit, collect, 

store, or otherwise use in connection with any Service provided by CivicPlus. Customer understands and agrees that 

CivicPlus provides certain solutions with increased security measures for the solicitation and storage of any sensitive data, 

and it is Customer’s responsibility to determine whether the data it solicits and collects should be stored in such solutions. 

Customer understands and agrees that CivicPlus does not have knowledge or control over what type of data Customer 

solicits therefore CivicPlus has no responsibility for the use or storage of end-users’ personal data in connection with the 

Services or the consequences of the solicitation, collection, storage, or other use by Customer or by any third party of any 

personal data. Customer has the sole control and responsibility over the determination of which data and information shall 

be included in the content that is to be transmitted and stored by CivicPlus. Customer shall not provide to CivicPlus or 

allow to be provided to CivicPlus any content that (a) infringes or violates any 3rd party’s intellectual property rights, 

rights of publicity or rights of privacy, (b) contains any defamatory material, or (c) violates any federal, state, local, or 

foreign laws, regulations, or statutes. 

 

197

Item 18.



 

civicplus.com  |  302 South 4th Street, Suite 500  |  Manhattan, KS 66502  |  888-228-2233 

 

19. Customer is responsible for all activity that occurs under Customer's accounts by or on behalf of Customer. Customer 

agrees to (a) be solely responsible for all designated and authorized individuals chosen by Customer (“User”) activity, 

which must be in accordance with this Agreement and the CivicPlus Terms of Use; (b) be solely responsible for Customer 

Data; (c) obtain and maintain during the term all necessary consents, agreements and approvals from end-users, individuals 

or any other third parties for all actual or intended uses of information, data or other content Customer will use in 

connection with the Services; (d) use commercially reasonable efforts to prevent unauthorized access to, or use of, any 

User’s log-in information and the Services, and notify CivicPlus promptly of any known unauthorized access or use of the 

foregoing; (e) use commercially reasonable efforts to prevent unauthorized access to or use of the Services and CivicPlus 

Property and shall promptly notify CivicPlus of any unauthorized access or use of the Services and/or CivicPlus Property 

and any loss or theft or unauthorized use of any n User's password or username and/or personal information; and (f) use 

the Services only in accordance with applicable laws and regulations. 

 

20. The Parties shall comply with all applicable local, state, and federal laws, treaties, regulations, and conventions in 

connection with its use and provision of any of the Services or CivicPlus Property. 

 

21. CivicPlus shall not be responsible for any act or omission of any third-party vendor or service provider that Customer 

has selected to integrate any of its Services with. 

 

22. Customer understands that CivicPlus must fastidiously allocate resources across all of its customers and specifically 

reserves necessary resources for Customer’s Project Development. If any professional services, such as consulting or 

training, purchased by Customer are not used during the Project Development phase solely due to the inaction or 

unresponsiveness of Customer, then these services shall expire 30 days after completion of Project Development. The 

Customer may re-schedule any unused professional services during this 30-day period as mutually agreed upon by the 

Parties. Any professional services that have not been used or rescheduled shall be marked as complete and closed upon 

the expiration of the 30-day period. 

 

Data Security 
 

23. CivicPlus shall, at all times, comply with the terms and conditions of its Privacy Policy. CivicPlus will maintain 

commercially reasonable administrative, physical, and technical safeguards designed to protect the security and 

confidentiality of Customer Data. CivicPlus will not modify Customer Data or disclose Customer Data, except (a) in order 

to provide the Services; (b) to prevent or address service or technical problems in connection with support matters; (c) as 

specifically directed or expressly permitted in writing by Customer, (d) in compliance with our Privacy Policy; or (f) if 

compelled by law. Notwithstanding the foregoing, CivicPlus reserves the right to delete, suspend, or block known 

malicious accounts without Customer authorization. Customer understands that CivicPlus has no obligation to provide the 

Services or maintain the Customer Data, information or other material if Customer’s accounts are past due and unpaid as 

set forth in this Agreement. 

 

24. Customer acknowledges and agrees that CivicPlus utilizes third-party service providers to host and provide the 

Services and store Customer Data and the protection of such data will be in accordance with such third party’s safeguards 

for the protection and the security and confidentiality of Customer’s Data. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, 

CivicPlus shall have the right to collect and analyze data and other information relating to the provision, use and 

performance of various aspects of the Services and related systems and technologies (including, without limitation, 

information concerning Customer Data and data derived therefrom), and CivicPlus will be free (during and after the term 

hereof) to use such information and data to improve and enhance the Services and for other development, diagnostic and 

corrective purposes in connection with the Services and other CivicPlus offerings. 

 

25. CivicPlus may offer Customer the ability to use third-party applications in combination with the Services. Any such 

third-party application will be subject to acceptance by Customer. In connection with any such third-party application 

198

Item 18.

https://www.civicplus.com/legal-stuff
https://www.civicplus.com/privacy-policy


 

civicplus.com  |  302 South 4th Street, Suite 500  |  Manhattan, KS 66502  |  888-228-2233 

 

agreed to by Customer, Customer acknowledges and agrees that CivicPlus may allow the third-party providers access to 

Customer Data as required for the interoperation of such third-party application with the Services. The use of a third-party 

application with the Services may also require Customer to agree to a separate agreement or terms and conditions with the 

provider of the third-party application, which will govern Customer's use of such third-party application. 

 

26. In the event of a security breach due to the sole negligence, malicious actions, omissions, or misconduct of CivicPlus, 

CivicPlus, as the data custodian, will comply will all remediation efforts as required by applicable federal and state law. 

 

CivicPlus Support 

 
27. CivicPlus will use commercially reasonable efforts to perform the Services in a manner consistent with applicable 

industry standards, including maintaining Services availability 24 hours a day, 7 days a week with 99.9% uptime. Customer 

will have 24/7 access to the online CivicPlus Help Center (civicplus.help) to review use articles, software best practices, 

receive maintenance release notes, as well as submit and monitor omni-channel support tickets and access solution specific 

support contact methods (https://www.civicplus.help/hc/en-us/requests/new). 

 

28. CivicPlus provides live support engineers based in the domestic United States to respond to basic questions 

concerning use and configuration, to diagnose software code-related errors, and proactively identify potential systems 

issues. CivicPlus support engineers serve a preliminary function in the agile development process and escalate defects to 

software developers or architects for remediation. For security purposes, CivicPlus support engineers are not permitted to 

modify user accounts, and permissions nor distribute access outside of accounts established by means of a support 

interaction for testing. Customer delegated Users may receive tutorials and guidance on account modifications but will 

perform the action themselves. 

 

29. CivicPlus support hours span between the hours of 7 am to 7 pm CST, but may vary by product. Customer may 

access the CivicPlus Help Center (civicplus.help)  to obtain each product’s support hours. After hours support is available 

by toll- free phone call only. Non-emergency support requested outside of support hours will be subject to additional fees, 

such fees will be quoted to Customer at the time of the request and will be subject to Customer acceptance and invoiced 

the next business day following the non-emergency support. CivicPlus shall have the sole discretion to determine in good 

faith whether support requests qualify as an emergency, exceed reasonable use or are outside the scope of services outlined 

in any SOW. 

 

30. If a reported problem cannot be solved during the first support interaction, Customer will be provided a ticket number 

that will be used as communication method throughout ticket escalation until a solution is provided. Support service does 

not include support for errors caused by third party products or applications for which CivicPlus is not responsible. 

 

Marketing 
 

31. Customer hereby authorizes CivicPlus to include CivicPlus’s name and logo inconspicuously within the Client’s 

instance of the Services. Customer may publicly refer to itself as a customer of the CivicPlus Services, including on 

Customer's website and in sales presentations. Notwithstanding the foregoing, each Party hereby grants the other a limited, 

worldwide, license to use the other’s logo in conformance with such Party’s trademark usage guidelines and solely for the 

purposes of providing the Services. In no event will either Party issue a press release publicly announcing this relationship 

without the approval of the other Party, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld. 

 

  

199

Item 18.

https://www.civicplus.help/hc/en-us/requests/new


 

civicplus.com  |  302 South 4th Street, Suite 500  |  Manhattan, KS 66502  |  888-228-2233 

 

Limitation of Liability 
 

32. CivicPlus’ liability arising out of or related to this Agreement, or any associated SOW, will not exceed the amounts 

paid by Customer for the Annual Recurring Services in the year prior to such claim of liability. 

 

33. In no event will CivicPlus be liable to Customer for any consequential, indirect, special, incidental, or punitive 

damages arising out of or related to this Agreement. 

34. The liabilities limited by Section 32 and 33 apply: (a) to liability for negligence; (b) regardless of the form of action, 

whether in contract, tort, strict product liability, or otherwise; (c) even if Customer is advised in advance of the possibility 

of the damages in question and even if such damages were foreseeable; and (d) even if Customer’s remedies fail of their 

essential purposes. If applicable law limits the application of the provisions of this Limitation of Liability section, 

CivicPlus’ liability will be limited to the maximum extent permissible. 

 

Warranties and Disclaimer 
 

35. Each person signing the SOW, or otherwise agreeing to the terms of this Agreement, represents and warrants that he 

or she is duly authorized and has legal capacity to execute and bind the respective Party to the terms and conditions of the 

SOW and this Agreement. Each Party represents and warrants to the other that the execution and delivery of the SOW and 

the performance of such Party’s obligations thereunder have been duly authorized and that this Agreement is a valid and 

legal agreement binding on such Party and enforceable in accordance with its terms. Customer represents and warrants 

that Customer has not provided any false information to gain access to the Service and that Customer’s billing information 

provided on the Contact Sheet is correct; and it has all necessary rights in the Customer Content to permit Customer’s use 

of the Service and to grant the licenses contained in this Agreement without infringing the intellectual property or other 

rights of any third parties, violating any applicable laws, or violating the terms of any license or agreement to which it is 

bound. 

 

36. CivicPlus warrants that the Services will perform substantially in accordance with documentation and marketing 

proposals, and free of any material defect. CivicPlus warrants to the Customer that, upon notice given to CivicPlus of any 

defect in design or fault or improper workmanship, CivicPlus will remedy any such defect. CivicPlus makes no warranty 

regarding, and will have no responsibility for, any claim arising out of: (i) a modification of the Services made by anyone 

other than CivicPlus, even in a situation where CivicPlus approves of such modification in writing; or (ii) use of the 

Services in combination with a third-party service, web hosting service, or server not authorized by CivicPlus. 

 

37. The Services may be temporarily unavailable for scheduled maintenance or for unscheduled emergency 

maintenance, either by CivicPlus or by third-party providers, or because of other causes beyond CivicPlus's reasonable 

control, but CivicPlus shall use reasonable efforts to provide advance notice in writing or by e-mail of any scheduled 

service disruption. HOWEVER, SERVICE PROVIDER DOES NOT WARRANT THAT THE SERVICES WILL BE 

UNINTERRUPTED OR ERROR FREE; NOR DOES IT MAKE ANY WARRANTY AS TO THE RESULTS THAT 

MAY BE OBTAINED FROM USE OF THE SERVICES.EXCEPT FOR THE EXPRESS WARRANTIES IN THIS 

AGREEMENT, THE SERVICES ARE PROVIDED “AS IS AND CIVICPLUS HEREBY DISCLAIMS ALL 

WARRANTIES, WHETHER EXPRESS, IMPLIED, STATUTORY OR OTHERWISE, INCLUDING ANY IMPLIED 

WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, OR ARISING FROM A 

PRIOR COURSE OF DEALING. 

38. EACH PROVISION OF THIS AGREEMENT THAT PROVIDES FOR A LIMITATION OF LIABILITY, 

DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES, OR EXCLUSION OF DAMAGES IS TO ALLOCATE THE RISKS OF THIS 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES. THIS ALLOCATION IS REFLECTED IN THE PRICING OFFERED BY 

CIVICPLUS TO CUSTOMER AND IS AN ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF THE BASIS OF THE BARGAIN BETWEEN 

200

Item 18.



 

civicplus.com  |  302 South 4th Street, Suite 500  |  Manhattan, KS 66502  |  888-228-2233 

 

THE PARTIES. EACH OF THESE PROVISIONS IS SEVERABLE AND INDEPENDENT OF ALL OTHER 

PROVISIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT. 

 

Force Majeure 
 

39. No party shall have any liability to the other hereunder by reason of any delay or failure to perform any obligation 

or covenant if the delay or failure to perform is occasioned by force majeure, meaning any act of God, storm, pandemic, 

fire, casualty, unanticipated work stoppage, strike, lockout, labor dispute, civil disturbance, riot, war, national emergency, 

act of public enemy, internet service provider failure or delay, third party application failure, denial of service attack, or 

other cause of similar or dissimilar nature beyond its control. 

 

Taxes 
 

40. The amounts owed for the Services exclude, and Customer will be responsible for, all sales, use, excise, withholding 

and any other similar taxes, duties and charges of any kind imposed by any federal, state or local governmental entity in 

connection with the Services (excluding taxes based solely on CivicPlus’s income). If the Customer is tax-exempt, the 

Customer must provide CivicPlus proof of their tax-exempt status, within fifteen (15) days of contract signing, and the 

fees owed by Customer under this Agreement will not be taxed. If such exemption certificate is challenged or held invalid 

by a taxing authority then Customer agrees to pay for all resulting fines, penalties and expenses. 

 

Other Documents 
 

41. This Agreement, including all exhibits, amendments, and addenda hereto and all SOWs, constitutes the entire 

agreement between the Parties and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, proposals or representations, 

written or oral, concerning its subject matter. No modification, amendment, or waiver of any provision of this Agreement 

or any SOW will be effective unless in writing and signed by each Party. However, to the extent of any conflict or 

inconsistency between the provision in the body of this Agreement and any exhibit, amendment, or addenda hereto or any 

SOW, the terms of such exhibit, amendment, addenda or SOW will prevail. Notwithstanding any language to the contrary 

therein, no terms or conditions stated in a Customer purchase order or other order documentation (excluding SOWs) will 

be incorporated into or form any part of this Agreement, all such terms or conditions will be null and void, unless such 

term is to refer and agree to this Agreement. 

 

Interlocal Purchasing Consent/ Cooperative Purchasing 
 

42. With the prior approval of CivicPlus, which may be withheld for any or no reason within CivicPlus’s sole discretion, 

this Agreement and any SOW may be extended to any public entity in Customer’s home-state to purchase at the SOW 

prices and specifications in accordance with the terms stated herein.  

 

43. To the extent permitted by law, the terms of this Agreement and set forth in one or more SOW(s) may be extended 

for use by other local government entities upon execution of a separate agreement, SOW, or other duly signed writing by 

and between CivicPlus and such entity, setting forth all of the terms and conditions for such use, including applicable fees 

and billing terms. 

 

201

Item 18.



 

civicplus.com  |  302 South 4th Street, Suite 500  |  Manhattan, KS 66502  |  888-228-2233 

 

Miscellaneous Provisions 
 

44. The invalidity or unenforceability, in whole or in part, of any provision of this Agreement shall not void, affect the 

validity or enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement. 

45. The Parties negotiated this Agreement with the opportunity to receive the aid of counsel and, accordingly, intend 

this Agreement to be construed fairly, according to its terms, in plain English, without constructive presumptions against 

the drafting Party. The headings of Sections of this Agreement are for convenience and are not to be used in interpreting 

this Agreement. As used in this Agreement, the word “including” means “including but not limited to.” 

46. The Parties will use reasonable, good faith efforts to resolve any dispute between them in good faith prior to initiating 

legal action.  

47. This Agreement and any SOW, to the extent signed and delivered by means of a facsimile machine or electronic mail, 

shall be treated in all manner and respects as an original agreement or instrument and shall be considered to have the same 

binding legal effect as if it were the original signed version thereof delivered in person. The Parties agree that an electronic 

signature is the legal equivalent of its manual signature on this Agreement and any SOW. The Parties agree that no 

certification authority or other third party verification is necessary to validate its electronic signature and that the lack of 

such certification of third party verification will not in any way affect the enforceability of the Parties’ electronic signature 

or any resulting agreement between CivicPlus and Customer. 

 

48. Due to the rapidly changing nature of software as a service and digital communications, CivicPlus may unilaterally 

update this Agreement from time to time. In the event CivicPlus believes such change is a material alteration of the terms 

herein, CivicPlus will provide Customer with written notice describing such change via email or through its website. 

Customer’s continued use of the Services following such updates constitutes Customer’s acceptance of the same. In the 

event Customer rejects the update to the terms herein, Customer must notify CivicPlus of its objection within ten (10) days 

receipt of notice of such update. 

 

202

Item 18.



CivicPlus
302 South 4th St. Suite 500
Manhattan, KS 66502
US

 
 

 
 
Quote #: Q-37995-1
Date: 2/24/2023 12:30 PM
Customer: CEDAR FALLS, IOWA
 

QTY Product Name DESCRIPTION

1.00 Annual Fee Renewal (Hosting &
Support)

Annual Fee for Hosting and Support

4.00 Additional CRT User (1) - CivicEngage
Central Renewal

CRT Users per user/ per year - CivicEngage Central

2.00 SSL Certificate Annual Fee SSL Certificate Annual Fee

6.00 Additional CRT User (1) - CivicEngage
Central Renewal

CRT Users per user/ per year

1.00 CivicEngage Central CivicPlus Mobile
Base App (CivicMobile Client)

Proprietary CP Mobile app shell, API management

1.00 CivicPlus Mobile - CivicEngage Central A CivicEngage Central integration, which includes standard mobile
relevant modules

1.00 48 Month Redesign Ultimate Annual -
 CivicEngage Central

48 Month Redesign Ultimate Annual - CivicEngage Central

1.00 Premium Department Header Annual
Fee - CivicEngage

Premium Department Header Annual Fee: Parks & Recreation

 
Annual Recurring Services - Initial Term USD 19,277.28

1. This renewal Statement of Work ("SOW") is between CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (“Customer”) and CivicPlus, LLC and shall be subject
to the terms and conditions of the Master Services Agreement (“MSA”) and the applicable Solutions and Products terms found at:
www.civicplus.help/hc/p/legal-stuff (collectively, the “Terms and Conditions”). By signing this SOW, Customer expressly agrees to the
Terms and Conditions throughout the Term of this SOW. The Terms and Conditions form the entire agreement between Customer
and CivicPlus (collectively, referred to as the “Agreement”). The Parties agree the Agreement shall supersede and replace all prior
agreements between the Parties with respect to the services provided by CivicPlus herein (the “Services”).
 
2. This SOW shall remain in effect for an initial term starting at the Customer’s next renewal date of 7/1/2023 and running for twelve
months (“Initial Term”). In the event that neither party gives 60 days’ notice to terminate prior to the end of the Initial Term, or any
subsequent Renewal Term, this SOW will automatically renew for additional 1-year renewal terms (“Renewal Term”). The Initial
Term and all Renewal Terms are collectively referred to as the “Term”.

3. Unless terminated, Customer shall be invoiced for the Annual Recurring Services on each Renewal Date of each calendar year
subject to an annual increase of 5% each Renewal Term.
 

V. PD 06.01.2015-0048
Page 1 of 2

203

Item 18.

http://www.civicplus.help/hc/p/legal-stuff


Acceptance
 
By signing below, the parties are agreeing to be bound by the covenants and obligations specified in this SOW.
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this SOW to be executed by their duly authorized representatives as of
the dates below.
 
 
 
 
Client
 

CivicPlus
 

By:
 
 
___________________________________

By:

 
Name:
 
___________________________________

 
Name:
 
Amy Vikander                                               

 
Title:
 
___________________________________

 
Title:
 
Senior Vice President of Customer Success

 
Date:
___________________________________

 
Date:
___________________________________

V. PD 06.01.2015-0048
Page 2 of 2

204

Item 18.



GtrI FEBi,E[?,h'i-.
MFMORANDIIIVI

TO:

FROM:

DATE:

SUBJECT:

Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council

Kelly Stern, Library Director

July 27,2023

Contract between Cedar Falls Public Library, Waterloo Public Library, and
ByWater Solutions for lntegrated Library Service (lLS)

Since 2015, the Cedar Falls Public Library has shared an lntegrated Library System (lLS)with
the Waterloo Public Library for both cost savings and improved customer service to library
patrons in the Cedar Valley. The ILS is cloud-based software used to manage library-
specific functions: the public access catalog (PAC), circulation of library materials,
acquisitions, cataloging, and patron data, to name a few. Sharing an ILS with the Waterloo
Public Library allows patrons of both libraries to place holds on items from either library and
to have them delivered to either library for pickup convenience. Our two libraries share a
courier service that transports items back and forth on weekdays for this purpose. The two
libraries share the annual cost of the ILS equally.

Because the options for ILS products for public libraries have changed considerably in the
past eight years, a selection committee of librarians from both libraries, CFPL and WPL,
reviewed and evaluated bids and presentations from seven ILS vendors who submitted bids
in response to our RFP. The selection committee presented our rankings of the bids to our
respective Library Boards of Trustees, and both Boards approved awarding the bid to
ByWater Soiutions. The attached contract will be on the Board agendas for both libraries
during the week of July 31't for their approval and is submitted here for Council approval.
Migrating to ByWater Solutions'lLS product Koha will result in a savings of nearly 50%for
our libraries and promises to improve the user-friendliness of our public catalog and the
effectiveness and efficiency of our work.

Please contact me if you have any questions. Thank you for your consideration.

xc: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance and Business Operations

205

Item 19.



CIry OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS

(CEDAR FALLS PUBLIC LIBRARY, WATERLOO PUBLIC LIBRARY, AND BYWATER
soLUTroNS/SERVtCE AGREEMENT)

This Agreement is by and between BvWater Solutions ("Contracto/') and the City of Cedar Falls, lowa ("City"), and is
to be effective on the date last signed by the Contractor or the City below.

1.0. Contractor'sServices

1.1. Contractor's services shall consist only of the services and/or products provided or supplied by Contractor as
defined in this Agreement and as listed in section 24.2. ("Services" or "scope of Services")

1.2. Contractor shall not commence or perform any work outside the Scope of Services unless and until
authorized in writing by the City. No changes to the Scope of Services shall be valid unless agreed to by both the
Contractor and the City in writing. Any work performed or expenses incurred by the Contractor shall be conclusively
presumed to be part of the Scope of Services unless a written change order covering such work, and the cost of such
work, has been agreed to in advance. lf section 24.2 includes provisions for contingent services, such services shall
not be performed until written authorization is given by the City.

1.3. Contractor shall assign qualified and experienced personnel to perform the Services, and Contractor hereby
warrants to the City that Contractor has sufficient experience and financial resources to complete the Services
required by this Agreement. ln the event that such particular personnel must be replaced, Contractor agrees to
replace such particular personnel with persons of equivalent or better qualifications.

1.4. Contractor shall perform the Services in a timely manner and in accordance with any schedule set forth in
section 24.2The Contractor and the City agree that time is of the essence with respect to Contractor's performance
under this Agreement.

1.5. Contractor warrants that its fulfillment of this Agreement will not infringe on or misappropriate the rights of any
third party, and that the Contractor has the complete right and full authority to convey ownership of the Services to
the City. Contractor shall obtain all required governmental and third-party licenses, approvals and permits for the
provision of Services, at Contractor's cost.

1.6. The person signing this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor represents and warrants that the person has
full and sufficient authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor.

2.0. Compensation

2.1. All bids and prices shall be shown in U.S. Dollars. All prices must remain firm for the duration of this
Agreement.

2.2. After inspection (if applicable) and acceptance by the City of Services, City shall pay Contractor in
accordance with the payment terms set forth in section "24.3 Payment Terms". The maximum amount of all
payments for Services shall be the amount set forth in section "24.3 Payment Terms". unless additional Services are
agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, in which case the maximum amount of all payments shall be adjusted
accordingly.

2.3. Following acceptance of Services by the City, payment shall be made to the Contractor within thirty (30) days
of receipt of a proper invoice. The invoice shall include, at a minimum. The name and address of the Contractor, the
invoice number, the date services were performed or goods were shipped, a general description of the services or
goods, total amount to be paid, any discounts or credits, and the net amount to be paid. The invoice shall be mailed
or emailed to the authorized representative of the City listed below, at the address listed below.

2.4. Expenses shall not be reimbursed to the Contractor unless specifically described in section "24.3 Payment
Terms".

206

Item 19.



2.5. lf services in addition to the Scope of Services are agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, Contractor must
provide a separate invoice for such additional services before payment will be made.

2.6. lf the City fails to make any payment when due to the Contractor, the Contractor may charge the City interest
on the unpaid balance at the rate of SYo per annum until paid. ln addition, Contractor may, after giving seven (7) days
written notice to the City, suspend services under this Agreement until such unpaid balance is paid in full.

2.7. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the City may withhold payment to Contractor for
faulty Services, or if the City is advised of liens or other claims against any Services, including products.

3.0. Taxes.

3.1. The City is exempt from all federal, State of lowa, and other states' taxes on the purchase of products and
services used by the City within the State of lowa. The City shall provide tax exemption certification as required.

3.2. Any charges for taxes from which the City is exempt will be deducted from invoices before payment is made.

4.0. Ownership and Use of Documents

4.1. All Services to be provided under this Agreement, and any invention, improvement, discovery, or innovation
(whether or not patentable) made, conceived or actually reduced to practice by Contractor in the performance of the
Scope of Services in this Agreement will be owned exclusively by the City, including all proprietary and intellectual
property rights. To the extent not automatically vested in the City, Contractor hereby assigns to the City all right, title
and interest in and to the Services, including, without limitation, copyright, patent and trade secret rights. Upon the
City's request, Contractor shall execute any additional documents necessary for the City to perfect such ownership
rights.

4.2. Notwithstanding Section 4.1, Contractor retains ownership of its pre-existing and proprietary materials and
other intellectual property that may be incorporated into the Services.

4.3. Copies of City furnished data that may be relied upon by Contractor are limited to the printed copies (also
known as hard copies) that are delivered to the Contractor. Files in electronic media format of text, data, graphics, or
of other formats that are furnished by the City to the Contractor are only for the convenience of the Contractor. Any
conclusion or information obtained or derived from such electronic files will be at the Contractor's sole risk.

4.4. During the term of this Agreement and following completion or termination of the Agreement, the Contractor
and any authorized Subcontractors shall maintain all accounting records and other documentation generated in
providing Services under this Agreement. The City or its designee shall be allowed to have access to such
information for the purpose of inspection, audit and copying during normal business hours for a period of five (5)
years after the final payment by the City, termination of this Agreement, or resolution of all matters under this
Agreement, whichever date is latest. No additional compensation shall be paid to Contractor for such retention or
inspection by the City or designee.

5.0. Term and Termination.

5.1. The initial term of this Agreement shall commence on the effective date and end on 212612029 unless earlier
terminated under the terms of this Agreement. Renewal terms are listed in section 24.1.Term.

5.2 The City may terminate this Agreement at any time for its convenience by giving written notice to the
Contractor of such termination and specifying the effective date of the termination, at least thirty (30) calendar days
before the effective date of termination. ln that event, all finished or unfinished Services, reports and materials
prepared or furnished by the Contractor shall, at the option of the City, become the City's property. lf the Agreement
is terminated by the City as provided herein, the Contractor shall be paid for all Services which have been authorized,
approved and provided up to the effective date of termination. The City will not be subject to any termination fees
from the Contractor.

5.3. Either party may terminate this Agreement upon seven (7) calendar days written notice in the event that the
other party fails to substantially perform in accordance with the terms of this Agreement through no fault of the party
initiating the termination.

207

Item 19.



6.0. Warranties.

6.1. Contractor represents and warrants that Services shall be performed in a manner consistent with the
standard of care of other professional service providers in a similar industry and application.

6.2. Contractor represents and warrants that products delivered as part of the Scope of Services, including each
component, shall be free of defects and shall conform to the quality standards of the applicable industry and shall
meet In all respects the requirements of the Scope of Services. lf any defect or sign of deterioration is identified by
the City within one year after delivery which is not due to the acts or omissions of the City, Contractor shall, within 30
days after notification by the Cig, at Contractor's expense, repair, adjust or replace such items to the complete
satisfaction of the City.

6.3. Contractor shall be responsible for the quality, technical accuracy, completeness and coordination of all
Services under this Agreement. Contractor shall promptly and without charge, provide all corrective work necessary
as a result of Contractor's acts, errors or omissions with respect to the quality and accuracy of Contractor's Services.

6.4. Contractor shall be responsible for any and all damages to property or persons as a result of Contractor's
acts, errors or omissions in performing the Services under this Agreement, and for any losses or costs to repair or
remedy any Services undertaken by the Ci$ as a result of any such acts, errors or omissions.

6.5. Conlractor's obligations shall exist without regard to, and shall not be construed to be waived by, the
availability or unavailability of any insurance, either by the City or by the Contractor. None of the provisions of this
Agreement shall be construed as a limitation on the City's right to seek recovery of damages it suffers as a result of
Contractor's fault or breach.

7.0. Warranties - lntellectual Propertv.

7.1. Contractor represents and warrants that the Services produced or provided to the City do not infringe upon
any copyright, trademark, trade name, trade dress patent, statutory, common law or any other right of any person or
entity.

7.2. Contractor represents and warrants that the Services, and the City's use of the same, and the exercise by the
City of the rights granted by this Agreement, shall not infringe upon any other work or violate the rights of publicity or
privacy of, or constitute a libel or slander against, any person or entity.

7.3. Contractor represents and warrants that it is the owner of or othenarise has the right to use and distribute the
Services contemplated by this Agreement.

8.0. Disputes.

8.1. Should any dispute arise with respect to this Agreement, the parties agree to act immediately to resolve such
dispute. Time is of the essence in the resolution of disputes.

8.2. Contractor agrees that, the existence of a dispute notwithstanding, it will continue without delay to carry out
all of its responsibilities under this Agreement that are not affected by the dispute and the City shall continue to make
payment for all Services that are performed in conformance with this Agreement. Should the Contractor fail to
continue to perform its responsibilities regarding all non-disputed Services, without delay, any additional costs
incurred by the City or the Contractor as a result of such failure to proceed shall be borne by the Contractor.

8.3. Should any dispute between the parties remain unresolved, the parties mutually agree to engage in
mediation prior to the filing of suit by either party. The cost of mediation shall be divided equally between the parties
except that each party shall be responsible for that party's own expenses and attorney fees associated with
mediation. The City shall not engage in arbitration of any dispute.

9.0. lndemnification and Hold Harmless.

9.1. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor (for purposes of this Section 9.0, includes employees,
subcontractors, agents and others working on behalf of Contractor under this Agreement) agrees to defend (for all
non-professional claims), indemnify, and hold harmless the City (for purposes of this Section 9.0 includes elected and
appointed officials, employees, and agents working on behalf of the City) against any and all claims, demands, suits
or loss, including any and all outlay and expense connected therewith, and for damages, which may be asserted,
claimed or recovered against or from the City, including, but not limited to, damages arising by reason of personal

208

Item 19.



injury, including bodily injury or death, and property damage, which arises out of or is in any way connected or
associated with the work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City under this Agreement, to the extent
caused by or arising out of the errors, omissions, negligent or intentional acts of the Contractor.

9.2. Contractor's duty of indemnification and to hold harmless includes, but is not limited to, Contractor's breach
or alleged breach of the warranties found in Sections 6.0 and 7.0 above, and shall survive the termination of this
Agreement. Such duty also includes damage, loss or injury to the City or City property.

9.3. Contractor expressly assumes full responsibility for loss, expense, damages or injuries which may result to
the Contractor by reason of or in connection with the work and/or services provided by Contractor under this
Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of the errors, omissions, negligent or intentional acts of the
Contractor.

9.4. lt is specifically agreed between the parties that this Agreement is not intended to create in the public or any
member of the public third party beneficiary status or to authorize anyone not a party to this Agreement to maintain a
suit for personal injuries or property damage.

10.0. lnsurance.

Contractor shall at all times during the performance of this Agreement maintain insurance as set forth in Exhibit "A"
unless this insurance requirement is waived by the City in this Section.

lnsurance requirement waived: (Signature and title of
authorized City employee or officer)

The City may at any time during the term of this Agreement requlre proof of such insurance.

11.0. Compliance with Laws and Requlations.

11.1. Contractor certifies that in performing this Agreement it will comply with all applicable provisions of federal,
state and local laws, ordinances, rules, licenses and regulations and shall make reasonable efforts to ensure that its
employees, agents, subcontractors and others working on behalf of the Contractor under this Agreement do the
same.

11.2. Contractor is responsible for determining which products are considered to be hazardous chemicals under
applicable standards and to provide the most current Safety Data Sheet ("SDS") with the initial shipment of such
chemicals. Failure by Contractor to do so may be considered by the City to be delivery of a defective product and its
delivery may be refused. lt is also the Contractor's responsibility to provide to the City any updated or revised SDS
as it becomes available for any such hazardous chemicals sold and delivered to the City.

12.O. lndependentContractor.

Both parties shall act in their individual capacities in the performance of this Agreement and not as agents,
employees, partners, joint ventures or associates of one another. The employees or agents of one party shall not be
deemed or construed to be the employees or agents of the other for any purpose whatsoever.

13.0. Non-Collusion.

13.1. Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has employed any person to solicit or
procure this Agreement, nor will the Contractor make any payment or agreement for payment of any compensation in
connection with the solicitation or procurement of this Agreement.

13.2. Contractor agrees that there is no agreement, arrangement or understanding expressed or implied,
contemplating any division of compensation for Services provided under this Agreement, or in the participation in
such Services, directly or indirectly, by any person or entity, except as provided in this Agreement.

13.3. Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has either directly or indirectly entered
into any agreement, arrangement or understanding to collude or otherwise take any action in restraint of free
competitive procurement in connection with this Agreement.

14.O. NondiscriminationandEqualOpoortunifu.

209

Item 19.



14.1. Contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, sex,
color, creed, national origin, marital or familial status, religion, age, disabilig, sexual orientation, gender identity,
genetic information or veteran status, or any other classification protected by federal, state, or local law, except where
age or sex is an essential bona fide occupational requirement, or where disability is a bona fide occupational
disqualification.

14.2. Contractor shall inform all subcontractors and agents performing under this Agreement of this
nondiscrimination and equal opportunity requirement and shall take reasonable steps to ensure their compliance with
the same.

15.0. No Conflict of lnterest.

Contractor represents, warrants and covenants that no relationship exists or will exist during the term of this
Agreement that is a conflict of interest under lowa law. No employee, officer or agent of the Contractor shall
participate in the procurement or performance of this Agreement if a conflict of interest exists as to such person.
Should a conflict of interest arise during the term of this Agreement for Contractor or any employee, officer or agent of
Contractor, Contractor shall immediately notify the City, in which case this Agreement may be terminated and any
excess costs incurred by the City due to such termination shall be paid by Contractor or deducted from any sums yet
due to Contractor.

16.0. Force Maieure.

16.1. Force majeure shall be any of the following events: acts of God or the public enemy; compliance with any
order, rule, regulation, decree, or request of any governmental authority or agency or person purporting to act as
such; acts of war, public disorder, rebellion, terrorism, or sabotage; floods, hurricanes, or other storms; strikes or
labor disputes; or any other cause, whether or not of the class or kind specifically named or referred to in this
Agreement which is not within the reasonable control of the party affected. A delay in or failure of performance by
either party shall not constitute a default in performance nor be the basis for, or give rise to, any claim for damages, if
and to the extent such delay or failure is caused by force majeure.

16.2. The party who is prevented from performing by force majeure shall be obligated, within a period not to
exceed fourteen (14) calendar days after the occurrence or detection of any such event, to provide notice to the other
party setting forth in reasonable detail the nature thereof and the anticipated extent of the delay, and shall remedy
such cause as soon as reasonably possible, as mutually agreed between the parties.

16.3. lf a remedy to an event of force majeure cannot be agreed upon within a reasonable amount of time, this
Agreement may be terminated by either party.

17.0. Assiqnment.

No rights under this Agreement may be assigned or transferred by Contractor without the prior written consent of the
City. The benefits of this Agreement may inure to Contractor's assigns, transferees, or successors in interest if
approved by the City in writing in advance, and if such assignee, transferees or successors agree in writing to be
bound by the terms of this Agreement.

18.0. Governinq Law.

18.1. This Agreement shall be governed, interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of
lowa, regardless of choice of law principles.

18.2. Venue for any dispute under this Agreement shall be the District Court in and for Black Hawk County, lowa.

19.0. Discreoancv.

ln the event that there are any discrepancies or differences between any terms or conditions of the Contractor's bid or
quote and this Agreement, this Agreement shall prevail, even if the Contractor's bid or quote is incorporated into this
Agreement.

20.0 Public Record.

2O.1. This Agreement as well as Contractor's bid or quote and all documents submitted with any such bid or quote
shall become public documents subject to lowa Code Chapter 22,lhe lowa Open Records Law. By submitting the

210

Item 19.



bid or quote or any document to the City in connection with such bid or quote, the submitting party recognizes this
and waives any claim against the City, its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and agents working on
behalf of the City, relating to the release of any bid or document submitted.

20.2. Each submitting party shall hold the City and its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and
agents working on behalf of the City, harmless from any claims arising from the release of any document or
information made available to the City related to or arising from the bidding or quoting process.

20.3. Notwithstanding Sections 20.1 and 20.2, protection from disclosure may apply to those elements of any
submittal that may be a trade secret, or confidential or proprietary information. Should the submitting party wish to
designate submittals as such, they must be clearly and prominently marked. The City shall make no determination as
to whether or not such documents are protected from disclosure under lowa Code Chapter 22. Ralher, the City shall
endeavor to notify the submitter of any request for such information and the submitter shall be solely responsible for
asserting exemption from disclosure by obtaining a court order. As long as the City makes a good faith effort to notify
the submitter of a request for such information, the City and the City's elected and appointed officers, the City's
employees, and agents working on behalf of the City, shall not be liable for any damages resulting from such
disclosure, whether such disclosure is deemed required by law, by an order of court or administrative agency, or
occurs through inadvertence, mistake, or negligence.

21.0. Debarment.

2'1.1. Contractor hereby certifies, pursuant to 48 CFR Part 9, that neither it nor its principals are presently
debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this
Agreement by any federal agency.

21.2. Contractor further certifies that it is not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared
ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in any contracts with the City or with the State of lowa.

22.0 Confidentialitv of Shared lnformation.

No information shared between Contractor and the City in the performance of this Agreement shall be deemed
confidential unless clearly designated as such in writing by the party seeking confidentiality at the time of sharing. lf
designated as confidential the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of such information except as necessary
for performance under this Agreement, unless or until written authorization for disclosure is given by the designating
party, or as required by law, or by an order of a court or administrative agency. ln the event of a dispute over the
confidentiality of shared information, the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of the designated information
until the issue of confidentiality is resolved. The duty to maintain the confidentiality of such information shall survive
the termination of this Agreement.

23.0. EntireAqreement.

23J. This Agreement, and Exhibits, which are incorporated into this Agreement by this reference, contains the
entire agreement and understanding by and between the parties with respect to the subject matter, and no
representations, promises, agreements, or understandings, written or verbal, not contained in this Agreement, shall
be of any force or effect.

23.2. No change, modification or waiver of this Agreement shall be valid or binding unless the same is in writing
and signed by the party against whom such change, modification or waiver is sought to be enforced.

24.0. AdditionalTerms.

This is a ioint contract with the Cedar Falls Public Librarv. the Waterloo Public Librarv. and BvWater Solutions.

24.1 Term and Renewal.

The service term shall be effective from 2/26. 2024 to 2/26 2029. Upon completion of this initial term, the Contract will
renew for additional two-vear terms. Either partv must notifu the other in writinq sixtv (60) davs prior to the end of the
then-cunent Term of their intention to modifu or discontinue the Contract. Renewal Contract will reflect no more than
a 4% increase to annual support and hosting costs. This contract will expire if not executed within 60 davs of the
effective date listed above.

211

Item 19.



24.2 Description of Services

(b)

(c)

(a) lnstallation and lmplementation of Koha lntegrated Library System ("Koha"), including the initial
migration of no more than 250,000 Bibliographic Records and all associated data to Koha.
Records delivered that total more than the referenced Bibliographic record count will result in
higher initial and ongoing fees.

(1) Data extraction from current legacy system is the responsibility of the Clients.

(2) Testing of initial migration is the responsibility of the Clients.

(3) OPAC customization will include application of Clients logos, preferred fonts and
colors to ByWater template.

(4) Database size increases by more than 50% throughout the life of this Contract will
result in pricing increases. All pricing increases will be agreed upon by all parties.

lnstallation and lmplementation of the Aspen Discovery System ('Aspen"), including the
customization and configuration of the public interface to meet the Clients' style guidelines.

(1) lmplementation will include the integration with existing API connections for third-
party systems free of charge

(2) Data extraction (if applicable) from current system is the responsibility of the Clients.

(3) Testing of initial installation is the responsibility of the Clients.

(4) Aspen enables the application of Clients logos, preferred fonts and colors interface.

lnstallation and configuration of the Metabase Community Edition Reporting System

(5) ByWater will configure Metabase with Clients' existing ByWater supported products.

(6) Testing of the installation and configuration is the responsibility of the Clients.

(7) Connections with third party products or data sources may carry additional one time
and ongoing fees.

(8) Clients will have access to all feature and functionality available through the
Metabase Community Edition

(d) Terms regarding technical support for the Clients are as follows:

(1) Critical support will be available (24) hours per day, 7 days per week. Critical support
includes system failure or complete loss of access to the Koha/Aspen system. Other
support calls during hours in which the Clients'facility is closed will be addressed by
level of importance; i.e. system failure dictates immediate response time, training
questions will be addressed within 24 hours;

(e) The support package will also cover software updates and Koha/Aspen enhancements that
may be applicable to the Clients.

Hosting for the Clients' data will be located in a remote cloud, and Service providers may
change at any time, at the absolute and sole discretion of ByWater. ByWater will not be
responsible for force majeure events including natural disasters and communication line
failures that may cause data corruption. Hosting services will include separate test servers for
Koha and Aspen for the purposes of testing and development. ByWater will update test
servers will production data on a periodic basis to be agreed upon between the Clients and
ByWater.

Training is required and will be provided for a minimum of three (3) days onsite or via webinar
Onsite training will include one educator for up to 40 participants per session. Additional

(f)

(s)

212

Item 19.



training will be provided upon request of Clients. Clients not previously using Koha as the
library's primary ILS must receive training.

24.3. Pavment Terms.

25.O. Notices.

Any notice required to be given under this Agreement and any authorization required to be provided shall be given or
provided to:

City: Contractor:

Name: Kelly Stern Name: Cindy Norman

Title: Librarv Director Title: Business Manaqer

Address: Cedar Falls Public Librarv Address: PO Box 1346

524 Main St., Cedar Falls. lA 50613 Santa Barbara, CA 93102

Telephone: 319-268-5541 Telephone: 888-900-8944

Email: director@cedarfallslibrarv.oro Email: cindv@bvwatersolutions.com

ln Witness Whereof, the City and the Contractor have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the last date listed
below.

Installation, Miqration, Training

lnvoiced upon siqninq

Koha installation/data miqration $22.600.00

Aspen installation/confiquration $10.000.00

Metabase installation/confi q uration $2.500.00

Onsite/Webinar tra ininq ( Koha, Aspen, Meta base) $8.200.00

TOTAL invoiced uoon siqninq $43.300.00

Annual Support and Hosting

Due on or before 2126 of each year beginninq on 212612024

Koha annual support and hostinq fee $16,560.00

Aspen annual support and hostinq fee $7,s00.00

Koha and Aspen Test Servers $4,000.00

Metabase annualsupport and hostino fee $2.000.00

TOTAL due on or before 2126 of each vear $30.060.00

213

Item 19.



CONTRACTOR

By:

Its: Nathan A Curulla, CRO

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

Robert M. Green, Mayor

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk

WATERLOO PUBLIC LIBMRY

Date: 7/27/2023

By:

Aftest: Date:

By: !r JA E.h vl- 7 7t z0z3Date:

L,,!mn,, b, "..,'l-or

10-12-202

214

Item 19.



Exhibit A
INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

FOR GOODS & SERVICES
FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

*** This document outlines the insurance requirements for all Contractors who perform work for the City of
Cedar Falls. The term "contractor" as used in this document shall be defined as any person or entity that
will be performing work for the City of Cedar Falls under contract.

All policies of insurance required hereunder shall be with an insurer authorized by law to do business in
lowa. All insurance policies shall be issued by companies satisfactory to the City and have a rating of A-,
Vll or better in the current A.M. Best Rating Guide.

The Contractor shall obtain and maintain through the term of the Agreement, insurance with the terms set
forth in this Exhibit and with limits of coverage equal to or in excess of those set forth on Pages 2-3 of this
Exhibit. By requiring the insurance as set forth in this Exhibit the City does not represent that coverage or
limits will necessarily be adequate to protect Contractor's interests and such coverage and limits shall not
be deemed a limitation on Contractor's liability under the Agreement or under the indemnity provisions of
this Exhibit. The City shall have the right at any time to require liability insurance with greater coverage
than that otherwise specified herein.

Coverage shall be written on an occurrence, not claims made form. All deviations or exclusions from the
standard ISO commercial general liability form CG 001 shall be clearly identified and shall be subject to
the review and approval of the City.

Contractor shall maintain ongoing Commercial General Liability coverage for at least 2 years following
substantial completion of the work, under the Agreement, to cover liability arising from the products-
completed operations hazard and liability assumed under an insured contract.

Separation of lnsured's Provision: lf Contractor's liability policies do not contain the standard ISO
separation of insured's provision, or a substantially similar clause, they shall be endorsed to provide
cross-liability coverage.

Certificate of lnsurance: Contractor shall furnish a signed Certificate of lnsurance, with accompanying
endorsements, to the City of Cedar Falls, lowa for the coverage required herein. See Pages 3-4 of this
Exhibit.

Upon request by the City, Contractor shall provide Certificates of lnsurance for all subcontractors and
sub-sub-contractors who perform work or services pursuant to the provisions of the Agreement.

All Certificates of lnsurance required hereunder shall include the Cancellation & Material Changes
Endorsement.

Termination: Failure to provide minimum coverage shall not be deemed a waiver of these requirements
by the City of Cedar Falls. Failure of the Contractor to obtain or maintain the required insurance shall be
considered a material breach of the Agreement, and at City's option, shall allow City to terminate the
Agreement for cause and/or purchase said insurance at Contractor's expense.

215

Item 19.



INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR GOODS & SERVICES
City of Cedar Falls

,t0-12-22

Page I of 13

lnsurance Limits

Commercial General Liabilitv

The City shall be named as Additional lnsured on a primary and non-contributory
basis. The policy will include waiver of subrogation endorsement in favor of the
City of Cedar Falls.

Automobile Liabilitv

Coverage is required for non-owned and hired vehicles if the Contractor does not
own any vehicles. The City shall be named as Additional lnsured on a primary and
non-contributory basis. The policy will include waiver of subrogation endorsement
in favor of the City of Cedar Falls.

Required Endorsements - sample endorsemenfs Pages 3-4 of this Exhibit
Blanket or Scheduled Additional lnsured
Owners, Lessees or Contractors - Scheduled Person or
Orqanization

cG 20 10 12 19
or Equivalent

Additional lnsured - Owners, Lessees or Contractors -
Completed Operations

cG 20 37 12 19
or Equivalent

Governmental lmmunity
(Nonwaiver of Government lmmunity -
Code of lowa $670.4)

Equivalent to
sample on Page 4
of this Exhibit.

Designated Construction Project(S) General
Aggregate Limil (if applicable)

cG 25 03 05 09
or Equivalent

Bodily lniury & Propertv Damaqe (each accident) s1.000.000 (csl)
Hired & Non-Owned Autos lf required

Workers' Compensation and Emplover's Liability

As required by any applicable law or regulation. The policy will include waiver of
subrogation endorsement in favor of the City of Cedar Falls.

Each Occurrence $1,000,000
Fire Damage (any one occurrence) $100,000

Medical Pavments $5,000

Personal & Advertisinq lniurv $1.000.000

General Aggregate $2,000,000
Products-Completed Operations Aqqreqate $2.000.000

Workers' Compensation Statutorv Limits

Bodilv lniurv Each Accident $500.000

Bodily lniury bv Disease Policv Limit $500,000

Bodilv lniurv bv Disease Each Emplovee $500.000

216

Item 19.



INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR GOODS & SERVICES
City of Cedar Falls

10-12-22
Page 3 of 13

Umbrella/Excess Liabilitv

If the umbrella/excess is not written on a follow form basis it shall have the same endorsement as
required of the primary policies including but not limited to
additional insured on a primary and non-contributory, and waiver of subrogation
endorsement in favor of the City of Cedar Falls.

Each Occurrence $3,000,000

Aqqreqate $3.000.000

Errors & Omissions/Professional Liabilitv

lf the Agreement's scope of services includes design work or other professional
consultation services, then Contractor shall maintain insurance coverage for errors, omissions and other
negligent acts or omissions (except for intentional acts or
omissions), arising out of the professional services performed by Contractor.
Contractor shall maintain continuous Errors & Omissions coverage for a period
commencing no later than the date of the Agreement, and continuing for a period
of no less than 2 years from the date of completion of all work completed or
services performed under the Agreement.

Each Occurrence $1,000,000

ENDORSEMENTS:

WAIVER OF TRANSFER OF RIGHTS OF RECOVERY AGAINST OTHERS TO US
(Waiver of Subrogation Endorsement)

To the extent permitted by law, Contractor hereby releases the City of Cedar Falls, lowa, its elected and
appointed officials, its directors, employees, and agents working on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls,
lowa, from and against any and all liability or responsibility to the Contractor or anyone claiming through
or under the Contractor by way of subrogation or otherwise, for any loss or damage to property caused by
fire or any other casualty and for any loss due to bodily injury to Contractor's employees. This provision
shall be applicable and in full force and effect only with respect to loss or damage occurring during the
time of the Agreement or arising out of the work performed under the Agreement. The Contractor's
policies of insurance (except for Professional Liability) shall contain a clause or endorsement to the effect
that such release shall not adversely affect or impair such policies or prejudice the right of the Contractor
to recover thereunder.

CANCELLATION AND MATERIAL CHANGES ENDORSEMENT

Thirty (30) days Advance Written Notice of Cancellation, Non-Renewal, Reduction in coverage and/or
limits and ten (10) days written notice of non-payment of premium shall be sent to: Risk Management
Office, City of Cedar Falls, City Hall,220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, lowa 50613. This endorsement
supersedes the standard cancellation statement on the Certificate of lnsurance to which this endorsement
is attached. Contractor agrees to furnish the City with 30 days advance written notice of cancellation,
non-renewal, reduction in coverage and/or limits, and 10 days advance written notice of non-payment of
premium.

217

Item 19.



INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR GOODS & SERVICES
City of Cedar Falls

10-12-22
Page 4 of 13

ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT

The City of Cedar Falls, lowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all its employees, all its
boards, commissions and/or authorities and their board members, are included as Additional lnsureds,
including ongoing operations CG 20 10 1219 or equivalent, and completed operations CG 20 37 1219 or
equivalent.

This coverage shall be primary to the Additional lnsureds, and not contributing with any other insurance
or similar protection available to the Additional lnsureds, whether other available coverage be primary,
contributing or excess.

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT
(For use when includinq the Gity as an Additional lnsured)

1. Nonwaiver of Government lmmunity. The insurance carrier expressly agrees and states that the
purchase of this policy and the including of the City of Cedar Falls, lowa as an Additional lnsured does
not waive any of the defenses of governmental immunity available to the City of Cedar Falls, lowa under
Code of lowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended from time to time.

2. Claims Coveraqe. The insurance carrier further agrees that this policy of insurance shall cover
only those claims not subject to the defense of governmental immunity under the Code of lowa Section
670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended from time to time.

3. Assertion of Government lmmuniV. The City of Cedar Falls, lowa shall be responsible for
asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do so at any time and shall do so upon the
timely written request of the insurance carrier. Nothing contained in this endorsement shall prevent the
carrier from asserting the defense of governmental immunity on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, lowa.

4. Non-Denial of Coveraqe. The insurance carrier shall not deny coverage under this policy and the
insurance carrier shall not deny any of the rights and benefits accruing to the City of Cedar Falls, lowa
under this policy for reasons of governmental immunity unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction
has ruled in favor of the defense(s) of governmental immunity asserted by the City of Cedar Falls, lowa.

5. No Other Chanqe in Policv. The insurance carrier and the City of Cedar Falls, lowa agree that the
above preservation of governmental immunities shall not othenruise change or alter the coverage
available under the policy.

218

Item 19.



1 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
  CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
  4600 SOUTH MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 
  319-273-8612 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

From:  Mark Howard, Assistant Public Safety Director/Police Chief  

Date:  August 1st, 2023 

Re: Tree Town Kennels contract approval with exhibits  

Attached is a contract for Tree Town Kennels, LLC, a Police K9 training specialist located at 3140 
Reed Avenue, Forest City, Iowa. A deposit has been paid and our team has selected a 2-year-old 
Belgian Malinois to be our first K9 Officer since the program ended over 20 years ago. The K9 will 
specialize in offender tracking and apprehension, search, and rescue, along with being a major 
asset in narcotics enforcement especially as we see in increased epidemic of fentanyl abuse.  

Officer Mike Marcotte has been selected to be the handler and will start training in Forest City on 
September 11th. This is a highly recommended program, based in Iowa, which will be an asset to 
us in obtaining and maintaining yearly certifications.  After months of research, we believe this is 
the best trainer for the Police Division’s K9 program.  

I do seek the Council’s approval of the attached contract to ensure that our program moves forward 
starting September 2023.  Thank You.  

 

Respectfully, 

Mark Howard 
Chief of Police 

 

 

219

Item 20.



1 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

Tree Town Consultants, LLC -- Police Dog Training 

 

This Agreement is by and between Tree Town Consultants, LLC (AKA Tree Town Kennels, LLC), 3140 Reed 

Avenue, Forest City, IA  50436 (“Contractor”) and the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (“City”), and is to be effective on the 

date last signed by the Contractor or the City below. 

1.0.       Contractor’s Services 

1.1.       Contractor’s services shall consist only of the those services and/or products provided or supplied by 

Contractor as defined in this Agreement and as listed on Exhibit “A” attached.  (“Services” or “Scope of Services”) 

1.2.       Contractor shall not commence or perform any work outside the Scope of Services unless and until 

authorized in writing by the City.  No changes to the Scope of Services shall be valid unless agreed to by both the 

Contractor and the City in writing.  Any work performed or expenses incurred by the Contractor shall be conclusively 

presumed to be part of the Scope of Services unless a written change order covering such work, and the cost of such 

work, has been agreed to in advance.  If Exhibit “A” includes provisions for contingent services, such services shall 

not be performed until written authorization is given by the City.  

1.3.       Contractor shall assign qualified and experienced personnel to perform the Services, and Contractor hereby 

warrants to the City that Contractor has sufficient experience and financial resources to complete the Services 

required by this Agreement.  Where the Scope of Services identifies particular personnel who shall perform the 

Services, such personnel shall remain assigned to provide the Services throughout the term of this Agreement, 

unless otherwise approved in writing by the City.  In the event that such particular personnel must be replaced, 

Contractor agrees to replace such particular personnel with persons of equivalent or better qualifications, as 

approved by the City. 

1.4.       Contractor shall perform the Services in a timely manner and in accordance with any schedule set forth in 

Exhibit “A”.  The Contractor and the City agree that time is of the essence with respect to Contractor’s performance 

under this Agreement.         

1.5.       Contractor warrants that its fulfillment of this Agreement will not infringe on or misappropriate the rights of any 

third party, and that the Contractor has the complete right and full authority to convey ownership of the Services to 

the City.  Contractor shall obtain all required governmental and third-party licenses, approvals and permits for the 

provision of Services, at Contractor’s cost. 

1.6.       The person signing this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor represents and warrants that the person has 

full and sufficient authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor. 

2.0.       Compensation 

2.1.       All bids and prices shall be shown in U.S. Dollars.  All prices must remain firm for the duration of this 

Agreement. 

2.2.       After inspection (if applicable) and acceptance by the City of Services, City shall pay Contractor in 

accordance with the payment terms set forth in Exhibit “B”.  The maximum amount of all payments for Services shall 

be the amount set forth in Exhibit “B”, unless additional Services are agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, in which 

case the maximum amount of all payments shall be adjusted accordingly.   

2.3.       Following acceptance of Services by the City, payment shall be made to the Contractor within thirty (30) days 

of receipt of a proper invoice.  The invoice shall include, at a minimum. The name and address of the Contractor, the 

220

Item 20.



2 
 

invoice number, the date services were performed or goods were shipped, a general description of the services or 

goods, total amount to be paid, any discounts or credits, and the net amount to be paid.  The invoice shall be mailed 

or emailed to the authorized representative of the City listed below, at the address listed below. 

2.4.       Expenses shall not be reimbursed to the Contractor unless specifically described in Exhibit “B”. 

2.5.       If services in addition to the Scope of Services are agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, Contractor must 

provide a separate invoice for such additional services before payment will be made. 

2.6.       If the City fails to make any payment when due to the Contractor, the Contractor may charge the City interest 

on the unpaid balance at the rate of 5% per annum until paid.  In addition, Contractor may, after giving seven (7) days 

written notice to the City, suspend services under this Agreement until such unpaid balance is paid in full. 

2.7.       Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the City may withhold payment to Contractor for 

faulty Services, or if the City is advised of liens or other claims against any Services, including products. 

3.0.       Taxes. 

3.1.       The City is exempt from all federal, State of Iowa, and other states’ taxes on the purchase of products and 

services used by the City within the State of Iowa.  The City shall provide tax exemption certification as required.   

3.2.       Any charges for taxes from which the City is exempt will be deducted from invoices before payment is made.  

4.0.       Ownership and Use of Documents 

4.1.       All Services to be provided under this Agreement, and any invention, improvement, discovery, or innovation 

(whether or not patentable) made, conceived or actually reduced to practice by Contractor in the performance of the 

Scope of Services in this Agreement will be owned exclusively by the City, including all proprietary and intellectual 

property rights.  To the extent not automatically vested in the City, Contractor hereby assigns to the City all right, title 

and interest in and to the Services, including, without limitation, copyright, patent and trade secret rights.  Upon the 

City’s request, Contractor shall execute any additional documents necessary for the City to perfect such ownership 

rights.   

4.2.       Notwithstanding Section 4.1, Contractor retains ownership of its pre-existing and proprietary materials and 

other intellectual property that may be incorporated into the Services. 

4.3.       Copies of City furnished data that may be relied upon by Contractor are limited to the printed copies (also 

known as hard copies) that are delivered to the Contractor.  Files in electronic media format of text, data, graphics, or 

of other formats that are furnished by the City to the Contractor are only for the convenience of the Contractor.  Any 

conclusion or information obtained or derived from such electronic files will be at the Contractor’s sole risk. 

4.4.       During the term of this Agreement and following completion or termination of the Agreement, the Contractor 

and any authorized Subcontractors shall maintain all accounting records and other documentation generated in 

providing Services under this Agreement.  The City or its designee shall be allowed to have access to such 

information for the purpose of inspection, audit and copying during normal business hours for a period of five (5) 

years after the final payment by the City, termination of this Agreement, or resolution of all matters under this 

Agreement, whichever date is latest.  No additional compensation shall be paid to Contractor for such retention or 

inspection by the City or designee.  

5.0.       Term and Termination. 

5.1.       The term of this Agreement shall commence on the effective date and end on December 1, 2023, unless 

earlier terminated under the terms of this Agreement. 

5.2        The City may terminate this Agreement at any time for its convenience by giving written notice to the 

Contractor of such termination and specifying the effective date of the termination, at least thirty (30) calendar days 

221

Item 20.



3 
 

before the effective date of termination.  In that event, all finished or unfinished Services, reports and materials 

prepared or furnished by the Contractor shall, at the option of the City, become the City’s property.  If the Agreement 

is terminated by the City as provided herein, the Contractor shall be paid for all Services which have been authorized, 

approved and provided up to the effective date of termination.  The City will not be subject to any termination fees 

from the Contractor. 

5.3.       Either party may terminate this Agreement upon seven (7) calendar days written notice in the event that the 

other party fails to substantially perform in accordance with the terms of this Agreement through no fault of the party 

initiating the termination. 

6.0.       Warranties. 

6.1.       Contractor represents and warrants that Services shall be performed in a manner consistent with the 

standard of care of other professional service providers in a similar industry and application.   

6.2.       Tree Town Kennels will provide a 1-year workability warranty starting from date of the 200hr course 

completion.  This warranty is dependent upon handler maintenance of the national standard of 16 training hours a 

month.  Training logs will be required for full warranty.  Failure to complete this minimum standard will void 

the warranty of workability. 

6.3        Tree Town Kennels LLC will provide a three-year Health Guarantee for hips and elbows, as well as 

documented genetic defects within one year of completion of the above-mentioned canine handler’s course.  In the 

event of a canine replacement for these aforementioned reasons, the Cedar Falls Police Division will be required to 

provide documentation and verification of the defect by a licensed Veterinarian to Tree Town Kennels LLC within 90 

days of the diagnosis.  Tree Town Kennels LLC reserves the right to obtain a second opinion at no cost to the City. 

Warranty conditions become null and void for the following conditions: 

1. Altering of purchased canine by spaying or neutering. 
2. Failure to provide heartworm testing at 6 months from the date the City takes possession of the canine as 

well as routine preventative testing and treatment as directed by a licensed veterinarian.  Heartworm testing 
must be performed at 6 months to guarantee the conditions of this warranty.   

        
6.4.       Contractor shall be responsible for the quality, technical accuracy, completeness and coordination of all 

Services under this Agreement.  Contractor shall promptly and without charge, provide all corrective work necessary 

as a result of Contractor’s acts, errors or omissions with respect to the quality and accuracy of Contractor’s Services. 

6.5.       Contractor shall be responsible for any and all damages to property or persons as a result of Contractor’s 

acts, errors or omissions in performing the Services under this Agreement, and for any losses or costs to repair or 

remedy any Services undertaken by the City as a result of any such acts, errors or omissions. 

6.6.       Contractor’s obligations shall exist without regard to, and shall not be construed to be waived by, the 

availability or unavailability of any insurance, either by the City or by the Contractor.  None of the provisions of this 

Agreement shall be construed as a limitation on the City’s right to seek recovery of damages it suffers as a result of 

Contractor’s fault or breach. 

7.0.       Warranties – Intellectual Property.   

7.1.       Contractor represents and warrants that the Services produced or provided to the City do not infringe upon 

any copyright, trademark, trade name, trade dress patent, statutory, common law or any other right of any person or 

entity. 

7.2.       Contractor represents and warrants that the Services, and the City’s use of the same, and the exercise by the 

City of the rights granted by this Agreement, shall not infringe upon any other work or violate the rights of publicity or 

privacy of, or constitute a libel or slander against, any person or entity. 

222

Item 20.



4 
 

7.3.       Contractor represents and warrants that it is the owner of or otherwise has the right to use and distribute the 

Services contemplated by this Agreement. 

8.0.       Disputes. 

8.1.       Should any dispute arise with respect to this Agreement, the parties agree to act immediately to resolve such 

dispute.  Time is of the essence in the resolution of disputes. 

8.2.       Contractor agrees that, the existence of a dispute notwithstanding, it will continue without delay to carry out 

all of its responsibilities under this Agreement that are not affected by the dispute and the City shall continue to make 

payment for all Services that are performed in conformance with this Agreement.  Should the Contractor fail to 

continue to perform its responsibilities regarding all non-disputed Services, without delay, any additional costs 

incurred by the City or the Contractor as a result of such failure to proceed shall be borne by the Contractor. 

8.3.       Should any dispute between the parties remain unresolved, the parties mutually agree to engage in 

mediation prior to the filing of suit by either party.  The cost of mediation shall be divided equally between the parties 

except that each party shall be responsible for that party’s own expenses and attorney fees associated with 

mediation.  The City shall not engage in arbitration of any dispute. 

9.0.       Indemnification and Hold Harmless. 

9.1.       To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor (for purposes of this Section 9.0, includes employees, 

subcontractors, agents and others working on behalf of Contractor under this Agreement) agrees to defend (for all 

non-professional claims), indemnify, and hold harmless the City (for purposes of this Section 9.0 includes elected and 

appointed officials, employees, and agents working on behalf of the City) against any and all claims, demands, suits 

or loss, including any and all outlay and expense connected therewith, and for damages, which may be asserted, 

claimed or recovered against or from the City, including, but not limited to, damages arising by reason of personal 

injury, including bodily injury or death, and property damage, which arises out of or is in any way connected or 

associated with the work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City under this Agreement, to the extent 

caused by or arising out of the errors, omissions, negligent or intentional acts of the Contractor.  

9.2.       Contractor’s duty of indemnification and to hold harmless includes, but is not limited to, Contractor’s breach 

or alleged breach of the warranties found in Sections 6.0 and 7.0 above, and shall survive the termination of this 

Agreement.  Such duty also includes damage, loss or injury to the City or City property. 

9.3.       Contractor expressly assumes full responsibility for loss, expense, damages or injuries which may result to 

the Contractor by reason of or in connection with the work and/or services provided by Contractor under this 

Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of the errors, omissions, negligent or intentional acts of the 

Contractor. 

9.4.       It is specifically agreed between the parties that this Agreement is not intended to create in the public or any 

member of the public third party beneficiary status or to authorize anyone not a party to this Agreement to maintain a 

suit for personal injuries or property damage.        

10.0.       Insurance. 

Contractor shall at all times during the performance of this Agreement maintain insurance as set forth in Exhibit “C” 

unless this insurance requirement is waived by the City in this Section. 

Insurance requirement waived:  _______________________________________________ (Signature and title of 

authorized City employee or officer) 

The City may at any time during the term of this Agreement require proof of such insurance. 

11.0.       Compliance with Laws and Regulations. 

223

Item 20.



5 
 

11.1.       Contractor certifies that in performing this Agreement it will comply with all applicable provisions of federal, 

state and local laws, ordinances, rules, licenses and regulations and shall make reasonable efforts to ensure that its 

employees, agents, subcontractors and others working on behalf of the Contractor under this Agreement do the 

same. 

11.2.       Contractor is responsible for determining which products are considered to be hazardous chemicals under 

applicable standards and to provide the most current Safety Data Sheet (“SDS”) with the initial shipment of such 

chemicals.  Failure by Contractor to do so may be considered by the City to be delivery of a defective product and its 

delivery may be refused.  It is also the Contractor’s responsibility to provide to the City any updated or revised SDS 

as it becomes available for any such hazardous chemicals sold and delivered to the City. 

12.0.       Independent Contractor. 

Both parties shall act in their individual capacities in the performance of this Agreement and not as agents, 

employees, partners, joint ventures or associates of one another.  The employees or agents of one party shall not be 

deemed or construed to be the employees or agents of the other for any purpose whatsoever. 

13.0.       Non-Collusion. 

13.1.       Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has employed any person to solicit or 

procure this Agreement, nor will the Contractor make any payment or agreement for payment of any compensation in 

connection with the solicitation or procurement of this Agreement. 

13.2.       Contractor agrees that there is no agreement, arrangement or understanding expressed or implied, 

contemplating any division of compensation for Services provided under this Agreement, or in the participation in 

such Services, directly or indirectly, by any person or entity, except as provided in this Agreement.  

13.3.       Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has either directly or indirectly entered 

into any agreement, arrangement or understanding to collude or otherwise take any action in restraint of free 

competitive procurement in connection with this Agreement. 

14.0.       Nondiscrimination and Equal Opportunity. 

14.1.       Contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, sex, 

color, creed, national origin, marital or familial status, religion, age, disability, sexual orientation, gender identity, 

genetic information or veteran status, or any other classification protected by federal, state, or local law, except where 

age or sex is an essential bona fide occupational requirement, or where disability is a bona fide occupational 

disqualification.   

14.2.       Contractor shall inform all subcontractors and agents performing under this Agreement of this 

nondiscrimination and equal opportunity requirement and shall take reasonable steps to ensure their compliance with 

the same. 

15.0.       No Conflict of Interest, 

Contractor represents, warrants and covenants that no relationship exists or will exist during the term of this 

Agreement that is a conflict of interest under Iowa law.  No employee, officer or agent of the Contractor shall 

participate in the procurement or performance of this Agreement if a conflict of interest exists as to such person.  

Should a conflict of interest arise during the term of this Agreement for Contractor or any employee, officer or agent of 

Contractor, Contractor shall immediately notify the City, in which case this Agreement may be terminated and any 

excess costs incurred by the City due to such termination shall be paid by Contractor or deducted from any sums yet 

due to Contractor. 

16.0.       Force Majeure. 

224

Item 20.



6 
 

16.1.       Force majeure shall be any of the following events:  acts of God or the public enemy; compliance with any 

order, rule, regulation, decree, or request of any governmental authority or agency or person purporting to act as 

such; acts of war, public disorder, rebellion, terrorism, or sabotage; floods, hurricanes, or other storms; strikes or 

labor disputes; or any other cause, whether or not of the class or kind specifically named or referred to in this 

Agreement which is not within the reasonable control of the party affected.  A delay in or failure of performance by 

either party shall not constitute a default in performance nor be the basis for, or give rise to, any claim for damages, if 

and to the extent such delay or failure is caused by force majeure. 

16.2.       The party who is prevented from performing by force majeure shall be obligated, within a period not to 

exceed fourteen (14) calendar days after the occurrence or detection of any such event, to provide notice to the other 

party setting forth in reasonable detail the nature thereof and the anticipated extent of the delay, and shall remedy 

such cause as soon as reasonably possible, as mutually agreed between the parties. 

16.3.       If a remedy to an event of force majeure cannot be agreed upon within a reasonable amount of time, this 

Agreement may be terminated by either party. 

17.0.       Assignment. 

No rights under this Agreement may be assigned or transferred by Contractor without the prior written consent of the 

City.  The benefits of this Agreement may inure to Contractor’s assigns, transferees, or successors in interest if 

approved by the City in writing in advance, and if such assignee, transferees or successors agree in writing to be 

bound by the terms of this Agreement. 

18.0.       Governing Law.   

18.1.       This Agreement shall be governed, interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of 

Iowa, regardless of choice of law principles. 

18.2.       Venue for any dispute under this Agreement shall be the District Court in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa.        

19.0.       Discrepancy.   

In the event that there are any discrepancies or differences between any terms or conditions of the Contractor’s bid or 

quote and this Agreement, this Agreement shall prevail, even if the Contractor’s bid or quote is incorporated into this 

Agreement. 

20.0       Public Record. 

20.1.      This Agreement as well as Contractor’s bid or quote and all documents submitted with any such bid or quote 

shall become public documents subject to Iowa Code Chapter 22, the Iowa Open Records Law.  By submitting the 

bid or quote or any document to the City in connection with such bid or quote, the submitting party recognizes this 

and waives any claim against the City, its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and agents working on 

behalf of the City, relating to the release of any bid or document submitted. 

20.2.       Each submitting party shall hold the City and its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and 

agents working on behalf of the City, harmless from any claims arising from the release of any document or 

information made available to the City related to or arising from the bidding or quoting process. 

20.3.       Notwithstanding Sections 20.1 and 20.2, protection from disclosure may apply to those elements of any 

submittal that may be a trade secret, or confidential or proprietary information.  Should the submitting party wish to 

designate submittals as such, they must be clearly and prominently marked.  The City shall make no determination as 

to whether or not such documents are protected from disclosure under Iowa Code Chapter 22.  Rather, the City shall 

endeavor to notify the submitter of any request for such information and the submitter shall be solely responsible for 

asserting exemption from disclosure by obtaining a court order.  As long as the City makes a good faith effort to notify 

the submitter of a request for such information, the City and the City’s elected and appointed officers, the City’s 

employees, and agents working on behalf of the City, shall not be liable for any damages resulting from such 

225

Item 20.



7 
 

disclosure, whether such disclosure is deemed required by law, by an order of court or administrative agency, or 

occurs through inadvertence, mistake, or negligence.  

21.0.       Debarment. 

21.1.       Contractor hereby certifies, pursuant to 48 CFR Part 9, that neither it nor its principals are presently 

debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this 

Agreement by any federal agency. 

21.2.       Contractor further certifies that it is not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared 

ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in any contracts with the City or with the State of Iowa. 

22.0        Confidentiality of Shared Information. 

No information shared between Contractor and the City in the performance of this Agreement shall be deemed 

confidential unless clearly designated as such in writing by the party seeking confidentiality at the time of sharing.  If 

designated as confidential the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of such information except as necessary 

for performance under this Agreement, unless or until written authorization for disclosure is given by the designating 

party, or as required by law, or by an order of a court or administrative agency.  In the event of a dispute over the 

confidentiality of shared information, the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of the designated information 

until the issue of confidentiality is resolved.  The duty to maintain the confidentiality of such information shall survive 

the termination of this Agreement. 

23.0.       Entire Agreement. 

23.1.       This Agreement, and Exhibits, which are incorporated into this Agreement by this reference, contains the 

entire agreement and understanding by and between the parties with respect to the subject matter, and no 

representations, promises, agreements, or understandings, written or verbal, not contained in this Agreement, shall 

be of any force or effect. 

23.2.       No change, modification or waiver of this Agreement shall be valid or binding unless the same is in writing 

and signed by the party against whom such change, modification or waiver is sought to be enforced. 

24.0.       Additional Terms. 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

25.0.       Notices. 

Any notice required to be given under this Agreement and any authorization required to be provided shall be given or 

provided to: 

City:                                                                                               Contractor: 

Name: Captain Tim Smith                                               Name: Andrew Klein 

Title: Cedar Falls Police Division                                       Title: Co-owner/President of Tree Town Kennels 

Address: 4600 S. Main Street                                      Address: 3140 Reed Avenue 

               Cedar Falls, IA  50613                                                  Forest City, IA  50436 

226

Item 20.



8 
 

Telephone: ______________________                                       Telephone: __________________________ 

Email: __________________________                                        Email: ______________________________  

 

In Witness Whereof, the City and the Contractor have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the last date listed 

below. 

 

CONTRACTOR 

(Name of Contractor)____________________________ 

By: __________________________________________ 

Its: __________________________________________                    Date: ___________________ 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

By: __________________________________ 

        Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

Attest: ________________________________                                      Date: _____________________ 

             Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

                                 

    

227

Item 20.



EXHIBIT A 

 

1.  Sale of a dual-purpose police dog and training by Tree Town Kennels LLC.  This dual-purpose police 

dog will be a mutually agreed upon dog and will be trained in narcotic detection (cocaine, heroin, 

methamphetamine, ecstasy, and marijuana (if chosen)), building search, tracking, handler protection, 

and article location. The handler of this dual purpose canine will be offered a 200 hour basic, dual-

purpose canine handler’s course in narcotic detection (cocaine, heroin, methamphetamine, ecstasy and 

marijuana (if chosen)), building search, tracking, handler protection, and article location.   

228

Item 20.



EXHBIT B 

 

Payment shall be made in full to Tree Town Kennels LLC, Forest City, IA 50436 in the amount of 

$13,500.00 due prior to this dual-purpose dog being released to the Cedar Falls Police Division.  However 

half payment will secure K9 of choice until the date the dual-purpose dog is released to the Cedar Falls 

Police Division.  

 

229

Item 20.



MJIL 1000 08 10 Page 1 of 1

A STOCK COMPANY

EVANSTON INSURANCE COMPANY

10275 West Higgins Road, Suite 750
Rosemont, IL 60018

INSURANCE POLICY

Coverage afforded by this policy is provided by the Company (Insurer) and named in the 
Declarations.

In Witness Whereof, the company (insurer) has caused this policy to be executed and attested and 
countersigned by a duly authorized representative of the company (insurer) identified in the Declarations.

Secretary President

230

Item 20.



MPIL 1007 01 20  Page 1 of 3

Evanston Insurance Company
PRIVACY NOTICE

U. S. Consumer Privacy Notice Rev. 1/1/2020

FACTS WHAT DOES MARKEL GROUP OF COMPANIES REFERENCED BELOW (INDIVIDUALLY OR 
COLLECTIVELY REFERRED TO AS "WE", "US", OR "OUR") DO WITH YOUR PERSONAL INFORMATION?

Why? In the course of Our business relationship with you, We collect information about you that is necessary to provide 
you with Our products and services. We treat this information as confidential and recognize the importance of 
protecting it. Federal and state law gives you the right to limit some but not all sharing of your personal 
information. Federal and state law also requires Us to tell you how We collect, share, and protect your personal 
information. Please read this notice carefully to understand what We do.

What? The types of personal information We collect and share depend on the product or service you have with Us. 
This information can include:
 your name, mailing and email address(es), telephone number, date of birth, gender, marital or family status, 

identification numbers issued by government bodies or agencies (i.e.: Social Security number or FEIN, driver’s 
license or other license number), employment, education, occupation, or assets and income from applications 
and other forms from you, your employer and others;

 your policy coverage, claims, premiums, and payment history from your dealings with Us, Our Affiliates, or 
others;

 your financial history from other insurance companies, financial organizations, or consumer reporting 
agencies, including but not limited to payment card numbers, bank account or other financial account numbers 
and account details, credit history and credit scores, assets and income and other financial information, or 
your medical history and records.

Personal information does not include:
 publicly-available information from government records;
 de-identified or aggregated consumer information.
When you are no longer Our customer, We continue to share your information as described in this Notice as 
required by law.

How? All insurance companies need to share customers’ personal information to run their everyday business. In the 
section below, We list the reasons financial companies can share their customers’ personal information; the 
reasons We choose to share; and whether you can limit this sharing. We restrict access to your personal 
information to those individuals, such as Our employees and agents, who provide you with insurance products 
and services. We may disclose your personal information to Our Affiliates and Nonaffiliates (1) to process your 
transaction with Us, for instance, to determine eligibility for coverage, to process claims, or to prevent fraud, or 
(2) with your written authorization, or (3) otherwise as permitted by law. We do not disclose any of your personal 
information, as Our customer or former customer, except as described in this Notice.

231

Item 20.



MPIL 1007 01 20  Page 2 of 3

Reasons We can share your personal information Do We 
share?

Can you 
limit this 
sharing?

For Our everyday business purposes and as required by law –
such as to process your transactions, maintain your account(s), respond to court orders and 
legal/regulatory investigations, to prevent fraud, or report to credit bureaus

Yes No

For Our marketing purposes –
to offer Our products and services to you

Yes No

For Joint Marketing with other financial companies Yes No

For Our Affiliates’ everyday business purposes –
information about your transactions and experiences

Yes No

For Our Affiliates’ everyday business purposes –
information about your creditworthiness

No We don’t 
share

For Our Affiliates to market you No We don’t 
share

For Nonaffiliates to market you No We don’t 
share

Questions? Call (888) 560-4671 or email privacy@markel.com

Who We are

Who is providing this Notice? A list of Our companies is located at the end of this Notice.

What We do

How do We protect your 
personal information?

We maintain reasonable physical, electronic, and procedural safeguards to protect 
your personal information and to comply with applicable regulatory standards. For 
more information, visit www.markel.com/privacy-policy.

How do We collect your personal 
information?

We collect your personal information, for example, when you
 complete an application or other form for insurance
 perform transactions with Us, Our Affiliates, or others 
 file an insurance claim or provide account information
 use your credit or debit card
We also collect your personal information from others, such as consumer reporting 
agencies that provide Us with information such as credit information, driving 
records, and claim histories.

Why can’t you limit all sharing of 
your personal information?

Federal law gives you the right to limit only
 sharing for Affiliates’ everyday business purposes – information about your 

creditworthiness
 Affiliates from using your information to market to you
 sharing for Nonaffiliates to market to you
State laws and individual companies may give you additional rights to limit sharing. 
See the Other Important Information section of this Notice for more on your rights 
under state law.

232

Item 20.



MPIL 1007 01 20  Page 3 of 3

Definitions

Affiliates Companies related by common ownership or control. They can be financial and nonfinancial 
companies.
 Our Affiliates include member companies of Markel Group.

Nonaffiliates Companies not related by common ownership or control. They can be financial and 
nonfinancial companies.
 Nonaffiliates that We can share with can include financial services companies such as 

insurance agencies or brokers, claims adjusters, reinsurers, and auditors, state insurance 
officials, law enforcement, and others as permitted by law. 

Joint Marketing A formal agreement between Nonaffiliated companies that together market financial products 
or services to you.
 Our Joint Marketing providers can include entities providing a service or product that could 

allow Us to provide a broader selection of insurance products to you.

Other Important Information 

For Residents of AZ, CT, GA, IL, ME, MA, MN, MT, NV, NJ, NC, OH, OR, and VA: Under state law, under certain 
circumstances you have the right to access and request correction, amendment or deletion of personal information that 
We have collected from or about you. To do so, contact your agent, visit www.markel.com/privacy-policy, call (888) 560-
4671, or write to Markel Corporation Privacy Office, 4521 Highwoods Parkway, Glen Allen, VA 23060.
We may charge a reasonable fee to cover the costs of providing this information. We will let you know what actions We 
take. If you do not agree with Our actions, you may send Us a statement.

For Residents of CA: You have the right to review, make corrections, or delete your recorded personal information 
contained in Our files. To do so, contact your agent, visit www.markel.com/privacy-policy, call (888) 560-4671, or write to 
Markel Corporation Privacy Office, 4521 Highwoods Parkway, Glen Allen, VA 23060. We do not and will not sell your 
personal information.
For the categories of personal information We have collected from consumers within the last 12 months, please visit: 
www.markel.com/privacy-policy. 

For Residents of MA and ME: You may ask, in writing, for specific reason, for an adverse underwriting decision.

Markel Group of Companies Providing This Notice: City National Insurance Company, Essentia Insurance Company, 
Evanston Insurance Company, FirstComp Insurance Company, Independent Specialty Insurance Company, National 
Specialty Insurance Company, Markel Bermuda Limited, Markel American Insurance Company, Markel Global 
Reinsurance Company, Markel Insurance Company, Markel International Insurance Company Limited, Markel Service, 
Incorporated, Markel West, Inc. (d/b/a in CA as Markel West Insurance Services), Pinnacle National Insurance 
Company, State National Insurance Company, Inc., Superior Specialty Insurance Company, SureTec Agency Services, 
Inc. (d/b/a in CA as SureTec Agency Insurance Services), SureTec Indemnity Company, SureTec Insurance Company, 
United Specialty Insurance Company, Inc.

233

Item 20.



MPIL 1041 02 20 Page 1 of 1

HOW TO REPORT A CLAIM

How to report a new claim:

 Email: newclaims@markel.com
 FAX: (855) 662-7535 (855) 6MARKEL
 *Phone: (800) 362-7535 (800) 3MARKEL
 Mail: P.O. Box 2009, Glen Allen, VA 23058-2009

Please complete the appropriate ACORD form in detail and include the name and phone number of 
the contact person at the location of the reported incident. If possible, please attach a copy of the facility 
incident report. When reporting an auto claim, please identify the unit # on the schedule along with the 
VIN#. If the loss/claim involves a building or damage to property, please provide the physical address 
of the property.

*Please refer to your specific policy language for new claim reporting requirements. Some 
policies require you to report all claims in writing only.

How to send Supplemental Information / Questions on an existing claim:

 Email: markelclaims@markel.com
 FAX: (855) 662-7535 (855) 6MARKEL
 Phone: (800) 362-7535 (800) 3MARKEL
 Mail: P.O. Box 2009, Glen Allen, VA 23058-2009

If you have questions about a claim, please call 1-800-362-7535.

Inquiries may also be faxed to 1-855-662-7535.

234

Item 20.



MPIL 1083 04 15 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc. 
with its permission.

Page 1 of 1

INTERLINE

EVANSTON INSURANCE COMPANY

U.S. TREASURY DEPARTMENT'S OFFICE OF FOREIGN 
ASSETS CONTROL ("OFAC")

ADVISORY NOTICE TO POLICYHOLDERS

No coverage is provided by this Policyholder Notice nor can it be construed to replace any provisions of your policy. You 
should read your policy and review your Declarations page for complete information on the coverages you are provided.

This Notice provides information concerning possible impact on your insurance coverage due to directives issued by 
OFAC. Please read this Notice carefully.
The Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC) administers and enforces sanctions policy, based on Presidential 
declarations of "national emergency". OFAC has identified and listed numerous:

 Foreign agents;
 Front organizations;
 Terrorists;
 Terrorist organizations; and
 Narcotics traffickers;

as "Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons". This list can be located on the United States Treasury's web 
site – https://www.treasury.gov/ofac.

In accordance with OFAC regulations, if it is determined that you or any other insured, or any person or entity claiming the 
benefits of this insurance has violated U.S. sanctions law or is a Specially Designated National and Blocked Person, as 
identified by OFAC, this insurance will be considered a blocked or frozen contract and all provisions of this insurance are 
immediately subject to OFAC. When an insurance policy is considered to be such a blocked or frozen contract, no 
payments nor premium refunds may be made without authorization from OFAC. Other limitations on the premiums and 
payments also apply.

235

Item 20.



MDIL 1000 08 11 Page 1 of 2

EVANSTON INSURANCE COMPANY
State Transaction Code: 

COMMON POLICY DECLARATIONS
POLICY NUMBER:  3AA610669 RENEWAL OF POLICY: NEW

Named Insured and Mailing Address (No., Street, Town or City, County, State, Zip Code) 
Tree Town Kennels LLC 
3140 Reed Avenue 
Forest City, IA 50436

Policy Period: From 10/14/2022 to 10/14/2023 at 12:01 A.M. Standard Time at your mailing address shown above.

BUSINESS DESCRIPTION:  Animal Training

FORM OF BUSINESS
Individual Partnership Joint Venture Trust Corporation
Limited Liability Company Other Organization:  

Audit Period: Annual unless otherwise stated: FTZ Code:  

IN RETURN FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE PREMIUM, AND SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS OF 
THIS POLICY, WE AGREE WITH YOU TO PROVIDE THE INSURANCE AS STATED IN THIS 
POLICY.

THIS POLICY CONSISTS OF THE FOLLOWING COVERAGE PART(S), BUT ONLY FOR WHICH A PREMIUM IS 
INDICATED. THIS PREMIUM MAY BE SUBJECT TO ADJUSTMENT.

Commercial Property Coverage Part $ Not Covered
Commercial General Liability Coverage Part $ 1,500.00
Commercial Inland Marine Coverage Part $ Not Covered
Commercial Ocean Marine Coverage Part $ Not Covered
Commercial Professional Liability Coverage Part $ Not Covered
Commercial Automobile Liability Coverage Part $ Not Covered
Liquor Liability Coverage Part $ Not Covered
Crime Coverage Part $ Not Covered
Other Coverages: Terrorism - Certified Acts $ Excluded

$
Premium Total $ 1,500.00

Other Charges: Taxes and Fees - See MDIL 1002 $ 166.50
$
$

GRAND TOTAL $ 1,666.50

THIS POLICY IS ISSUED, PURSUANT TO IOWA CODE SECTION 515.120, BY A NONADMITTED COMPANY OF 
IOWA AND AS SUCH IS NOT COVERED BY THE IOWA INSURANCE GUARANTY ASSOCIATION.

Producer Number, Name and Mailing Address
210440                                                                                                                State Surplus Lines License # 
NBS Insurance Agency, Inc. 
280 North High Street Suite 300 Inspection Ordered: Yes   No 

236

Item 20.



MDIL 1000 08 11 Page 2 of 2

Columbus, OH 43215-2535 Program Code: 

Endorsements
Forms and Endorsements applying to this Coverage Part and made part of this policy at time of issue: 

SEE FORMS SCHEDULE - MDIL 1001

These declarations, together with the Common Policy Conditions and Coverage Form(s) and 
any Endorsement(s), complete the above numbered policy.

Countersigned:  10/14/2022
                              Date

BY: 

237

Item 20.



MDIL 1002 01 10                                                                                  Page 1 of 1

INTERLINE
POLICY NUMBER: 3AA610669

EVANSTON INSURANCE COMPANY
SCHEDULE OF TAXES, SURCHARGES OR FEES

State Description Amount
IA Policy fee $ 150.00

IA Surplus Lines Tax $ 16.50

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

TOTAL $ 166.50

238

Item 20.



MDIL 1001 08 11 Page 1 of 1

INTERLINE
POLICY NUMBER: 3AA610669

EVANSTON INSURANCE COMPANY
FORMS SCHEDULE

FORM NUMBER FORM NAME

COMMON

MJIL 1000 08 10 Policy Jacket (Evanston)
MPIL 1007 01 20 Privacy Notice
MPIL 1041 02 20 How To Report A Claim
MPIL 1083 04 15 U.S. Treasury Department's Office Of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC) Advisory Notice 

To Policyholders
MDIL 1000 08 11 Common Policy Declaration
MDIL 1002 01 10 Schedule of Taxes, Surcharges Or Fees
MDIL 1001 08 11 Forms Schedule
IL 00 17 11 98 Common Policy Conditions
IL 00 21 09 08 Nuclear Energy Liability Exclusion Endorsement
IL 02 76 09 08 Iowa Changes - Cancellation And Nonrenewal
MEIL 1200 02 20 Service Of Suit 
MEIL 1225 10 11 Change - Civil Union
MIL 1214 09 17 Trade Or Economic Sanctions

GENERAL LIABILITY

MDGL 1008 08 11 Commercial General Liability Coverage Part Declarations
CG 00 01 04 13 Commercial General Liability Coverage Form
CG 21 36 03 05 New Entities Exclusion
CG 21 38 11 85 Personal and Advertising Injury Exclusion
CG 21 47 12 07 Employment - Related Practices Exclusion
CG 21 49 09 99 Total Pollution Exclusion Endorsement
CG 21 73 01 15 Exclusion Of Certified Acts Of Terrorism
MEGL 0001 08 20 Combination General Endorsement
MEGL 0008 04 20 Exclusion - Continuous or Progressive Injury or Damage
MEGL 0172 10 14 Products - Completed Operations Included In General Aggregate Limit
MEGL 1636 10 19  Exclusion - Employer's Liability And Bodily Injury To Contractors Or Subcontractors In 

Designated States
MEGL 2322 05 21 Exclusion - Communicable Disease
MGL 1319 01 16 Exclusion - Unmanned Aircraft
MGL 1356 10 20 Exclusion - Cyber Incident, Data Compromise, And Violation Of Statutes Related To 

Personal Data

239

Item 20.



IL 00 17 11 98 Copyright, Insurance Services Office, Inc.,  1998 Page 1 of 1 

INTERLINE
IL 00 17 11 98

COMMON POLICY CONDITIONS
All Coverage Parts included in this policy are subject to the following conditions. 

A. Cancellation 
1. The first Named Insured shown in the 

Declarations may cancel this policy by mailing 
or delivering to us advance written notice of 
cancellation. 

2. We may cancel this policy by mailing or 
delivering to the first Named Insured written 
notice of cancellation at least: 
a. 10 days before the effective date of 

cancellation if we cancel for nonpayment of 
premium; or 

b. 30 days before the effective date of 
cancellation if we cancel for any other 
reason. 

3. We will mail or deliver our notice to the first 
Named Insured's last mailing address known to 
us. 

4. Notice of cancellation will state the effective 
date of cancellation. The policy period will end 
on that date. 

5. If this policy is cancelled, we will send the first 
Named Insured any premium refund due. If we 
cancel, the refund will be pro rata. If the first 
Named Insured cancels, the refund may be 
less than pro rata. The cancellation will be 
effective even if we have not made or offered a 
refund. 

6. If notice is mailed, proof of mailing will be 
sufficient proof of notice. 

B. Changes 
This policy contains all the agreements between 
you and us concerning the insurance afforded.  
The first Named Insured shown in the Declarations 
is authorized to make changes in the terms of this 
policy with our consent. This policy's terms can be 
amended or waived only by endorsement issued 
by us and made a part of this policy. 

C. Examination Of Your Books And Records 
We may examine and audit your books and 
records as they relate to this policy at any time 
during the policy period and up to three years 
afterward. 

D. Inspections And Surveys 
1. We have the right to: 

a. Make inspections and surveys at any time; 

b. Give you reports on the conditions we find; 
and 

c. Recommend changes. 
2. We are not obligated to make any inspections, 

surveys, reports or recommendations and any 
such actions we do undertake relate only to 
insurability and the premiums to be charged. 
We do not make safety inspections. We do not 
undertake to perform the duty of any person or 
organization to provide for the health or safety 
of workers or the public. And we do not warrant 
that conditions: 
a. Are safe or healthful; or 
b. Comply with laws, regulations, codes or 

standards. 
3. Paragraphs 1. and 2. of this condition apply not 

only to us, but also to any rating, advisory, rate 
service or similar organization which makes 
insurance inspections, surveys, reports or 
recommendations. 

4. Paragraph 2. of this condition does not apply to 
any inspections, surveys, reports or 
recommendations we may make relative to 
certification, under state or municipal statutes, 
ordinances or regulations, of boilers, pressure 
vessels or elevators. 

E. Premiums 
The first Named Insured shown in the 
Declarations: 
1. Is responsible for the payment of all premiums; 

and 
2. Will be the payee for any return premiums we 

pay. 
F. Transfer Of Your Rights And Duties Under This 

Policy 
Your rights and duties under this policy may not be 
transferred without our written consent except in 
the case of death of an individual named insured. 
If you die, your rights and duties will be transferred 
to your legal representative but only while acting 
within the scope of duties as your legal 
representative. Until your legal representative is 
appointed, anyone having proper temporary 
custody of your property will have your rights and 
duties but only with respect to that property. 

240

Item 20.



IL 00 21 09 08 © ISO Properties, Inc., 2007 Page 1 of 2 

INTERLINE
IL 00 21 09 08

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY.  PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

NUCLEAR ENERGY LIABILITY EXCLUSION 
ENDORSEMENT

(Broad Form)

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following: 

COMMERCIAL AUTOMOBILE COVERAGE PART
COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
FARM COVERAGE PART
LIQUOR LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
MEDICAL PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
OWNERS AND CONTRACTORS PROTECTIVE LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
POLLUTION LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
PRODUCTS/COMPLETED OPERATIONS LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
RAILROAD PROTECTIVE LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
UNDERGROUND STORAGE TANK POLICY

1. The insurance does not apply: 
A. Under any Liability Coverage, to "bodily injury" 

or "property damage": 
(1) With respect to which an "insured" under 

the policy is also an insured under a 
nuclear energy liability policy issued by 
Nuclear Energy Liability Insurance 
Association, Mutual Atomic Energy Liability 
Underwriters, Nuclear Insurance 
Association of Canada or any of their 
successors, or would be an insured under 
any such policy but for its termination upon 
exhaustion of its limit of liability; or 

(2) Resulting from the "hazardous properties" 
of "nuclear material" and with respect to 
which (a) any person or organization is 
required to maintain financial protection 
pursuant to the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, 
or any law amendatory thereof, or (b) the 
"insured" is, or had this policy not been 
issued would be, entitled to indemnity from 
the United States of America, or any 
agency thereof, under any agreement 
entered into by the United States of 
America, or any agency thereof, with any 
person or organization. 

B. Under any Medical Payments coverage, to 
expenses incurred with respect to "bodily 
injury" resulting from the "hazardous 
properties" of "nuclear material" and arising out 
of the operation of a "nuclear facility" by any 
person or organization. 

C. Under any Liability Coverage, to "bodily injury" 
or "property damage" resulting from 
"hazardous properties" of "nuclear material", if: 

(1) The "nuclear material" (a) is at any "nuclear 
facility" owned by, or operated by or on 
behalf of, an "insured" or (b) has been 
discharged or dispersed therefrom; 

(2) The "nuclear material" is contained in 
"spent fuel" or "waste" at any time 
possessed, handled, used, processed, 
stored, transported or disposed of, by or on 
behalf of an "insured"; or 

(3) The "bodily injury" or "property damage" 
arises out of the furnishing by an "insured" 
of services, materials, parts or equipment in 
connection with the planning, construction, 
maintenance, operation or use of any 
"nuclear facility", but if such facility is 
located within the United States of America, 
its territories or possessions or Canada, this 
exclusion (3) applies only to "property 
damage" to such "nuclear facility" and any 
property thereat. 

2. As used in this endorsement: 
"Hazardous properties" includes radioactive, toxic 
or explosive properties. 
"Nuclear material" means "source material", 
"special nuclear material" or "by-product material". 

241

Item 20.



Page 2 of 2 © ISO Properties, Inc., 2007 IL 00 21 09 08 

"Source material", "special nuclear material", and 
"by-product material" have the meanings given 
them in the Atomic Energy Act of 1954 or in any 
law amendatory thereof. 
"Spent fuel" means any fuel element or fuel 
component, solid or liquid, which has been used or 
exposed to radiation in a "nuclear reactor". 
"Waste" means any waste material (a) containing 
"by-product material" other than the tailings or 
wastes produced by the extraction or 
concentration of uranium or thorium from any ore 
processed primarily for its "source material" 
content, and (b) resulting from the operation by 
any person or organization of any "nuclear facility" 
included under the first two paragraphs of the 
definition of "nuclear facility". 
"Nuclear facility" means: 

(a) Any "nuclear reactor"; 
(b) Any equipment or device designed or used 

for (1) separating the isotopes of uranium or 
plutonium, (2) processing or utilizing "spent 
fuel", or (3) handling, processing or 
packaging "waste"; 

(c) Any equipment or device used for the 
processing, fabricating or alloying of 
"special nuclear material" if at any time the 
total amount of such material in the custody 
of the "insured" at the premises where such 
equipment or device is located consists of 
or contains more than 25 grams of 
plutonium or uranium 233 or any 
combination thereof, or more than 250 
grams of uranium 235; 

(d) Any structure, basin, excavation, premises 
or place prepared or used for the storage or 
disposal of "waste"; 

and includes the site on which any of the foregoing 
is located, all operations conducted on such site 
and all premises used for such operations. 
"Nuclear reactor" means any apparatus designed 
or used to sustain nuclear fission in a self-
supporting chain reaction or to contain a critical 
mass of fissionable material. 
"Property damage" includes all forms of 
radioactive contamination of property. 

242

Item 20.



INTERLINE
IL 02 76 09 08

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY.  PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

IL 02 76 09 08 © ISO Properties, Inc., 2007 Page 1 of 2 

IOWA CHANGES – CANCELLATION AND NONRENEWAL
This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following: 

CAPITAL ASSETS PROGRAM (OUTPUT POLICY) COVERAGE PART
COMMERCIAL AUTOMOBILE COVERAGE PART
COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
COMMERCIAL INLAND MARINE COVERAGE PART
COMMERCIAL PROPERTY COVERAGE PART
CRIME AND FIDELITY COVERAGE PART
EMPLOYMENT-RELATED PRACTICES LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
EQUIPMENT BREAKDOWN COVERAGE PART
FARM COVERAGE PART
MEDICAL PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
POLLUTION LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
PRODUCTS/COMPLETED OPERATIONS LIABILITY COVERAGE PART

A. The Cancellation Common Policy Condition is 
replaced by the following: 
CANCELLATION 
1. The first Named Insured shown in the 

Declarations may cancel this policy by mailing 
or delivering to us advance written notice of 
cancellation. 

2. Cancellation Requirements
a. We may cancel this policy, by mailing or 

delivering to the first Named Insured and 
any loss payee written notice of 
cancellation at least: 

(1) 30 days before the effective date of 
cancellation if we cancel due to loss of 
reinsurance coverage; 

(2) 10 days before the effective date of 
cancellation if we cancel for any other 
reason. 

b. If this policy is a new policy and has been in 
effect for less than 60 days, we may cancel 
for: 

(1) Loss of reinsurance, subject to d. below; 
or 

(2) Any other reason. 

c. If this policy has been in effect for 60 days 
or more, or is a renewal of a policy we 
issued, we may cancel only for one or more 
of the following reasons: 

(1) Nonpayment of premium; 
(2) Misrepresentation or fraud made by or 

with your knowledge in obtaining the 
policy, when renewing the policy, or in 
presenting a claim under the policy; 

(3) Acts or omissions by you that 
substantially change or increase the risk 
insured; 

(4) Determination by the Commissioner that 
the continuation of the policy would 
jeopardize our solvency or would place 
us in violation of the insurance laws of 
this or any other state; 

(5) You have acted in a manner which you 
knew or should have known was in 
violation or breach of a policy term or 
condition; or 

(6) Loss of reinsurance, subject to d. below. 
d. We may cancel due to loss of reinsurance 

which provides coverage to us for a 
significant portion of the underlying risk 
insured, but only if the Commissioner 
determines that such cancellation is 
justified. 

243

Item 20.



Page 2 of 2 © ISO Properties, Inc., 2007 IL 02 76 09 08 

3. We will mail or deliver our notice to the first 
Named Insured's and any loss payee's last 
mailing address known to us. 

4. Notice of cancellation will state: 
a. The reason for cancellation; and 
b. The effective date of cancellation. The 

policy period will end on that date. 
5. If this policy is cancelled, we will send the first 

Named Insured any premium refund due. If we 
cancel, the refund will be pro rata. If the first 
Named Insured cancels, the refund may be 
less than pro rata. The cancellation will be 
effective even if we have not made or offered a 
refund. 

6. If notice is mailed, a post office department 
certificate of mailing is proof of receipt of 
notice. However, if cancellation is for 
nonpayment of premium, a certificate of 
mailing is not required.

B. The following is added and supersedes any other 
provision to the contrary: 
NONRENEWAL 
1. If we decide not to renew this policy, we will 

mail or deliver written notice of nonrenewal to 
the first Named Insured and any loss payee at 
least 45 days before the expiration date of this 
policy, except if: 
a. We have offered to issue a renewal policy; 

or 
b. You have failed to pay a premium due or 

any advance premium required by us for 
renewal. 

2. If notice is mailed, a post office department 
certificate of mailing is proof of receipt of 
notice. 

244

Item 20.



MEIL 1200 02 20 Page 1 of 1

Evanston Insurance Company

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

SERVICE OF SUIT

Except with respect to any policy issued in any state in which the Insurer is licensed as an admitted insurer to transact 
business, it is agreed that in the event of the failure of the Company to pay any amount claimed to be due hereunder, the 
Company, at the request of the Named Insured, will submit to the jurisdiction of a court of competent jurisdiction within the 
United States and will comply with all requirements necessary to give such court jurisdiction and all matters arising 
hereunder shall be determined in accordance with the law and practice of such court. Nothing in this clause constitutes or 
should be understood to constitute a waiver of the Company’s rights to commence an action in any court of competent 
jurisdiction in the United States, to remove an action to a United States District Court or to seek a transfer of a case to 
another court as permitted by the laws of the United States or of any state in the United States. It is further agreed that 
service of process in such suit may be made upon Secretary, Legal Department, Markel Service, Incorporated, 10275 
West Higgins Road, Suite 750, Rosemont, Illinois 60018, and that in any suit instituted against the Company upon this 
policy, the Company will abide by the final decision of such Court or of any Appellate Court in the event of an appeal. 

Further, pursuant to any statute of any state, territory or district of the United States which makes provision therefor, the 
Company hereby designates the Superintendent, Commissioner or Director of Insurance or other official specified for that 
purpose in the statute, or his/her successor or successors in office, as its true and lawful attorney upon whom may be 
served any lawful process in any action, suit or proceeding instituted by or on behalf of the Named Insured or any 
beneficiary hereunder arising out of this policy, and hereby designates the above-named as the person to whom the said 
officer is authorized to mail such process or a true copy thereof.

245

Item 20.



MEIL 1225 10 11 Page 1 of 1

INTERLINE

EVANSTON INSURANCE COMPANY

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

CHANGES – CIVIL UNION

All references to “spouse” or “family member” in any Coverage Part or policy form made part of this insurance shall 
include a party to a civil union or domestic partnership law recognized under any applicable statute.

All other terms and conditions remain unchanged.

246

Item 20.



MIL 1214 09 17  Page 1 of 1

EVANSTON INSURANCE COMPANY
THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

TRADE OR ECONOMIC SANCTIONS

The following is added to this policy:

Trade Or Economic Sanctions
This insurance does not provide any coverage, and we (the Company) shall not make payment of any claim or provide 
any benefit hereunder, to the extent that the provision of such coverage, payment of such claim or provision of such 
benefit would expose us (the Company) to a violation of any applicable trade or economic sanctions, laws or regulations, 
including but not limited to, those administered and enforced by the United States Treasury Department’s Office of 
Foreign Assets Control (OFAC). 

All other terms and conditions remain unchanged.

247

Item 20.



MDGL 1008 08 11 Page 1 of 1

EVANSTON INSURANCE COMPANY

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE PART DECLARATIONS
POLICY NUMBER: 3AA610669  “X” If Supplemental Declarations Is Attached

RETROACTIVE DATE
THIS INSURANCE DOES NOT APPLY TO "BODILY INJURY", "PROPERTY DAMAGE" OR "PERSONAL AND 
ADVERTISING INJURY" WHICH OCCURS BEFORE THE RETROACTIVE DATE, IF ANY, SHOWN BELOW.
RETROACTIVE DATE: None

(ENTER DATE OR "NONE" IF NO RETROACTIVE DATE APPLIES)

LIMITS OF INSURANCE
General Aggregate Limit (other than Products/Completed Operations) $ 2,000,000

Products/Completed Operations Aggregate Limit $ Included

Personal and Advertising Injury Limit $ Excluded Any One Person or Organization

Each Occurrence Limit $ 1,000,000

Damage to Premises Rented to You Limit $ 100,000 Any One Premises

Medical Expense Limit $ 5,000 Any One Person

ALL PREMISES YOU OWN, RENT OR OCCUPY
Loc. No. ADDRESS OF ALL PREMISES YOU OWN, RENT OR OCCUPY

1 3140 Reed Avenue, Forest City, IA, 50436

CLASSIFICATION AND PREMIUM
Rate Advance PremiumLoc. No Code No. Classification Rating 

Basis
Premium 

Basis
Other 
Basis Pr/Co All Other Pr/Co All Other

1 16404 Pet Training Per $1,000 
of Gross 
Sales

15,000 Incl. $35.00 Incl. $525

*(a) Area  *(c) Total Cost  *(m) Admissions  *(p) Payroll  *(s) Gross Sales  (u) Units *(r) 
Gross Receipts  (e) Each  (o) Other: 
Premium Basis identified with a “*” is per 1000 of selected basis.

Total Advance 
Premium

$1,500 MP

These declarations, together with the Common Policy Conditions and Coverage Form(s) and any Endorsement(s), 
complete the above numbered policy.

FORMS AND ENDORSEMENTS

SEE FORMS SCHEDULE - MDIL 1001

248

Item 20.



COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY
CG 00 01 04 13

CG 00 01 04 13 © Insurance Services Office, Inc., 2012 Page 1 of 16

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE FORM
Various provisions in this policy restrict coverage. 
Read the entire policy carefully to determine rights, 
duties and what is and is not covered. 
Throughout this policy the words "you" and "your" 
refer to the Named Insured shown in the Declarations, 
and any other person or organization qualifying as a 
Named Insured under this policy. The words "we", 
"us" and "our" refer to the company providing this 
insurance. 
The word "insured" means any person or organization 
qualifying as such under Section II – Who Is An 
Insured. 
Other words and phrases that appear in quotation 
marks have special meaning. Refer to Section V –
Definitions. 
SECTION I – COVERAGES 
COVERAGE A – BODILY INJURY AND PROPERTY 
DAMAGE LIABILITY 
1. Insuring Agreement 

a. We will pay those sums that the insured 
becomes legally obligated to pay as damages 
because of "bodily injury" or "property damage" 
to which this insurance applies. We will have 
the right and duty to defend the insured against 
any "suit" seeking those damages. However, 
we will have no duty to defend the insured 
against any "suit" seeking damages for "bodily 
injury" or "property damage" to which this 
insurance does not apply. We may, at our 
discretion, investigate any "occurrence" and 
settle any claim or "suit" that may result. But: 

(1) The amount we will pay for damages is 
limited as described in Section III – Limits 
Of Insurance; and 

(2) Our right and duty to defend ends when we 
have used up the applicable limit of 
insurance in the payment of judgments or 
settlements under Coverages A or B or 
medical expenses under Coverage C. 

No other obligation or liability to pay sums or 
perform acts or services is covered unless 
explicitly provided for under Supplementary 
Payments – Coverages A and B. 

b. This insurance applies to "bodily injury" and 
"property damage" only if: 

(1) The "bodily injury" or "property damage" is 
caused by an "occurrence" that takes place 
in the "coverage territory";

(2) The "bodily injury" or "property damage" 
occurs during the policy period; and

(3) Prior to the policy period, no insured listed 
under Paragraph 1. of Section II – Who Is 
An Insured and no "employee" authorized 
by you to give or receive notice of an 
"occurrence" or claim, knew that the "bodily 
injury" or "property damage" had occurred, 
in whole or in part. If such a listed insured 
or authorized "employee" knew, prior to the 
policy period, that the "bodily injury" or 
"property damage" occurred, then any 
continuation, change or resumption of such 
"bodily injury" or "property damage" during 
or after the policy period will be deemed to 
have been known prior to the policy period.

c. "Bodily injury" or "property damage" which 
occurs during the policy period and was not, 
prior to the policy period, known to have 
occurred by any insured listed under 
Paragraph 1. of Section II – Who Is An Insured 
or any "employee" authorized by you to give or 
receive notice of an "occurrence" or claim, 
includes any continuation, change or 
resumption of that "bodily injury" or "property 
damage" after the end of the policy period. 

d. "Bodily injury" or "property damage" will be 
deemed to have been known to have occurred 
at the earliest time when any insured listed 
under Paragraph 1. of Section II – Who Is An 
Insured or any "employee" authorized by you to 
give or receive notice of an "occurrence" or 
claim:

(1) Reports all, or any part, of the "bodily injury" 
or "property damage" to us or any other 
insurer;

(2) Receives a written or verbal demand or 
claim for damages because of the "bodily 
injury" or "property damage"; or

(3) Becomes aware by any other means that 
"bodily injury" or "property damage" has 
occurred or has begun to occur.

e. Damages because of "bodily injury" include 
damages claimed by any person or 
organization for care, loss of services or death 
resulting at any time from the "bodily injury". 

249

Item 20.



Page 2 of 16 © Insurance Services Office, Inc., 2012 CG 00 01 04 13

2. Exclusions 
This insurance does not apply to: 
a. Expected Or Intended Injury 

"Bodily injury" or "property damage" expected 
or intended from the standpoint of the insured. 
This exclusion does not apply to "bodily injury" 
resulting from the use of reasonable force to 
protect persons or property. 

b. Contractual Liability 
"Bodily injury" or "property damage" for which 
the insured is obligated to pay damages by 
reason of the assumption of liability in a 
contract or agreement. This exclusion does not 
apply to liability for damages: 

(1) That the insured would have in the absence 
of the contract or agreement; or 

(2) Assumed in a contract or agreement that is 
an "insured contract", provided the "bodily 
injury" or "property damage" occurs 
subsequent to the execution of the contract 
or agreement. Solely for the purposes of 
liability assumed in an "insured contract", 
reasonable attorneys' fees and necessary 
litigation expenses incurred by or for a party 
other than an insured are deemed to be 
damages because of "bodily injury" or 
"property damage", provided: 

(a) Liability to such party for, or for the cost 
of, that party's defense has also been 
assumed in the same "insured contract"; 
and 

(b) Such attorneys' fees and litigation 
expenses are for defense of that party 
against a civil or alternative dispute 
resolution proceeding in which damages 
to which this insurance applies are 
alleged. 

c. Liquor Liability 
"Bodily injury" or "property damage" for which 
any insured may be held liable by reason of: 

(1) Causing or contributing to the intoxication of 
any person; 

(2) The furnishing of alcoholic beverages to a 
person under the legal drinking age or 
under the influence of alcohol; or 

(3) Any statute, ordinance or regulation relating 
to the sale, gift, distribution or use of 
alcoholic beverages. 

This exclusion applies even if the claims 
against any insured allege negligence or other 
wrongdoing in:

(a) The supervision, hiring, employment, 
training or monitoring of others by that 
insured; or

(b) Providing or failing to provide 
transportation with respect to any 
person that may be under the influence 
of alcohol;

if the "occurrence" which caused the "bodily 
injury" or "property damage", involved that 
which is described in Paragraph (1), (2) or (3) 
above. 
However, this exclusion applies only if you are 
in the business of manufacturing, distributing, 
selling, serving or furnishing alcoholic 
beverages. For the purposes of this exclusion, 
permitting a person to bring alcoholic 
beverages on your premises, for consumption 
on your premises, whether or not a fee is 
charged or a license is required for such 
activity, is not by itself considered the business 
of selling, serving or furnishing alcoholic 
beverages. 

d. Workers' Compensation And Similar Laws 
Any obligation of the insured under a workers' 
compensation, disability benefits or 
unemployment compensation law or any 
similar law.

e. Employer's Liability 
"Bodily injury" to: 

(1) An "employee" of the insured arising out of 
and in the course of: 

(a) Employment by the insured; or 
(b) Performing duties related to the conduct 

of the insured's business; or 
(2) The spouse, child, parent, brother or sister 

of that "employee" as a consequence of 
Paragraph (1) above. 

This exclusion applies whether the insured 
may be liable as an employer or in any other 
capacity and to any obligation to share 
damages with or repay someone else who 
must pay damages because of the injury.
This exclusion does not apply to liability 
assumed by the insured under an "insured 
contract". 

250

Item 20.



CG 00 01 04 13 © Insurance Services Office, Inc., 2012 Page 3 of 16

f. Pollution 
(1) "Bodily injury" or "property damage" arising 

out of the actual, alleged or threatened 
discharge, dispersal, seepage, migration, 
release or escape of "pollutants":

(a) At or from any premises, site or location 
which is or was at any time owned or 
occupied by, or rented or loaned to, any 
insured. However, this subparagraph 
does not apply to:
(i) "Bodily injury" if sustained within a 

building and caused by smoke, 
fumes, vapor or soot produced by or 
originating from equipment that is 
used to heat, cool or dehumidify the 
building, or equipment that is used to 
heat water for personal use, by the 
building's occupants or their guests;

(ii) "Bodily injury" or "property damage" 
for which you may be held liable, if 
you are a contractor and the owner 
or lessee of such premises, site or 
location has been added to your 
policy as an additional insured with 
respect to your ongoing operations 
performed for that additional insured 
at that premises, site or location and 
such premises, site or location is not 
and never was owned or occupied 
by, or rented or loaned to, any 
insured, other than that additional 
insured; or

(iii) "Bodily injury" or "property damage" 
arising out of heat, smoke or fumes 
from a "hostile fire";

(b) At or from any premises, site or location 
which is or was at any time used by or 
for any insured or others for the 
handling, storage, disposal, processing 
or treatment of waste; 

(c) Which are or were at any time 
transported, handled, stored, treated, 
disposed of, or processed as waste by 
or for: 
(i) Any insured; or 
(ii) Any person or organization for whom 

you may be legally responsible; or

(d) At or from any premises, site or location 
on which any insured or any contractors 
or subcontractors working directly or 
indirectly on any insured's behalf are 
performing operations if the "pollutants" 
are brought on or to the premises, site 
or location in connection with such 
operations by such insured, contractor 
or subcontractor. However, this 
subparagraph does not apply to: 
(i) "Bodily injury" or "property damage" 

arising out of the escape of fuels, 
lubricants or other operating fluids 
which are needed to perform the 
normal electrical, hydraulic or 
mechanical functions necessary for 
the operation of "mobile equipment" 
or its parts, if such fuels, lubricants 
or other operating fluids escape from 
a vehicle part designed to hold, store 
or receive them. This exception does 
not apply if the "bodily injury" or 
"property damage" arises out of the 
intentional discharge, dispersal or 
release of the fuels, lubricants or 
other operating fluids, or if such 
fuels, lubricants or other operating 
fluids are brought on or to the 
premises, site or location with the 
intent that they be discharged, 
dispersed or released as part of the 
operations being performed by such 
insured, contractor or subcontractor;

(ii) "Bodily injury" or "property damage" 
sustained within a building and 
caused by the release of gases, 
fumes or vapors from materials 
brought into that building in 
connection with operations being 
performed by you or on your behalf 
by a contractor or subcontractor; or

(iii) "Bodily injury" or "property damage" 
arising out of heat, smoke or fumes 
from a "hostile fire".

(e) At or from any premises, site or location 
on which any insured or any contractors 
or subcontractors working directly or 
indirectly on any insured's behalf are 
performing operations if the operations 
are to test for, monitor, clean up, 
remove, contain, treat, detoxify or 
neutralize, or in any way respond to, or 
assess the effects of, "pollutants".

251

Item 20.



Page 4 of 16 © Insurance Services Office, Inc., 2012 CG 00 01 04 13

(2) Any loss, cost or expense arising out of 
any: 

(a) Request, demand, order or statutory or 
regulatory requirement that any insured 
or others test for, monitor, clean up, 
remove, contain, treat, detoxify or 
neutralize, or in any way respond to, or 
assess the effects of, "pollutants"; or 

(b) Claim or suit by or on behalf of a 
governmental authority for damages 
because of testing for, monitoring, 
cleaning up, removing, containing, 
treating, detoxifying or neutralizing, or in 
any way responding to, or assessing the 
effects of, "pollutants". 

However, this paragraph does not apply to 
liability for damages because of "property 
damage" that the insured would have in the 
absence of such request, demand, order or 
statutory or regulatory requirement, or such 
claim or "suit" by or on behalf of a 
governmental authority.

g. Aircraft, Auto Or Watercraft 
"Bodily injury" or "property damage" arising out 
of the ownership, maintenance, use or 
entrustment to others of any aircraft, "auto" or 
watercraft owned or operated by or rented or 
loaned to any insured. Use includes operation 
and "loading or unloading". 
This exclusion applies even if the claims 
against any insured allege negligence or other 
wrongdoing in the supervision, hiring, 
employment, training or monitoring of others by 
that insured, if the "occurrence" which caused 
the "bodily injury" or "property damage" 
involved the ownership, maintenance, use or 
entrustment to others of any aircraft, "auto" or 
watercraft that is owned or operated by or 
rented or loaned to any insured.
This exclusion does not apply to: 

(1) A watercraft while ashore on premises you 
own or rent; 

(2) A watercraft you do not own that is: 
(a) Less than 26 feet long; and 
(b) Not being used to carry persons or 

property for a charge; 
(3) Parking an "auto" on, or on the ways next 

to, premises you own or rent, provided the 
"auto" is not owned by or rented or loaned 
to you or the insured; 

(4) Liability assumed under any "insured 
contract" for the ownership, maintenance or 
use of aircraft or watercraft; or 

(5) "Bodily injury" or "property damage" arising 
out of: 

(a) The operation of machinery or 
equipment that is attached to, or part of, 
a land vehicle that would qualify under 
the definition of "mobile equipment" if it 
were not subject to a compulsory or 
financial responsibility law or other 
motor vehicle insurance law where it is 
licensed or principally garaged; or

(b) The operation of any of the machinery 
or equipment listed in Paragraph f.(2) or 
f.(3) of the definition of "mobile 
equipment". 

h. Mobile Equipment 
"Bodily injury" or "property damage" arising out 
of: 

(1) The transportation of "mobile equipment" by 
an "auto" owned or operated by or rented or 
loaned to any insured; or 

(2) The use of "mobile equipment" in, or while 
in practice for, or while being prepared for, 
any prearranged racing, speed, demolition, 
or stunting activity. 

i. War 
"Bodily injury" or "property damage", however 
caused, arising, directly or indirectly, out of:

(1) War, including undeclared or civil war;
(2) Warlike action by a military force, including 

action in hindering or defending against an 
actual or expected attack, by any 
government, sovereign or other authority 
using military personnel or other agents; or

(3) Insurrection, rebellion, revolution, usurped 
power, or action taken by governmental 
authority in hindering or defending against 
any of these.

j. Damage To Property 
"Property damage" to: 

(1) Property you own, rent, or occupy, including 
any costs or expenses incurred by you, or 
any other person, organization or entity, for 
repair, replacement, enhancement, 
restoration or maintenance of such property 
for any reason, including prevention of 
injury to a person or damage to another's 
property; 

(2) Premises you sell, give away or abandon, if 
the "property damage" arises out of any 
part of those premises; 

(3) Property loaned to you; 

252

Item 20.



CG 00 01 04 13 © Insurance Services Office, Inc., 2012 Page 5 of 16

(4) Personal property in the care, custody or 
control of the insured; 

(5) That particular part of real property on 
which you or any contractors or 
subcontractors working directly or indirectly 
on your behalf are performing operations, if 
the "property damage" arises out of those 
operations; or 

(6) That particular part of any property that 
must be restored, repaired or replaced 
because "your work" was incorrectly 
performed on it. 

Paragraphs (1), (3) and (4) of this exclusion do 
not apply to "property damage" (other than 
damage by fire) to premises, including the 
contents of such premises, rented to you for a 
period of seven or fewer consecutive days. A 
separate limit of insurance applies to Damage 
To Premises Rented To You as described in 
Section III – Limits Of Insurance.
Paragraph (2) of this exclusion does not apply 
if the premises are "your work" and were never 
occupied, rented or held for rental by you. 
Paragraphs (3), (4), (5) and (6) of this 
exclusion do not apply to liability assumed 
under a sidetrack agreement. 
Paragraph (6) of this exclusion does not apply 
to "property damage" included in the "products-
completed operations hazard". 

k. Damage To Your Product 
"Property damage" to "your product" arising out 
of it or any part of it. 

l. Damage To Your Work 
"Property damage" to "your work" arising out of 
it or any part of it and included in the "products-
completed operations hazard". 
This exclusion does not apply if the damaged 
work or the work out of which the damage 
arises was performed on your behalf by a 
subcontractor. 

m. Damage To Impaired Property Or Property 
Not Physically Injured 
"Property damage" to "impaired property" or 
property that has not been physically injured, 
arising out of: 

(1) A defect, deficiency, inadequacy or 
dangerous condition in "your product" or 
"your work"; or 

(2) A delay or failure by you or anyone acting 
on your behalf to perform a contract or 
agreement in accordance with its terms. 

This exclusion does not apply to the loss of use 
of other property arising out of sudden and 
accidental physical injury to "your product" or 
"your work" after it has been put to its intended 
use. 

n. Recall Of Products, Work Or Impaired 
Property 
Damages claimed for any loss, cost or 
expense incurred by you or others for the loss 
of use, withdrawal, recall, inspection, repair, 
replacement, adjustment, removal or disposal 
of: 

(1) "Your product"; 
(2) "Your work"; or 
(3) "Impaired property"; 
if such product, work, or property is withdrawn 
or recalled from the market or from use by any 
person or organization because of a known or 
suspected defect, deficiency, inadequacy or 
dangerous condition in it. 

o. Personal And Advertising Injury
"Bodily injury" arising out of "personal and 
advertising injury".

p. Electronic Data
Damages arising out of the loss of, loss of use 
of, damage to, corruption of, inability to access, 
or inability to manipulate electronic data. 
However, this exclusion does not apply to 
liability for damages because of "bodily injury".
As used in this exclusion, electronic data 
means information, facts or programs stored as 
or on, created or used on, or transmitted to or 
from computer software, including systems and 
applications software, hard or floppy disks, CD-
ROMs, tapes, drives, cells, data processing 
devices or any other media which are used 
with electronically controlled equipment.

q. Recording And Distribution Of Material Or 
Information In Violation Of Law
"Bodily injury" or "property damage" arising 
directly or indirectly out of any action or 
omission that violates or is alleged to violate:

(1) The Telephone Consumer Protection Act 
(TCPA), including any amendment of or 
addition to such law; 

(2) The CAN-SPAM Act of 2003, including any 
amendment of or addition to such law; 

(3) The Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA), and 
any amendment of or addition to such law, 
including the Fair and Accurate Credit 
Transactions Act (FACTA); or

253

Item 20.



Page 6 of 16 © Insurance Services Office, Inc., 2012 CG 00 01 04 13

(4) Any federal, state or local statute, 
ordinance or regulation, other than the 
TCPA, CAN-SPAM Act of 2003 or FCRA 
and their amendments and additions, that 
addresses, prohibits, or limits the printing, 
dissemination, disposal, collecting, 
recording, sending, transmitting, 
communicating or distribution of material or 
information.

Exclusions c. through n. do not apply to damage 
by fire to premises while rented to you or 
temporarily occupied by you with permission of the 
owner. A separate limit of insurance applies to this 
coverage as described in Section III – Limits Of 
Insurance. 

COVERAGE B – PERSONAL AND ADVERTISING 
INJURY LIABILITY 
1. Insuring Agreement 

a. We will pay those sums that the insured 
becomes legally obligated to pay as damages 
because of "personal and advertising injury" to 
which this insurance applies. We will have the 
right and duty to defend the insured against 
any "suit" seeking those damages. However, 
we will have no duty to defend the insured 
against any "suit" seeking damages for 
"personal and advertising injury" to which this 
insurance does not apply. We may, at our 
discretion, investigate any offense and settle 
any claim or "suit" that may result. But: 

(1) The amount we will pay for damages is 
limited as described in Section III – Limits 
Of Insurance; and 

(2) Our right and duty to defend end when we 
have used up the applicable limit of 
insurance in the payment of judgments or 
settlements under Coverages A or B or 
medical expenses under Coverage C. 

No other obligation or liability to pay sums or 
perform acts or services is covered unless 
explicitly provided for under Supplementary 
Payments – Coverages A and B.

b. This insurance applies to "personal and 
advertising injury" caused by an offense arising 
out of your business but only if the offense was 
committed in the "coverage territory" during the 
policy period. 

2. Exclusions 
This insurance does not apply to: 
a. Knowing Violation Of Rights Of Another

"Personal and advertising injury" caused by or 
at the direction of the insured with the 
knowledge that the act would violate the rights 
of another and would inflict "personal and 
advertising injury".

b. Material Published With Knowledge Of 
Falsity
"Personal and advertising injury" arising out of 
oral or written publication, in any manner, of 
material, if done by or at the direction of the 
insured with knowledge of its falsity. 

c. Material Published Prior To Policy Period
"Personal and advertising injury" arising out of 
oral or written publication, in any manner, of 
material whose first publication took place 
before the beginning of the policy period. 

d. Criminal Acts
"Personal and advertising injury" arising out of 
a criminal act committed by or at the direction 
of the insured.

e. Contractual Liability
"Personal and advertising injury" for which the 
insured has assumed liability in a contract or 
agreement. This exclusion does not apply to 
liability for damages that the insured would 
have in the absence of the contract or 
agreement.

f. Breach Of Contract
"Personal and advertising injury" arising out of 
a breach of contract, except an implied 
contract to use another's advertising idea in 
your "advertisement".

g. Quality Or Performance Of Goods – Failure 
To Conform To Statements
"Personal and advertising injury" arising out of 
the failure of goods, products or services to 
conform with any statement of quality or 
performance made in your "advertisement".

h. Wrong Description Of Prices
"Personal and advertising injury" arising out of 
the wrong description of the price of goods, 
products or services stated in your 
"advertisement". 

254

Item 20.



CG 00 01 04 13 © Insurance Services Office, Inc., 2012 Page 7 of 16

i. Infringement Of Copyright, Patent, 
Trademark Or Trade Secret
"Personal and advertising injury" arising out of 
the infringement of copyright, patent, 
trademark, trade secret or other intellectual 
property rights. Under this exclusion, such 
other intellectual property rights do not include 
the use of another's advertising idea in your 
"advertisement".
However, this exclusion does not apply to 
infringement, in your "advertisement", of 
copyright, trade dress or slogan.

j. Insureds In Media And Internet Type 
Businesses
"Personal and advertising injury" committed by 
an insured whose business is:

(1) Advertising, broadcasting, publishing or 
telecasting;

(2) Designing or determining content of web 
sites for others; or

(3) An Internet search, access, content or 
service provider. 

However, this exclusion does not apply to 
Paragraphs 14.a., b. and c. of "personal and 
advertising injury" under the Definitions 
section.
For the purposes of this exclusion, the placing 
of frames, borders or links, or advertising, for 
you or others anywhere on the Internet, is not 
by itself, considered the business of 
advertising, broadcasting, publishing or 
telecasting.

k. Electronic Chatrooms Or Bulletin Boards
"Personal and advertising injury" arising out of 
an electronic chatroom or bulletin board the 
insured hosts, owns, or over which the insured 
exercises control.

l. Unauthorized Use Of Another's Name Or 
Product
"Personal and advertising injury" arising out of 
the unauthorized use of another's name or 
product in your e-mail address, domain name 
or metatag, or any other similar tactics to 
mislead another's potential customers.

m. Pollution
"Personal and advertising injury" arising out of 
the actual, alleged or threatened discharge, 
dispersal, seepage, migration, release or 
escape of "pollutants" at any time. 

n. Pollution-related
Any loss, cost or expense arising out of any: 

(1) Request, demand, order or statutory or 
regulatory requirement that any insured or 
others test for, monitor, clean up, remove, 
contain, treat, detoxify or neutralize, or in 
any way respond to, or assess the effects 
of, "pollutants"; or 

(2) Claim or suit by or on behalf of a 
governmental authority for damages 
because of testing for, monitoring, cleaning 
up, removing, containing, treating, 
detoxifying or neutralizing, or in any way 
responding to, or assessing the effects of, 
"pollutants". 

o. War
"Personal and advertising injury", however 
caused, arising, directly or indirectly, out of:

(1) War, including undeclared or civil war;
(2) Warlike action by a military force, including 

action in hindering or defending against an 
actual or expected attack, by any 
government, sovereign or other authority 
using military personnel or other agents; or

(3) Insurrection, rebellion, revolution, usurped 
power, or action taken by governmental 
authority in hindering or defending against 
any of these.

p. Recording And Distribution Of Material Or 
Information In Violation Of Law
"Personal and advertising injury" arising 
directly or indirectly out of any action or 
omission that violates or is alleged to violate:

(1) The Telephone Consumer Protection Act 
(TCPA), including any amendment of or 
addition to such law; 

(2) The CAN-SPAM Act of 2003, including any 
amendment of or addition to such law; 

(3) The Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA), and 
any amendment of or addition to such law, 
including the Fair and Accurate Credit 
Transactions Act (FACTA); or

(4) Any federal, state or local statute, 
ordinance or regulation, other than the 
TCPA, CAN-SPAM Act of 2003 or FCRA 
and their amendments and additions, that 
addresses, prohibits, or limits the printing, 
dissemination, disposal, collecting, 
recording, sending, transmitting, 
communicating or distribution of material or 
information.

255

Item 20.



Page 8 of 16 © Insurance Services Office, Inc., 2012 CG 00 01 04 13

COVERAGE C – MEDICAL PAYMENTS 
1. Insuring Agreement 

a. We will pay medical expenses as described 
below for "bodily injury" caused by an accident: 

(1) On premises you own or rent; 
(2) On ways next to premises you own or rent; 

or 
(3) Because of your operations;
provided that: 

(a) The accident takes place in the 
"coverage territory" and during the policy 
period; 

(b) The expenses are incurred and reported 
to us within one year of the date of the 
accident; and 

(c) The injured person submits to 
examination, at our expense, by 
physicians of our choice as often as we 
reasonably require. 

b. We will make these payments regardless of 
fault. These payments will not exceed the 
applicable limit of insurance. We will pay 
reasonable expenses for: 

(1) First aid administered at the time of an 
accident; 

(2) Necessary medical, surgical, X-ray and 
dental services, including prosthetic 
devices; and 

(3) Necessary ambulance, hospital, 
professional nursing and funeral services. 

2. Exclusions 
We will not pay expenses for "bodily injury": 
a. Any Insured

To any insured, except "volunteer workers". 
b. Hired Person

To a person hired to do work for or on behalf of 
any insured or a tenant of any insured. 

c. Injury On Normally Occupied Premises
To a person injured on that part of premises 
you own or rent that the person normally 
occupies. 

d. Workers' Compensation And Similar Laws
To a person, whether or not an "employee" of 
any insured, if benefits for the "bodily injury" 
are payable or must be provided under a 
workers' compensation or disability benefits 
law or a similar law. 

e. Athletics Activities
To a person injured while practicing, instructing 
or participating in any physical exercises or 
games, sports, or athletic contests. 

f. Products-Completed Operations Hazard
Included within the "products-completed 
operations hazard". 

g. Coverage A Exclusions
Excluded under Coverage A.

SUPPLEMENTARY PAYMENTS – COVERAGES A 
AND B 
1. We will pay, with respect to any claim we 

investigate or settle, or any "suit" against an 
insured we defend: 
a. All expenses we incur. 
b. Up to $250 for cost of bail bonds required 

because of accidents or traffic law violations 
arising out of the use of any vehicle to which 
the Bodily Injury Liability Coverage applies. We 
do not have to furnish these bonds. 

c. The cost of bonds to release attachments, but 
only for bond amounts within the applicable 
limit of insurance. We do not have to furnish 
these bonds. 

d. All reasonable expenses incurred by the 
insured at our request to assist us in the 
investigation or defense of the claim or "suit", 
including actual loss of earnings up to $250 a 
day because of time off from work. 

e. All court costs taxed against the insured in the 
"suit". However, these payments do not include 
attorneys' fees or attorneys' expenses taxed 
against the insured. 

f. Prejudgment interest awarded against the 
insured on that part of the judgment we pay. If 
we make an offer to pay the applicable limit of 
insurance, we will not pay any prejudgment 
interest based on that period of time after the 
offer. 

256

Item 20.



CG 00 01 04 13 © Insurance Services Office, Inc., 2012 Page 9 of 16

g. All interest on the full amount of any judgment 
that accrues after entry of the judgment and 
before we have paid, offered to pay, or 
deposited in court the part of the judgment that 
is within the applicable limit of insurance. 

These payments will not reduce the limits of 
insurance. 

2. If we defend an insured against a "suit" and an 
indemnitee of the insured is also named as a party 
to the "suit", we will defend that indemnitee if all of 
the following conditions are met: 
a. The "suit" against the indemnitee seeks 

damages for which the insured has assumed 
the liability of the indemnitee in a contract or 
agreement that is an "insured contract"; 

b. This insurance applies to such liability 
assumed by the insured; 

c. The obligation to defend, or the cost of the 
defense of, that indemnitee, has also been 
assumed by the insured in the same "insured 
contract"; 

d. The allegations in the "suit" and the information 
we know about the "occurrence" are such that 
no conflict appears to exist between the 
interests of the insured and the interests of the 
indemnitee; 

e. The indemnitee and the insured ask us to 
conduct and control the defense of that 
indemnitee against such "suit" and agree that 
we can assign the same counsel to defend the 
insured and the indemnitee; and 

f. The indemnitee: 
(1) Agrees in writing to: 

(a) Cooperate with us in the investigation, 
settlement or defense of the "suit"; 

(b) Immediately send us copies of any 
demands, notices, summonses or legal 
papers received in connection with the 
"suit"; 

(c) Notify any other insurer whose coverage 
is available to the indemnitee; and 

(d) Cooperate with us with respect to 
coordinating other applicable insurance 
available to the indemnitee; and 

(2) Provides us with written authorization to: 
(a) Obtain records and other information 

related to the "suit"; and 
(b) Conduct and control the defense of the 

indemnitee in such "suit". 

So long as the above conditions are met, 
attorneys' fees incurred by us in the defense of 
that indemnitee, necessary litigation expenses 
incurred by us and necessary litigation expenses 
incurred by the indemnitee at our request will be 
paid as Supplementary Payments. 
Notwithstanding the provisions of Paragraph 
2.b.(2) of Section I – Coverage A – Bodily Injury 
And Property Damage Liability, such payments will 
not be deemed to be damages for "bodily injury" 
and "property damage" and will not reduce the 
limits of insurance. 
Our obligation to defend an insured's indemnitee 
and to pay for attorneys' fees and necessary 
litigation expenses as Supplementary Payments 
ends when we have used up the applicable limit of 
insurance in the payment of judgments or 
settlements or the conditions set forth above, or 
the terms of the agreement described in 
Paragraph f. above, are no longer met.

SECTION II – WHO IS AN INSURED 
1. If you are designated in the Declarations as: 

a. An individual, you and your spouse are 
insureds, but only with respect to the conduct 
of a business of which you are the sole owner. 

b. A partnership or joint venture, you are an 
insured. Your members, your partners, and 
their spouses are also insureds, but only with 
respect to the conduct of your business. 

c. A limited liability company, you are an insured. 
Your members are also insureds, but only with 
respect to the conduct of your business. Your 
managers are insureds, but only with respect 
to their duties as your managers. 

d. An organization other than a partnership, joint 
venture or limited liability company, you are an 
insured. Your "executive officers" and directors 
are insureds, but only with respect to their 
duties as your officers or directors. Your 
stockholders are also insureds, but only with 
respect to their liability as stockholders. 

e. A trust, you are an insured. Your trustees are 
also insureds, but only with respect to their 
duties as trustees.

257

Item 20.



Page 10 of 16 © Insurance Services Office, Inc., 2012 CG 00 01 04 13

2. Each of the following is also an insured: 
a. Your "volunteer workers" only while performing 

duties related to the conduct of your business, 
or your "employees", other than either your 
"executive officers" (if you are an organization 
other than a partnership, joint venture or limited 
liability company) or your managers (if you are 
a limited liability company), but only for acts 
within the scope of their employment by you or 
while performing duties related to the conduct 
of your business. However, none of these 
"employees" or "volunteer workers" are 
insureds for: 

(1) "Bodily injury" or "personal and advertising 
injury": 

(a) To you, to your partners or members (if 
you are a partnership or joint venture), 
to your members (if you are a limited 
liability company), to a co-"employee" 
while in the course of his or her 
employment or performing duties related 
to the conduct of your business, or to 
your other "volunteer workers" while 
performing duties related to the conduct 
of your business; 

(b) To the spouse, child, parent, brother or 
sister of that co-"employee" or 
"volunteer worker" as a consequence of 
Paragraph (1)(a) above; 

(c) For which there is any obligation to 
share damages with or repay someone 
else who must pay damages because of 
the injury described in Paragraph (1)(a) 
or (b) above; or 

(d) Arising out of his or her providing or 
failing to provide professional health 
care services. 

(2) "Property damage" to property: 
(a) Owned, occupied or used by; 
(b) Rented to, in the care, custody or 

control of, or over which physical control 
is being exercised for any purpose by; 

you, any of your "employees", "volunteer 
workers", any partner or member (if you are 
a partnership or joint venture), or any 
member (if you are a limited liability 
company). 

b. Any person (other than your "employee" or 
"volunteer worker"), or any organization while 
acting as your real estate manager. 

c. Any person or organization having proper 
temporary custody of your property if you die, 
but only: 

(1) With respect to liability arising out of the 
maintenance or use of that property; and 

(2) Until your legal representative has been 
appointed. 

d. Your legal representative if you die, but only 
with respect to duties as such. That 
representative will have all your rights and 
duties under this Coverage Part. 

3. Any organization you newly acquire or form, other 
than a partnership, joint venture or limited liability 
company, and over which you maintain ownership 
or majority interest, will qualify as a Named 
Insured if there is no other similar insurance 
available to that organization. However: 
a. Coverage under this provision is afforded only 

until the 90th day after you acquire or form the 
organization or the end of the policy period, 
whichever is earlier; 

b. Coverage A does not apply to "bodily injury" or 
"property damage" that occurred before you 
acquired or formed the organization; and 

c. Coverage B does not apply to "personal and 
advertising injury" arising out of an offense 
committed before you acquired or formed the 
organization. 

No person or organization is an insured with respect 
to the conduct of any current or past partnership, joint 
venture or limited liability company that is not shown 
as a Named Insured in the Declarations. 
SECTION III – LIMITS OF INSURANCE 
1. The Limits of Insurance shown in the Declarations 

and the rules below fix the most we will pay 
regardless of the number of: 
a. Insureds; 
b. Claims made or "suits" brought; or 
c. Persons or organizations making claims or 

bringing "suits". 
2. The General Aggregate Limit is the most we will 

pay for the sum of: 
a. Medical expenses under Coverage C; 
b. Damages under Coverage A, except damages 

because of "bodily injury" or "property damage" 
included in the "products-completed operations 
hazard"; and 

c. Damages under Coverage B. 

258

Item 20.



CG 00 01 04 13 © Insurance Services Office, Inc., 2012 Page 11 of 16

3. The Products-Completed Operations Aggregate 
Limit is the most we will pay under Coverage A for 
damages because of "bodily injury" and "property 
damage" included in the "products-completed 
operations hazard". 

4. Subject to Paragraph 2. above, the Personal And 
Advertising Injury Limit is the most we will pay 
under Coverage B for the sum of all damages 
because of all "personal and advertising injury" 
sustained by any one person or organization. 

5. Subject to Paragraph 2. or 3. above, whichever 
applies, the Each Occurrence Limit is the most we 
will pay for the sum of: 
a. Damages under Coverage A; and 
b. Medical expenses under Coverage C 
because of all "bodily injury" and "property 
damage" arising out of any one "occurrence". 

6. Subject to Paragraph 5. above, the Damage To 
Premises Rented To You Limit is the most we will 
pay under Coverage A for damages because of 
"property damage" to any one premises, while 
rented to you, or in the case of damage by fire, 
while rented to you or temporarily occupied by you 
with permission of the owner. 

7. Subject to Paragraph 5. above, the Medical 
Expense Limit is the most we will pay under 
Coverage C for all medical expenses because of 
"bodily injury" sustained by any one person. 

The Limits of Insurance of this Coverage Part apply 
separately to each consecutive annual period and to 
any remaining period of less than 12 months, starting 
with the beginning of the policy period shown in the 
Declarations, unless the policy period is extended 
after issuance for an additional period of less than 12 
months. In that case, the additional period will be 
deemed part of the last preceding period for purposes 
of determining the Limits of Insurance. 
SECTION IV – COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY 
CONDITIONS 
1. Bankruptcy 

Bankruptcy or insolvency of the insured or of the 
insured's estate will not relieve us of our 
obligations under this Coverage Part. 

2. Duties In The Event Of Occurrence, Offense, 
Claim Or Suit 
a. You must see to it that we are notified as soon 

as practicable of an "occurrence" or an offense 
which may result in a claim. To the extent 
possible, notice should include: 

(1) How, when and where the "occurrence" or 
offense took place; 

(2) The names and addresses of any injured 
persons and witnesses; and 

(3) The nature and location of any injury or 
damage arising out of the "occurrence" or 
offense. 

b. If a claim is made or "suit" is brought against 
any insured, you must: 

(1) Immediately record the specifics of the 
claim or "suit" and the date received; and 

(2) Notify us as soon as practicable. 
You must see to it that we receive written 
notice of the claim or "suit" as soon as 
practicable. 

c. You and any other involved insured must: 
(1) Immediately send us copies of any 

demands, notices, summonses or legal 
papers received in connection with the 
claim or "suit"; 

(2) Authorize us to obtain records and other 
information; 

(3) Cooperate with us in the investigation or 
settlement of the claim or defense against 
the "suit"; and 

(4) Assist us, upon our request, in the 
enforcement of any right against any 
person or organization which may be liable 
to the insured because of injury or damage 
to which this insurance may also apply. 

d. No insured will, except at that insured's own 
cost, voluntarily make a payment, assume any 
obligation, or incur any expense, other than for 
first aid, without our consent. 

3. Legal Action Against Us 
No person or organization has a right under this 
Coverage Part: 
a. To join us as a party or otherwise bring us into 

a "suit" asking for damages from an insured; or 
b. To sue us on this Coverage Part unless all of 

its terms have been fully complied with. 
A person or organization may sue us to recover on 
an agreed settlement or on a final judgment 
against an insured; but we will not be liable for 
damages that are not payable under the terms of 
this Coverage Part or that are in excess of the 
applicable limit of insurance. An agreed settlement 
means a settlement and release of liability signed 
by us, the insured and the claimant or the 
claimant's legal representative. 

259

Item 20.



Page 12 of 16 © Insurance Services Office, Inc., 2012 CG 00 01 04 13

4. Other Insurance 
If other valid and collectible insurance is available 
to the insured for a loss we cover under 
Coverages A or B of this Coverage Part, our 
obligations are limited as follows: 
a. Primary Insurance 

This insurance is primary except when 
Paragraph b. below applies. If this insurance is 
primary, our obligations are not affected unless 
any of the other insurance is also primary. 
Then, we will share with all that other 
insurance by the method described in 
Paragraph c. below. 

b. Excess Insurance 
(1) This insurance is excess over: 

(a) Any of the other insurance, whether 
primary, excess, contingent or on any 
other basis: 
(i) That is Fire, Extended Coverage, 

Builder's Risk, Installation Risk or 
similar coverage for "your work"; 

(ii) That is Fire insurance for premises 
rented to you or temporarily 
occupied by you with permission of 
the owner; 

(iii) That is insurance purchased by you 
to cover your liability as a tenant for 
"property damage" to premises 
rented to you or temporarily 
occupied by you with permission of 
the owner; or

(iv) If the loss arises out of the 
maintenance or use of aircraft, 
"autos" or watercraft to the extent not 
subject to Exclusion g. of Section I – 
Coverage A – Bodily Injury And 
Property Damage Liability. 

(b) Any other primary insurance available to 
you covering liability for damages 
arising out of the premises or 
operations, or the products and 
completed operations, for which you 
have been added as an additional 
insured.

(2) When this insurance is excess, we will have 
no duty under Coverages A or B to defend 
the insured against any "suit" if any other 
insurer has a duty to defend the insured 
against that "suit". If no other insurer 
defends, we will undertake to do so, but we 
will be entitled to the insured's rights 
against all those other insurers. 

(3) When this insurance is excess over other 
insurance, we will pay only our share of the 
amount of the loss, if any, that exceeds the 
sum of:

(a) The total amount that all such other 
insurance would pay for the loss in the 
absence of this insurance; and 

(b) The total of all deductible and self-
insured amounts under all that other 
insurance.

(4) We will share the remaining loss, if any, 
with any other insurance that is not 
described in this Excess Insurance 
provision and was not bought specifically to 
apply in excess of the Limits of Insurance 
shown in the Declarations of this Coverage 
Part. 

c. Method Of Sharing 
If all of the other insurance permits contribution 
by equal shares, we will follow this method 
also. Under this approach each insurer 
contributes equal amounts until it has paid its 
applicable limit of insurance or none of the loss 
remains, whichever comes first. 
If any of the other insurance does not permit 
contribution by equal shares, we will contribute 
by limits. Under this method, each insurer's 
share is based on the ratio of its applicable 
limit of insurance to the total applicable limits of 
insurance of all insurers. 

5. Premium Audit 
a. We will compute all premiums for this 

Coverage Part in accordance with our rules 
and rates. 

b. Premium shown in this Coverage Part as 
advance premium is a deposit premium only. 
At the close of each audit period we will 
compute the earned premium for that period 
and send notice to the first Named Insured. 
The due date for audit and retrospective 
premiums is the date shown as the due date 
on the bill. If the sum of the advance and audit 
premiums paid for the policy period is greater 
than the earned premium, we will return the 
excess to the first Named Insured. 

c. The first Named Insured must keep records of 
the information we need for premium 
computation, and send us copies at such times 
as we may request. 

6. Representations 
By accepting this policy, you agree: 
a. The statements in the Declarations are 

accurate and complete; 

260

Item 20.



CG 00 01 04 13 © Insurance Services Office, Inc., 2012 Page 13 of 16

b. Those statements are based upon 
representations you made to us; and 

c. We have issued this policy in reliance upon 
your representations. 

7. Separation Of Insureds 
Except with respect to the Limits of Insurance, and 
any rights or duties specifically assigned in this 
Coverage Part to the first Named Insured, this 
insurance applies: 
a. As if each Named Insured were the only 

Named Insured; and 
b. Separately to each insured against whom claim 

is made or "suit" is brought. 
8. Transfer Of Rights Of Recovery Against Others 

To Us 
If the insured has rights to recover all or part of 
any payment we have made under this Coverage 
Part, those rights are transferred to us. The 
insured must do nothing after loss to impair them. 
At our request, the insured will bring "suit" or 
transfer those rights to us and help us enforce 
them. 

9. When We Do Not Renew 
If we decide not to renew this Coverage Part, we 
will mail or deliver to the first Named Insured 
shown in the Declarations written notice of the 
nonrenewal not less than 30 days before the 
expiration date. 
If notice is mailed, proof of mailing will be sufficient 
proof of notice. 

SECTION V – DEFINITIONS 
1. "Advertisement" means a notice that is broadcast 

or published to the general public or specific 
market segments about your goods, products or 
services for the purpose of attracting customers or 
supporters. For the purposes of this definition:
a. Notices that are published include material 

placed on the Internet or on similar electronic 
means of communication; and

b. Regarding web sites, only that part of a web 
site that is about your goods, products or 
services for the purposes of attracting 
customers or supporters is considered an 
advertisement.

2. "Auto" means:
a. A land motor vehicle, trailer or semitrailer 

designed for travel on public roads, including 
any attached machinery or equipment; or

b. Any other land vehicle that is subject to a 
compulsory or financial responsibility law or 
other motor vehicle insurance law where it is 
licensed or principally garaged.

However, "auto" does not include "mobile 
equipment". 

3. "Bodily injury" means bodily injury, sickness or 
disease sustained by a person, including death 
resulting from any of these at any time. 

4. "Coverage territory" means: 
a. The United States of America (including its 

territories and possessions), Puerto Rico and 
Canada; 

b. International waters or airspace, but only if the 
injury or damage occurs in the course of travel 
or transportation between any places included 
in Paragraph a. above; or 

c. All other parts of the world if the injury or 
damage arises out of: 

(1) Goods or products made or sold by you in 
the territory described in Paragraph a. 
above;

(2) The activities of a person whose home is in 
the territory described in Paragraph a. 
above, but is away for a short time on your 
business; or 

(3) "Personal and advertising injury" offenses 
that take place through the Internet or 
similar electronic means of communication;

provided the insured's responsibility to pay 
damages is determined in a "suit" on the merits, in 
the territory described in Paragraph a. above or in 
a settlement we agree to. 

5. "Employee" includes a "leased worker". 
"Employee" does not include a "temporary 
worker". 

6. "Executive officer" means a person holding any of 
the officer positions created by your charter, 
constitution, bylaws or any other similar governing 
document. 

7. "Hostile fire" means one which becomes 
uncontrollable or breaks out from where it was 
intended to be.

8. "Impaired property" means tangible property, other 
than "your product" or "your work", that cannot be 
used or is less useful because: 
a. It incorporates "your product" or "your work" 

that is known or thought to be defective, 
deficient, inadequate or dangerous; or 

b. You have failed to fulfill the terms of a contract 
or agreement; 

if such property can be restored to use by the 
repair, replacement, adjustment or removal of 
"your product" or "your work" or your fulfilling the 
terms of the contract or agreement.

261

Item 20.



Page 14 of 16 © Insurance Services Office, Inc., 2012 CG 00 01 04 13

9. "Insured contract" means: 
a. A contract for a lease of premises. However, 

that portion of the contract for a lease of 
premises that indemnifies any person or 
organization for damage by fire to premises 
while rented to you or temporarily occupied by 
you with permission of the owner is not an 
"insured contract"; 

b. A sidetrack agreement; 
c. Any easement or license agreement, except in 

connection with construction or demolition 
operations on or within 50 feet of a railroad; 

d. An obligation, as required by ordinance, to 
indemnify a municipality, except in connection 
with work for a municipality; 

e. An elevator maintenance agreement; 
f. That part of any other contract or agreement 

pertaining to your business (including an 
indemnification of a municipality in connection 
with work performed for a municipality) under 
which you assume the tort liability of another 
party to pay for "bodily injury" or "property 
damage" to a third person or organization. Tort 
liability means a liability that would be imposed 
by law in the absence of any contract or 
agreement. 
Paragraph f. does not include that part of any 
contract or agreement: 

(1) That indemnifies a railroad for "bodily injury" 
or "property damage" arising out of 
construction or demolition operations, within 
50 feet of any railroad property and 
affecting any railroad bridge or trestle, 
tracks, road-beds, tunnel, underpass or 
crossing; 

(2) That indemnifies an architect, engineer or 
surveyor for injury or damage arising out of: 

(a) Preparing, approving, or failing to 
prepare or approve, maps, shop 
drawings, opinions, reports, surveys, 
field orders, change orders or drawings 
and specifications; or 

(b) Giving directions or instructions, or 
failing to give them, if that is the primary 
cause of the injury or damage; or 

(3) Under which the insured, if an architect, 
engineer or surveyor, assumes liability for 
an injury or damage arising out of the 
insured's rendering or failure to render 
professional services, including those listed 
in (2) above and supervisory, inspection, 
architectural or engineering activities. 

10. "Leased worker" means a person leased to you by 
a labor leasing firm under an agreement between 
you and the labor leasing firm, to perform duties 
related to the conduct of your business. "Leased 
worker" does not include a "temporary worker". 

11. "Loading or unloading" means the handling of 
property: 
a. After it is moved from the place where it is 

accepted for movement into or onto an aircraft, 
watercraft or "auto"; 

b. While it is in or on an aircraft, watercraft or 
"auto"; or 

c. While it is being moved from an aircraft, 
watercraft or "auto" to the place where it is 
finally delivered; 

but "loading or unloading" does not include the 
movement of property by means of a mechanical 
device, other than a hand truck, that is not 
attached to the aircraft, watercraft or "auto". 

12. "Mobile equipment" means any of the following 
types of land vehicles, including any attached 
machinery or equipment: 
a. Bulldozers, farm machinery, forklifts and other 

vehicles designed for use principally off public 
roads; 

b. Vehicles maintained for use solely on or next to 
premises you own or rent; 

c. Vehicles that travel on crawler treads; 
d. Vehicles, whether self-propelled or not, 

maintained primarily to provide mobility to 
permanently mounted: 

(1) Power cranes, shovels, loaders, diggers or 
drills; or 

(2) Road construction or resurfacing equipment 
such as graders, scrapers or rollers; 

e. Vehicles not described in Paragraph a., b., c. 
or d. above that are not self-propelled and are 
maintained primarily to provide mobility to 
permanently attached equipment of the 
following types: 

(1) Air compressors, pumps and generators, 
including spraying, welding, building 
cleaning, geophysical exploration, lighting 
and well servicing equipment; or 

(2) Cherry pickers and similar devices used to 
raise or lower workers; 

f. Vehicles not described in Paragraph a., b., c. 
or d. above maintained primarily for purposes 
other than the transportation of persons or 
cargo. 

262

Item 20.



CG 00 01 04 13 © Insurance Services Office, Inc., 2012 Page 15 of 16

However, self-propelled vehicles with the 
following types of permanently attached 
equipment are not "mobile equipment" but will 
be considered "autos": 

(1) Equipment designed primarily for: 
(a) Snow removal; 
(b) Road maintenance, but not construction 

or resurfacing; or 
(c) Street cleaning; 

(2) Cherry pickers and similar devices mounted 
on automobile or truck chassis and used to 
raise or lower workers; and 

(3) Air compressors, pumps and generators, 
including spraying, welding, building 
cleaning, geophysical exploration, lighting 
and well servicing equipment.

However, "mobile equipment" does not include 
any land vehicles that are subject to a compulsory 
or financial responsibility law or other motor 
vehicle insurance law where it is licensed or 
principally garaged. Land vehicles subject to a 
compulsory or financial responsibility law or other 
motor vehicle insurance law are considered 
"autos".

13. "Occurrence" means an accident, including 
continuous or repeated exposure to substantially 
the same general harmful conditions. 

14. "Personal and advertising injury" means injury, 
including consequential "bodily injury", arising out 
of one or more of the following offenses: 
a. False arrest, detention or imprisonment; 
b. Malicious prosecution; 
c. The wrongful eviction from, wrongful entry into, 

or invasion of the right of private occupancy of 
a room, dwelling or premises that a person 
occupies, committed by or on behalf of its 
owner, landlord or lessor; 

d. Oral or written publication, in any manner, of 
material that slanders or libels a person or 
organization or disparages a person's or 
organization's goods, products or services;

e. Oral or written publication, in any manner, of 
material that violates a person's right of 
privacy; 

f. The use of another's advertising idea in your 
"advertisement"; or

g. Infringing upon another's copyright, trade dress 
or slogan in your "advertisement". 

15. "Pollutants" mean any solid, liquid, gaseous or 
thermal irritant or contaminant, including smoke, 
vapor, soot, fumes, acids, alkalis, chemicals and 
waste. Waste includes materials to be recycled, 
reconditioned or reclaimed.

16. "Products-completed operations hazard": 
a. Includes all "bodily injury" and "property 

damage" occurring away from premises you 
own or rent and arising out of "your product" or 
"your work" except: 

(1) Products that are still in your physical 
possession; or 

(2) Work that has not yet been completed or 
abandoned. However, "your work" will be 
deemed completed at the earliest of the 
following times: 

(a) When all of the work called for in your 
contract has been completed. 

(b) When all of the work to be done at the 
job site has been completed if your 
contract calls for work at more than one 
job site. 

(c) When that part of the work done at a job 
site has been put to its intended use by 
any person or organization other than 
another contractor or subcontractor 
working on the same project. 

Work that may need service, maintenance, 
correction, repair or replacement, but which 
is otherwise complete, will be treated as 
completed. 

b. Does not include "bodily injury" or "property 
damage" arising out of: 

(1) The transportation of property, unless the 
injury or damage arises out of a condition in 
or on a vehicle not owned or operated by 
you, and that condition was created by the 
"loading or unloading" of that vehicle by any 
insured; 

(2) The existence of tools, uninstalled 
equipment or abandoned or unused 
materials; or 

(3) Products or operations for which the 
classification, listed in the Declarations or in 
a policy Schedule, states that products-
completed operations are subject to the 
General Aggregate Limit. 

17. "Property damage" means: 
a. Physical injury to tangible property, including 

all resulting loss of use of that property. All 
such loss of use shall be deemed to occur at 
the time of the physical injury that caused it; or 

b. Loss of use of tangible property that is not 
physically injured. All such loss of use shall be 
deemed to occur at the time of the 
"occurrence" that caused it. 

For the purposes of this insurance, electronic data 
is not tangible property.

263

Item 20.



Page 16 of 16 © Insurance Services Office, Inc., 2012 CG 00 01 04 13

As used in this definition, electronic data means 
information, facts or programs stored as or on, 
created or used on, or transmitted to or from 
computer software, including systems and 
applications software, hard or floppy disks, CD-
ROMs, tapes, drives, cells, data processing 
devices or any other media which are used with 
electronically controlled equipment.

18. "Suit" means a civil proceeding in which damages 
because of "bodily injury", "property damage" or 
"personal and advertising injury" to which this 
insurance applies are alleged. "Suit" includes: 
a. An arbitration proceeding in which such 

damages are claimed and to which the insured 
must submit or does submit with our consent; 
or 

b. Any other alternative dispute resolution 
proceeding in which such damages are 
claimed and to which the insured submits with 
our consent. 

19. "Temporary worker" means a person who is 
furnished to you to substitute for a permanent 
"employee" on leave or to meet seasonal or short-
term workload conditions. 

20. "Volunteer worker" means a person who is not 
your "employee", and who donates his or her work 
and acts at the direction of and within the scope of 
duties determined by you, and is not paid a fee, 
salary or other compensation by you or anyone 
else for their work performed for you.

21. "Your product": 
a. Means: 

(1) Any goods or products, other than real 
property, manufactured, sold, handled, 
distributed or disposed of by: 

(a) You; 
(b) Others trading under your name; or 
(c) A person or organization whose 

business or assets you have acquired; 
and 

(2) Containers (other than vehicles), materials, 
parts or equipment furnished in connection 
with such goods or products. 

b. Includes:
(1) Warranties or representations made at any 

time with respect to the fitness, quality, 
durability, performance or use of "your 
product"; and

(2) The providing of or failure to provide 
warnings or instructions. 

c. Does not include vending machines or other 
property rented to or located for the use of 
others but not sold. 

22. "Your work": 
a. Means: 

(1) Work or operations performed by you or on 
your behalf; and 

(2) Materials, parts or equipment furnished in 
connection with such work or operations. 

b. Includes:
(1) Warranties or representations made at any 

time with respect to the fitness, quality, 
durability, performance or use of "your 
work"; and 

(2) The providing of or failure to provide 
warnings or instructions.

264

Item 20.



COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY
CG 21 36 03 05

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY.  PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

CG 21 36 03 05 © ISO Properties, Inc., 2004 Page 1 of 1

EXCLUSION – NEW ENTITIES

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE PART

Paragraph 3. of Section II – Who Is An Insured does 
not apply.

265

Item 20.



CG 21 38 11 85 Copyright, Insurance Services Office, Inc., 1984 Page 1 of 1 

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY
CG 21 38 11 85

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY.  PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

EXCLUSION – PERSONAL AND ADVERTISING INJURY

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following: 

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE PART. 

COVERAGE B (Section I) does not apply and none of the references to it in the Coverage Part apply. 

266

Item 20.



CG 21 47 12 07 © ISO Properties, Inc., 2006 Page 1 of 1 

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY
CG 21 47 12 07

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY.  PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

EMPLOYMENT-RELATED PRACTICES EXCLUSION

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE PART

A. The following exclusion is added to Paragraph 2., 
Exclusions of Section I – Coverage A – Bodily 
Injury And Property Damage Liability: 
This insurance does not apply to: 
"Bodily injury" to: 

(1) A person arising out of any: 
(a) Refusal to employ that person; 
(b) Termination of that person's employment; 

or 
(c) Employment-related practices, policies, 

acts or omissions, such as coercion, 
demotion, evaluation, reassignment, 
discipline, defamation, harassment, 
humiliation, discrimination or malicious 
prosecution directed at that person; or 

(2) The spouse, child, parent, brother or sister of 
that person as a consequence of "bodily injury" 
to that person at whom any of the employment-
related practices described in Paragraphs (a), 
(b), or (c) above is directed. 

This exclusion applies:
(1) Whether the injury-causing event described in 

Paragraphs (a), (b) or (c) above occurs before 
employment, during employment or after 
employment of that person;

(2) Whether the insured may be liable as an 
employer or in any other capacity; and 

(3) To any obligation to share damages with or 
repay someone else who must pay damages 
because of the injury.

B. The following exclusion is added to Paragraph 2., 
Exclusions of Section I – Coverage B – 
Personal And Advertising Injury Liability: 
This insurance does not apply to: 
"Personal and advertising injury" to: 

(1) A person arising out of any: 
(a) Refusal to employ that person; 
(b) Termination of that person's employment; 

or 
(c) Employment-related practices, policies, 

acts or omissions, such as coercion, 
demotion, evaluation, reassignment, 
discipline, defamation, harassment, 
humiliation, discrimination or malicious 
prosecution directed at that person; or 

(2) The spouse, child, parent, brother or sister of 
that person as a consequence of "personal and 
advertising injury" to that person at whom any 
of the employment-related practices described 
in Paragraphs (a), (b), or (c) above is directed. 

This exclusion applies: 
(1) Whether the injury-causing event described in 

Paragraphs (a), (b) or (c) above occurs before 
employment, during employment or after 
employment of that person;

(2) Whether the insured may be liable as an 
employer or in any other capacity; and 

(3) To any obligation to share damages with or 
repay someone else who must pay damages 
because of the injury. 

267

Item 20.



CG 21 49 09 99 Copyright, Insurance Services Office, Inc., 1998 Page 1 of 1 

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY
CG 21 49 09 99

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY.  PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

TOTAL POLLUTION EXCLUSION ENDORSEMENT

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE PART

Exclusion f. under Paragraph 2., Exclusions of Section I – 
Coverage A – Bodily Injury And Property Damage Liability 
is replaced by the following: 

This insurance does not apply to: 

f. Pollution 
(1) "Bodily injury" or "property damage" which 

would not have occurred in whole or part but for 
the actual, alleged or threatened discharge, 
dispersal, seepage, migration, release or 
escape of "pollutants" at any time. 

(2) Any loss, cost or expense arising out of any: 

(a) Request, demand, order or statutory or 
regulatory requirement that any insured or 
others test for, monitor, clean up, remove, 
contain, treat, detoxify or neutralize, or in 
any way respond to, or assess the effects 
of "pollutants"; or 

(b) Claim or suit by or on behalf of a 
governmental authority for damages 
because of testing for, monitoring, cleaning 
up, removing, containing, treating, 
detoxifying or neutralizing, or in any way 
responding to, or assessing the effects of,  
"pollutants". 

268

Item 20.



COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY
CG 21 73 01 15

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY.  PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

CG 21 73 01 15 © Insurance Services Office, Inc., 2014 Page 1 of 1

EXCLUSION OF CERTIFIED ACTS OF TERRORISM
This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
LIQUOR LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
OWNERS AND CONTRACTORS PROTECTIVE LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
POLLUTION LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
PRODUCTS/COMPLETED OPERATIONS LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
RAILROAD PROTECTIVE LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
UNDERGROUND STORAGE TANK POLICY

A. The following exclusion is added:
This insurance does not apply to:
TERRORISM
"Any injury or damage" arising, directly or 
indirectly, out of a "certified act of terrorism".

B. The following definitions are added:
1. For the purposes of this endorsement, "any 

injury or damage" means any injury or damage 
covered under any Coverage Part to which this 
endorsement is applicable, and includes but is 
not limited to "bodily injury", "property 
damage", "personal and advertising injury", 
"injury" or "environmental damage" as may be 
defined in any applicable Coverage Part.

2. "Certified act of terrorism" means an act that is 
certified by the Secretary of the Treasury, in 
accordance with the provisions of the federal 
Terrorism Risk Insurance Act, to be an act of 
terrorism pursuant to such Act. The criteria 
contained in the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act 
for a "certified act of terrorism" include the 
following:
a. The act resulted in insured losses in excess 

of $5 million in the aggregate, attributable to 
all types of insurance subject to the 
Terrorism Risk Insurance Act; and 

b. The act is a violent act or an act that is 
dangerous to human life, property or 
infrastructure and is committed by an 
individual or individuals as part of an effort 
to coerce the civilian population of the 
United States or to influence the policy or 
affect the conduct of the United States 
Government by coercion.

C. The terms and limitations of any terrorism 
exclusion, or the inapplicability or omission of a 
terrorism exclusion, do not serve to create 
coverage for injury or damage that is otherwise 
excluded under this Coverage Part.

269

Item 20.



MEGL 0001 08 20 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc., 
with its permission. 

Page 1 of 2

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

EVANSTON INSURANCE COMPANY
THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

COMBINATION GENERAL ENDORSEMENT

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following: 

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE FORM

A. Paragraph 2. Exclusions under Section I – Coverages, Coverage A – Bodily Injury And Property Damage Liability and 
Coverage B – Personal And Advertising Injury Liability are amended as follows:

1. The following exclusion:

a. Is added to Coverage A; and 

b. Replaces the Breach Of Contract exclusion in Coverage B:

This insurance does not apply to:

Breach Of Contract
Any claim arising out of actual or alleged breach of contract, whether written or oral, express or implied, implied-in-
law, or implied-in-fact contract.

2. The following exclusions are added:

This insurance does not apply to:

Cross Suits
Any claim made or "suit" brought by any Named Insured covered by this policy against any other Named Insured 
covered by this policy. 

Discrimination
"Bodily injury", "property damage", or "personal and advertising injury" in any way involving actual or alleged 
discrimination of any kind.

Fines, Penalties, Punitive Damages, Or Exemplary Damages
Fines, penalties, punitive damages, or exemplary damages, or any expenses or any obligation to share such 
damages or repay another. However, this exclusion does not apply to punitive damages from wrongful death 
brought under Alabama's Wrongful Death Statute.

Hazardous Or Toxic Substances
(1) "Bodily injury", "property damage", or "personal and advertising injury" in any way involving, directly or indirectly, 

in whole or in part, the actual, alleged, or threatened contact with, exposure to, or inhalation, ingestion, 
existence, or presence of "hazardous or toxic substances", regardless of whether any other cause, event, 
material, or product contributed concurrently or in any sequence to such "bodily injury" or "property damage"; 
or

(2) Any loss, cost, or expense arising out of abating, testing for, monitoring, cleaning up, removing, containing, 
treating, detoxifying, disinfecting, neutralizing, remediating, or disposing of, or in any way responding to or 
assessing the effects of "hazardous or toxic substances" by any insured or by any other person or entity.

270

Item 20.



MEGL 0001 08 20 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc., 
with its permission. 

Page 2 of 2

Movement Of Land Or Earth
"Bodily injury", "property damage", or "personal and advertising injury" in any way involving, directly or indirectly, in 
whole or in part, movement of land or earth regardless of whether movement emanates from, is aggravated by, or 
is attributable to any operations performed by or on behalf of any insured, whether the first manifestation occurs 
during the policy period or prior or subsequent thereto. Movement of land or earth includes instability, subsidence, 
settling, sinking, slipping, falling away, caving in, shifting, eroding, rising, tilting, bulging, cracking, mudflow, 
mudslide, earthquake, or shrinking or expansion of ground, slabs, footings, foundations, walls, roofs, floors, ceilings, 
or any other real property or part thereof. 

Professional Liability
Any actual or alleged professional liability, errors, omissions, negligent acts, malpractice, or acts of any type 
including rendering or failing to render any type of professional service, unless such coverage is specifically 
endorsed onto the policy.

B. The following is added to Section II – Who Is An Insured:

When coverage does not apply for the Named Insured, no coverage or defense shall be afforded to any Additional 
Insured under this policy.

C. All references in this policy to minimum premium, deposit premium, and premium audit are replaced by the following:

1. The premium shown as advanced premium is both a deposit premium and a minimum premium for the policy term. 
At the close of each audit period, we will compute the earned premium for that period. If the earned premium is 
more than the advanced premium, then the amount by which the earned premium exceeds the advanced premium 
is due and payable upon notice to you. If the earned premium is less, the advanced premium applies as the minimum 
premium with no return premium payable to you.

2. If this policy is cancelled, the pro rata or short rate of the minimum and deposit premium will apply for the policy 
term, subject to an absolute minimum earned premium of 25% of the total advanced premium unless final audit 
develops a premium greater than 25% of the total advanced premium. If your business is seasonal, the minimum 
premium then becomes fully earned at the end of your season.

D. The following definitions are added to the Definitions section:

"Fungi" means any type or form of fungus, including mold or mildew and any mycotoxins, spores, scents, or byproducts 
produced or released by "fungi".

"Hazardous or toxic substances" means asbestos, lead, silica, silica dust, legionella, "organic pathogens", or any 
hazardous waste as classified by the Environmental Protection Agency.

"Organic pathogen" means any:

a. Organic irritant or contaminant including, but not limited to, "fungi", wet or dry rot, bacteria, virus, or other 
microorganism of any type, and their byproducts; or

b. Disease-causing agent as classified by the Environmental Protection Agency.

However, "organic pathogen" does not include any "fungi" or bacteria that are on or contained in a good or product 
intended for consumption.

All other terms and conditions remain unchanged.

271

Item 20.



MEGL 0008 04 20 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc., 
with its permission.

Page 1 of 1

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

Evanston Insurance Company
THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

EXCLUSION – CONTINUOUS OR PROGRESSIVE INJURY OR DAMAGE

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE FORM

The following is added to Paragraph 2. Exclusions under Section I – Coverages, Coverage A – Bodily Injury And Property 
Damage Liability and Coverage B – Personal And Advertising Injury Liability:

This insurance does not apply to:

Continuous Or Progressive Injury Or Damage
"Bodily injury", "property damage", or "personal and advertising injury" that:

(1) First occurred, first began to occur, or is alleged to have first occurred;

(2) Is alleged to be in the process of occurring to any degree; or 

(3) Is caused by or alleged to have been caused by incremental, continuous or progressive injury or damage arising from 
an "occurrence" or offense which first occurred, began to occur, or is alleged to have first occurred,

prior to the effective date of this policy.

However, this exclusion does not apply to "bodily injury", "property damage", or "personal and advertising injury" that actually 
or allegedly occurred in Colorado and was unknown by you prior to the policy period.

All other terms and conditions remain unchanged.

272

Item 20.



MEGL 0172 10 14 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc., 
with its permission.

Page 1 of 1

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY               

EVANSTON INSURANCE COMPANY

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

PRODUCTS-COMPLETED OPERATIONS INCLUDED IN 
GENERAL AGGREGATE LIMIT

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE FORM

A. Paragraph 2. under Section III – Limits Of Insurance is replaced by the following:

2. The General Aggregate Limit is the most we will pay for the sum of:

a. Medical expenses under Coverage C;

b. Damages under Coverage A, including damages because of "bodily injury" or "property damage" included in the 
"products-completed operations hazard"; and

c. Damages under Coverage B. 
B. Paragraph 3. under Section III – Limits Of Insurance is deleted in its entirety.

C. Paragraph b.(3) of Definition 16. “Products-completed operations hazard” under Section V – Definitions is deleted in its 
entirety.

All other terms and conditions remain unchanged.

273

Item 20.



MEGL 1636 10 19 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc.,
with its permission.

Page 1 of 2

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY
POLICY NUMBER:  3AA610669

EVANSTON INSURANCE COMPANY
THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

EXCLUSION – EMPLOYER'S LIABILITY AND BODILY INJURY TO 
CONTRACTORS, SUBCONTRACTORS, OR INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS IN 

DESIGNATED STATES

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE FORM

SCHEDULE

Designated States:  Illinois, New York

Paragraph B. below only applies to the states shown in this Schedule

A. Exclusion 2.e. Employer’s Liability under Section I – Coverages, Coverage A – Bodily Injury And Property Damage 
Liability is replaced by the following:

This insurance does not apply to:

e. Employer's Liability
"Bodily injury" to:

(1) An "employee", "volunteer worker", or "temporary worker" of the insured arising out of and in the course of:

(a) Employment by the insured; or

(b) Performing duties related to the conduct of the insured's business;

(2) Any other person who performs labor in any capacity for or on behalf of any insured, with or without any form 
of compensation; or

(3) The spouse, partner, child, parent, brother, sister, or any other relative of any person described in Paragraph 
(1) or (2) above, as a consequence of Paragraph (1) or (2) above. 

This exclusion applies whether the insured may be liable as an employer or in any other capacity and to any 
obligation to share damages with or repay someone else who must pay damages because of the injury.

This exclusion applies to any liability assumed under an "insured contract".

B. With respect to the states shown in the Schedule of this endorsement only, the following exclusion is added to Paragraph 
2. Exclusions under Section I – Coverages, Coverage A – Bodily Injury And Property Damage Liability:

This insurance does not apply to:

Bodily Injury To Contractors, Subcontractors, Or Independent Contractors
"Bodily injury" to any:

(1) Contractor, subcontractor, or independent contractor while working on behalf of any insured;

274

Item 20.



MEGL 1636 10 19 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc.,
with its permission.

Page 2 of 2

(2) Employee, volunteer worker, leased worker, or temporary worker of any contractor, subcontractor, or independent 
contractor indicated in Paragraph (1) above;

(3) Additional contractor, subcontractor, or independent contractor of any contractor, subcontractor, or independent 
contractor indicated in Paragraph (1) above, including the employees, volunteer workers, leased workers, or 
temporary workers of such additional contractor, subcontractor, or independent contractor; or

(4) Any other person who performs labor in any capacity for or on behalf of any person indicated in Paragraph (1), (2), 
or (3) above, with or without any form of compensation.

This exclusion applies:

(a) Even if the claim against any insured alleges negligence or other wrongdoing in the:

(i) Selection, hiring, or contracting;

(ii) Investigation;

(iii) Supervision or monitoring;

(iv) Training; or

(v) Retention

of any contractor, subcontractor, or independent contractor for whom any insured is or was legally responsible 
and whose "bodily injury" would be excluded by Paragraph (1), (2), (3), or (4) above;

(b) Whether the insured may be liable as an employer or in any other capacity;

(c) To any obligation to share damages with or repay someone else who must pay damages because of the injury; 
and

(d) To liability assumed by the insured under an "insured contract".

All other terms and conditions remain unchanged.

275

Item 20.



MEGL 2322 05 21 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc., 
with its permission.

Page 1 of 1

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

Evanston Insurance Company
THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

EXCLUSION – COMMUNICABLE DISEASE

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following: 

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE FORM

The following exclusion is added to Section I – Coverages, Coverage A – Bodily Injury And Property Damage Liability and 
Coverage B – Personal And Advertising Injury of the Coverage Form, and all insuring agreements added to the policy by 
separate endorsement:

This insurance does not apply to:

Communicable Disease
Any liability, claim, "suit", damages, or injury of any type including, but not limited to, "bodily injury", "property damage", or 
"personal and advertising injury" arising out of the actual or alleged exposure to, transmission of, or contraction of any 
communicable disease. 

This exclusion applies even if the claims against any insured allege negligence or other wrongdoing in the:

(1) Testing or failing to test for any communicable disease;

(2) Failure to prevent the spread of the disease; 

(3) Failure to report the disease to authorities; or

(4) Supervising, hiring, employing, training, or monitoring of others who:

(a) May be infected with any communicable disease; 

(b) May spread any communicable disease; or

(c) Are alleged to have engaged in any wrongdoing set forth in Paragraphs (1) through (3) above.

All other terms and conditions remain unchanged.

276

Item 20.



MGL 1319 01 16 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc., 
with its permission.

Page 1 of 1

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

EVANSTON INSURANCE COMPANY
THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

EXCLUSION – UNMANNED AIRCRAFT
This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following: 

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE FORM

A. The following is added to Paragraph 2. Exclusions under Section I – Coverages, Coverage A – Bodily Injury And 
Property Damage Liability:

This insurance does not apply to:

Unmanned Aircraft
"Bodily injury" or "property damage" arising out of the ownership, maintenance, use or entrustment to others of any 
"unmanned aircraft". Use includes operation and "loading or unloading". 

This exclusion applies even if the claims against any insured allege negligence or other wrongdoing in the 
supervision, hiring, employment, training or monitoring of others by that insured, if the "occurrence" which caused the 
"bodily injury" or "property damage" involved the ownership, maintenance, use or entrustment to others of any 
"unmanned aircraft".

This exclusion does not serve to create coverage for "bodily injury" or "property damage" that is otherwise excluded 
under this Coverage Form.

B. The following is added to Paragraph 2. Exclusions under Section I – Coverages, Coverage B – Personal And 
Advertising Injury Liability:

This insurance does not apply to:

Unmanned Aircraft
"Personal and advertising injury" arising out of the ownership, maintenance, use or entrustment to others of any 
"unmanned aircraft". Use includes operation and "loading or unloading".

This exclusion applies even if the claims against any insured allege negligence or other wrongdoing in the 
supervision, hiring, employment, training or monitoring of others by that insured, if the offense which caused the 
"personal and advertising injury" involved the ownership, maintenance, use or entrustment to others of any 
"unmanned aircraft".

This exclusion does not apply to:

(1) The use of another's advertising idea in your "advertisement"; or

(2) Infringing upon another's copyright, trade dress or slogan in your "advertisement".

C. The following is added to the Definitions section:

"Unmanned aircraft" means an aircraft that is not:

a. Designed;

b. Manufactured; or

c. Modified after manufacture;

to be controlled directly by a person from within or on the aircraft.

All other terms and conditions remain unchanged.

277

Item 20.



MGL 1356 10 20 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc., 
with its permission.

Page 1 of 3

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

EVANSTON INSURANCE COMPANY
THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

EXCLUSION – CYBER INCIDENT, DATA COMPROMISE, AND
VIOLATION OF STATUTES RELATED TO PERSONAL DATA 

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following: 

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE FORM
OWNERS AND CONTRACTORS PROTECTIVE LIABILITY COVERAGE FORM
POLLUTION LIABILITY LIMITED COVERAGE FORM DESIGNATED SITES
PRODUCTS/COMPLETED OPERATIONS LIABILITY COVERAGE FORM

A. The following exclusion is added to the Exclusions section of the Coverage Form, and all insuring agreements added 
to this policy by separate endorsement other than an endorsement described in Paragraph B. below, and replaces any 
Electronic Data exclusion found anywhere in the policy: 

This insurance does not apply to:

Cyber Incident, Data Compromise, And Violation Of Statutes Related To Personal Data
Damages caused by, arising out of, or in any way involving, directly or indirectly:

(1) The loss of, loss of use of, corruption of, inability to access, or reduction in functionality of a "computer system", 
including, but not limited to:

(a) Damage to or loss of data occurring on a "computer system";

(b) Unauthorized access of a "computer system";

(c) Computer malware on a "computer system";

(d) Human error affecting a "computer system";

(e) System failure occurring on a "computer system";

(f) A defect of a "computer system";

(g) Social engineering, including, but not limited to, any priming, pretexting, spoofing, or other fraudulent, 
manipulative, or deceptive communication; or

(h) Cyber extortion;

(2) Any:

(a) Access to or disclosure of (whether such access or disclosure is authorized or unauthorized); or

(b) Theft, alteration, or corruption of; 

any person's or organization's confidential, intellectual, or proprietary information or data, including, but not limited 
to, "personal data", patents, trade secrets, processing methods, customer lists, or any other type of nonpublic 
information; or 

(3) Any action or omission that violates or is alleged to violate any federal, state, or local statute, law, rule, ordinance, 
or regulation that addresses, prohibits, regulates, or limits the printing, interception, dissemination, disposal, 
collecting, recording, sending, transmitting, communicating, distribution, sharing, sale, storage, retaining, receiving, 
or protection of "personal data", including, but not limited to:

278

Item 20.



MGL 1356 10 20 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc., 
with its permission.

Page 2 of 3

(a) The Illinois Biometric Information Privacy Act (BIPA);

(b) The California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA); 

(c) The California Invasion Of Privacy Act (CIPA); 

(d) The New York Stop Hacks and Improve Electronic Data Security Act (SHIELD Act);  

(e) The European Union General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR); or

(f) Any similar or related federal, state, or local statute, law, rule, ordinance, or regulation; 

including any amendments thereto. 

This exclusion applies even if damages are claimed for notification costs, credit monitoring or repair expenses, forensic 
expenses, public relation expenses, costs associated with the replacement or reissuance of payment cards, fines, 
penalties, loss of use of property that has not been physically damaged, or any other loss, cost, or expense incurred by 
you or others arising out of that which is excluded above.

However, this exclusion does not apply to liability for damages because of "bodily injury" or physical damage to tangible 
property of others. For the purpose of this exclusion, electronic data is not tangible property. The insurance afforded by 
this exception is excess over any other valid and collectible insurance available to the insured, whether primary, excess, 
contingent, or issued on any other basis.

As used in this exclusion, electronic data means information, facts, or programs stored as or on, created or used on, or 
transmitted to or from computer software, including systems and applications software, hard or floppy disks, CD-ROMs, 
tapes, drives, cells, data processing devices, or any other media which are used with electronically controlled 
equipment.

B. If this policy contains an endorsement adding an insuring agreement that specifically provides coverage that is excluded 
in Paragraph A. above, then the exclusion added by this endorsement does not apply to such insuring agreement solely 
to the extent of the coverage provided by such endorsement.

C. The following definitions are added to the Definitions section:

"Computer system" means computer hardware, firmware, software, or any components thereof. 

"Personal data" means information that identifies, relates to, describes, is capable of being associated with, or could 
reasonably be linked to a particular person or household, including, but not limited to:

a. Identifiers such as a real name, alias, postal address, unique personal identifier, online identifier, Internet Protocol 
address, email address, password, account name, social security number, driver’s license or state identification 
card number, passport number, telephone number, insurance policy number, employment, employment history, 
bank account number, credit card number, debit card number, or any other financial information, medical 
information, or health insurance information, or other similar identifiers, characteristics, or descriptors; 

b. Commercial information, including records of personal property, products, or services purchased, obtained, or 
considered, transactions occurring over a peer-to-peer electronic cash system, or other purchasing or consuming 
histories or tendencies;

c. Biometric data or information (such as a fingerprint, voice print, retina or iris image, or other unique physical 
representation or digital representation of biometric data);

d. Internet or other electronic network activity information, including, but not limited to, browsing history, search history, 
and information regarding a person's or household's interaction with an internet website, application, or 
advertisement;

e. Geolocation data;

f. Audio, electronic, visual, thermal, olfactory, or similar information;

g. Professional or employment-related information that is not publicly available;

h. Education information, defined as information that is not publicly available personally identifiable information as 
defined in the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) (20 U.S.C. section 1232g; 34 CFR Part 99) 
including any amendments thereto;

i. Identifiers set forth in any state or federal consumer protection or privacy statute or law including, but not limited to, 
the identifiers shown in Paragraphs a. through h. above; or

279

Item 20.



MGL 1356 10 20 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc., 
with its permission.

Page 3 of 3

j. Inferences drawn from any of the identifiers shown in Paragraphs a. through i. above to create a profile about a 
person or household reflecting such person's or household's preferences, characteristics, psychological trends, 
predispositions, behavior, attitudes, intelligence, abilities, or aptitudes.

All other terms and conditions remain unchanged.

280

Item 20.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

RECREATION CENTER 
110 E 13TH STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PH: 319-273-8636 
FAX: 319-273-8656 

 M E M O R A N D U M 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Mike Soppe, Recreation & Community Programs Manager 

 DATE: July27, 2023 

SUBJECT:  Wellworks contract approval with amendment.  

 
 

Attached is a contract for Wellworks, a computer based website that allows city employees 
to get supportive emails, interact with a health library, and record/track their challenges 
throughout the year. They were selected by the City’s Wellness Committee for use in FY 
2023. 
 
This process has worked great during the previous year. This year, there is a new 
opportunity to add more mental health awareness to the City’s Wellness Program. 
Wellworks now provides an app you can download to help track your mental state based on 
facial expressions, tone of voice, and comments made. It is called Aiberry. 
 
The current approved contract states we can renew after one year. The price did not 
increase from the previous year. It is the Wellness Committee’s recommendation, along 
with City Director’s approval, to renew the contract. We would also like to add an 
amendment to include the Aiberry mental health app. 
 
 
 
Thank you. 

  

 
 

 

281

Item 21.



282

Item 21.



283

Item 21.



284

Item 21.



285

Item 21.



286

Item 21.



287

Item 21.



288

Item 21.



289

Item 21.

Tom
Typewriter
07/25/2023



290

Item 21.



291

Item 21.



292

Item 21.



293

Item 21.



294

Item 21.

Tom
Typewriter
Thomas M. Tegler

Tom
Typewriter
07/25/2023



    ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: July 31, 2023 

SUBJECT:       Industrial Park Property Sale: KATZ Properties, LLC 
  Location: 8,000 square feet of land, located just west of 6317 

Development Drive within the West Viking Road Industrial Park.  

 
Attached for your review and approval is an Offer to Buy Real Estate and Acceptance 
with KATZ Properties, LLC for the purchase of an 8,000 square foot area of land located 
behind the existing KATZ Properties, LLC property at 6317 Development drive, within 
the West Viking Road Industrial Park.  
 
The owner of KATZ Properties, LLC, Todd Miller, approached the City as the 
development of the industrial park expansion area began last year. Mr. Miller expressed 
an interest in acquiring some additional land behind his existing property, as there is an 
overhead door behind the existing building that is difficult to access due to the relatively 
narrow drive area behind the building. In order to allow additional room for truck 
maneuvering for deliveries in the back of the building, Mr. Miller would like to expand 
the vehicular use area in the back of the property, which will make access into and out 
of the rear of the building easier.  
 
The land area in question to be sold by the City to KATZ Properties, LLC is 200’ wide by 
40’ deep, for a total of 8,000 square feet. The agreed upon purchase price for this area 
is $20,000, or $2.50 per square foot. This amount was agreed upon after taking into 
consideration the current development costs of this area, as well as the cost to the City 
to plat this outlot, which was included in the overall platting of this area last year. 
 
Attached for your review is the Offer to Buy Real Estate and Acceptance contract 
prepared by City Attorney Kevin Rogers covering the property to be sold to KATZ 
Properties, LLC from the City of Cedar Falls. The attached document has been executed 
by the above property owner. 
 
 
 

295

Item 22.



RECOMMENDATION 

 
Staff recommends that the City Council adopt and approve the following: 
 
 1. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Offer to Buy Real 

Estate and Acceptance for the real estate owned by the City of Cedar 
Falls to be sold to KATZ Properties, LLC. 

 
 
If you have any questions regarding the proposed purchase offer, please feel free to let 
me know. 
 
xc: Ron Gaines, P.E., City Administrator 
 
         
        
 
 
 

296

Item 22.



Venture Way

Inn
ova

tio
n D

r

De
ve

lop
me

nt 
DrL&N

Transportation

¨
1 " = 100 '

KATZ Properties, LLC

20
0'

Land to be Purchased
by KATZ Properties, LLC 40'

KATZ Properties, LLC
6317 Development Drive
8,000 sq. ft. Land Purchase

297

Item 22.



298

Item 22.



299

Item 22.



300

Item 22.



301

Item 22.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-268-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green  

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, AICP, Planner III 

 DATE: August 7, 2023 

SUBJECT:  CDBG Owner Occupied Repair contract with Daniel’s Home 
Improvement 

 

 
 
Cedar Falls is a recipient of Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) and HOME 
Investment Partnerships Program (HOME) funds that support several programs, 
including housing rehabilitation and repair for income-qualifying residents.   
 
At the bid opening held on June 6, 2023, Iowa Northland Regional Council of 
Governments (INRCOG) received one bid from a Daniel’s Home Improvement for the 
Owner-Occupied rehabilitation project at 912 Calumett Drive.  With small projects like 
these, it is common to see only one bid. 
 
The project consists of replacing part of the concrete driveway from the front of the 
house to the rear of the main house, which includes replacing steps on the side door 
and adding handrails and guardrails next to exterior stairs as required by the building 
code and installing a drain in front of the garage.  The project also includes replacing 
the side storm door and new vinyl windows in the kitchen.  
 
There have been a few revisions of the scope of work between the contractor, INRCOG, 
and the property owner.  The final scope of work for the City Council’s approval is 
attached and labeled Exhibit A dated 7/31/23. The bid total is for $10,945.00.  The 
contract total will be $11,165.00, which includes the city permit fees. 
 
The Housing Commission reviewed the proposal and recommended that the City 
Council approve the contract.   
 
Please contact staff with any questions.  Thank you.  
 
Xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development  
       Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager      
 

302

Item 23.



303

Item 23.



304

Item 23.



305

Item 23.



306

Item 23.



307

Item 23.



308

Item 23.



309

Item 23.



310

Item 23.



311

Item 23.



312

Item 23.



313

Item 23.



314

Item 23.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-268-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

  

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council  

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, AICP, Planner III 

 DATE: August 7, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Community Development Block Grant - Grant Administration and   
  Technical Services 
  Federal Fiscal Year 2023 (City FY2024) 
 
Cedar Falls is a recipient of Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) and HOME 
funds.  In Federal Fiscal Year 2023, funding for the entitlement CDBG program is 
$321,652.  The City has contracted with INRCOG to help with administration and 
technical services related to projects eligible for CDBG and HOME funds since February 
2018.  INRCOG’s support helps the City maintain these programs, without adding staff. 
 
The City Council recently adopted the Federal Fiscal Year 2023 Annual Action Plan to 
include the following activities: 
 

Activity 
FFY23 AAP 
Proposal 

Maintain Existing Affordable Housing: Owner Occupied 
Rehabilitation 

$40,000 

Maintain Existing Affordable Housing: Renter Occupied 
Rehabilitation 

$20,000 

Preserve Existing Affordable Housing: Code Enforcement $0 

Prevent Homelessness Through Agency and Organizational 
Support (Service Agencies – capped at 15% of annual allocation) 

$39,248 

Neighborhood Infrastructure Improvements (i.e. Street, Sewer, 

Water) 
$160,074 

Provide Access to Transportation Services $0 

Neighborhood Accessibility Improvements (i.e Sidewalks, Trail, 

Curb Cuts) 
$10,000 

Neighborhood Recreational Amenities (i.e Parks, Playgrounds, 

Trees) 
$0 

Conduct Demolition and Clearance Activities $0 

CDBG Planning and Administration 
(capped at 20% of annual allocation) 

$52,330 

FFY23 Total (including carryover/reallocation) $321,652 
 
 
 

315

Item 24.



INRCOG’s proposed services include CDBG general administration (preparing plans, 
reports, and monitoring service agencies), technical support for housing rehabilitation 
projects, as well as technical support for the Neighborhood Infrastructure Improvements 
(sewer lining) and the Sidewalk Replacement Project covering federal requirements for 
construction management and Davis-Bacon wages verification.  The total cost for 
services outlined in the attached contract is $44,000. 
 
The City Attorney has reviewed the contract.  Staff recommends continuing services 
with INRCOG in FFY23 (City FY24).  Attached is the proposed agreement with all 
required attachments. 
 
This proposal meets City Council Goal #3: Deliver public services in a cost effective, 
efficient, professional, and timely manner.   
 
Please contact me with any questions.   Thank you. 
 
 
Xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development  
 Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

316

Item 24.



317

Item 24.



318

Item 24.



319

Item 24.



320

Item 24.



321

Item 24.



322

Item 24.



323

Item 24.



324

Item 24.



325

Item 24.



326

Item 24.



327

Item 24.



328

Item 24.



329

Item 24.



330

Item 24.



331

Item 24.



332

Item 24.



333

Item 24.



334

Item 24.



335

Item 24.



336

Item 24.



337

Item 24.



338

Item 24.



339

Item 24.



340

Item 24.



341

Item 24.



342

Item 24.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-268-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

  

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council  

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, AICP, Planner III 

 DATE: August 7, 2023 

 SUBJECT: HOME Investment Partnership Program - Technical Services 
 
 
Cedar Falls is a recipient of Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) and HOME 
funds.  Through a consortium agreement with the City of Waterloo, Cedar Falls receives 
HOME Investment Partnership Program funds.  Our agreement in July 2019 provided 
that Cedar Falls would receive approximately $90,000 per year, depending on the HUD 
annual award.  While Waterloo handles the general administrative requirements for the 
HOME Program (submitting annual plans and reports), in the past Cedar Falls has 
contracted with INRCOG for technical services related to the projects HOME funding 
supports. 
 
INRCOG’s proposed services include technical support for housing rehabilitation 
projects as well as environmental review preparation and processing for projects.  The 
total cost for INRCOG’s services as outlined in the attached contract is $20,000. 
 
The City Attorney has reviewed the contract.  Staff recommends entering into an 
agreement with INRCOG for this needed support.  Attached is the proposed agreement 
with all required attachments.   
 
This proposal meets City Council Goal #3: Deliver public services in a cost effective, 
efficient, professional, and timely manner.   
 
Please contact me with any questions.   Thank you. 
 
 
Xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development  
 Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

343

Item 25.



344

Item 25.



345

Item 25.



346

Item 25.



347

Item 25.



348

Item 25.



349

Item 25.



350

Item 25.



351

Item 25.



352

Item 25.



353

Item 25.



354

Item 25.



355

Item 25.



356

Item 25.



357

Item 25.



358

Item 25.



359

Item 25.



360

Item 25.



361

Item 25.



362

Item 25.



363

Item 25.



364

Item 25.



365

Item 25.



366

Item 25.



367

Item 25.



368

Item 26.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Ben Claypool, PE, PhD, Principal Engineer 
 
 DATE: July 31, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: Viking Rd and Prairie Parkway Intersection Improvements Project 
  Application for Traffic Safety Improvement Program Funding 
  City Project Number: RC-232-3308 
 
Each year, the Iowa Department of Transportation (Iowa DOT) accepts applications for traffic 
safety improvements through the Traffic Safety Improvements Program (TSIP). TSIP’s are due 
to the DOT by August 15th, but the earlier submitted, the better. These are competitive grants 
and each year there are projects that are not considered for funding. 
 
The intersection of Viking Road and Prairie Parkway was studied by AECOM (completed 
January 2019). That study recommended the intersection be converted into a roundabout in 
order to improve the safety and capacity of the intersection. The intersection of Viking Road and 
Prairie Parkway in Cedar Falls is currently stop controlled on Prairie Parkway and through traffic 
on Viking Road. The overall existing Level of Service (LOS) for this intersection is a A with the 
southbound approach C. With projected traffic counts into the future, this southbound approach 
would fall to a LOS of D. The proposed LOS on opening day with a roundabout is A for all 
approaches at this intersection.  
 
The City’s consultant for the Viking Road and Prairie Parkway Intersection Improvements 
Project, Snyder and Associates, upon approval by Council will submit the application to the Iowa 
DOT for the funding request. The Viking Road and Prairie Parkway Intersection Improvements 
application for Traffic Safety Improvement Program Funding is attached. The project could be 
awarded up to $500,000.00 in TSIP Funds upon approval by the Iowa DOT. Eligible project 
costs for construction would be reimbursed by the Iowa DOT and do not require a match.  
 
The Engineering Division recommends acceptance of the Application for the Traffic Safety 
Improvement Program Funding for the Viking Road and Prairie Parkway Intersection 
Improvements Project. We are asking for a resolution in support of the application. 
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, City Engineer 

369

Item 27.



RESOLUTION  

 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, TO MAKE 

AN APPLICATION TO THE IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

TRAFFIC SAFETY IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM (TSIP) FOR THE PARTIAL 

FUNDING OF THE PRAIRIE PARKWAY AND VIKING ROAD INTERSECTION 

IMPROVEMENTS, WHICH INCLUDES RECONSTRUCTING THE INTERSECTION 

AS A ROUNDABOUT. 

 

WHEREAS, the Iowa Department of Transportation has established the TSIP and provides 
funding for locations where vehicular safety is a concern and documented; and 

 

WHEREAS, said program allows for funding to be provided to local jurisdictions for eligible 

transportation projects or programs that will improve traffic safety at a specific site or corridor 

with a crash history; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls has determined that by reconstructing the intersection of 

Prairie Parkway and Viking Road as a roundabout will help reduce crashes, thus improving 

safety: 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, THAT: 

 

1. The City Council supports and approves the attached application for TSIP 

funding. 

2. The City Council hereby commits the additional City funds necessary for 

construction of the project beyond any TSIP funding. 

3. The City Council hereby commits to accepting and maintaining these 

improvements. 

4. The Mayor is hereby authorized to execute the application on behalf of the City. 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 7th day of August, 2023. 

 

 
              

       Robert M. Green, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

___________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

370

Item 27.



Rev. 5/18 

 
Application for SITE-SPECIFIC 

TSIP FUNDS 
 
 
GENERAL INFORMATION DATE: 8/15/2023 

  

Location / Title of Project Intersection of Viking Road and Prairie Parkway 

Applicant Cedar Falls, IA 

Contact Person Chase Schrage      Title Director of Public Works 

Complete Mailing Address 2200 Technology Parkway 

 Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

Phone (319) 268-5170 E-Mail chase.schrage@cedarfalls.com 

 (Area Code)  
 

If more than one highway authority is involved in this project, please indicate and 
fill in the information below (use additional sheets if necessary). 

Co-Applicant(s)       

Contact Person       Title       

Complete Mailing Address       

        

Phone       E-Mail       

 (Area Code)  
 
 

PLEASE COMPLETE THE FOLLOWING PROJECT INFORMATION: 

Funding Amount 
 

Total Safety Cost      $ 570,000 

 Total Project Cost $ 3,200,000 

 
 
Safety Funds Requested      $ 500,000 

 

 
Does this project appear on a Safety Improvement Candidate List or is there a safety 
study recommendation for this project?                 

Yes – Explain _The Intersection Lifecycle Cost Comparison Analysis - Viking Road & 
Prairie Parkway compared traffic signal and roundabout alternatives, and recommended a 
roundabout.____________________________________________________ 

No

371

Item 27.



Rev. 5/18 

APPLICATION CERTIFICATION FOR PUBLIC AGENCY 
 
To the best of my knowledge and belief, all information included in this application is true and 
accurate, including the commitment of all physical and financial resources.  This application 
has been duly authorized by the participating public agency(ies).  I understand the attached 
resolution(s), where applicable, binds the participating public agency(ies) to assume 
responsibility for any additional funds, if required, to complete the project. In addition, the 
participating public agency(ies) agrees to maintain any new or improved public streets or 
roadways for a minimum of five years. 
 
I understand that, although this information is sufficient to secure a commitment of funds, a 
firm contract between the applicant and the Department of Transportation is required prior to 
the authorization of funds. 
 
 

Representing the City of Cedar Falls      

Signed: 

 Signature Date Signed 

 
Rob Green, Mayor       

 Printed Name  

Attest: 

  

 Signature Date Signed 

 
Jacqueline Danielsen, City Clerk       

 Printed Name  

 

372

Item 27.



V8iColorHalfWeightPDF.pltcfg

7/21/2023 OpenRoadsDesigner_SAA

V:\Projects\2022\122.1702.08\CADD\EXH_1221702_RAB.dgn

07/21/2023

Prairie Parkway & Viking Road Intersection Improvements-RAB Layout

CEDAR FALLS, IOWAFEET

0 50 100

373

Item 27.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: July 28, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: Fiber Optic License Agreement 
   Windstream Intellectual Property Services, LLC 
   Leversee Road 
 
Enclosed is a proposed License Agreement between the City of Cedar Falls and 
Windstream Intellectual Property Services, LLC to install an additional long-distance 
telecommunications system consisting of fiber optic cable within the public right-of way of 
the City, to extend and upgrade services owned by Windstream intellectual Property 
Services, LLC along Leversee Road. 
 
The City of Cedar Falls has entered into previous license agreements with Windstream 
Intellectual Property Services, LLC. The proposed License Agreement follows the terms 
and conditions set forth in the earlier agreements and is intended to protect the City of 
Cedar Falls right-of way and manage and regulate in a manner consistent with federal 
and state law. 
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends your approval of 
this proposed License Agreement. 
 
 
xc:  David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer  
 
 
  
 

374

Item 28.



375

Item 28.



376

Item 28.



377

Item 28.



378

Item 28.



379

Item 28.



380

Item 28.



381

Item 28.



382

Item 28.



383

Item 28.



384

Item 28.



385

Item 28.



EXHIBIT A 
 

TEXT DESCRIPTION OF ALIGNMENT FOR Windstream Intellectual Property Services, LLC. FIBER OPTIC 
CABLE INSTALLATION IN CEDAR FALLS 

 

The facility shall consist of one (1) two (2”) inch diameter High-Density Polyethylene (HDPE) duct with 48 

count fiber cable installed at minimum depths of: sixty (60”) inches below public roadways, forty-eight 

(48”) inches below private driveways, and forty-two (42”) inch “plan depths” in grassed areas. 

In general terms, within the right-of-way of Leversee Rd Road and more particularly described as follows: 

 

THIS PROJECT IS TO PLACE CABLE IN THE ROW OF LEVERSEE RD , IOWA STARTS AT GPS: 
42.561493,-92.416355 AND ENDS AT GPS: 42.561494,-92.416242  AT THE CROSSING  OF WEST 
SIDE OF LEVERSSE ROAD CENTER LINE  PLACEMENT WILL BE DONE THROUGH BORING AND 
PLACING 2” INNERDUCT PULL 48 WS FOC & TRACERWIRE PLUS PLACING 1 NEW BDO-CWDM 
HANDHOLE. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1 of 1 

386

Item 28.



ENGINEER:

SHEET: 

PROJECT:

FIELD ENGINEER:

PEARCE SERVICES

PEARCE SERVICES

WINDSTREAM - 

DRAWN BY:
SCALE:

EXCHANGE:
DATE:

JOE BARRETT

JOSHUA KELLY

RITIKNTS

707422924

WTRLIADX
VICINITY MAP 11/17/2022

PROJECT TITLE:- 22SB282869

SS

N

LCON                     :-MORGAN BOYD  (319-232-8444)
SCOPE OF WORK:-BUILD APPROX. 1700' FROM HH CPED PRO RESOURCE REALITY (42.561437, 

  -92.416349) TO 4050 LEVERSEE RD, WATERLOO, IA (42.55820,-92.41435
CIRCUIT ID            :-IA/KFGS/334388/   /WSJ /ENT
PON                       :-8808254-IABV1

VICINITY MAP

ADDRESS:- 4050 LEVERSEE RD, WATERLOO, IA 50703
BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IA
PERMIT REQUIRED- CITY
LOCATE ALL FACILITIES PRIOR TO DIGGING
IA - IOWA ONE CALL - 811 - 1-800-292-8989

01

02
03

WINDSTREAM CONSTRUCTION MANAGER
JOE BARRETT (515-321-4903)

City of Cedar Falls Notes:
*Centerline of Leversee Road provides City Limits
between Cedar Falls and Waterloo. Approval of this is
only for the Cedar Falls ROW limits. Windstream and
the contractor are responsible for obtaining permits
with Waterloo separately. 
*Contractor must submit a Right-Of-Way permit (at no
additional cost to the established utility agreement) to
Inspection Services at Cedar Falls City Hall or by
utilizing www.cf1stop.com
*Contractor required to pothole and spot every
utility crossing along the alignment.

707422924

2/20/2023

387

Item 28.



ENGINEER:

SHEET: 

PROJECT:

FIELD ENGINEER:

PEARCE SERVICES

PEARCE SERVICES

WINDSTREAM - 

DRAWN BY:
SCALE:

EXCHANGE:
DATE:

JOE BARRETT

JOSHUA KELLY

RITIKNTS

707422924

WTRLIADX
UNIT SUMMARY 11/17/2022

PROJECT TITLE:- 22SB282869

ADDRESS:- 4050 LEVERSEE RD, WATERLOO, IA 50703
BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IA
PERMIT REQUIRED- CITY
LOCATE ALL FACILITIES PRIOR TO DIGGING
IA - IOWA ONE CALL - 811 - 1-800-292-8989 388

Item 28.



C C C C C C C C C

E 
LO

N
E 

TR
EE

 R
D

AS
PH

AL
T

LEVERSEE RD
ASPHALT

LEVERSEE RD
ASPHALT

BORE & PLACE 2" INNERDUCT @ MIN 48"
DEPTH PULL 48 WS FOC & TRACEWIRE WITHIN
FROM PROPOSED BDO-CWDM(HH) @ STA 0+00
TO PROPOSED HH @ STA 13+50
BM60(1)(2)PF>100-1350'
TRACEWIRE(F)-1350'
BFO48I-1450'
LERD,1-2
XD,3-48

CO

ST
A

0+
00

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 B

D
O

-C
W

D
M

(H
H

)
BE

G
IN

 B
O

R
E

NOTE:- PLACE TRACER WIRE
WITH THE ARMOR FIBER

NOTE:CROSS THE LEVERSEE
RD @ 60" DEPTH

FI
EL

D
 E

N
TR

AN
C

E

UO72
NO COUNTS

RW

RW

C/L

EOP

BLACK HAWK COUNTY
SECTION 31
T-90N R-13W

66
'

R
W

R
WEO

P

EO
P

C
/L

100'

RW

RW

C/L

EOP

30
'EOP

50' 50'

PLACE A NEW BDO-CWDM(HH)
& SPLICE OUT FIBER OF
CWDM WITH PROPOSED 48
WS FOC
LEAVE 100' LOOP
BDO-CWDM(HH)-1
BM53F-1
HBFO(72)-1
HO1(B)-6
BM2-1
HOMW(B)-2
WHO1(B)-2
STEN:-22924/01
LAT:42.561493
LONG:-92.416355

UO72
NO COUNTS

BM
53

F

100'

W

WATER VALVE

NOTE:LOCATE & PROTECT ALL EXISTING
UTILITIES. MAINTAIN 2' SEPARATION (VERTICAL
OR HORIZONTAL) FROM EXISTING UTILITIES.

1+
00

2+
00

3+
00

4+
00

5+
00

3'

ST
A

0+
60

CWDM
IN:-
TBD,1-2
XD,3-12
OUT:-
LERD,1-24
XD,36-48

BFO48I
LERD,1-2
XD,3-48

CWDM
DETAIL

GRD

STEN:-22924/01

BFO48-60'

UO72
NO COUNTS UO72

NO COUNTS

50'

REMOVE
PAE/VAULT:HAND::13998
XXBHF(B)-1
LAT:42.561493
LONG:-92.416355

33
'

30
'

3'

EO
P

EO
P

C
/L

R
W

R
W

60'

W
R

AP
 D

R
IV

EW
AY

AS
PH

AL
T

SECTION LINE

BLACK HAWK COUNTY
SECTION 32
T-90N R-13W

BM
53

F

EOP

66
'

33
'

NOTE:CROSS THE WRAP
DRIVEWAY @ 60" DEPTH

ENGINEER:

SHEET: 

PROJECT:

FIELD ENGINEER:

PEARCE SERVICES

PEARCE SERVICES

WINDSTREAM - 

DRAWN BY:
SCALE:

EXCHANGE:
DATE:

JOE BARRETT

JOSHUA KELLY

RITIK1:50

707422924

WTRLIADX
01 OF 03 11/17/2022

PROJECT TITLE:- 22SB282869

ADDRESS:- 4050 LEVERSEE RD, WATERLOO, IA 50703
BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IA
PERMIT REQUIRED- CITY
LOCATE ALL FACILITIES PRIOR TO DIGGING
IA - IOWA ONE CALL - 811 - 1-800-292-8989

SSN

CL is City Limits, CF
West, Waterloo East. 
-MT@CF

Contractor required to pothole and spot
every utility crossing along alignment in
Cedar Falls ROW. -MT@CF

389

Item 28.



C C C C C C C C C

D
R

IV
EW

AY
LEVERSEE RD

ASPHALT

FI
EL

D
 E

N
TR

AN
C

E

BORE & PLACE 2" INNERDUCT @ MIN. 48"
DEPTH PULL 48 WS FOC & TRACEWIRE
WITHIN FOR MEASUREMENT
REFER SHEET NO.01
BFO48I
LERD,1-2
XD,3-48

RW

RW

C/L

EOP

NOTE:- PLACE TRACER WIRE
WITH THE ARMOR FIBER

RW

RW

C/L

EOP

30
'

30
'EOP EOP

WATER VALVE

W

CO

UO72
NO COUNTS

NOTE:LOCATE & PROTECT ALL EXISTING
UTILITIES. MAINTAIN 2' SEPARATION (VERTICAL
OR HORIZONTAL) FROM EXISTING UTILITIES.

6+
00

7+
00

8+
00

9+
00

10
+0

0

3'

66
'

33
'

66
'

33
'

3'BM
53

F
BLACK HAWK COUNTY
SECTION 31
T-90N R-13W

SECTION LINE

BLACK HAWK COUNTY
SECTION 32
T-90N R-13W

ENGINEER:

SHEET: 

PROJECT:

FIELD ENGINEER:

PEARCE SERVICES

PEARCE SERVICES

WINDSTREAM - 

DRAWN BY:
SCALE:

EXCHANGE:
DATE:

JOE BARRETT

JOSHUA KELLY

RITIK1:50

707422924

WTRLIADX
02 OF 03 11/17/2022

PROJECT TITLE:- 22SB282869

ADDRESS:- 4050 LEVERSEE RD, WATERLOO, IA 50703
BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IA
PERMIT REQUIRED- CITY
LOCATE ALL FACILITIES PRIOR TO DIGGING
IA - IOWA ONE CALL - 811 - 1-800-292-8989

SSN

390

Item 28.



C
C

C
C

PLACE A NEW HH
OVER THE EXISTING
CONDUIT STUB &
LEAVE 100' LOOP
BHF(24X36X24)T-1
BM53F-1
BM53FI-1
STEN: 22924/02
LAT:42.558045
LONG:-92.416078

STA 13+50 END BORE
PROPOSED HH

EXISTING CUSTOMER CONDUIT
OF LENGTH 500' APPROX FROM
PROPOSED HH @ STA 13+50 TO
PROPOSED FDP @ STA 18+50

UO72
NO COUNTS

R
W R
WC
/L

EO
P

66'

C C C C C

C

R
W R
WC
/L

EO
P

BM
53F

BM53FI

FDP
GRD

PLACE NEW WALL
MOUNTED 12 COUNT FDP
IN DEMARC ROOM
PM21F-1
PM21FW(12)200-1
BM2P-1
HO1(B)-12
HBFO(48)-1
STEN:22924/03
LERD,1-2
XD,3-12
LAT:42.557883
LONG:-92.414677

STA 18+50 PROPOSED FDP

DEMARC ROOM

PLACE 48 WS FOC & TRACEWIRE IN
CUSTOMER PROVIDED CONDUIT
FROM PROPOSED HH @ STA 13+50
TO PROPOSED FDP @ STA 18+50
TRACEWIRE(F)-500'
BFO48I-700'
LERD,1-2
XD,3-48

BORE & PLACE 2" INNERDUCT @ MIN. 48"
DEPTH PULL 48 WS FOC & TRACEWIRE
WITHIN FOR MEASUREMENT
REFER SHEET NO.01
BFO48I
LERD,1-2
XD,3-48

100'

EO
P

EO
P

NOTE:- PLACE TRACER WIRE
WITH THE ARMOR FIBERC

O

ADDRESS:- 4050 LEVERSEE RD,
WATERLOO, IA 50703

LOCAL CONTACTS:-
MORGAN BOYD  (319-232-8444)

NOTE:LOCATE & PROTECT ALL EXISTING
UTILITIES. MAINTAIN 2' SEPARATION (VERTICAL
OR HORIZONTAL) FROM EXISTING UTILITIES.

11+00

12+00

13+00

66'
33'
30'

3'

DRIVEWAY

FOR DETAILED VIEW OF FDP
PLACEMENT REFER SHEET NO- 03(A)

LE
VE

R
SE

E 
R

D
AS

PH
AL

T

BLACK HAWK COUNTY
SECTION 31
T-90N R-13W

SECTION LINE

BLACK HAWK COUNTY
SECTION 32
T-90N R-13W

PARKING
100'

PARKING

EXISTING
CUSTOMER HH

ENGINEER:

SHEET: 

PROJECT:

FIELD ENGINEER:

PEARCE SERVICES

PEARCE SERVICES

WINDSTREAM - 

DRAWN BY:
SCALE:

EXCHANGE:
DATE:

JOE BARRETT

JOSHUA KELLY

RITIK1:50

707422924

WTRLIADX
03 OF 03 11/17/2022

PROJECT TITLE:- 22SB282869

ADDRESS:- 4050 LEVERSEE RD, WATERLOO, IA 50703
BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IA
PERMIT REQUIRED- CITY
LOCATE ALL FACILITIES PRIOR TO DIGGING
IA - IOWA ONE CALL - 811 - 1-800-292-8989

SS

N

391

Item 28.



ENGINEER:

SHEET: 

PROJECT:

FIELD ENGINEER:

PEARCE SERVICES

PEARCE SERVICES

WINDSTREAM - 

DRAWN BY:
SCALE:

EXCHANGE:
DATE:

JOE BARRETT

JOSHUA KELLY

RITIKNTS

707422924

WTRLIADX
03(A) OF 03 11/17/2022

PROJECT TITLE:- 22SB282869

ADDRESS:- 4050 LEVERSEE RD, WATERLOO, IA 50703
BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IA
PERMIT REQUIRED- NO
LOCATE ALL FACILITIES PRIOR TO DIGGING
IA - IOWA ONE CALL - 811 - 1-800-292-8989

FDP ADDRESS:- 4050 LEVERSEE RD,
WATERLOO, IA 50703

LOCAL CONTACTS:-
MORGAN BOYD  (319-232-8444)

392

Item 28.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Brett Armstrong, E.I., Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: August 7th, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: 2021 Public Sidewalk Repair and Infill Project 
   Project No.: SW – 000 – 3266 
   Project Final Out 
 
The 2021 Public Sidewalk Repair and Infill Project is completed and ready for final 
acceptance. This project involved the construction of various infill locations as well as 
the replacement of City sidewalk panels and pedestrian ramps though-out the City. This 
project was under contract with Cobalt Contracting, LC of New Hartford, Iowa.  
   
Cobalt Contracting’s work was unsatisfactory, as they did not complete the work they 
were contractually obligated to do in the plans and specifications for the project. The 
contractor was unresponsive when asked to resume work. After Cobalt Contracting was 
unresponsive, thus breaching the contract, Cobalt Contracting was given notice that the 
City would complete the project, thereby effectively cancelling the contract.  Cedar Falls 
Public Works Operation and Maintenance crews completed the remainder of the 2021 
Public Sidewalk Repair and Infill Project. 
 
Due to the breach of contract by Cobalt Contracting the City will keep the retainage that 
remains on the project to be allocated as provided by law. Due to the items listed above 
Cobalt Contracting will not be allowed to work in Cedar Falls on future projects.  
 
This project was funded by General Obligation Bonds and below is a breakdown of final 
contract costs by the funding source: 
 
 
 

Funding Source Attributed Costs 

General Obligation Bonds   $122,913.93 

Retainage (Kept by City) $15,942.84 

 
 

393

Item 29.



 
 
 
 
 
      ______________________________________ 
            Brett Armstrong   Date 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, P.E., City Engineer 

Lisa Roeding, Finance Manager  

CIP No. Infill Funding Source Attributed Cost 

90 Bluebell Road Infill General Obligation Bonds  5,753.00$         

93 Hundson Road Infill General Obligation Bonds  65,076.50$        

98 Rownd Street Infill General Obligation Bonds  47,015.00$        

7/7/2023 

394

Item 29.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Benjamin Claypool, Principal Engineer, PE, PhD 
 
 DATE: July 31, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: 2021 Street Construction Project 
  City Project Number: RC-000-3227 
   Final Acceptance  
 
The 2021 Street Construction Project is completed and ready for final acceptance. This 
project involved the full removal and replacement of four (4) streets, HMA overlay of eight 
(8) streets, HMA mill and overlay with new PCC curb of one (1) street, and PCC patching 
of one (1) street. This project was under contract with Peterson Contractors, Inc. of 
Reinbeck, Iowa. Attached please find the following final documents: 
  -  Final Pay Estimate (releases retainage) 
  -  Final Breakdown of Costs 
   -  Maintenance Bond, Peterson Contractors, Inc. 
 

The following lien waivers have been received, reviewed by the Engineering Division, and 
are on file with the City Clerk: 
 

Peterson Contractors, Inc. Suppliers: 
Utility Equipment Co.  
Midstates Precast Products 
Benton’s Ready Mixed Concrete 
BMC Aggregates, LC 
Bob Walters  & Sons Trucking 
Cedar Valley Trucking LLC 
Leymaster Tile, LLC 
Northern IA Construction Products 
Service Signing LC 
 

Peterson Contractors, Inc. subcontractors: 
Owen Contracting, Inc. 

- Logan Contractor’s Supply 
- Benton’s Ready Mixed Concrete 

Matthias Landscaping Co. 
- Oleson Sod Co.  
- Quick Supply Co. 

ASPRO, Inc.  
- Bituminous Materials & Supply Co., LP 
- BMC Aggregates, LC 
- Utility Equipment Company 

Bower’s Masonry 
- Benton’s Ready Mixed Concrete 
- Stetson Building Products 

Meli, LLC 
- Benton’s Ready Mixed Concrete 
- Stetson Building Products 
- Utility Equipment Co. 

Laser Line Striping & Sweeping 
- Custom Products 
- Xcessories X2 
- Diamond Vogel 

KW Electric 
- Tapco 

S.O.S 

395

Item 30.



This project was primarily funded by the “Local Option Sales Tax”. Below is a 
breakdown of final contract costs and the funding sources utilized: 
 

Funding Source Attributed Costs 

Street Construction Fund  $240,000.00 

Local Options Sales Tax $3,051,484.75 

GO 2022 $60,000.00 

Sanitary Sewer Rental Fund $193,727.50 

Cedar Falls Utilities $418,473.39 

Golf Improvement Fund $72,235.44 

 
With Council approval a transfer of funds from the following funding sources to the 
Street Repair Fund (LOST) will be made per Iowa Code 545-2.5. 
 

Funding Source Attributed Costs 

Street Construction Fund  $240,000.00 

GO 2022 $60,000.00 

Sanitary Sewer Rental Fund $193,727.50 

Golf Improvement Fund $72,235.44 

 
A transfer of funds from the following funding sources to the Street Repair Fund (LOST) 
has been made. 
 
I certify that the public improvements for the 2021 Street Construction Project were 
completed in reasonable compliance with the project plans and specifications. 
 
 
 
      ______________________________________ 
           Benjamin Claypool  Date 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, P.E., City Engineer 

Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer  
 
 
 
 

7/31/23 

396

Item 30.



Retainage Release

12/17/22  to 07/19/23 Application Date: 07/20/23

Project Number: Via (Engineer): Ben Claypool

11/01/21 Civil Engineer II

1. ORIGINAL CONTRACT PRICE .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 4,028,395.50$                                                                   

Additions (a) Deductions (b)

550.00$                       -$                              2. NET CHANGE BY CHANGE ORDERS ( c ) .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 121,925.46$                                                                      

6,305.20$                    -$                              

3,500.00$                    -$                              3. CURRENT CONTRACT PRICE .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 4,150,320.96$                                                                   

76,052.76$                 -$                              

35,517.50$                 -$                              4. TOTAL COMPLETED AND STORED TO DATE

-$                              -$                              (Total Column F on Progress Estimate) .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . $4,108,921.08

-$                              -$                              

-$                              -$                              5. RETAINAGE

-$                              -$                              a. 5%      x Work Completed   .   .   $0.00

-$                              -$                              b. 5%      x Stored Materials   .   . -$                                                                                     

-$                              -$                              c. Total Retainage (Line 5a + Line 5b) .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . $0.00

-$                              -$                              

-$                              -$                              6. CUMULATIVE LIQUIDATED DAMAGES CHARGED

-$                              -$                              73 Days      x Per Day   .   .   .   .   .   . 73,000.00$                                                                         

-$                              -$                              

121,925.46$               -$                              7. AMOUNT ELIGIBLE TO DATE (Line 4 - Line 5c - Line 6) .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . $4,035,921.08

8. LESS PREVIOUS PAYMENTS (Line 7 From Prior Application)  .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 3,830,475.02$                                                                   

9. AMOUNT DUE THIS APPLICATION $205,446.06

10. BALANCE TO DATE, PLUS RETAINAGE (Line 7 + Line 5c)   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . $4,035,921.08

11. % OF COMPLETION

Original Contract Price (Line 10 ÷ Line 1) 100%

Current Contract Price (Line 10 ÷ Line 3) 97%

(Line 9 or Other: Attach Explanation if Other Amount)

    ________________________________

Date: 
Date

CONTRACTOR'S                   

APPLICATION                                         

FOR PAYMENT

Pay Application

Matt Bohlen

Payment of: $205,446.06

Is Respectufully Submitted:
Ben Claypool, Civil Engineer II

$4,108,921.08

-$                                              

1,000.00$                                    

2021 Street Construction Project

Contract Completion Date:

Change Order Summary

Approved Change Orders:

Number

From (Contractor): PCI

City of Cedar Falls

Application Period:

RC-000-3227 To (Owner):

12

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

Contractor's Certification

The undersigned Contractor certifies that: (1) all previous progress payments

received from Owner on account of Work done under the Contract have been

applied on account to discharge Contractor's legitimate obligations incurred in

connection with Work covered by prior Applications for Payment; (2) title of all

Work, materials and equipment incorporated in said Work or otherwise listed in or

covered by this Application for Payment will pass to Owner at time of payment free

and clear of all LIens, security interests and encumbrances (except such are covered

by a Bond acceptable to Owner indemnifying Owner against such Liens, security

interest or encumbrances); and (3) all Work covered by this Application for Payment

is in accordance with the Contract Documents and is not defective.

By (Conctractor):

13

14

15

Totals

(a) + (b) = ( c )

Net Change by Change Orders

121,925.46$                                                         

Matt Bohlen
Digitally signed by Matt Bohlen
DN: C=US, E=matt@pcius.com, 
O=Peterson Contractors Inc., 
CN=Matt Bohlen
Date: 2023.07.20 20:44:18-05'00'

397

Item 30.

claypoolb
PowerPoint Presentation

claypoolb
Engineer
7/24/23



No. 0

to

Project Number:

Contract Completion Date: 11/01/21

A B C D E F G H I J K L M N O

Bid                                                                   

Item                                   

Number

Description Unit

1 CLEARING AND GRUBBING L.S. 1.00 $8,500.00 $8,500.00 1.00 -                      $0.00 1.00 $8,500.00 -$                       $8,500.00 100% $0.00

2 OFF-SITE TOPSOIL C.Y. 1,117.00 $25.00 $27,925.00 1,249.00 -                      $0.00 1,249.00 $31,225.00 -$                       $31,225.00 112% ($3,300.00)

3 EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, ROADWAY, WASTE C.Y. 5,488.00 $12.50 $68,600.00 5,597.20 -                      $0.00 5,597.20 $69,965.00 -$                       $69,965.00 102% ($1,365.00)

4 EXCAVATION , CLASS 12, BOULDERS C.Y. 25.00 $30.00 $750.00 -                      -                      $0.00 -                      $0.00 -$                       $0.00 0% $750.00

5 BELOW GRADE EXCAVATION (CORE OUT) C.Y. 520.00 $12.50 $6,500.00 30.00 -                      $0.00 30.00 $375.00 -$                       $375.00 6% $6,125.00

6 SUBGRADE PREPARATION STA. 33.00 $250.00 $8,250.00 3.25 -                      $0.00 3.25 $812.50 -$                       $812.50 10% $7,437.50

7 SUBGRADE TREATMENT, GEOGRID TENSAR TX-160 S.Y. 8,707.00 $7.50 $65,302.50 3,365.00 -                      $0.00 3,365.00 $25,237.50 -$                       $25,237.50 39% $40,065.00

8 SUBBASE, MODIFIED, 6 IN. S.Y. 2,253.00 $8.50 $19,150.50 2,309.00 -                      $0.00 2,309.00 $19,626.50 -$                       $19,626.50 102% ($476.00)

9 SUBBASE, MODIFIED, 12 IN. S.Y. 15,568.00 $16.00 $249,088.00 15,703.00 -                      $0.00 15,703.00 $251,248.00 -$                       $251,248.00 101% ($2,160.00)

10 REPLACEMENT OF UNSUITABLE BACKFILL MATERIAL TONS 3,210.00 $28.50 $91,485.00 2,329.23 -                      $0.00 2,329.23 $66,383.06 -$                       $66,383.06 73% $25,101.95

11 SANITARY SEWER GRAVITY MAIN, TRENCHED, 8" TRUSS PIPE L.F. 130.00 $175.00 $22,750.00 176.00 -                      $0.00 176.00 $30,800.00 -$                       $30,800.00 135% ($8,050.00)

12 SANITARY SEWER GRAVITY MAIN, TRENCHED, 12" TRUSS PIPE L.F. 72.00 $140.00 $10,080.00 72.00 -                      $0.00 72.00 $10,080.00 -$                       $10,080.00 100% $0.00

13 SANITARY SEWER SERVICE STUB, 4" SDR 23.5 L.F. 5.00 $250.00 $1,250.00 70.00 -                      $0.00 70.00 $17,500.00 -$                       $17,500.00 1400% ($16,250.00)

14 REMOVAL SANITARY SEWER L.F. 202.00 $10.00 $2,020.00 248.00 -                      $0.00 248.00 $2,480.00 -$                       $2,480.00 123% ($460.00)

15 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 15 IN. HDPE L.F. 1,106.00 $53.00 $58,618.00 1,090.00 -                      $0.00 1,090.00 $57,770.00 -$                       $57,770.00 99% $848.00

16 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 15 IN. RCP, 2000D L.F. 276.00 $75.00 $20,700.00 276.00 -                      $0.00 276.00 $20,700.00 -$                       $20,700.00 100% $0.00

17 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 18 IN. HDPE L.F. 175.00 $59.00 $10,325.00 175.00 -                      $0.00 175.00 $10,325.00 -$                       $10,325.00 100% $0.00

18 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 24 IN. HDPE  L.F. 289.00 $66.00 $19,074.00 299.00 -                      $0.00 299.00 $19,734.00 -$                       $19,734.00 103% ($660.00)

19 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 24 IN. R.C.P. 2000D L.F. 28.00 $87.00 $2,436.00 28.00 -                      $0.00 28.00 $2,436.00 -$                       $2,436.00 100% $0.00

20 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 30 IN. HDPE  L.F. 78.00 $93.00 $7,254.00 78.00 -                      $0.00 78.00 $7,254.00 -$                       $7,254.00 100% $0.00

21 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 36 IN. HDPE  L.F. 243.00 $94.00 $22,842.00 255.00 -                      $0.00 255.00 $23,970.00 -$                       $23,970.00 105% ($1,128.00)

22 SPECIAL PIPE CONNECTIONS, SW-211 EACH 2.00 $500.00 $1,000.00 1.00 -                      $0.00 1.00 $500.00 -$                       $500.00 50% $500.00

23 REMOVAL STORM SEWER PIPE LESS THAN OR EQUAL TO 36 IN. L.F. 4,796.00 $8.00 $38,368.00 4,796.00 -                      $0.00 4,796.00 $38,368.00 -$                       $38,368.00 100% $0.00

24 SUBDRAIN, PERFORATED, 6 IN. L.F. 4,040.00 $12.00 $48,480.00 4,040.00 -                      $0.00 4,040.00 $48,480.00 -$                       $48,480.00 100% $0.00

25 SUBDRAIN, OUTLET, 6 IN. C.M.P. EACH 22.00 $250.00 $5,500.00 20.00 -                      $0.00 20.00 $5,000.00 -$                       $5,000.00 91% $500.00

26 SUBDRAIN, SUMP PUMP TAP EACH 45.00 $325.00 $14,625.00 45.00 -                      $0.00 45.00 $14,625.00 -$                       $14,625.00 100% $0.00

27 FIELD TILE, 4 IN. TO 8 IN., FIELD REPAIR L.F. 40.00 $20.00 $800.00 10.00 -                      $0.00 10.00 $200.00 -$                       $200.00 25% $600.00

28 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 4" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. 60.00 $65.00 $3,900.00 10.00 -                      $0.00 10.00 $650.00 -$                       $650.00 17% $3,250.00

29 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 6" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. 40.00 $70.00 $2,800.00 23.00 -                      $0.00 23.00 $1,610.00 -$                       $1,610.00 58% $1,190.00

30 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 8" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. 2,460.00 $72.00 $177,120.00 2,559.00 -                      $0.00 2,559.00 $184,248.00 -$                       $184,248.00 104% ($7,128.00)

31 FITTINGS, DUCTILE IRON LBS. 5,200.00 $10.00 $52,000.00 1,399.00 -                      $0.00 1,399.00 $13,990.00 -$                       $13,990.00 27% $38,010.00

32 SERVICE SHORTSIDE, 3/4" EACH 22.00 $1,750.00 $38,500.00 19.00 -                      $0.00 19.00 $33,250.00 -$                       $33,250.00 86% $5,250.00

33 SERVICE, LONGSIDE, 3/4" EACH 13.00 $2,500.00 $32,500.00 12.00 -                      $0.00 12.00 $30,000.00 -$                       $30,000.00 92% $2,500.00

34 SERVICE, SHORTSIDE, 2" EACH 1.00 $3,250.00 $3,250.00 2.00 -                      $0.00 2.00 $6,500.00 -$                       $6,500.00 200% ($3,250.00)

35 SERVICE, LONGSIDE, 2" EACH 1.00 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 1.00 -                      $0.00 1.00 $4,000.00 -$                       $4,000.00 100% $0.00

36 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 4" EACH 12.00 $150.00 $1,800.00 9.00 -                      $0.00 9.00 $1,350.00 -$                       $1,350.00 75% $450.00

37 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 6" EACH 12.00 $150.00 $1,800.00 14.00 -                      $0.00 14.00 $2,100.00 -$                       $2,100.00 117% ($300.00)

38 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 8" EACH 24.00 $160.00 $3,840.00 30.00 -                      $0.00 30.00 $4,800.00 -$                       $4,800.00 125% ($960.00)

39 JOINT RESTRAINT GASKET, 6" EACH 4.00 $150.00 $600.00 -                      -                      $0.00 -                      $0.00 -$                       $0.00 0% $600.00

40 JOINT RESTRAINT GASKET, 8" EACH 37.00 $155.00 $5,735.00 22.00 -                      $0.00 22.00 $3,410.00 -$                       $3,410.00 59% $2,325.00

41 8" NITRILE GASKETS EACH 66.00 $155.00 $10,230.00 74.00 -                      $0.00 74.00 $11,470.00 -$                       $11,470.00 112% ($1,240.00)

42 VALVE, 8" MJ GATE W/ BOX EACH 15.00 $2,350.00 $35,250.00 11.00 -                      $0.00 11.00 $25,850.00 -$                       $25,850.00 73% $9,400.00

43 FIRE HYDRANT ASSEMBLY EACH 6.00 $5,400.00 $32,400.00 6.00 -                      $0.00 6.00 $32,400.00 -$                       $32,400.00 100% $0.00

44 VALVE BOX ADJUSTMENT EACH 1.00 $500.00 $500.00 -                      -                      $0.00 -                      $0.00 -$                       $0.00 0% $500.00

45 MANHOLE, STORM SEWER, SW-401, 48" DIA. EACH 3.00 $4,000.00 $12,000.00 3.00 -                      $0.00 3.00 $12,000.00 -$                       $12,000.00 100% $0.00

46 MANHOLE, STORM SEWER, SW-401, 60" DIA. EACH 1.00 $4,850.00 $4,850.00 1.00 -                      $0.00 1.00 $4,850.00 -$                       $4,850.00 100% $0.00

47 MANHOLE, SANITARY SEWER, SW-301, 48" DIA. EACH 2.00 $6,250.00 $12,500.00 2.00 -                      $0.00 2.00 $12,500.00 -$                       $12,500.00 100% $0.00

48 INTAKE, SW-507 EACH 1.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 1.00 -                      $0.00 1.00 $5,000.00 -$                       $5,000.00 100% $0.00

49 INTAKE, SW-508 EACH 1.00 $5,500.00 $5,500.00 1.00 -                      $0.00 1.00 $5,500.00 -$                       $5,500.00 100% $0.00

50 INTAKE, SW-510 EACH 1.00 $7,250.00 $7,250.00 1.00 -                      $0.00 1.00 $7,250.00 -$                       $7,250.00 100% $0.00

51 INTAKE, TYPE D EACH 19.00 $6,000.00 $114,000.00 19.00 -                      $0.00 19.00 $114,000.00 -$                       $114,000.00 100% $0.00

52 INTAKE, TYPE C TOP & INSERT EACH 5.00 $3,500.00 $17,500.00 5.00 -                      $0.00 5.00 $17,500.00 -$                       $17,500.00 100% $0.00

53 INTAKE, SINGLE FLAT INSERT EACH 2.00 $2,500.00 $5,000.00 1.00 -                      $0.00 1.00 $2,500.00 -$                       $2,500.00 50% $2,500.00

54 INTAKE, DOUBLE FLAT INSERT EACH 1.00 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 1.00 -                      $0.00 1.00 $3,000.00 -$                       $3,000.00 100% $0.00

55 INTAKE, TYPE B INSERT EACH 5.00 $2,250.00 $11,250.00 6.50 -                      $0.00 6.50 $14,625.00 -$                       $14,625.00 130% ($3,375.00)

56 INTAKE, TYPE D INSERT EACH 9.00 $2,750.00 $24,750.00 9.00 -                      $0.00 9.00 $24,750.00 -$                       $24,750.00 100% $0.00

Balance to                               

Date                                                  

( F - M )

It
e

m
 C

o
m

p
le

te
d

CONTRACTOR'S APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT Estimate

Current Pay 

Application                            

Value                                             

( E x H )

Estimated 

Quantity Installed                                    

( G + H )

Total                    

Completed                    

Value                                           

( E x J )

Value of Materials 

Presently Stored                                     

(Column M on 

Stored Materials)

Total Completed                  

and Stored                 

to Date                                     

( K + L )

% Original 

Contract                          

( M ÷ F )

           Item

Bid                             

Quantity

Unit                                     

Price

Bid                                       

Value

Previous Pay 

Application 

Quantities

2021 Street Construction Project

RC-000-3227

From (Contractor):

To (Owner):

Application Period:

Current Pay 

Application 

Quantities

Application Date: 07/20/23

Via (Engineer): Ben Claypool

Civil Engineer II

12/17/22 07/19/23

City of Cedar Falls

PCI

398

Item 30.



A B C D E F G H I J K L M N O

Bid                                                                   

Item                                   

Number

Description Unit

Balance to                               

Date                                                  

( F - M )

It
e

m
 C

o
m

p
le

te
d

Current Pay 

Application                            

Value                                             

( E x H )

Estimated 

Quantity Installed                                    

( G + H )

Total                    

Completed                    

Value                                           

( E x J )

Value of Materials 

Presently Stored                                     

(Column M on 

Stored Materials)

Total Completed                  

and Stored                 

to Date                                     

( K + L )

% Original 

Contract                          

( M ÷ F )

           Item

Bid                             

Quantity

Unit                                     

Price

Bid                                       

Value

Previous Pay 

Application 

Quantities

Current Pay 

Application 

Quantities

57 INTAKE, RA-3 TOP & INSERT EACH 2.00 $2,500.00 $5,000.00 1.00 -                      $0.00 1.00 $2,500.00 -$                       $2,500.00 50% $2,500.00

58 INTAKE, RA-5 TOP & INSERT EACH 8.00 $2,500.00 $20,000.00 6.00 -                      $0.00 6.00 $15,000.00 -$                       $15,000.00 75% $5,000.00

59 MANHOLE, ADJUSTMENT, MINOR EACH 35.00 $1,500.00 $52,500.00 30.50 -                      $0.00 30.50 $45,750.00 -$                       $45,750.00 87% $6,750.00

60 MANHOLE ADJUSTMENT, MAJOR (MR. MANHOLE) EACH 14.00 $2,500.00 $35,000.00 15.00 -                      $0.00 15.00 $37,500.00 -$                       $37,500.00 107% ($2,500.00)

61 REMOVAL OF STORM MANHOLES AND INTAKES EACH 46.00 $500.00 $23,000.00 52.00 -                      $0.00 52.00 $26,000.00 -$                       $26,000.00 113% ($3,000.00)

62 REMOVAL OF SANITARY MANHOLES EACH 2.00 $800.00 $1,600.00 2.00 -                      $0.00 2.00 $1,600.00 -$                       $1,600.00 100% $0.00

63 PAVEMENT, STAND. OR SLIP-FORM, P.C.C., 7 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 10,613.00 $42.00 $445,746.00 11,309.60 -                      $0.00 11,309.60 $475,003.20 -$                       $475,003.20 107% ($29,257.20)

64 PAVEMENT, STAND. OR SLIP-FORM, P.C.C., 9 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 5,178.00 $55.00 $284,790.00 5,283.80 -                      $0.00 5,283.80 $290,609.00 -$                       $290,609.00 102% ($5,819.00)

65 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 2.0 FT WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 515.00 $30.50 $15,707.50 491.00 -                      $0.00 491.00 $14,975.50 -$                       $14,975.50 95% $732.00

66 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 2.5 FT WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 1,105.00 $19.00 $20,995.00 1,093.00 -                      $0.00 1,093.00 $20,767.00 -$                       $20,767.00 99% $228.00

67 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 3.5 FT WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 76.00 $55.00 $4,180.00 102.30 -                      $0.00 102.30 $5,626.50 -$                       $5,626.50 135% ($1,446.50)

68 3000 LB, PCC MIX C.Y. 7.00 $600.00 $4,200.00 9.00 -                      $0.00 9.00 $5,400.00 -$                       $5,400.00 129% ($1,200.00)

69 HMA, (ST), SURF., 1/2", PG58-28S TON 2,686.00 $120.00 $322,320.00 3,081.25 -                      $0.00 3,081.25 $369,750.00 -$                       $369,750.00 115% ($47,430.00)

70 HMA, (ST), BASE, 3/4", PG58-28S TON 2,686.00 $119.00 $319,634.00 2,520.62 -                      $0.00 2,520.62 $299,953.78 -$                       $299,953.78 94% $19,680.22

71 REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY S.Y. 769.00 $8.00 $6,152.00 777.30 -                      $0.00 777.30 $6,218.40 -$                       $6,218.40 101% ($66.40)

72 REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK S.Y. 1,131.00 $8.00 $9,048.00 1,417.30 -                      $0.00 1,417.30 $11,338.40 -$                       $11,338.40 125% ($2,290.40)

73 SIDEWALK, P.C.C., 4 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 1,122.00 $43.00 $48,246.00 1,262.60 -                      $0.00 1,262.60 $54,291.80 -$                       $54,291.80 113% ($6,045.80)

74 SIDEWALK, P.C.C., 6 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 281.00 $51.00 $14,331.00 300.20 -                      $0.00 300.20 $15,310.20 -$                       $15,310.20 107% ($979.20)

75 DETECTABLE WARNINGS S.F. 482.00 $51.00 $24,582.00 584.60 -                      $0.00 584.60 $29,814.60 -$                       $29,814.60 121% ($5,232.60)

76 DRIVEWAY, P.C.C., 6 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 644.00 $48.00 $30,912.00 900.60 -                      $0.00 900.60 $43,228.80 -$                       $43,228.80 140% ($12,316.80)

77 GRANULAR SURFACING, 1-INCH ROADSTONE TONS 310.00 $30.00 $9,300.00 69.93 -                      $0.00 69.93 $2,097.90 -$                       $2,097.90 23% $7,202.10

78 PATCH, P.C.C., FULL DEPTH, "M" MIX S.Y. 34.00 $225.00 $7,650.00 35.10 -                      $0.00 35.10 $7,897.50 -$                       $7,897.50 103% ($247.50)

79 PATCH, PARTIAL DEPTH? HMA (ST) SURFACE, 1/2", PG58-28S TONS 20.00 $200.00 $4,000.00 -                      -                      $0.00 -                      $0.00 -$                       $0.00 0% $4,000.00

80 MILLING S.Y. 4,674.00 $30.00 $140,220.00 4,766.00 -                      $0.00 4,766.00 $142,980.00 -$                       $142,980.00 102% ($2,760.00)

81 PAVEMENT REMOVAL, PCC S.Y. 15,770.00 $6.50 $102,505.00 15,878.80 -                      $0.00 15,878.80 $103,212.20 -$                       $103,212.20 101% ($707.20)

82 PAVEMENT REMOVAL, ACC S.Y. 8,891.00 $5.00 $44,455.00 8,891.00 -                      $0.00 8,891.00 $44,455.00 -$                       $44,455.00 100% $0.00

83 CURB AND GUTTER REMOVAL L.F. 1,619.00 $10.00 $16,190.00 1,593.60 -                      $0.00 1,593.60 $15,936.00 -$                       $15,936.00 98% $254.00

84 REMOVAL OF TRAFFIC SIGNALIZATION LS 1.00 $7,500.00 $7,500.00 1.00 -                      $0.00 1.00 $7,500.00 -$                       $7,500.00 100% $0.00

85 PAINTED PAVEMENT MARKINGS, SOLVENT/WATERBORNE STA. 44.00 $100.00 $4,400.00 44.00 -                      $0.00 44.00 $4,400.00 -$                       $4,400.00 100% $0.00

86 PAINTED SYMBOLS AND LEGENDS EACH 18.00 $75.00 $1,350.00 20.00 -                      $0.00 20.00 $1,500.00 -$                       $1,500.00 111% ($150.00)

87 STOP SIGN(BLINKERSTOP) FLASHING WITH SOLAR LED L.S. 3.00 $2,500.00 $7,500.00 3.00 -                      $0.00 3.00 $7,500.00 -$                       $7,500.00 100% $0.00

88 STREET SIGNS (SIGNS, POST, & RECIEVER) EACH 43.00 $250.00 $10,750.00 39.00 -                      $0.00 39.00 $9,750.00 -$                       $9,750.00 91% $1,000.00

89 TEMPORARY TRAFFIC CONTROL L.S. 1.00 $65,000.00 $65,000.00 1.00 -                      $0.00 1.00 $65,000.00 -$                       $65,000.00 100% $0.00

90 SEEDING, FERTILIZING AND MULCHING FOR HYDRAULIC SEEDING S.F. 6,715.00 $0.30 $2,014.50 8,832.00 -                      $0.00 8,832.00 $2,649.60 -$                       $2,649.60 132% ($635.10)

91 SOD S.F. 53,466.00 $0.75 $40,099.50 64,300.00 -                      $0.00 64,300.00 $48,225.00 -$                       $48,225.00 120% ($8,125.50)

92 STORMWATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN (SWPPP), MANAGEMENT LS 1.00 $15,000.00 $15,000.00 1.00 -                      $0.00 1.00 $15,000.00 -$                       $15,000.00 100% $0.00

93 WATTLES, 9IN. STRAW L.F. 7,008.00 $2.00 $14,016.00 325.00 -                      $0.00 325.00 $650.00 -$                       $650.00 5% $13,366.00

94 WATTLES, MAINTENANCE AND REMOVAL L.F. 7,008.00 $0.50 $3,504.00 150.00 -                      $0.00 150.00 $75.00 -$                       $75.00 2% $3,429.00

95 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, INSTALLATION EACH 85.00 $150.00 $12,750.00 41.00 -                      $0.00 41.00 $6,150.00 -$                       $6,150.00 48% $6,600.00

96 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, MAINTENANCE EACH 85.00 $50.00 $4,250.00 -                      -                      $0.00 -                      $0.00 -$                       $0.00 0% $4,250.00

97 MOBILIZATION L.S. 1.00 $345,000.00 $345,000.00 1.00 -                      $0.00 1.00 $345,000.00 -$                       $345,000.00 100% $0.00

98 MAILBOXES, RELOCATE & REINSTALL (PER POST) EACH 25.00 $500.00 $12,500.00 35.00 -                      $0.00 35.00 $17,500.00 -$                       $17,500.00 140% ($5,000.00)

99 CONCRETE WASHOUT LS 1.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 1.00 -                      $0.00 1.00 $10,000.00 -$                       $10,000.00 100% $0.00

8001 EWO 1 - Additional Signage LS 1.00 550.00$              550.00$              1.00 -                      $0.00 1.00 550.00$              -$                       550.00$              100% -$                    

8002 EWO 2 - Installation of Washington St fencing for Sturgis LS 1.00 6,305.20$          6,305.20$          1.00 -                      $0.00 1.00 6,305.20$          -$                       6,305.20$          100% -$                    

8003 Drainange Culvert from Ditch LS 1.00 3,500.00$          3,500.00$          1.00 -                      $0.00 1.00 3,500.00$          -$                       3,500.00$          100% -$                    

8004 ITC 2 - Pheasant Ridge Golf Course Cart Path Removal and Repaving LF 3,108.00 24.47$                76,052.76$        2,952.00 -                      $0.00 2,952.00 72,235.44$        -$                       72,235.44$        95% 3,817.32$          

8005 Kaspend Place Sanitary Stub LS 1.00 35,517.50$        35,517.50$        1.00 -                      $0.00 1.00 35,517.50$        -$                       35,517.50$        100% -$                    

$4,150,320.96 $0.00 $4,108,921.08 -$                       $4,108,921.08 $41,399.89Totals

399

Item 30.



FUNDING SOURCE BREAKDOWN

Project Number:

Contract Completion Date: 12/31/21

A B C D E F J K

Bid                                                                   

Item                                   

Number

Description Unit

1 CLEARING AND GRUBBING L.S. 1.00 $8,500.00 $8,500.00 1.00 $8,500.00 8,500.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

2 OFF-SITE TOPSOIL C.Y. 1,117.00 $25.00 $27,925.00 1,249.00 $31,225.00 31,225.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

3 EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, ROADWAY, WASTE C.Y. 5,488.00 $12.50 $68,600.00 5,597.20 $69,965.00 69,965.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

4 EXCAVATION , CLASS 12, BOULDERS C.Y. 25.00 $30.00 $750.00 -                       $0.00 -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

5 BELOW GRADE EXCAVATION (CORE OUT) C.Y. 520.00 $12.50 $6,500.00 30.00 $375.00 375.00$                 -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

6 SUBGRADE PREPARATION STA. 33.00 $250.00 $8,250.00 3.25 $812.50 812.50$                 -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

7 SUBGRADE TREATMENT, GEOGRID TENSAR TX-160 S.Y. 8,707.00 $7.50 $65,302.50 3,365.00 $25,237.50 25,237.50$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

8 SUBBASE, MODIFIED, 6 IN. S.Y. 2,253.00 $8.50 $19,150.50 2,309.00 $19,626.50 19,626.50$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

9 SUBBASE, MODIFIED, 12 IN. S.Y. 15,568.00 $16.00 $249,088.00 15,703.00 $251,248.00 251,248.00$         -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

10 REPLACEMENT OF UNSUITABLE BACKFILL MATERIAL TONS 3,210.00 $28.50 $91,485.00 2,329.23 $66,383.06 12,059.77$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     54,323.29$        

11 SANITARY SEWER GRAVITY MAIN, TRENCHED, 8" TRUSS PIPE L.F. 130.00 $175.00 $22,750.00 176.00 $30,800.00 -$                        30,800.00$        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

12 SANITARY SEWER GRAVITY MAIN, TRENCHED, 12" TRUSS PIPE L.F. 72.00 $140.00 $10,080.00 72.00 $10,080.00 -$                        10,080.00$        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

13 SANITARY SEWER SERVICE STUB, 4" SDR 23.5 L.F. 5.00 $250.00 $1,250.00 70.00 $17,500.00 -$                        17,500.00$        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

14 REMOVAL SANITARY SEWER L.F. 202.00 $10.00 $2,020.00 248.00 $2,480.00 -$                        2,480.00$           -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

15 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 15 IN. HDPE L.F. 1,106.00 $53.00 $58,618.00 1,090.00 $57,770.00 57,770.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

16 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 15 IN. RCP, 2000D L.F. 276.00 $75.00 $20,700.00 276.00 $20,700.00 20,700.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

17 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 18 IN. HDPE L.F. 175.00 $59.00 $10,325.00 175.00 $10,325.00 10,325.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

18 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 24 IN. HDPE  L.F. 289.00 $66.00 $19,074.00 299.00 $19,734.00 19,734.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

19 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 24 IN. R.C.P. 2000D L.F. 28.00 $87.00 $2,436.00 28.00 $2,436.00 2,436.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

20 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 30 IN. HDPE  L.F. 78.00 $93.00 $7,254.00 78.00 $7,254.00 7,254.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

21 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 36 IN. HDPE  L.F. 243.00 $94.00 $22,842.00 255.00 $23,970.00 23,970.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

22 SPECIAL PIPE CONNECTIONS, SW-211 EACH 2.00 $500.00 $1,000.00 1.00 $500.00 500.00$                 -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

23 REMOVAL STORM SEWER PIPE LESS THAN OR EQUAL TO 36 IN. L.F. 4,796.00 $8.00 $38,368.00 4,796.00 $38,368.00 38,368.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

24 SUBDRAIN, PERFORATED, 6 IN. L.F. 4,040.00 $12.00 $48,480.00 4,040.00 $48,480.00 48,480.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

25 SUBDRAIN, OUTLET, 6 IN. C.M.P. EACH 22.00 $250.00 $5,500.00 20.00 $5,000.00 5,000.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

26 SUBDRAIN, SUMP PUMP TAP EACH 45.00 $325.00 $14,625.00 45.00 $14,625.00 14,625.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

27 FIELD TILE, 4 IN. TO 8 IN., FIELD REPAIR L.F. 40.00 $20.00 $800.00 10.00 $200.00 200.00$                 -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

28 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 4" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. 60.00 $65.00 $3,900.00 10.00 $650.00 -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     650.00$              

29 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 6" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. 40.00 $70.00 $2,800.00 23.00 $1,610.00 -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     1,610.00$           

30 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 8" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. 2,460.00 $72.00 $177,120.00 2,559.00 $184,248.00 -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     184,248.00$      

31 FITTINGS, DUCTILE IRON LBS. 5,200.00 $10.00 $52,000.00 1,399.00 $13,990.00 -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     13,990.00$        

32 SERVICE SHORTSIDE, 3/4" EACH 22.00 $1,750.00 $38,500.00 19.00 $33,250.00 -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     33,250.00$        

33 SERVICE, LONGSIDE, 3/4" EACH 13.00 $2,500.00 $32,500.00 12.00 $30,000.00 -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     30,000.00$        

34 SERVICE, SHORTSIDE, 2" EACH 1.00 $3,250.00 $3,250.00 2.00 $6,500.00 -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     6,500.00$           

35 SERVICE, LONGSIDE, 2" EACH 1.00 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 1.00 $4,000.00 -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     4,000.00$           

36 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 4" EACH 12.00 $150.00 $1,800.00 9.00 $1,350.00 -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     1,350.00$           

37 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 6" EACH 12.00 $150.00 $1,800.00 14.00 $2,100.00 -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     2,100.00$           

38 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 8" EACH 24.00 $160.00 $3,840.00 30.00 $4,800.00 -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     4,800.00$           

39 JOINT RESTRAINT GASKET, 6" EACH 4.00 $150.00 $600.00 -                       $0.00 -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

40 JOINT RESTRAINT GASKET, 8" EACH 37.00 $155.00 $5,735.00 22.00 $3,410.00 -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     3,410.00$           

41 8" NITRILE GASKETS EACH 66.00 $155.00 $10,230.00 74.00 $11,470.00 -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     11,470.00$        

42 VALVE, 8" MJ GATE W/ BOX EACH 15.00 $2,350.00 $35,250.00 11.00 $25,850.00 -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     25,850.00$        

43 FIRE HYDRANT ASSEMBLY EACH 6.00 $5,400.00 $32,400.00 6.00 $32,400.00 -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     32,400.00$        

44 VALVE BOX ADJUSTMENT EACH 1.00 $500.00 $500.00 -                       $0.00 -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

45 MANHOLE, STORM SEWER, SW-401, 48" DIA. EACH 3.00 $4,000.00 $12,000.00 3.00 $12,000.00 12,000.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

46 MANHOLE, STORM SEWER, SW-401, 60" DIA. EACH 1.00 $4,850.00 $4,850.00 1.00 $4,850.00 4,850.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

47 MANHOLE, SANITARY SEWER, SW-301, 48" DIA. EACH 2.00 $6,250.00 $12,500.00 2.00 $12,500.00 -$                        $12,500.00 -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

48 INTAKE, SW-507 EACH 1.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 1.00 $5,000.00 5,000.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

49 INTAKE, SW-508 EACH 1.00 $5,500.00 $5,500.00 1.00 $5,500.00 5,500.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

50 INTAKE, SW-510 EACH 1.00 $7,250.00 $7,250.00 1.00 $7,250.00 7,250.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

51 INTAKE, TYPE D EACH 19.00 $6,000.00 $114,000.00 19.00 $114,000.00 114,000.00$         -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

52 INTAKE, TYPE C TOP & INSERT EACH 5.00 $3,500.00 $17,500.00 5.00 $17,500.00 17,500.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

53 INTAKE, SINGLE FLAT INSERT EACH 2.00 $2,500.00 $5,000.00 1.00 $2,500.00 2,500.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

2021 Street Construction Project

RC-000-3227

Date: 07/30/23

Via (Engineer): Ben Claypool

Principal Eng.

GOSRF SCF CFU

Distribution of Funds

GIF

Estimated 

Quantity 

Installed                                    

( G + H )

Total                    

Completed                    

Value                                           

( E x J )

LOST

           Item

Bid                             

Quantity

Unit                                     

Price

Bid                                       

Value

400

Item 30.



A B C D E F J K

Bid                                                                   

Item                                   

Number

Description Unit
GOSRF SCF CFU

Distribution of Funds

GIF

Estimated 

Quantity 

Installed                                    

( G + H )

Total                    

Completed                    

Value                                           

( E x J )

LOST

           Item

Bid                             

Quantity

Unit                                     

Price

Bid                                       

Value

54 INTAKE, DOUBLE FLAT INSERT EACH 1.00 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 1.00 $3,000.00 3,000.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

55 INTAKE, TYPE B INSERT EACH 5.00 $2,250.00 $11,250.00 6.50 $14,625.00 14,625.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

56 INTAKE, TYPE D INSERT EACH 9.00 $2,750.00 $24,750.00 9.00 $24,750.00 24,750.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

57 INTAKE, RA-3 TOP & INSERT EACH 2.00 $2,500.00 $5,000.00 1.00 $2,500.00 2,500.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

58 INTAKE, RA-5 TOP & INSERT EACH 8.00 $2,500.00 $20,000.00 6.00 $15,000.00 15,000.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

59 MANHOLE, ADJUSTMENT, MINOR EACH 35.00 $1,500.00 $52,500.00 30.50 $45,750.00 -$                        $45,750.00 -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

60 MANHOLE ADJUSTMENT, MAJOR (MR. MANHOLE) EACH 14.00 $2,500.00 $35,000.00 15.00 $37,500.00 -$                        $37,500.00 -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

61 REMOVAL OF STORM MANHOLES AND INTAKES EACH 46.00 $500.00 $23,000.00 52.00 $26,000.00 26,000.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

62 REMOVAL OF SANITARY MANHOLES EACH 2.00 $800.00 $1,600.00 2.00 $1,600.00 -$                        $1,600.00 -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

63 PAVEMENT, STAND. OR SLIP-FORM, P.C.C., 7 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 10,613.00 $42.00 $445,746.00 11,309.60 $475,003.20 475,003.20$         -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

64 PAVEMENT, STAND. OR SLIP-FORM, P.C.C., 9 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 5,178.00 $55.00 $284,790.00 5,283.80 $290,609.00 290,609.00$         -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

65 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 2.0 FT WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 515.00 $30.50 $15,707.50 491.00 $14,975.50 14,975.50$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

66 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 2.5 FT WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 1,105.00 $19.00 $20,995.00 1,093.00 $20,767.00 20,767.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

67 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 3.5 FT WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 76.00 $55.00 $4,180.00 102.30 $5,626.50 5,626.50$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

68 3000 LB, PCC MIX C.Y. 7.00 $600.00 $4,200.00 9.00 $5,400.00 5,400.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

69 HMA, (ST), SURF., 1/2", PG58-28S TON 2,686.00 $120.00 $322,320.00 3,081.25 $369,750.00 369,750.00$         -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

70 HMA, (ST), BASE, 3/4", PG58-28S TON 2,686.00 $119.00 $319,634.00 2,520.62 $299,953.78 299,953.78$         -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

71 REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY S.Y. 769.00 $8.00 $6,152.00 777.30 $6,218.40 6,218.40$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

72 REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK S.Y. 1,131.00 $8.00 $9,048.00 1,417.30 $11,338.40 10,001.60$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     1,336.80$           

73 SIDEWALK, P.C.C., 4 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 1,122.00 $43.00 $48,246.00 1,262.60 $54,291.80 47,106.50$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     7,185.30$           

74 SIDEWALK, P.C.C., 6 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 281.00 $51.00 $14,331.00 300.20 $15,310.20 15,310.20$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

75 DETECTABLE WARNINGS S.F. 482.00 $51.00 $24,582.00 584.60 $29,814.60 29,814.60$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

76 DRIVEWAY, P.C.C., 6 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 644.00 $48.00 $30,912.00 900.60 $43,228.80 43,228.80$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

77 GRANULAR SURFACING, 1-INCH ROADSTONE TONS 310.00 $30.00 $9,300.00 69.93 $2,097.90 2,097.90$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

78 PATCH, P.C.C., FULL DEPTH, "M" MIX S.Y. 34.00 $225.00 $7,650.00 35.10 $7,897.50 7,897.50$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

79 PATCH, PARTIAL DEPTH? HMA (ST) SURFACE, 1/2", PG58-28S TONS 20.00 $200.00 $4,000.00 -                       $0.00 -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

80 MILLING S.Y. 4,674.00 $30.00 $140,220.00 4,766.00 $142,980.00 142,980.00$         -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

81 PAVEMENT REMOVAL, PCC S.Y. 15,770.00 $6.50 $102,505.00 15,878.80 $103,212.20 103,212.20$         -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

82 PAVEMENT REMOVAL, ACC S.Y. 8,891.00 $5.00 $44,455.00 8,891.00 $44,455.00 44,455.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

83 CURB AND GUTTER REMOVAL L.F. 1,619.00 $10.00 $16,190.00 1,593.60 $15,936.00 15,936.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

84 REMOVAL OF TRAFFIC SIGNALIZATION LS 1.00 $7,500.00 $7,500.00 1.00 $7,500.00 7,500.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

85 PAINTED PAVEMENT MARKINGS, SOLVENT/WATERBORNE STA. 44.00 $100.00 $4,400.00 44.00 $4,400.00 4,400.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

86 PAINTED SYMBOLS AND LEGENDS EACH 18.00 $75.00 $1,350.00 20.00 $1,500.00 1,500.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

87 STOP SIGN(BLINKERSTOP) FLASHING WITH SOLAR LED L.S. 3.00 $2,500.00 $7,500.00 3.00 $7,500.00 -$                        -$                     7,500.00$           -$                     -$                     -$                     

88 STREET SIGNS (SIGNS, POST, & RECIEVER) EACH 43.00 $250.00 $10,750.00 39.00 $9,750.00 9,750.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

89 TEMPORARY TRAFFIC CONTROL L.S. 1.00 $65,000.00 $65,000.00 1.00 $65,000.00 65,000.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

90 SEEDING, FERTILIZING AND MULCHING FOR HYDRAULIC SEEDING S.F. 6,715.00 $0.30 $2,014.50 8,832.00 $2,649.60 2,649.60$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

91 SOD S.F. 53,466.00 $0.75 $40,099.50 64,300.00 $48,225.00 48,225.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

92 STORMWATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN (SWPPP), MANAGEMENT LS 1.00 $15,000.00 $15,000.00 1.00 $15,000.00 15,000.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

93 WATTLES, 9IN. STRAW L.F. 7,008.00 $2.00 $14,016.00 325.00 $650.00 650.00$                 -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

94 WATTLES, MAINTENANCE AND REMOVAL L.F. 7,008.00 $0.50 $3,504.00 150.00 $75.00 75.00$                   -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

95 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, INSTALLATION EACH 85.00 $150.00 $12,750.00 41.00 $6,150.00 6,150.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

96 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, MAINTENANCE EACH 85.00 $50.00 $4,250.00 -                       $0.00 -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

97 MOBILIZATION L.S. 1.00 $345,000.00 $345,000.00 1.00 $345,000.00 56,000.00$            -$                     229,000.00$      60,000.00$        -$                     -$                     

98 MAILBOXES, RELOCATE & REINSTALL (PER POST) EACH 25.00 $500.00 $12,500.00 35.00 $17,500.00 17,500.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

99 CONCRETE WASHOUT LS 1.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 1.00 $10,000.00 10,000.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

8001 EWO 1 - Additional Signage LS 1.00 550.00$              550.00$              1.00 550.00$              550.00$                 -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

8002 EWO 2 - Installation of Washington St fencing for Sturgis LS 1.00 6,305.20$           6,305.20$           1.00 6,305.20$           6,305.20$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

8003 Drainange Culvert from Ditch LS 1.00 3,500.00$           3,500.00$           1.00 3,500.00$           -$                        -$                     3,500.00$           -$                     -$                     -$                     

8004 ITC 2 - Pheasant Ridge Golf Course Cart Path Removal and Repaving LF 3,108.00 24.47$                76,052.76$        2,952.00 72,235.44$        -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     72,235.44$        -$                     

8005 Kaspend Place Sanitary Stub LS 1.00 35,517.50$        35,517.50$        1.00 35,517.50$        -$                        35,517.50$        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

8006 Liquidated Damages DAYS 73.00 (1,000.00)$         (73,000.00)$       73.00 (73,000.00)$       (73,000.00)$          -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

$4,077,320.96 $4,035,921.08 3,051,484.75$      193,727.50$      240,000.00$      60,000.00$        72,235.44$        418,473.39$      Totals

401

Item 30.



402

Item 30.



403

Item 30.



404

Item 30.



405

Item 30.



406

Item 30.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Benjamin Claypool, Principal Engineer, PE, PhD 
 
 DATE: July 31, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: 2022 Street Construction Project 
  City Project Number: RC-000-3230 
   Final Acceptance  
 
The 2022 Street Construction Project is completed and ready for final acceptance. This 
project involved the full removal and replacement of two (2) streets, HMA overlay of three 
(3) streets, and an HMA overlay with sawed and sealed joints of Hudson Road. This 
project was under contract with Peterson Contractors, Inc. of Reinbeck, Iowa. Attached 
please find the following final documents: 
  -  Final Pay Estimate (releases retainage) 
  -  Final Breakdown of Costs 
   -  Maintenance Bond, Peterson Contractors, Inc. 
 

The following lien waivers have been received, reviewed by the Engineering Division, and 
are on file with the City Clerk: 
 

Peterson Contractors, Inc. Suppliers: 
Utility Equipment Co.  
Midstates Precast Products 
Benton’s Ready Mixed Concrete 
BMC Aggregates, LC 
Bob Walters  & Sons Trucking 
Coleman Moore 
Leymaster Tile, LLC 
Northern IA Construction Products 
Service Signing LC 
 

Peterson Contractors, Inc. subcontractors: 
Owen Contracting, Inc. 

- Construction Materials, Inc. 
- Benton’s Ready Mixed Concrete 

Matthias Landscaping Co. 
- Oleson Sod Co.  

ASPRO, Inc.  
- Bituminous Materials & Supply Co., LP 
- BMC Aggregates, LC 
- Utility Equipment Company 
- B&B 

Bower’s Masonry 
- Benton’s Ready Mixed Concrete 
- Stetson Building Products 

Meli, LLC 
- Benton’s Ready Mixed Concrete 
- Stetson Building Products 
- Utility Equipment Co. 

Laser Line Striping & Sweeping 
- Custom Products 
- Xcessories X2 
- Diamond Vogel 

KW Electric 
S.O.S 

407

Item 31.



This project was primarily funded by the “Local Option Sales Tax”. Below is a 
breakdown of final contract costs and the funding sources utilized: 
 
 

Funding Source Attributed Costs 

Street Construction Fund $344,937.62 

Local Options Sales Tax $2,514,723.87 

GO 2022 $60,000.00 

Sanitary Sewer Rental Fund $59,942.61 

Cedar Falls Utilities $435,660.15 

Golf Improvement Fund $49,200.75 

 
With Council approval a transfer of funds from the following funding sources to the 
Street Repair Fund (LOST) will be made per Iowa Code 545-2.5. 
 

Funding Source Attributed Costs 

Street Construction Fund  $344,937.62 

GO 2022 $60,000.00 

Sanitary Sewer Rental Fund $59,942.61 

Golf Improvement Fund $49,200.75 

 
A transfer of funds from the following funding sources to the Street Repair Fund (LOST) 
has been made. 
 
I certify that the public improvements for the 2022 Street Construction Project were 
completed in reasonable compliance with the project plans and specifications. 
 
 
 
      ______________________________________ 
           Benjamin Claypool  Date 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, P.E., City Engineer 

Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer  
 
 
 
 

7/31/23 

408

Item 31.



Retainange Release

12/31/22  to 07/19/23 Application Date: 07/20/23

Project Number: Via (Engineer): Ben Claypool

Fall 2022 Principal Engineer

1. ORIGINAL CONTRACT PRICE .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 3,266,189.70$                                                                   

Additions (a) Deductions (b)

3,025.00$                    -$                              2. NET CHANGE BY CHANGE ORDERS ( c ) .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 196,855.51$                                                                      

104,702.40$               -$                              

24,478.00$                 -$                              3. CURRENT CONTRACT PRICE .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 3,463,045.21$                                                                   

49,747.50$                 -$                              

560.00$                       -$                              4. TOTAL COMPLETED AND STORED TO DATE

14,342.61$                 -$                              (Total Column F on Progress Estimate) .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 3,464,465.00$                                                                   

-$                              -$                              

-$                              -$                              5. RETAINAGE

-$                              -$                              a. 5%      x Work Completed   .   .   -$                                                                                     

-$                              -$                              b. 5%      x Stored Materials   .   . -$                                                                                     

-$                              -$                              c. Total Retainage (Line 5a + Line 5b) .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . -$                                                                                     

-$                              -$                              

-$                              -$                              6. CUMULATIVE LIQUIDATED DAMAGES CHARGED

-$                              -$                              0 Days      x Per Day   .   .   .   .   .   . -$                                                                                     

-$                              -$                              

196,855.51$               -$                              7. AMOUNT ELIGIBLE TO DATE (Line 4 - Line 5c - Line 6) .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 3,464,465.00$                                                                   

8. LESS PREVIOUS PAYMENTS (Line 7 From Prior Application)  .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 3,291,241.75$                                                                   

9. AMOUNT DUE THIS APPLICATION 173,223.25$                                                                      

10. BALANCE TO DATE, PLUS RETAINAGE (Line 7 + Line 5c)   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 3,464,465.00$                                                                   

11. % OF COMPLETION

Original Contract Price (Line 10 ÷ Line 1) 106%

Current Contract Price (Line 10 ÷ Line 3) 100%

(Line 9 or Other: Attach Explanation if Other Amount)

    ________________________________

Date: 
Date

CONTRACTOR'S                   

APPLICATION                                         

FOR PAYMENT

Pay Application

Matt Bohlen

Payment of: 173,223.25$                                       

Is Respectfully Submitted:
Ben Claypool, Principal Engineer

3,464,465.00$                            

-$                                              

1,000.00$                                    

2022 Street Construction Project

Contract Completion Date:

Change Order Summary

Approved Change Orders:

Number

From (Contractor): PCI

City of Cedar Falls

Application Period:

RC-000-3230 To (Owner):

12

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

Contractor's Certification

The undersigned Contractor certifies that: (1) all previous progress payments

received from Owner on account of Work done under the Contract have been

applied on account to discharge Contractor's legitimate obligations incurred in

connection with Work covered by prior Applications for Payment; (2) title of all

Work, materials and equipment incorporated in said Work or otherwise listed in or

covered by this Application for Payment will pass to Owner at time of payment free

and clear of all LIens, security interests and encumbrances (except such are covered

by a Bond acceptable to Owner indemnifying Owner against such Liens, security

interest or encumbrances); and (3) all Work covered by this Application for Payment

is in accordance with the Contract Documents and is not defective.

By (Conctractor):

13

14

15

Totals

(a) + (b) = ( c )

Net Change by Change Orders

196,855.51$                                                         

Matt Bohlen
Digitally signed by Matt Bohlen
DN: C=US, E=matt@pcius.com, 
O=Peterson Contractors Inc., 
CN=Matt Bohlen
Date: 2023.07.20 20:44:50-05'00'

409

Item 31.

claypoolb
PowerPoint Presentation

claypoolb
Engineer
7/24/23



No. 0

to

Project Number:

Contract Completion Date: Fall 2022

A B C D E F G H I J K L M N O

Bid                                                                   

Item                                   

Number

Description Unit

1 OFF-SITE TOPSOIL C.Y. 673.00 30.00$                20,190.00$        678.00 -                      -$                    678.00 20,340.00$        -$                       20,340.00$        101% (150.00)$            X

2 EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, ROADWAY, WASTE C.Y. 2,560.00 14.00$                35,840.00$        2,674.00 -                      -$                    2,674.00 37,436.00$        -$                       37,436.00$        104% (1,596.00)$         X

3 EXCAVATION , CLASS 12, BOULDERS C.Y. 10.00 30.00$                300.00$              10.00 -                      -$                    10.00 300.00$              -$                       300.00$              100% -$                    X

4 BELOW GRADE EXCAVATION (CORE OUT) C.Y. 256.00 14.00$                3,584.00$          -                      -                      -$                    -                      -$                    -$                       -$                    0% 3,584.00$          X

5 SUBGRADE PREPARATION STA. 18.00 300.00$              5,400.00$          -                      -                      -$                    -                      -$                    -$                       -$                    0% 5,400.00$          X

6 SUBGRADE TREATMENT, GEOGRID TENSAR TX-160 S.Y. 4,607.00 8.50$                  39,159.50$        5,973.00 -                      -$                    5,973.00 50,770.50$        -$                       50,770.50$        130% (11,611.00)$       X

7 SUBBASE, MODIFIED, 6 IN. S.Y. 14.00 30.00$                420.00$              23.00 -                      -$                    23.00 690.00$              -$                       690.00$              164% (270.00)$            X

8 SUBBASE, MODIFIED, 12 IN. S.Y. 7,951.00 17.00$                135,167.00$      7,951.00 -                      -$                    7,951.00 135,167.00$      -$                       135,167.00$      100% -$                    X

9 REPLACEMENT OF UNSUITABLE BACKFILL MATERIAL TONS 2,253.00 31.00$                69,843.00$        2,547.10 -                      -$                    2,547.10 78,960.10$        -$                       78,960.10$        113% (9,117.10)$         X

10 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 15 IN. HDPE L.F. 651.00 64.00$                41,664.00$        681.00 -                      -$                    681.00 43,584.00$        -$                       43,584.00$        105% (1,920.00)$         X

11 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 15 IN. RCP, 2000D L.F. 218.00 88.00$                19,184.00$        218.00 -                      -$                    218.00 19,184.00$        -$                       19,184.00$        100% -$                    X

12 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 24 IN. HDPE  L.F. 676.00 82.00$                55,432.00$        676.00 -                      -$                    676.00 55,432.00$        -$                       55,432.00$        100% -$                    X

13 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 30 IN. HDPE  L.F. 345.00 100.00$              34,500.00$        345.00 -                      -$                    345.00 34,500.00$        -$                       34,500.00$        100% -$                    X

14 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 36 IN. HDPE  L.F. 329.00 125.00$              41,125.00$        329.00 -                      -$                    329.00 41,125.00$        -$                       41,125.00$        100% -$                    X

15 SPECIAL PIPE CONNECTIONS, SW-211 EACH 2.00 500.00$              1,000.00$          3.00 -                      -$                    3.00 1,500.00$          -$                       1,500.00$          150% (500.00)$            X

16 REMOVAL STORM SEWER PIPE LESS THAN OR EQUAL TO 36 IN. L.F. 2,798.00 8.00$                  22,384.00$        2,798.00 -                      -$                    2,798.00 22,384.00$        -$                       22,384.00$        100% -$                    X

17 SUBDRAIN, PERFORATED, 6 IN. L.F. 1,623.00 15.00$                24,345.00$        1,623.00 -                      -$                    1,623.00 24,345.00$        -$                       24,345.00$        100% -$                    X

18 SUBDRAIN, OUTLET, 6 IN. C.M.P. EACH 18.00 300.00$              5,400.00$          18.00 -                      -$                    18.00 5,400.00$          -$                       5,400.00$          100% -$                    X

19 SUBDRAIN, SUMP PUMP TAP EACH 39.00 275.00$              10,725.00$        39.00 -                      -$                    39.00 10,725.00$        -$                       10,725.00$        100% -$                    X

20 FIELD TILE, 4 IN. TO 8 IN., FIELD REPAIR L.F. 20.00 20.00$                400.00$              15.00 -                      -$                    15.00 300.00$              -$                       300.00$              75% 100.00$              X

21 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 4" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. 25.00 105.00$              2,625.00$          29.00 -                      -$                    29.00 3,045.00$          -$                       3,045.00$          116% (420.00)$            X

22 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 6" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. 20.00 80.00$                1,600.00$          17.00 -                      -$                    17.00 1,360.00$          -$                       1,360.00$          85% 240.00$              X

23 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 8" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. 2,303.00 85.00$                195,755.00$      1,888.00 -                      -$                    1,888.00 160,480.00$      -$                       160,480.00$      82% 35,275.00$        X

24 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 12" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. 100.00 121.00$              12,100.00$        97.00 -                      -$                    97.00 11,737.00$        -$                       11,737.00$        97% 363.00$              X

25 FITTINGS, DUCTILE IRON LBS. 3,521.00 11.50$                40,491.50$        1,788.00 -                      -$                    1,788.00 20,562.00$        -$                       20,562.00$        51% 19,929.50$        X

26 SERVICE SHORTSIDE, 3/4" EACH 15.00 2,200.00$          33,000.00$        14.00 -                      -$                    14.00 30,800.00$        -$                       30,800.00$        93% 2,200.00$          X

27 SERVICE, LONGSIDE, 3/4" EACH 19.00 2,800.00$          53,200.00$        19.00 -                      -$                    19.00 53,200.00$        -$                       53,200.00$        100% -$                    X

28 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 4" EACH 11.00 175.00$              1,925.00$          16.00 -                      -$                    16.00 2,800.00$          -$                       2,800.00$          145% (875.00)$            X

29 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 6" EACH 11.00 175.00$              1,925.00$          12.00 -                      -$                    12.00 2,100.00$          -$                       2,100.00$          109% (175.00)$            X

30 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 8" EACH 18.00 200.00$              3,600.00$          30.00 -                      -$                    30.00 6,000.00$          -$                       6,000.00$          167% (2,400.00)$         X

31 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 12" EACH 12.00 275.00$              3,300.00$          15.00 -                      -$                    15.00 4,125.00$          -$                       4,125.00$          125% (825.00)$            X

32 JOINT RESTRAINT GASKET, 4" EACH 1.00 225.00$              225.00$              -                      -                      -$                    -                      -$                    -$                       -$                    0% 225.00$              X

33 JOINT RESTRAINT GASKET, 6" EACH 2.00 250.00$              500.00$              12.00 -                      -$                    12.00 3,000.00$          -$                       3,000.00$          600% (2,500.00)$         X

34 JOINT RESTRAINT GASKET, 8" EACH 18.00 275.00$              4,950.00$          21.00 -                      -$                    21.00 5,775.00$          -$                       5,775.00$          117% (825.00)$            X

35 JOINT RESTRAINT GASKET, 12" EACH 5.00 350.00$              1,750.00$          2.00 -                      -$                    2.00 700.00$              -$                       700.00$              40% 1,050.00$          X

36 6" NITRILE GASKETS EACH 4.00 200.00$              800.00$              4.00 -                      -$                    4.00 800.00$              -$                       800.00$              100% -$                    X

37 8" NITRILE GASKETS EACH 94.00 225.00$              21,150.00$        69.00 -                      -$                    69.00 15,525.00$        -$                       15,525.00$        73% 5,625.00$          X

38 12" NITRILE GASKETS EACH 2.00 250.00$              500.00$              16.00 -                      -$                    16.00 4,000.00$          -$                       4,000.00$          800% (3,500.00)$         X

39 VALVE, 8" MJ GATE W/ BOX EACH 5.00 2,800.00$          14,000.00$        6.00 -                      -$                    6.00 16,800.00$        -$                       16,800.00$        120% (2,800.00)$         X

40 VALVE, 12" MJ GATE W/ BOX EACH 2.00 4,300.00$          8,600.00$          2.00 -                      -$                    2.00 8,600.00$          -$                       8,600.00$          100% -$                    X

41 FIRE HYDRANT ASSEMBLY EACH 5.00 6,700.00$          33,500.00$        4.00 -                      -$                    4.00 26,800.00$        -$                       26,800.00$        80% 6,700.00$          X

42 VALVE BOX ADJUSTMENT EACH 2.00 650.00$              1,300.00$          5.00 -                      -$                    5.00 3,250.00$          -$                       3,250.00$          250% (1,950.00)$         X

43 FIRE HYDRANT ASSEMBLY REMOVAL EACH 3.00 1,350.00$          4,050.00$          2.00 -                      -$                    2.00 2,700.00$          -$                       2,700.00$          67% 1,350.00$          X

44 MANHOLE, STORM SEWER, SW-401, 48" DIA. EACH 6.00 4,600.00$          27,600.00$        6.00 -                      -$                    6.00 27,600.00$        -$                       27,600.00$        100% -$                    X

45 MANHOLE, SANITARY SEWER, SW-301, 48" DIA. EACH 6.00 6,850.00$          41,100.00$        6.00 -                      -$                    6.00 41,100.00$        -$                       41,100.00$        100% -$                    X

46 INTAKE, SW-507 EACH 1.00 6,300.00$          6,300.00$          1.00 -                      -$                    1.00 6,300.00$          -$                       6,300.00$          100% -$                    X

47 INTAKE, SW-509 EACH 2.00 7,700.00$          15,400.00$        2.00 -                      -$                    2.00 15,400.00$        -$                       15,400.00$        100% -$                    X

48 INTAKE, SW-510 EACH 1.00 9,300.00$          9,300.00$          1.00 -                      -$                    1.00 9,300.00$          -$                       9,300.00$          100% -$                    X

49 INTAKE, TYPE B EACH 3.00 6,300.00$          18,900.00$        3.00 -                      -$                    3.00 18,900.00$        -$                       18,900.00$        100% -$                    X

50 INTAKE, TYPE D EACH 18.00 7,700.00$          138,600.00$      18.00 -                      -$                    18.00 138,600.00$      -$                       138,600.00$      100% -$                    X

51 INTAKE, SINGLE FLAT  EACH 1.00 5,800.00$          5,800.00$          1.00 -                      -$                    1.00 5,800.00$          -$                       5,800.00$          100% -$                    X

52 INTAKE, DOUBLE FLAT  EACH 1.00 8,000.00$          8,000.00$          1.00 -                      -$                    1.00 8,000.00$          -$                       8,000.00$          100% -$                    X

53 INTAKE, SW-507 TOP & INSERT EACH 14.00 2,300.00$          32,200.00$        14.00 -                      -$                    14.00 32,200.00$        -$                       32,200.00$        100% -$                    X

54 INTAKE, SW-509 TOP & INSERT EACH 2.00 2,700.00$          5,400.00$          2.50 -                      -$                    2.50 6,750.00$          -$                       6,750.00$          125% (1,350.00)$         X

55 MANHOLE, ADJUSTMENT, MINOR EACH 6.25 1,600.00$          10,000.00$        5.75 -                      -$                    5.75 9,200.00$          -$                       9,200.00$          92% 800.00$              X

56 MANHOLE ADJUSTMENT, MAJOR (MR. MANHOLE) EACH 13.00 2,800.00$          36,400.00$        13.00 -                      -$                    13.00 36,400.00$        -$                       36,400.00$        100% -$                    X

Balance to                               

Date                                                  

( F - M )

It
e

m
 C

o
m

p
le

te
d

CONTRACTOR'S APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT Estimate

Current Pay 

Application                            

Value                                             

( E x H )

Estimated 

Quantity Installed                                    

( G + H )

Total                    

Completed                    

Value                                           

( E x J )

Value of Materials 

Presently Stored                                     

(Column M on 

Stored Materials)

Total Completed                  

and Stored                 

to Date                                     

( K + L )

% Original 

Contract                          

( M ÷ F )

           Item

Bid                             

Quantity

Unit                                     

Price

Bid                                       

Value

Previous Pay 

Application 

Quantities

2022 Street Construction Project

RC-000-3230

From (Contractor):

To (Owner):

Application Period:

Current Pay 

Application 

Quantities

Application Date: 07/20/23

Via (Engineer): Ben Claypool

Principal Engineer

12/31/22 07/19/23

City of Cedar Falls

PCI

410

Item 31.



A B C D E F G H I J K L M N O

Bid                                                                   

Item                                   

Number

Description Unit

Balance to                               

Date                                                  

( F - M )

It
e

m
 C

o
m

p
le

te
d

Current Pay 

Application                            

Value                                             

( E x H )

Estimated 

Quantity Installed                                    

( G + H )

Total                    

Completed                    

Value                                           

( E x J )

Value of Materials 

Presently Stored                                     

(Column M on 

Stored Materials)

Total Completed                  

and Stored                 

to Date                                     

( K + L )

% Original 

Contract                          

( M ÷ F )

           Item

Bid                             

Quantity

Unit                                     

Price

Bid                                       

Value

Previous Pay 

Application 

Quantities

Current Pay 

Application 

Quantities

57 REMOVAL OF STORM MANHOLES AND INTAKES EACH 21.00 600.00$              12,600.00$        37.00 -                      -$                    37.00 22,200.00$        -$                       22,200.00$        176% (9,600.00)$         X

58 REMOVAL OF SANITARY MANHOLES EACH 6.00 850.00$              5,100.00$          6.50 -                      -$                    6.50 5,525.00$          -$                       5,525.00$          108% (425.00)$            X

59 PAVEMENT, STAND. OR SLIP-FORM, P.C.C., 7 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 2,590.00 51.00$                132,090.00$      2,689.20 -                      -$                    2,689.20 137,149.20$      -$                       137,149.20$      104% (5,059.20)$         X

60 PAVEMENT, STAND. OR SLIP-FORM, P.C.C., 8 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 4,520.00 52.00$                235,040.00$      4,563.10 -                      -$                    4,563.10 237,281.20$      -$                       237,281.20$      101% (2,241.20)$         X

61 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 5.5 FT WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 30.00 95.00$                2,850.00$          6.50 -                      -$                    6.50 617.50$              -$                       617.50$              22% 2,232.50$          X

62 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 2.0 FT WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 105.00 48.00$                5,040.00$          159.00 -                      -$                    159.00 7,632.00$          -$                       7,632.00$          151% (2,592.00)$         X

63 HMA, (ST), SURF., 1/2", PG58-28S TON 2,078.00 132.00$              274,296.00$      2,317.91 -                      -$                    2,317.91 305,964.12$      -$                       305,964.12$      112% (31,668.12)$       X

64 HMA, (ST), BASE, 3/4", PG58-28S TON 2,078.00 130.00$              270,140.00$      2,061.31 -                      -$                    2,061.31 267,970.30$      -$                       267,970.30$      99% 2,169.70$          X

65 REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY S.Y. 607.00 9.00$                  5,463.00$          607.00 -                      -$                    607.00 5,463.00$          -$                       5,463.00$          100% -$                    X

66 REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK S.Y. 382.00 9.00$                  3,438.00$          527.30 -                      -$                    527.30 4,745.70$          -$                       4,745.70$          138% (1,307.70)$         X

67 SIDEWALK, P.C.C., 4 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 287.00 55.00$                15,785.00$        417.30 -                      -$                    417.30 22,951.50$        -$                       22,951.50$        145% (7,166.50)$         X

68 SIDEWALK, P.C.C., 6 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 90.00 80.00$                7,200.00$          110.00 -                      -$                    110.00 8,800.00$          -$                       8,800.00$          122% (1,600.00)$         X

69 DETECTABLE WARNINGS S.F. 230.00 52.00$                11,960.00$        238.00 -                      -$                    238.00 12,376.00$        -$                       12,376.00$        103% (416.00)$            X

70 DRIVEWAY, P.C.C., 6 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 607.00 58.00$                35,206.00$        702.70 -                      -$                    702.70 40,756.60$        -$                       40,756.60$        116% (5,550.60)$         X

71 GRANULAR SURFACING, 1-INCH ROADSTONE TONS 20.00 36.50$                730.00$              -                      -                      -$                    -                      -$                    -$                       -$                    0% 730.00$              X

72 PATCH, P.C.C., FULL DEPTH, "M" MIX S.Y. 24.00 250.00$              6,000.00$          14.00 -                      -$                    14.00 3,500.00$          -$                       3,500.00$          58% 2,500.00$          X

73 PATCH, PARTIAL DEPTH? HMA (ST) SURFACE, 1/2", PG58-28S TONS 10.00 250.00$              2,500.00$          14.98 -                      -$                    14.98 3,745.00$          -$                       3,745.00$          150% (1,245.00)$         X

74 MILLING S.Y. 1,363.00 36.00$                49,068.00$        1,539.00 -                      -$                    1,539.00 55,404.00$        -$                       55,404.00$        113% (6,336.00)$         X

75 PAVEMENT REMOVAL, PCC S.Y. 7,110.00 7.50$                  53,325.00$        7,210.00 -                      -$                    7,210.00 54,075.00$        -$                       54,075.00$        101% (750.00)$            X

76 PAVEMENT REMOVAL, ACC S.Y. 7,110.00 6.50$                  46,215.00$        7,173.00 -                      -$                    7,173.00 46,624.50$        -$                       46,624.50$        101% (409.50)$            X

77 CURB AND GUTTER REMOVAL L.F. 135.00 10.00$                1,350.00$          143.00 -                      -$                    143.00 1,430.00$          -$                       1,430.00$          106% (80.00)$               X

78 PAINTED PAVEMENT MARKINGS, SOLVENT/WATERBORNE STA. 124.00 80.00$                9,920.00$          124.00 -                      -$                    124.00 9,920.00$          -$                       9,920.00$          100% -$                    X

79 PAINTED SYMBOLS AND LEGENDS EACH 22.00 75.00$                1,650.00$          22.00 -                      -$                    22.00 1,650.00$          -$                       1,650.00$          100% -$                    X

80 STREET SIGNS (SIGNS, POST, & RECIEVER) EACH 22.00 325.00$              7,150.00$          22.00 -                      -$                    22.00 7,150.00$          -$                       7,150.00$          100% -$                    X

81 TEMPORARY TRAFFIC CONTROL L.S. 1.00 63,500.00$        63,500.00$        1.00 -                      -$                    1.00 63,500.00$        -$                       63,500.00$        100% -$                    X

82 SEEDING, FERTILIZING AND MULCHING FOR HYDRAULIC SEEDING S.F. 1,936.00 0.65$                  1,258.40$          7,747.00 -                      -$                    7,747.00 5,035.55$          -$                       5,035.55$          400% (3,777.15)$         X

83 SOD S.F. 34,351.00 0.80$                  27,480.80$        38,700.00 -                      -$                    38,700.00 30,960.00$        -$                       30,960.00$        113% (3,479.20)$         X

84 STORMWATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN (SWPPP), MANAGEMENT LS 1.00 10,000.00$        10,000.00$        1.00 -                      -$                    1.00 10,000.00$        -$                       10,000.00$        100% -$                    X

85 WATTLES, 9IN. STRAW L.F. 3,554.00 2.25$                  7,996.50$          375.00 -                      -$                    375.00 843.75$              -$                       843.75$              11% 7,152.75$          X

86 WATTLES, MAINTENANCE AND REMOVAL L.F. 3,554.00 0.50$                  1,777.00$          375.00 -                      -$                    375.00 187.50$              -$                       187.50$              11% 1,589.50$          X

87 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, INSTALLATION EACH 50.00 150.00$              7,500.00$          26.00 -                      -$                    26.00 3,900.00$          -$                       3,900.00$          52% 3,600.00$          X

88 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, MAINTENANCE EACH 50.00 50.00$                2,500.00$          -                      -                      -$                    -                      -$                    -$                       -$                    0% 2,500.00$          X

89 MOBILIZATION L.S. 1.00 368,000.00$      368,000.00$      1.00 -                      -$                    1.00 368,000.00$      -$                       368,000.00$      100% -$                    X

90 CONCRETE WASHOUT LS 1.00 15,000.00$        15,000.00$        1.00 -                      -$                    1.00 15,000.00$        -$                       15,000.00$        100% -$                    X

91 SAW AND SEAL JOINTS LF 25,440.00 7.30$                  185,712.00$      25,440.00 -                      -$                    25,440.00 185,712.00$      -$                       185,712.00$      100% -$                    X

92 EXCAVATION AND DISPOSAL OF CONTAMINATED SOIL CY 216.00 90.00$                19,440.00$        -                      -                      -$                    -                      -$                    -$                       -$                    0% 19,440.00$        X

8000 Temporary EV Hookup LS 1.00 3,025.00$          3,025.00$          1.00 -                      -$                    1.00 3,025.00$          -$                       3,025.00$          100% -$                    X

8001 Birdsall Park - Southern Entrance Drive (3" HMA Overlay) TONS 162.00 141.90$              22,987.80$        162.00 -                      -$                    162.00 22,987.80$        -$                       22,987.80$        100% -$                    X

8002 Birdsall Park - Southern Lot (2" HMA Overlay) TONS 529.00 141.90$              75,065.10$        526.96 -                      -$                    526.96 74,775.62$        -$                       74,775.62$        100% 289.48$              X

8003 Birdsall Park - Striping STA 25.05 110.00$              2,755.50$          29.82 -                      -$                    29.82 3,280.20$          -$                       3,280.20$          119% (524.70)$            X

8004 Birdsall Park - Painted Symbols EA 4.00 66.00$                264.00$              4.00 -                      -$                    4.00 264.00$              -$                       264.00$              100% -$                    X

8005 Birdsall Park - Mobilization LS 1.00 3,630.00$          3,630.00$          1.00 -                      -$                    1.00 3,630.00$          -$                       3,630.00$          100% -$                    X

8006 W 18th Stage Break Additional Mobilization LS 1.00 24,478.00$        24,478.00$        1.00 -                      -$                    1.00 24,478.00$        -$                       24,478.00$        100% -$                    X

8007 Pheasant Ridge Golf Course Cart Path Overlay: Phase 2 (2" HMA Overlay) TONS 335.00 135.00$              45,225.00$        330.95 -                      -$                    330.95 44,678.25$        -$                       44,678.25$        99% 546.75$              X

8008 PCI Mark Up for Item 8007 LS 1.00 4,522.50$          4,522.50$          1.00 -                      -$                    1.00 4,522.50$          -$                       4,522.50$          100% -$                    X

8009 Cold Weather Concrete Protection SY 280.00 2.00$                  560.00$              280.00 -                      -$                    280.00 560.00$              -$                       560.00$              100% -$                    X

8010 Sanitary Sewer Repair at Grant and Logan LS 1.00 14,342.61$        14,342.61$        1.00 -                      -$                    1.00 14,342.61$        -$                       14,342.61$        100% -$                    X

3,463,045.21$   -$                    3,464,465.00$   -$                       3,464,465.00$   (1,419.79)$         Totals

411

Item 31.



FUNDING SOURCE BREAKDOWN

Project Number:

Contract Completion Date: 12/31/22

A B C D E F J K

Bid                                                                   

Item                                   

Number

Description Unit

1 OFF-SITE TOPSOIL C.Y. 673.00 30.00$                20,190.00$        678.00 20,340.00$        20,340.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

2 EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, ROADWAY, WASTE C.Y. 2,560.00 14.00$                35,840.00$        2,674.00 37,436.00$        37,436.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

3 EXCAVATION , CLASS 12, BOULDERS C.Y. 10.00 30.00$                300.00$              10.00 300.00$              300.00$                 -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

4 BELOW GRADE EXCAVATION (CORE OUT) C.Y. 256.00 14.00$                3,584.00$           -                       -$                     -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

5 SUBGRADE PREPARATION STA. 18.00 300.00$              5,400.00$           -                       -$                     -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

6 SUBGRADE TREATMENT, GEOGRID TENSAR TX-160 S.Y. 4,607.00 8.50$                  39,159.50$        5,973.00 50,770.50$        50,770.50$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

7 SUBBASE, MODIFIED, 6 IN. S.Y. 14.00 30.00$                420.00$              23.00 690.00$              690.00$                 -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

8 SUBBASE, MODIFIED, 12 IN. S.Y. 7,951.00 17.00$                135,167.00$      7,951.00 135,167.00$      135,167.00$         -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

9 REPLACEMENT OF UNSUITABLE BACKFILL MATERIAL TONS 2,253.00 31.00$                69,843.00$        2,547.10 78,960.10$        30,902.15$            -$                     -$                     48,057.95$        -$                     -$                     

10 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 15 IN. HDPE L.F. 651.00 64.00$                41,664.00$        681.00 43,584.00$        43,584.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

11 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 15 IN. RCP, 2000D L.F. 218.00 88.00$                19,184.00$        218.00 19,184.00$        19,184.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

12 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 24 IN. HDPE  L.F. 676.00 82.00$                55,432.00$        676.00 55,432.00$        55,432.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

13 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 30 IN. HDPE  L.F. 345.00 100.00$              34,500.00$        345.00 34,500.00$        34,500.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

14 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 36 IN. HDPE  L.F. 329.00 125.00$              41,125.00$        329.00 41,125.00$        41,125.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

15 SPECIAL PIPE CONNECTIONS, SW-211 EACH 2.00 500.00$              1,000.00$           3.00 1,500.00$           1,500.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

16 REMOVAL STORM SEWER PIPE LESS THAN OR EQUAL TO 36 IN. L.F. 2,798.00 8.00$                  22,384.00$        2,798.00 22,384.00$        22,384.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

17 SUBDRAIN, PERFORATED, 6 IN. L.F. 1,623.00 15.00$                24,345.00$        1,623.00 24,345.00$        24,345.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

18 SUBDRAIN, OUTLET, 6 IN. C.M.P. EACH 18.00 300.00$              5,400.00$           18.00 5,400.00$           5,400.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

19 SUBDRAIN, SUMP PUMP TAP EACH 39.00 275.00$              10,725.00$        39.00 10,725.00$        10,725.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

20 FIELD TILE, 4 IN. TO 8 IN., FIELD REPAIR L.F. 20.00 20.00$                400.00$              15.00 300.00$              300.00$                 -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

21 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 4" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. 25.00 105.00$              2,625.00$           29.00 3,045.00$           -$                        -$                     -$                     3,045.00$           -$                     -$                     

22 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 6" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. 20.00 80.00$                1,600.00$           17.00 1,360.00$           -$                        -$                     -$                     1,360.00$           -$                     -$                     

23 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 8" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. 2,303.00 85.00$                195,755.00$      1,888.00 160,480.00$      -$                        -$                     -$                     160,480.00$      -$                     -$                     

24 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 12" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. 100.00 121.00$              12,100.00$        97.00 11,737.00$        -$                        -$                     -$                     11,737.00$        -$                     -$                     

25 FITTINGS, DUCTILE IRON LBS. 3,521.00 11.50$                40,491.50$        1,788.00 20,562.00$        -$                        -$                     -$                     20,562.00$        -$                     -$                     

26 SERVICE SHORTSIDE, 3/4" EACH 15.00 2,200.00$           33,000.00$        14.00 30,800.00$        -$                        -$                     -$                     30,800.00$        -$                     -$                     

27 SERVICE, LONGSIDE, 3/4" EACH 19.00 2,800.00$           53,200.00$        19.00 53,200.00$        -$                        -$                     -$                     53,200.00$        -$                     -$                     

28 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 4" EACH 11.00 175.00$              1,925.00$           16.00 2,800.00$           -$                        -$                     -$                     2,800.00$           -$                     -$                     

29 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 6" EACH 11.00 175.00$              1,925.00$           12.00 2,100.00$           -$                        -$                     -$                     2,100.00$           -$                     -$                     

30 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 8" EACH 18.00 200.00$              3,600.00$           30.00 6,000.00$           -$                        -$                     -$                     6,000.00$           -$                     -$                     

31 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 12" EACH 12.00 275.00$              3,300.00$           15.00 4,125.00$           -$                        -$                     -$                     4,125.00$           -$                     -$                     

32 JOINT RESTRAINT GASKET, 4" EACH 1.00 225.00$              225.00$              -                       -$                     -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

33 JOINT RESTRAINT GASKET, 6" EACH 2.00 250.00$              500.00$              12.00 3,000.00$           -$                        -$                     -$                     3,000.00$           -$                     -$                     

34 JOINT RESTRAINT GASKET, 8" EACH 18.00 275.00$              4,950.00$           21.00 5,775.00$           -$                        -$                     -$                     5,775.00$           -$                     -$                     

35 JOINT RESTRAINT GASKET, 12" EACH 5.00 350.00$              1,750.00$           2.00 700.00$              -$                        -$                     -$                     700.00$              -$                     -$                     

36 6" NITRILE GASKETS EACH 4.00 200.00$              800.00$              4.00 800.00$              -$                        -$                     -$                     800.00$              -$                     -$                     

37 8" NITRILE GASKETS EACH 94.00 225.00$              21,150.00$        69.00 15,525.00$        -$                        -$                     -$                     15,525.00$        -$                     -$                     

38 12" NITRILE GASKETS EACH 2.00 250.00$              500.00$              16.00 4,000.00$           -$                        -$                     -$                     4,000.00$           -$                     -$                     

39 VALVE, 8" MJ GATE W/ BOX EACH 5.00 2,800.00$           14,000.00$        6.00 16,800.00$        -$                        -$                     -$                     16,800.00$        -$                     -$                     

40 VALVE, 12" MJ GATE W/ BOX EACH 2.00 4,300.00$           8,600.00$           2.00 8,600.00$           -$                        -$                     -$                     8,600.00$           -$                     -$                     

41 FIRE HYDRANT ASSEMBLY EACH 5.00 6,700.00$           33,500.00$        4.00 26,800.00$        -$                        -$                     -$                     26,800.00$        -$                     -$                     

42 VALVE BOX ADJUSTMENT EACH 2.00 650.00$              1,300.00$           5.00 3,250.00$           -$                        -$                     -$                     3,250.00$           -$                     -$                     

43 FIRE HYDRANT ASSEMBLY REMOVAL EACH 3.00 1,350.00$           4,050.00$           2.00 2,700.00$           -$                        -$                     -$                     2,700.00$           -$                     -$                     

44 MANHOLE, STORM SEWER, SW-401, 48" DIA. EACH 6.00 4,600.00$           27,600.00$        6.00 27,600.00$        27,600.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

45 MANHOLE, SANITARY SEWER, SW-301, 48" DIA. EACH 6.00 6,850.00$           41,100.00$        6.00 41,100.00$        41,100.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

46 INTAKE, SW-507 EACH 1.00 6,300.00$           6,300.00$           1.00 6,300.00$           6,300.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

47 INTAKE, SW-509 EACH 2.00 7,700.00$           15,400.00$        2.00 15,400.00$        15,400.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

48 INTAKE, SW-510 EACH 1.00 9,300.00$           9,300.00$           1.00 9,300.00$           9,300.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

49 INTAKE, TYPE B EACH 3.00 6,300.00$           18,900.00$        3.00 18,900.00$        18,900.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

50 INTAKE, TYPE D EACH 18.00 7,700.00$           138,600.00$      18.00 138,600.00$      138,600.00$         -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

51 INTAKE, SINGLE FLAT  EACH 1.00 5,800.00$           5,800.00$           1.00 5,800.00$           5,800.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

52 INTAKE, DOUBLE FLAT  EACH 1.00 8,000.00$           8,000.00$           1.00 8,000.00$           8,000.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

53 INTAKE, SW-507 TOP & INSERT EACH 14.00 2,300.00$           32,200.00$        14.00 32,200.00$        32,200.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

GIF

Distribution of Funds

GO 2022

2022 Street Construction Project

RC-000-3230

Date: 07/31/23

Via (Engineer): Ben Claypool

Principal Engineer

CFU

Estimated 

Quantity 

Installed                                    

( G + H )

Total                    

Completed                    

Value                                           

( E x J )

LOST SRF SCF

           Item

Bid                             

Quantity

Unit                                     

Price

Bid                                       

Value

412

Item 31.



A B C D E F J K

Bid                                                                   

Item                                   

Number

Description Unit
GIF

Distribution of Funds

GO 2022CFU

Estimated 

Quantity 

Installed                                    

( G + H )

Total                    

Completed                    

Value                                           

( E x J )

LOST SRF SCF

           Item

Bid                             

Quantity

Unit                                     

Price

Bid                                       

Value

54 INTAKE, SW-509 TOP & INSERT EACH 2.00 2,700.00$           5,400.00$           2.50 6,750.00$           6,750.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

55 MANHOLE, ADJUSTMENT, MINOR EACH 6.25 1,600.00$           10,000.00$        5.75 9,200.00$           -$                        9,200.00$           -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

56 MANHOLE ADJUSTMENT, MAJOR (MR. MANHOLE) EACH 13.00 2,800.00$           36,400.00$        13.00 36,400.00$        -$                        36,400.00$        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

57 REMOVAL OF STORM MANHOLES AND INTAKES EACH 21.00 600.00$              12,600.00$        37.00 22,200.00$        22,200.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

58 REMOVAL OF SANITARY MANHOLES EACH 6.00 850.00$              5,100.00$           6.50 5,525.00$           5,525.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

59 PAVEMENT, STAND. OR SLIP-FORM, P.C.C., 7 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 2,590.00 51.00$                132,090.00$      2,689.20 137,149.20$      137,149.20$         -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

60 PAVEMENT, STAND. OR SLIP-FORM, P.C.C., 8 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 4,520.00 52.00$                235,040.00$      4,563.10 237,281.20$      237,281.20$         -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

61 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 5.5 FT WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 30.00 95.00$                2,850.00$           6.50 617.50$              617.50$                 -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

62 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 2.0 FT WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 105.00 48.00$                5,040.00$           159.00 7,632.00$           7,632.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

63 HMA, (ST), SURF., 1/2", PG58-28S TON 2,078.00 132.00$              274,296.00$      2,317.91 305,964.12$      305,964.12$         -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

64 HMA, (ST), BASE, 3/4", PG58-28S TON 2,078.00 130.00$              270,140.00$      2,061.31 267,970.30$      267,970.30$         -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

65 REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY S.Y. 607.00 9.00$                  5,463.00$           607.00 5,463.00$           5,463.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

66 REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK S.Y. 382.00 9.00$                  3,438.00$           527.30 4,745.70$           4,261.50$              -$                     -$                     484.20$              -$                     -$                     

67 SIDEWALK, P.C.C., 4 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 287.00 55.00$                15,785.00$        417.30 22,951.50$        19,992.50$            -$                     -$                     2,959.00$           -$                     -$                     

68 SIDEWALK, P.C.C., 6 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 90.00 80.00$                7,200.00$           110.00 8,800.00$           8,800.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

69 DETECTABLE WARNINGS S.F. 230.00 52.00$                11,960.00$        238.00 12,376.00$        12,376.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

70 DRIVEWAY, P.C.C., 6 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 607.00 58.00$                35,206.00$        702.70 40,756.60$        40,756.60$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

71 GRANULAR SURFACING, 1-INCH ROADSTONE TONS 20.00 36.50$                730.00$              -                       -$                     -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

72 PATCH, P.C.C., FULL DEPTH, "M" MIX S.Y. 24.00 250.00$              6,000.00$           14.00 3,500.00$           3,500.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

73 PATCH, PARTIAL DEPTH? HMA (ST) SURFACE, 1/2", PG58-28S TONS 10.00 250.00$              2,500.00$           14.98 3,745.00$           3,745.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

74 MILLING S.Y. 1,363.00 36.00$                49,068.00$        1,539.00 55,404.00$        55,404.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

75 PAVEMENT REMOVAL, PCC S.Y. 7,110.00 7.50$                  53,325.00$        7,210.00 54,075.00$        54,075.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

76 PAVEMENT REMOVAL, ACC S.Y. 7,110.00 6.50$                  46,215.00$        7,173.00 46,624.50$        46,624.50$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

77 CURB AND GUTTER REMOVAL L.F. 135.00 10.00$                1,350.00$           143.00 1,430.00$           1,430.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

78 PAINTED PAVEMENT MARKINGS, SOLVENT/WATERBORNE STA. 124.00 80.00$                9,920.00$           124.00 9,920.00$           9,920.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

79 PAINTED SYMBOLS AND LEGENDS EACH 22.00 75.00$                1,650.00$           22.00 1,650.00$           1,650.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

80 STREET SIGNS (SIGNS, POST, & RECIEVER) EACH 22.00 325.00$              7,150.00$           22.00 7,150.00$           7,150.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

81 TEMPORARY TRAFFIC CONTROL L.S. 1.00 63,500.00$        63,500.00$        1.00 63,500.00$        63,500.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

82 SEEDING, FERTILIZING AND MULCHING FOR HYDRAULIC SEEDING S.F. 1,936.00 0.65$                  1,258.40$           7,747.00 5,035.55$           5,035.55$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

83 SOD S.F. 34,351.00 0.80$                  27,480.80$        38,700.00 30,960.00$        30,960.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

84 STORMWATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN (SWPPP), MANAGEMENT LS 1.00 10,000.00$        10,000.00$        1.00 10,000.00$        10,000.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

85 WATTLES, 9IN. STRAW L.F. 3,554.00 2.25$                  7,996.50$           375.00 843.75$              843.75$                 -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

86 WATTLES, MAINTENANCE AND REMOVAL L.F. 3,554.00 0.50$                  1,777.00$           375.00 187.50$              187.50$                 -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

87 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, INSTALLATION EACH 50.00 150.00$              7,500.00$           26.00 3,900.00$           3,900.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

88 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, MAINTENANCE EACH 50.00 50.00$                2,500.00$           -                       -$                     -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

89 MOBILIZATION L.S. 1.00 368,000.00$      368,000.00$      1.00 368,000.00$      95,503.00$            -$                     212,497.00$      -$                     60,000.00$        -$                     

90 CONCRETE WASHOUT LS 1.00 15,000.00$        15,000.00$        1.00 15,000.00$        15,000.00$            -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

91 SAW AND SEAL JOINTS LF 25,440.00 7.30$                  185,712.00$      25,440.00 185,712.00$      185,712.00$         -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

92 EXCAVATION AND DISPOSAL OF CONTAMINATED SOIL CY 216.00 90.00$                19,440.00$        -                       -$                     -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

8000 Temporary EV Hookup LS 1.00 3,025.00$           3,025.00$           1.00 3,025.00$           -$                        -$                     3,025.00$           -$                     -$                     -$                     

8001 Birdsall Park - Southern Entrance Drive (3" HMA Overlay) TONS 162.00 141.90$              22,987.80$        162.00 22,987.80$        -$                        -$                     22,987.80$        -$                     -$                     -$                     

8002 Birdsall Park - Southern Lot (2" HMA Overlay) TONS 529.00 141.90$              75,065.10$        526.96 74,775.62$        -$                        -$                     74,775.62$        -$                     -$                     -$                     

8003 Birdsall Park - Striping STA 25.05 110.00$              2,755.50$           29.82 3,280.20$           -$                        -$                     3,280.20$           -$                     -$                     -$                     

8004 Birdsall Park - Painted Symbols EA 4.00 66.00$                264.00$              4.00 264.00$              -$                        -$                     264.00$              -$                     -$                     -$                     

8005 Birdsall Park - Mobilization LS 1.00 3,630.00$           3,630.00$           1.00 3,630.00$           -$                        -$                     3,630.00$           -$                     -$                     -$                     

8006 W 18th Stage Break Additional Mobilization LS 1.00 24,478.00$        24,478.00$        1.00 24,478.00$        -$                        -$                     24,478.00$        -$                     -$                     -$                     

8007 Pheasant Ridge Golf Course Cart Path Overlay: Phase 2 (2" HMA Overlay) TONS 335.00 135.00$              45,225.00$        330.95 44,678.25$        -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     44,678.25$        

8008 PCI Mark Up for Item 8007 LS 1.00 4,522.50$           4,522.50$           1.00 4,522.50$           -$                        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     4,522.50$           

8009 Cold Weather Concrete Protection SY 280.00 2.00$                  560.00$              280.00 560.00$              560.00$                 -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

8010 Sanitary Sewer Repair at Grant and Logan LS 1.00 14,342.61$        14,342.61$        1.00 14,342.61$        -$                        14,342.61$        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

3,463,045.21$   3,464,465.00$   2,514,723.87$      59,942.61$        344,937.62$      435,660.15$      60,000.00$        49,200.75$        Totals

413

Item 31.



414

Item 31.



415

Item 31.



416

Item 31.



417

Item 31.



418

Item 31.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II  
 
 DATE: July 31, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: Clay Street Park Water Quality Improvements 
  City Project Number: ST-077-3146 
   Project Final Acceptance  
 
The Clay Street Park Water Quality Improvements Project is completed and ready for 
final acceptance. This project involved the construction of two bioretention cells and a 
permeable alley along Clay Street Park. This project was under contract with Benton’s 
Sand and Gravel of Cedar Falls, Iowa.  
 
Final retainage was released in December 2020 with Council approval. This project was 
funded from the following funding sources 2016 Storm Water Bond Fund and a REAP 
grant from the State of Iowa.  
 
I certify that the public improvements for the Clay Street Park Water Quality 
Improvements Project were completed in reasonable compliance with the project plans 
and specifications. 
 
 
 
      ______________________________________ 
              Matthew Tolan   Date 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, P.E., City Engineer 

Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

7/31/23 

419

Item 32.



No. 8

11/25/20  to 12/11/20 Application Date: 12/11/20

Project Number: Via (Engineer): Brett Armstrong 

10/16/20 Civil Engineer I

1. ORIGINAL CONTRACT PRICE .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 176,494.61$                                                                      

Additions (a) Deductions (b)

15,009.60$                 -$                              2. NET CHANGE BY CHANGE ORDERS ( c ) .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 15,009.60$                                                                         

-$                              -$                              

-$                              -$                              3. CURRENT CONTRACT PRICE .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 191,504.21$                                                                      

-$                              -$                              

-$                              -$                              4. TOTAL COMPLETED AND STORED TO DATE

-$                              -$                              (Total Column F on Progress Estimate) .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 194,174.21$                                                                      

-$                              -$                              

-$                              -$                              5. RETAINAGE

-$                              -$                              a. 5%      x Work Completed   .   .   -$                                                                                     

-$                              -$                              b. 5%      x Stored Materials   .   . -$                                                                                     

-$                              -$                              c. Total Retainage (Line 5a + Line 5b) .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . -$                                                                                     

-$                              -$                              

-$                              -$                              6. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES CHARGED THIS APPLICATION

-$                              -$                              0 Days      x Per Day   .   .   .   .   .   . -$                                                                                     

-$                              -$                              

15,009.60$                 -$                              7. AMOUNT ELIGIBLE TO DATE (Line 4 - Line 5c - Line 6) .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 194,174.21$                                                                      

8. LESS PREVIOUS PAYMENTS (Line 7 From Prior Application)  .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 184,465.50$                                                                      

9. AMOUNT DUE THIS APPLICATION 9,708.71$                                                                           

10. BALANCE TO DATE, PLUS RETAINAGE (Line 7 + Line 5c)   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 194,174.21$                                                                      

11. % OF COMPLETION

Original Contract Price (Line 10 ÷ Line 1) 110%

Current Contract Price (Line 10 ÷ Line 3) 101%

(Line 9 or Other: Attach Explanation if Other Amount)

    ________________________________

Date: 
Date

CONTRACTOR'S                   

APPLICATION                                         

FOR PAYMENT

Pay Application

Jim Snodgrass

Payment of: 9,708.71$                                           

Is Respectufully Submitted:
Brett Armstrong , Civil Engineer I

194,174.21$                               

-$                                              

1,000.00$                                    

Clay Street Park Drainage 

Contract Completion Date:

Change Order Summary

Approved Change Orders:

Number

From (Contractor): Benton's Sand and Gravel 

City of Cedar Falls

Application Period:

ST-077-3146 To (Owner):

12

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

Contractor's Certification

The undersigned Contractor certifies that: (1) all previous progress payments

received from Owner on account of Work done under the Contract have been

applied on account to discharge Contractor's legitimate obligations incurred in

connection with Work covered by prior Applications for Payment; (2) title of all

Work, materials and equipment incorporated in said Work or otherwise listed in or

covered by this Application for Payment will pass to Owner at time of payment free

and clear of all LIens, security interests and encumbrances (except such are covered

by a Bond acceptable to Owner indemnifying Owner against such Liens, security

interest or encumbrances); and (3) all Work covered by this Application for Payment

is in accordance with the Contract Documents and is not defective.

By (Conctractor):

13

14

15

Totals

(a) + (b) = ( c )

Net Change by Change Orders

15,009.60$                                                           

Waived by Contractor 12/16/2020

420

Item 32.



No. 8

to

Project Number:

Contract Completion Date: 10/16/20

A B C D E F G H I J K L M N O

Bid                                                                   

Item                                   

Number

Description Unit

1 CLEARING AND GRUBBING LS 1.00 1,000.00$          1,000.00$          1.00 -                      -$                    1.00 1,000.00$          -$                       1,000.00$          100% -$                    

2 EXCAVATION, CLASS 10 CY 950.00 15.00$                14,250.00$        950.00 -                      -$                    950.00 14,250.00$        -$                       14,250.00$        100% -$                    

3 TOPSOIL, ON-SITE CY 216.00 12.00$                2,592.00$          216.00 -                      -$                    216.00 2,592.00$          -$                       2,592.00$          100% -$                    

4 MODIFIED SOIL, PLANTING MEDIUM CY 310.00 45.00$                13,950.00$        310.00 -                      -$                    310.00 13,950.00$        -$                       13,950.00$        100% -$                    

5 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, PVC, 12 IN. LF 8.00 400.00$              3,200.00$          8.00 -                      -$                    8.00 3,200.00$          -$                       3,200.00$          100% -$                    

6 SUBDRAIN, HDPE, PERFORATED, 6 IN. LF 425.00 10.00$                4,250.00$          425.00 -                      -$                    425.00 4,250.00$          -$                       4,250.00$          100% -$                    

7 SUBDRAIN CLEANOUT, A-1, 6 IN. EA 2.00 600.00$              1,200.00$          2.00 -                      -$                    2.00 1,200.00$          -$                       1,200.00$          100% -$                    

8 SUBDRAIN CLEANOUT, A-2, 6IN. EA 1.00 400.00$              400.00$              1.00 -                      -$                    1.00 400.00$              -$                       400.00$              100% -$                    

9 SUBDRAIN CONNECTION, HDPE, 6 IN. EA 4.00 400.00$              1,600.00$          4.00 -                      -$                    4.00 1,600.00$          -$                       1,600.00$          100% -$                    

10 INTAKE, SW-511 EA 1.00 3,500.00$          3,500.00$          1.00 -                      -$                    1.00 3,500.00$          -$                       3,500.00$          100% -$                    

11 INTAKE ADJUSTMENT, MINOR EA 2.00 2,500.00$          5,000.00$          2.00 -                      -$                    2.00 5,000.00$          -$                       5,000.00$          100% -$                    

12 CURB INLET EA 1.00 1,550.00$          1,550.00$          1.00 -                      -$                    1.00 1,550.00$          -$                       1,550.00$          100% -$                    

13 CONNECTION TO EXISTING PIPE EA 1.00 500.00$              500.00$              1.00 -                      -$                    1.00 500.00$              -$                       500.00$              100% -$                    

14 CURB AND GUTTER, 2 FT., 8 IN. LF 70.00 43.25$                3,027.50$          70.00 -                      -$                    70.00 3,027.50$          -$                       3,027.50$          100% -$                    

15 SIDEWALK, PCC, 4 IN. SY 111.00 57.50$                6,382.50$          111.00 -                      -$                    111.00 6,382.50$          -$                       6,382.50$          100% -$                    

16 SIDEWALK, PCC, 6 IN. SY 21.10 143.00$              3,017.30$          21.10 -                      -$                    21.10 3,017.30$          -$                       3,017.30$          100% -$                    

17 DETECTABLE WARNING SF 20.00 30.00$                600.00$              20.00 -                      -$                    20.00 600.00$              -$                       600.00$              100% -$                    

18 DRIVEWAY, PAVED, TYPE B, PCC, 6 IN. SY 65.00 121.50$              7,897.50$          65.00 -                      -$                    65.00 7,897.50$          -$                       7,897.50$          100% -$                    

19 PAVEMENT REMOVAL SY 150.00 10.00$                1,500.00$          150.00 -                      -$                    150.00 1,500.00$          -$                       1,500.00$          100% -$                    

20 ENGINEERING FABRIC SY 480.00 4.00$                  1,920.00$          480.00 -                      -$                    480.00 1,920.00$          -$                       1,920.00$          100% -$                    

21 STORAGE AGGREGATE TON 300.00 30.00$                9,000.00$          300.00 89.00 2,670.00$          389.00 11,670.00$        -$                       11,670.00$        130% (2,670.00)$         

22 FILTER AGGREGATE TON 155.00 30.00$                4,650.00$          155.00 -                      -$                    155.00 4,650.00$          -$                       4,650.00$          100% -$                    

23 PERMEABLE INTERLOCKING PAVERS, CLAY BRICK SY 115.00 132.74$              15,265.10$        115.00 -                      -$                    115.00 15,265.10$        -$                       15,265.10$        100% -$                    

24 PCC EDGE RESTRAINT, 6 IN. CONCRETE SLAB, 4' WIDE LF 550.00 26.60$                14,630.00$        550.00 -                      -$                    550.00 14,630.00$        -$                       14,630.00$        100% -$                    

25 TEMPORARY TRAFFIC CONTROL LS 1.00 2,500.00$          2,500.00$          1.00 -                      -$                    1.00 2,500.00$          -$                       2,500.00$          100% -$                    

26 BIOCELL, MULCH AND PLANTINGS SF 3,629.00 4.14$                  15,024.06$        3,629.00 -                      -$                    3,629.00 15,024.06$        -$                       15,024.06$        100% -$                    

27 HYDRAULIC SEEDING, SEEDING, FERTILIZING AND MULCHING, TYPE 1 ACRE 0.50 5,000.00$          2,500.00$          -                      0.50 2,500.00$          0.50 2,500.00$          -$                       2,500.00$          100% -$                    

28 WATERING MGAL 31.10 175.00$              5,442.50$          -                      31.10 5,442.50$          31.10 5,442.50$          -$                       5,442.50$          100% -$                    

29 WARRANTY LS 1.00 1,750.00$          1,750.00$          -                      1.00 1,750.00$          1.00 1,750.00$          -$                       1,750.00$          100% -$                    

30 LARGE BIOCELL, OUTLET STRUCTURE, 6 IN. EA 1.00 4,750.00$          4,750.00$          1.00 -                      -$                    1.00 4,750.00$          -$                       4,750.00$          100% -$                    

31 SILT FENCE LF 300.00 3.00$                  900.00$              300.00 -                      -$                    300.00 900.00$              -$                       900.00$              100% -$                    

32 SILT FENCE, REMOVAL OF DEVISE LF 300.00 1.50$                  450.00$              300.00 -                      -$                    300.00 450.00$              -$                       450.00$              100% -$                    

33 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, FINTER SOCK EA 3.00 150.00$              450.00$              3.00 -                      -$                    3.00 450.00$              -$                       450.00$              100% -$                    
34 CONTRUCTION SURVEY LS 1.00 4,875.00$          4,875.00$          1.00 -                      -$                    1.00 4,875.00$          -$                       4,875.00$          100% -$                    

35 MOBILIZATION LS 1.00 16,971.15$        16,971.15$        0.75 0.25 4,242.79$          1.00 16,971.15$        -$                       16,971.15$        100% -$                    

7001 MODIFIED SOIL, PLANTING MEDIUM cy 232.87 45.00$                10,479.15$        232.87 -                      -$                    232.87 10,479.15$        -$                       10,479.15$        100% -$                    

7002 FILTER AGGREGATE Tons 44.10 30.00$                1,323.00$          44.10 -                      -$                    44.10 1,323.00$          -$                       1,323.00$          100% -$                    

7003 Excavation, Class 10 cy 213.83 15.00$                3,207.45$          213.83 -                      -$                    213.83 3,207.45$          -$                       3,207.45$          100% -$                    

191,504.21$      16,605.29$        194,174.21$      -$                       194,174.21$      (2,670.00)$         

Balance to                               

Date                                                  

( F - M )

It
e

m
 C

o
m

p
le

te
d

CONTRACTOR'S APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT Estimate

Totals

Current Pay 

Application                            

Value                                             

( E x H )

Estimated 

Quantity Installed                                    

( G + H )

Total                    

Completed                    

Value                                           

( E x J )

Value of Materials 

Presently Stored                                     

(Column M on 

Stored Materials)

Total Completed                  

and Stored                 

to Date                                     

( K + L )

% Original 

Contract                          

( M ÷ F )

           Item

Bid                             

Quantity

Unit                                     

Price

Bid                                       

Value

Previous Pay 

Application 

Quantities

Clay Street Park Drainage 

ST-077-3146

From (Contractor):

To (Owner):

Application Period:

Current Pay 

Application 

Quantities

Application Date: 12/11/20

Via (Engineer): Brett Armstrong 

Civil Engineer I

11/25/20 12/11/20

City of Cedar Falls

Benton's Sand and Gravel 

421

Item 32.



  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Thom Weintraut, Planner III 

 DATE: August 7, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Setting Public Hearing date to consider offers to purchase and to convey vacated 
right-of-way along Hudson Road 

 

 
REQUEST: 

 
Consideration of offer(s) to purchase and to convey vacated portion of 
Hudson Road (Case #VAC23-001) 
 

LOCATION: 
 

1,728 sq. ft. of public property located on the west side of Hudson Road 
approximately 200 feet north of the intersection of Ashworth Drive.  
 

 

PROPOSAL 
David A. Nicol has requested the vacation of 1,728 sq. ft. of the public right-of-way located on 
the west side of Hudson Road approximately 200 feet north of the Ashworth Drive intersection. 
Council held a public hearing May 15, 2023, on an ordinance to vacate the subject right-of-way 
and on June 20, 2023, the Council adopted said ordinance.  The City notified persons who were 
to be given preference to purchase the vacated right-of-way according to the provisions of 
Section 306.23, Iowa Code.  An offer to purchase the vacated ROW along with certified checks 
made payable to the City of Cedar Falls for the fair market value of $7,000 were received from 
David Nicol. Fair market value was determined by independent appraisal with reductions for 

easements retained.    
 
RECOMMENDATION TO SET PUBLIC HEARING DATE 
A vacation plat is attached to this report which indicates the area that has been vacated and is 
being made available for purchase. Staff recommends the City Council set a public hearing date 
for August 21, 2023, to consider qualified offers to purchase the vacated right-of-way and to 
consider conveyance of said property to a qualified buyer whose offer equals or exceeds other 
qualified offers and equals or exceeds fair market value, with the City reserving the right to 
reject all offers.  
 
 
Attachments: Resolution setting public hearing date 
  Right of Way Vacation Plat  
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

     VISITORS & TOURISM/  

PLANNING & COMMUNITY SERVICES INSPECTION SERVICES RECREATION & COMMUNITY PROGRAMS CULTURAL PROGRAMS 

220 CLAY STREET 220 CLAY STREET  110 E. 13TH
 STREET  6510 HUDSON ROAD 

PH: 319-273-8606 PH: 319-268-5161 PH: 319-273-8636 PH: 319-268-4266 

FAX: 319-273-8610 FAX: 319-268-5197 FAX: 319-273-8656 FAX: 319-277-9707 

 

422

Item 33.



   

            

   

            

     

                      

           

      

      

Prairie Winds 4th Addition

L
O

T
 
1
7

L
O

T
 
1
4

LOT 13

2649.70'

N 00°42'50" W

L
O

T
 
1
8

C

CC

D

D

N 89°16'12" E  566.83' - 567' R

Document 202200025092

Parcel "C"

Per Misc. Bk. 333, Page 311

Rebar in Monument Box

26-89-14W Fnd. 1/2"

SE Cor. NW 1/4 of Sec.

Page 673

Misc. Bk. 336,

Monument Box Per

No. 2697 in

1/2" Rebar w/YC

Sec. 26-89-14W Fnd.

NE Cor. NW 1/4 of

5
5
3
,

P
a
g
e
 
5
2
8
-
5
2
9

R
.

O
.

W
.
 

L
D
 

B
k
.

Sheet 1 of 2

Sheets 1 and 2 of 2

Sheet 1 of 2

0

Scale in Feet

Sheet 1 of 2

Date of Survey 6-08-2021

R
e
s
e
r
v
e
d
 
f
o
r
 

C
o
u
n
t
y
 

R
e
c
o
r
d
e
r
's
 

U
s
e

   under the laws of the State of Iowa.    

   that I am a duly Licensed Land Surveyor

   my direct personal supervision and

   document was prepared by me or under

   I hereby certify that this Land Surveying 

Pages or sheets covered by this seal:

                                  Date

My license renewal date is December 31,2024

8505License number

 

 

IIIIII
III
III
II
II
II
II

II
II
II
II
II
II
II
I
I
I
II
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
II
II
I
II
II
II
II
II
II

II
II
II
III
III
IIIII

IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII
I
I
I
II
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
III

IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII

8505

IOW A

L
IC

E
N
S

ED
 LAND SU

R
V
E
Y

O
R

MICHAEL R. FAGLE          

MICHAEL R.

FAGLE

R = Record Dimension    

D = Found 1/2" Rebar OPC No. 17162

C = Found 1/2" Rebar YPC No. 2697

Legend

40 80 120 160

4th Addition

Prairie Winds

South Line

1

2

3

4

P.O.B.

21.55' - 21.5' R

S 89°17'15" W

Hudson Road

R-O-W Line

Present WestS
e
c
.
 
2
6
-
T
8
9

N
-
R
1
4

W

S
E
 
1
/
4
 

N
W
 
1
/
4

City of Cedar Falls, County of Black Hawk, State of Iowa

Section 26, Township 89 North, Range 14 West of the 5th P.M.

Part of the  Southeast 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4

Right-of-Way Vacation Plat

Date Revised 7-07-2023

7-07-2023

Outlot A

Vacation

Right-of-Way

Contains 1735 S.F. or 0.04 Acre

Outlot A

Right-of-Way Vacation

423

Item 33.

FagleM
Image



           

           

           
           
           

Sheet 2 of 2

City of Cedar Falls, County of Black Hawk, State of Iowa

Section 26, Township 89 North, Range 14 West of the 5th P.M.

Part of the  Southeast 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4

Right-of-Way Vacation Plat

424

Item 33.



 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8606 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Mayor Rob Green and City Council 

 FROM: Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: August 7, 2023  

 SUBJECT: Zoning Code Text Amendment – Parking for Civic/Institutional Uses in 

Downtown Character District (TA23-002) 

 

 
Background 
 

The City received an inquiry 

from St. Patrick Catholic 

Church about constructing a 

new parking lot on a property 

they recently acquired that is 

located on the north side of 

7th Street between 

Washington Street and Main 

Street.  The property is 

across Clay Street from St. 

Patrick’s School and across 

7th Street from St. Patrick’s 

Church. The school, church, 

and vacant property are located in the Urban General (UG) frontage area within the 

Downtown Character District. The property is currently vacant land with no buildings. 

Previously another church was located on the site but has since been demolished.  

St. Patrick’s would like to use the lot for parking but in the future may build a daycare or 

other building on the site. There are a couple of challenges the church has identified 

regarding future use of the property.  They have indicated that the 2-story minimum 

height requirement for a new building may be problematic, as they are only 

contemplating a 1-story daycare center in the future. Secondly, in most zoning districts, 

as is the case here, parking is not generally allowed without a principal use on the 

property and the location of parking is based on setback standards relative to the 

425

Item 34.



 
 

principal buildings and uses on the site. The question is whether civic and institutional 

uses should be treated differently as they are generally located on larger or contiguous 

parcels, as you can see in the image above for St. Patrick’s school and church, Lincoln 

Elementary and the Methodist Church. Also, is the 2-story minimum height standard in 

the UG, UG2, and Storefront areas of the Downtown Character District problematic, 

given the small size of many properties and parking requirements for upper story uses.   

Analysis 
 

Parking Location Standards 

The intent of the Urban General and Storefront frontages in the Downtown Character 

District is to encourage buildings to be built close to the street so that street frontages 

are lined with buildings to support a pedestrian-friendly, mixed-use district. To achieve 

that goal, the regulating plan for the Downtown Character District contains a build-to line 

at the fronts of lots indicating where buildings should be aligned along the street. The 

parking setback line in the Urban General, Urban General 2, and Storefront frontages is 

generally about 30 feet behind the build-to line (RBL) indicating where parking can be 

located.  Along the side streets (generally the numbered streets that run perpendicular 

to the mid-block alleys), there is an area where parking can be placed closer to the 

street if it is enclosed within a building. See an excerpt from the Downtown regulating 

plan below with the red lines indicating the build-to area and the blue line representing 

the parking setback line.  Parking can be located anywhere behind the blue lines.  

 

 

426

Item 34.



 
 

It should be noted that parking lots in all zoning districts must be set back from 

streetside lot lines and abutting properties and screened with trees and shrubs. 

Following is a list of the parking setback rules for various zoning districts:  

 In residential zoning districts no parking is allowed in the front yard (area 

between the principal buildings and the street), required front yard or required 

side yards.  Required side yards are generally 10% of the lot width. Required 

front yards in these zones: 

o R-1:    30 feet 

o R-2, R-3: 25 feet 

o R-4:    20 feet 

 MU – Mixed Use District: 30 feet from major streets, 20 feet from interior streets 

and accessways 

 HWY-1 Commercial District: 20 feet  

 C or M Districts: 5 feet, but 10 feet when abutting a residential district 

 

There are several civic and institutional uses in the Downtown Character District, 

including St. Patrick Church and School, First Methodist Church, First Presbyterian 

Church, and Lincoln Elementary School.  Civic and Institutional uses such as churches 

and schools are often designed with open spaces, parking areas, and playgrounds in a 

campus-like setting, which in the downtown area often involves multiple adjacent 

properties. While Civic Buildings as designated on the regulating plan and as defined in 

the code, are exempt from certain standards in the new Character District Code, there is 

no specific exemption for parking lots, particularly when located on a separate lot from 

the principal use.  

 
The intent of the Downtown Character District Code is to facilitate development that is 

consistent with the adopted Downtown Vision Plan. One of the major objectives of the 

Vision Plan is to encourage future development that helps preserve the character of the 

Downtown area.  Churches and schools and other institutional uses are important to the 

character and livability of the downtown neighborhoods. Since they operate differently 

than commercial or residential uses, different rules may be warranted, provided they 

ensure that surrounding residential properties and public areas such as parks and 

public sidewalks are buffered from vehicular areas and glare from lights.  

 

Minimum Building Height in the Downtown Character District 

The 2-story minimum building height standard in the UG, UG2, and Storefront Areas is 

intended to ensure a minimum building scale along downtown streets, similar to the 

main street character along the parkade. The minimum height encourages development 

that fully utilizes downtown sites and building up instead of spreading out preserves 

larger areas behind for needed parking. That being said, there are many small 

427

Item 34.



 
 

properties downtown where requiring a second story may require more parking than 

what is possible on the site, making redevelopment challenging. There are also sites 

where mixed-use, storefront-type development is not desired by the property owner, 

such as the case with many civic and institutional uses.  

 

Discussion of Solutions 

 

Minimum Building Height 

Staff have heard from several property owners that a second story would be challenging 

and was not within the anticipated scope of their project.  With such a small downtown 

area in Cedar Falls, the challenges of requiring a minimum building height may 

outweigh the benefits. Staff recommends eliminating the minimum height standard from 

the code. At the Planning and Zoning Commission meeting on May 24, the 

Commission expressed concern about eliminating the 2-story minimum height 

requirement in all cases and recommended either leaving the code as is or 

coming up with an exception process whereby waiver of the second story could 

be considered on a case-by-case basis based on specific standards. Staff agreed 

to bring back some ideas at a later date for consideration.   

 

Parking Location Standards 

To provide more flexibility for civic and institutional uses in the Downtown Character 

District, staff suggests consideration of creating a special rule that would allow parking 

to be located forward of the parking setback line on the regulating plan, but with certain 

conditions that would ensure that parking areas are buffered and screened with 

landscaping and trees from public sidewalks and abutting properties. The following 

language is provided for consideration:  

 

On lots owned by and used for an allowed Civic or Institutional Use, parking 
may be located forward of the parking setback line, provided that:  

1. The parking area is on a lot that contains the subject Institutional or 
Civic Use or directly abuts or is across the street or alley from the Civic 
or Institutional Use;  

2. The parking area is setback a minimum of 10’ from any streetside lot 
line and parking setbacks from common lot lines according to the 
requirements of code shall apply;  

3. The parking area shall be landscaped according to the standards in 
Section 26-220(i), General landscaping of parking within all districts; 

4. If the lot shares a common lot line with a Neighborhood Small or 
Medium frontage lot, or a lot in a R-1 or R-2 District, the parking lot 
shall be set back a minimum of 5 feet from the common lot line and 
screened according to the standards in Section 26-220(i), General 
landscaping of parking areas within all districts.  

428

Item 34.



 
 

5. When a principal building is constructed on the site, the building must 
meet all standards and requirements, as applicable.      

 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:  

 

After a public hearing on June 14, 2023 meeting, the Planning and Zoning Commission 

denied TA23-002, proposed zoning code text amendments to the parking setback 

requirements for civic and institutional uses in the Downtown Character District, on a 

vote of 2 ayes and 5 nays.  

 

Despite the Planning and Zoning Commission’s disapproval of the proposed 

zoning code amendments, staff received a request that the proposal be forwarded 

to the City Council for consideration. Therefore, staff recommends that the 

Council set a public hearing date for August 21, 2023.   

(Approval will require a 2/3rd majority vote of City Council).       

 
(Note: Per direction of the Planning and Zoning Commission, discussions about 

amending the minimum height standards were postponed until a later date to allow time 

for staff to develop some alternative language for consideration).  

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MINUTES 
 

Discussion 
5/24/2023 

 
Commission moved to the next item, a zoning code text amendment regarding 
parking and minimum building height for institutional uses in CD-DT. Chair 
Lynch introduced the item and Ms. Howard provided background information. 
She explained that the discussion was prompted by an inquiry from St. Patrick’s 
Church about using a vacant lot for a surface parking lot. The property is in the 
Urban General Frontage of the Downtown Character District. She noted that the 
church indicated that sometime in the future they may build a new daycare on 
the site but for now would like to use the entirety of the lot for parking. She 
noted that accessory uses, such as parking, are not allowed without a principal 
use in any zone in the City with a few exceptions. She noted that parking area 
setbacks in most zones are relative to the principal buildings on the site. Also, 
the two-story minimum building height in the UG, UG2 and Storefront areas 
may be problematic as well. Ms. Howard displayed an image of an excerpt of 
the downtown regulating plan to demonstrate how parking setback areas are 
delineated on the Downtown Character District Regulating Plan.  She discussed 
parking setbacks in other zoning districts as a comparison to the Downtown 
Character District code. She noted that the question is whether there should be 
some additional flexibility for parking for civic/institutional uses in the Downtown 
Character District to allow parking forward of the parking setback lines on the 
regulating plan. She noted that there are a number of churches and schools in 
the Downtown Character District with campus-like settings that extend over 
multiple properties. She noted that institutional uses are important to the 
character of the neighborhood and this may warrant different rules, but it is 

429

Item 34.



 
 

important to ensure surrounding development is respected. This might be 
achieved by creating a landscaped buffer between parking areas and public 
sidewalks and adjacent properties. She also discussed the pros and cons of the 
minimum two-story height standard and spoke about solutions that could allow 
for more flexibility for Civic and Institutional uses. At this time the item will be for 
discussion by the Commission. 
 
Mr. Larson made a motion to set a public hearing for the June 14, 2023 
meeting. Ms. Crisman seconded the motion.  
 
Mr. Leeper stated that he struggles with this request and is concerned about 
making all sorts of exceptions to the rules in the new code.  He feels it sets a 
bad precedent.  
 
Mr. Larson likes the points of challenge with the new code as they give an 
opportunity to consider all options, but he also feels that after going through the 
exhaustive process of creating the zoning code that it’s important to stick to it. 
He believes that the parking matter, regardless of how you feel about it, drives 
the building height situation. He also feels that public/non-profit and private 
development sectors should follow the same rules. 
 
Ms. Crisman feels that the whole vibe of the downtown area is the character of 
density so starting to make exceptions will undo that. She would like to stay with 
the current rules and let them work as they are. 
 
Ms. Lynch agreed with the previous sentiments.  
 
Mr. Larson asked about potentially coming up with a formula for height 
exceptions to allow for consideration of individual projects based on the size of 
the site being considered. 
 
After further discussion, Mr. Larson revised his motion to set the date for a 
public hearing for the parking amendments only and to leave the question of 
minimum height until a later date. Ms. Crisman seconded the motion. The 
motion was approved unanimously with 7 ayes (Alberhasky, Crisman, 
Grybovych, Larson, Leeper, Lynch and Stalnaker), and 0 nays.  

430

Item 34.



 
 

 
Discussion 
6/14/2023 

 
The first item of business was a zoning text amendment regarding parking for 
institutional uses in CD-DT. Acting Chair Hartley introduced the item and Ms. 
Howard provided background information. She explained that the item was 
presented at the last meeting and gave a brief recap of the information. An 
inquiry from St. Patrick’s about using a vacant lot for a surface parking lot 
prompted the discussion as the property is in the Urban General Frontage of 
the Downtown Character District. They may build a new daycare building in the 
future. The accessory uses, such as parking, are not allowed without a principal 
use. Parking setback in most zones is relative to the principal buildings on the 
site. The question becomes whether parking for civic and institutional uses be 
treated differently. Urban General encourages buildings close to the street with 
parking located behind to create a pedestrian-friendly mixed-use district. The 
parking setback from the street is about 30 feet in this zoning district. Allowance 
can be made for additional area along side streets if it is behind a building wall, 
such as in a garage or in a parking facility. She provided examples of parking 
setbacks in other zoning districts.  
 
Ms. Howard explained that there are a number of churches and schools in the 
Downtown Character District with campus-like settings on multiple properties. 
Institutional uses are important to the character of the neighborhood and may 
warrant different rules, but it is also important to ensure surrounding 
development is respected. Buffering parking areas from public sidewalks and 
adjacent properties would help to do that. She discussed the solutions that were 
discussed at the previous meeting that would allow for more flexibility for civic 
and institutional uses. Staff recommends allowing more flexibility for these types 
of uses and creating a special rule that would allow parking forward of the 
parking setback line with the conditions outlined in the staff report and/or with 
any modifications or additional comments from the Commission. 
 
Paul Dimarco, 1707 E. Bremer Avenue, Waverly, spoke as a parishioner of St. 
Patrick’s. He discussed different projects that he has been a part of with the 
church and asked the Commission to consider support for the proposed zoning 
changes. He thanked staff and the Commission for all their work and support of 
the community. He believes the additional parking would assist in reducing 
parking needs and loads on the neighbors, as well as Main Street events.  
 
Mr. Larson feels it makes sense but still has concerns about a different set of 
rules for civic and institutional uses.  
 
Mr. Leeper feels that the timing is a challenge as the code was just updated and 
this is the first project coming through. To make a change right away doesn’t 
allow the code a chance to work as it has been laid out. 
 
Ms. Crisman agreed to their sentiments, stating that while one location might 
need the additional space, it doesn’t mean that all of the other locations will 
need the additional parking. If the rules are changed, it would be allowed for all 
of them. She would prefer not to change the code. 
 
Mr. Larson asked about the possibility of a variance. Ms. Howard explained that 
anyone has a right to request a variance, but the bar is set high to show that 

431

Item 34.



 
 

you don’t have any use of the property because of zoning rules. It would be 
difficult to meet a variance standard in this case. 
 
Ms. Crisman asked if the property was included in the parking study. Ms. 
Howard was uncertain but believed it was outside the area of the downtown 
study.  
 
Ms. Crisman made a motion to approve the item as recommended. Mr. Larson 
seconded the motion. The motion was denied with 2 ayes (Alberhasky and 
Hartley), and 5 nays (Crisman, Larson, Leeper, Moser and Stalnaker). 
 

 

432

Item 34.



   FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

 M E M O R A N D U M 
Public Records Division 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Marcie Breitbach, Administrative & Parking Supervisor 

 DATE: July 31, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Parking Permits - Ordinance Amendments 

 
Please find attached proposed ordinance amendments that were discussed at the July 
17, 2023 Finance & Business Operations Committee meeting. This ordinance clarifies 
the current 48-hour parking limit and provides an option for temporary long-term parking 
permits for the municipal parking lots. 
 
Additionally, this ordinance also includes a clean-up item for Section 23-411, correcting  
a reference to the Central Business District, which is now known as the Downtown 
Character District. 
 
Please feel free to contact me with questions regarding these proposed amendments. 
Thank you. 
  
     

433

Item 35.



 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 

AN ORDINANCE (1) REPEALING SECTIONS 23-418, PARKING PERMITS FOR MUNICIPAL 
PARKING LOTS OR PARKING FACILITIES; AND (2) SECTION 23-411, PARKING 

ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS DESCRIBED; AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF NEW 
SECTIONS 23-418, PARKING PERMITS FOR MUNICIPAL PARKING LOTS OR PARKING 

FACILITIES AND 23-411, PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS DESCRIBED, ALL 
CONTAINED IN DIVISION 2, PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS, EQUIPMENT, 

OPERATIONS AND FACILITIES, OF ARTICLE IV, STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING, 
OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA; 

 Section 1.  Section 23-418, Parking permits for municipal parking lots and parking 
facilities, of Division 2, Parking enforcement districts, equipment, operations and facilities, of 
Article IV, Stopping, Standing and Parking, of Chapter 23, Stopping, standing and parking, of 
the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa is hereby repealed in its entirety and a 
new Section 23-418, Parking permits for municipal parking lots and parking facilities, is enacted 
in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 23-418. Parking permits for municipal parking lots or parking facilities. 

(a) Generally. The owner or operator of a motor vehicle may obtain a parking permit for 
use in the off-street municipal parking lots or facilities. Parking permits may be 
assigned to a specific parking lot or facility, and may vary in price. Parking permit fees 
shall be established from time to time by resolution of the city council. The parking 
permits are  is to be displayed and visible thru in the lower left-hand corner of the 
windshield of the vehicle unless the owner or operator of the vehicle has properly 
registered the license plate of the vehicle to be associated with a virtual parking permit 
thru the parking enforcement agency designated by the city. 

(b) Monthly permit. The purchase and proper display/registration of a monthly parking 
permit, as required in this subsection shall entitle the motor vehicle to be parked in the 
designated off-street municipal parking lot or facility for a period of up to 48 consecutive 
hours for the month purchased without penalty. Monthly permitted vehicles parked 
beyond the 48-hour limit without moving are in violation of this subsection and are 
subject to citation for overtime parking and removal by tow at owner’s expense. An 
additional daily parking permit must be purchased separately for temporary long-term 
parking  beyond the 48-hour limit. 

(c) Daily permit (temporary long-term).  In addition to a monthly parking permit, a daily 
parking permit may be purchased by monthly permit holders for temporary long-term 
parking in the same municipal parking lot or facility as the monthly parking permit. The 
purchase and proper display/registration of a daily parking permit entitles the motor 
vehicle to be parked in the designated off-street municipal parking lot or facility, without 
moving the vehicle, for the designated dates purchased, without penalty or removal by 
tow. 

 

434

Item 35.



 

 

 Section 2.  Section 23-411, Parking enforcement districts described, of Division 2, 
Parking enforcement districts, equipment, operations and facilities, of Article IV, Stopping, 
Standing and Parking, of Chapter 23, Stopping, standing and parking, of the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 
23-411, Parking enforcement districts described, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 23-411. Parking enforcement districts described. 

The following named and described districts, lying within the corporate limits of the city, 
shall constitute a parking enforcement district.  

(1) Downtown parking enforcement district, being the boundaries described in section 26-
191189 as the Downtown Character District (CD-DT), Central Business District (CBD) 
overlay zoning district.  

(2) College Hill parking enforcement district, being the boundaries described in section 
26-181, College Hill Neighborhood (CHN) overlay zoning district.  

 

INTRODUCED:     August 7, 2023  

PASSED 1st CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 2nd CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:       

ADOPTED:          

 

 

_____________________________ 
                                                                           Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 

435

Item 35.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
  
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 
 DATE: August 7, 2023 
 
SUBJECT:  Updates to City Code Section 23-374 – Parking Prohibited on Specific 

Streets 
  And 
  Updates to City Code Section 23-379 – Limited Parking on Specific 

Streets 
 
The no parking ordinance on University Avenue frontage road north of University 
Avenue (Dakota Street) from W. 31st Street to its westerly terminus currently exists on 
both the northerly and southerly sides of the street. UNI has requested to allow limited 
parking on the northerly side of the street. This would allow students to park on the 
street to attend classes held at the UNI owned house located at 8712 University Ave. 
(frontage road). The southerly side of the street within these same limits would remain 
no parking.    
 
The Engineering Division is recommending that the current no parking that exists on the 
northerly side of University Avenue frontage road (Dakota Street) from 31st Street to its 
western terminus be allowed for a duration of 90 minutes. This will allow students to 
park on the street for the duration of scheduled classes.    
 
The Engineering Division is proposing changes to (1) City Code Section 23-374 – 
Parking Prohibited on Specific Streets to remove the no parking on the northerly side of 
the frontage road; and (2) City Code Section 23-379 – Limited Parking on Specific 
Streets to allow for limited parking so the code will match the proposed limits of the 
parking request along the frontage road. Please see the attached changes to City Code 
Section 23-374 – Parking Prohibited on Specific Streets and City Code Section 23-379 
– Limited Parking on Specific Streets. 
 
 
 
 
 

436

Item 36.



The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends approval to set 
the newly defined area to allow limited on-street parking. This area is shown on the 
attached exhibit.    
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 
 
 
    

437

Item 36.



438

Item 36.

WickeD
Arc

WickeD
Line

WickeD
Arrow

WickeD
Arc

WickeD
Line

WickeD
Stamp

WickeD
Arrow

WickeD
Line

WickeD
Stamp



 

 

 
Page 1 of 1 

Sec. 23-374. Parking prohibited on specific streets. 

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle at any time upon any of the streets or 
portions of streets enumerated in this section.  

Street  Portion Where  
Parking Prohibited  

Frontage roads along the 
north side of University 
Avenue 

On both sides of said frontage road from the east curb line of Valley Park Drive 
east to the end of said frontage road at the entrance to the Holiday Inn Motel. 

 On the south side of the frontage road (Dakota Street) from the south curb line 
of West 31st Street (UNI Institutional Road), west to the end of said frontage 
road (Dakota Street). On both sides of frontage road from the west curb line of 
Ohio Street (UNI Institutional Road) west to the east curb line of Hudson Road. 

 On both sides of the frontage road along the north side of University Avenue 
between Main Street and Tremont Street, from the most westerly curb cut on 
said frontage road, west to the end of said frontage road. 

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019; Ord. No. 2991, §§ 1, 2, 6-7-2021; Ord. No. 3013, § 1, 7-18-2022; Ord. No. 3017, § 
1, 10-3-2022)  

Sec. 23-379. Limited parking on specific streets. 

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle on the following streets or portions of 
streets for a period longer than the time limit specified in this section.  

Street  Portion Where  
Parking Prohibited  

Frontage roads along the 
north side of University 
Avenue 

On the north side of the frontage road (Dakota Street) from 35 feet southwest 
of the south curb line of West 31st Street (UNI Institutional Road), west to the 
end of said frontage road (Dakota Street), parking shall be limited to a 90-
minute period.  

(Ord. No. 2962, § 1, 2-3-2020) 

 

439

Item 36.



 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 
 

AN ORDINANCE (1) AMENDING SECTION 23-374, PARKING PROHIBITED 
ON SPECIFIC STREETS, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE IV, 
STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING, OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND 
MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, BY STRIKING THE UNNUMBERED SUBSECTION 
ENTITLED “FRONTAGE ROADS ALONG THE NORTH SIDE OF 
UNIVERSITY AVENUE” , AND ENACTING A NEW UNNUMBERED 
SUBSECTION OF THE SAME TITLE; AND (2) AMENDING SECTION 23-379, 
LIMITED PARKING ON SPECIFIC STREETS, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, 
OF ARTICLE IV, STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING, OF CHAPTER 23, 
TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 
THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA,  BY ADDING A NEW UNNUMBERED 
SUBSECTION ENTITLED “FRONTAGE ROADS ALONG THE NORTH SIDE 
OF UNIVERSITY AVENUE” ALLOWING LIMITED PARKING ON PORTIONS 
OF THE FRONTAGE ROAD (DAKOTA STREET) ALONG THE NORTH SIDE 
OF UNIVERSITY AVENUE. 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
Section 1. The unnumbered subsection entitled “Frontage roads along the north side 
of University Avenue” in Section 23-374, Parking Prohibited on Specific Streets, of 
Division 1, Generally, of Article IV, Stopping, Standing and Parking, of Chapter 23, 
Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
is hereby stricken in its entirety and a new unnumbered subsection of the same title is 
enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 
 

Street Portion Where Parking Prohibited 

Frontage roads along 
the north side of 
University Avenue 

On both sides of said frontage road from the east curb 
line of Valley Park Drive east to the end of said frontage 
road at the entrance to the Holiday Inn Motel. 

 On both sides of said frontage road from the west curb 
line of Ohio Street (UNI Institutional Road) west to the 
east curb line of Hudson Road. 

 On the south side of the frontage road (Dakota Street) 
from the south curb line of West 31st Street (UNI 
Institutional Road), west to the end of said frontage 
road (Dakota Street.)  

On both sides of the frontage road along the north side 
of University Avenue between Main Street and Tremont 
Street, from the most westerly curb cut on said frontage 
road, west to the end of said frontage road. 

440

Item 36.



2 

 

 
Section 2.  Section 23-379, Limited parking on specific streets, of Division 1, 
Generally, of Article IV, Stopping, Standing and Parking, of Chapter 23, Traffic and 
Motor Vehicles, is hereby amended by adding a new unnumbered subsection, entitled 
“Frontage roads along the north side of University Avenue”, as follows: 
 

Street Portion Where Parking Prohibited 

Frontage roads along the 
north side of University 
Avenue 

On the north side of the frontage road (Dakota Street) 
from 35 feet southwest of the south curb line of West 
31st Street (UNI Institutional Road), west to the end of 
said frontage road (Dakota Street), parking shall be 
limited to a 90-minute period  

 
 
INTRODUCED:     ____________    
 
PASSED 1st CONSIDERATION:   ____________    
 
PASSED 2nd CONSIDERATION:   ____________    
 
PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:   ____________    
 
ADOPTED:      ____________    
 
 

___________________________
__ 

                                                                             Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

441

Item 36.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Brett Armstrong, E.I., Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: August 7, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: Update to City Code Section 23-231 – Through Streets Designated 
 
 
Submitted for council approval is the ordinance change regarding Center Street through 
street designation. 
 
The intended street crossing at Center Street and Lone Tree will be marked with a 4-
way stop after Council Decision following committee of the whole meeting on July 17th, 
2023.  
 
After conducting a traffic study, the engineering department recommended adding 
additional signage for the existing 2-way stop intersection. City Council then voted 
instead to change the Lone Tree and Center Street intersection to a 4-way stop.  
 
The Engineering Division is proposing changes to City Code Section 23-231 – Through 
Streets Designated so the code matches the changes that have been decided. Please 
see the attached changes for City Code Section 23-231 – Through Streets Designated.  
 
 
If you have any questions or concerns, please feel free to ask.  
 
 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer  

442

Item 37.



 
 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 
 

AN ORDINANCE MAINTAINING CENTER STREET AS AN ARTERIAL THROUGH 
STREET FROM FIRST STREET TO THE NORTH CITY LIMITS, BUT ADDING AN 
EXCEPTION AT LONE TREE ROAD BY STRIKING THE UNNUMBERED SUBSECTION 
ENTITLED CENTER STREET AND CORRESPONDING DESIGNATION IN SECTION 
23-231, THROUGH STREETS DESIGNATED, OF DIVISION 3, RIGHT-OF-WAY, OF 
ARTICLE III, OPERATION, OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF 
THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA,  AND 
ENACTING A NEW UNNUMBERED SUBSECTION ENTITLED CENTER STREET AND 
CORRESPONDING  DESIGNATION IN LIEU THEREOF. 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

 
Section 1. The unnumbered Subsection entitled Center Street and corresponding designation, of 

Section 23-231, Through Streets Designated, of Division 3, Right-of-Way, of Article III, Operation, of 
Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is 
hereby repealed in its entirety and a new unnumbered subsection entitled Center Street, and 
corresponding designation, are hereby enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

 

Street                                                                  Portion of Street                                                                        

Designated as Arterial                                                                           

Through Street 

                   Center Street                                             From First Street to the north city limits, except at 

Lone Tree Road. 

INTRODUCED:     ____________    
 
PASSED 1st CONSIDERATION:   ____________    
 
PASSED 2nd CONSIDERATION:   ____________    
 
PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:   ____________    
 
ADOPTED:      ____________    
 
 

 
_____________________________ 

                                                                             Robert M Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

443

Item 37.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-07-11 12:31:49 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 16) 

 
Page 1 of 5 

Sec. 23-231. Through streets designated. 

The following streets and parts of streets are hereby declared to be through streets:  

 Street  Portion of Street  
Designated as Arterial  

Through Street  

First Street  From Main Street west to the city limits.  

Second Street  From Iowa Street to Hudson Road, except for Walnut 
Street and Division Street.  

Fourth Street  From Franklin Street west to Pheasant Drive, except at 
Walnut Street, at Hudson Road, and at its intersection 
With Angie Drive and Holmes Drive.  

Sixth Street  From Main Street west to Sartori Hospital, except at 
Franklin Street.  

Seventh Street (West)  At the intersection of Division Street.  
  At the intersection of Franklin Street.  

Eighth Street (West)  From College Street west to Hudson Road, except at 
Division Street.  

 At the intersection of Barrington Drive.  
  At the intersection of Franklin Street.  

Ninth Street  From College Street west to the west line of Division 
Street, except at Division Street.  

Tenth Street  From College Street west to the west line of Division 
Street, except at Division Street.  

11th Street  From College Street west to the end of College Street, 
except at Division Street.  

12th Street (East)  From Main Street east to the end of 12th Street (East).  

12th Street (West)  From Main Street west to the city limits, except at 
Walnut Street, College Street, Hudson Road and Union 
Road.  

13th Street (East)  From Waterloo Road to Main Street east to Waterloo 
Road.  

14th Street (East)  From Main Street east to Waterloo Road.  

18th Street  From Waterloo Road west to Hudson Road, except at 
Main Street and College Street.  

19th Street (West)  From College Street to Hudson Road, except at its two 
intersections with Merner Avenue.  

22nd Street  From Main Street to Campus Street, except at Walnut 
Street and College Street.  

444

Item 37.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-07-11 12:31:49 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 16) 

 
Page 2 of 5 

23rd Street (West)  From College Street to Hudson Road, except at Campus 
Street.  

27th Street  From Main Street west to College Street, and from 
Hudson Road west to the city limits.  

Barnett Drive  From West Fourth Street to West 12th Street.  

Belle Avenue  From Rainbow Drive to Waterloo Road.  

Bergstrom Boulevard  From South Main Street Road to South Lawn Road, 
except at South Main Street and South Lawn Road.  

Big Woods Road  From Independence Avenue to the north city limits, 
except at Lake Street and Dunkerton Road.  

Boulder Drive  From Orchard Drive to University Avenue.  

Briarwood Drive  From Orchard Drive south and east to Orchard Hill Drive.  

Campus Street  From West 18th Street to the south line of West 23rd 
Street.  

Carlton Drive  From Orchard Drive to Maplewood Drive.  
  From Orchard Drive south to Briarwood Drive.  

Cedar Heights Drive  From Rainbow Drive south to the south city limits, 
except at University Avenue.  

Center Street  From First Street to the north city limits.  From First 
Street to north city limits, except at Lone Tree Road. 

Clay Street  From First Street to 18th Street, except at Second Street, 
Third Street, Sixth Street and 12th Street.  

College Street  From Sixth Street to end of street south of 29th Street, 
except at 12th Street, 18th Street and University 
Avenue.  

Crescent Drive  From Highland Drive west to the end of said Crescent 
Drive.  

Division Street  From First Street to 12th Street, except at Fourth Street, 
Eighth Street, Ninth Street, Tenth Street and 11th Street.  

Dunkerton Road  From Center Street to the east city limits.  

Eastpark Road  From Orchard Drive south and east to Briarwood Drive.  

Ellen Street (North)  From First Street north to South Park Road.  

Enterprise Drive  From Viking Road to Chancellor Drive.  

Franklin Street  From First Street south to University Avenue, except at 
Sixth Street, 12th Street, 18th Street and Seerley 
Boulevard.  

Grand Boulevard  From Waterloo Road to the intersection at Galloway 
Avenue, except at Edwards Street and Park Drive.  

Grant Street  From Jefferson Street east to McKinley Street.  

445

Item 37.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-07-11 12:31:49 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 16) 

 
Page 3 of 5 

Hawthorne Drive  From Waterloo Road east to Neola Street, except at 
Rownd Street.  

Highland Drive  From First Street to Fourth Street.  

Hudson Road  From First Street south to the city limits, except at 
University Drive.  

Independence Avenue  From Lincoln Street to Big Woods Road, except at the 
intersection of the railroad tracks which cross 
Independence Avenue.  

Knoll Ridge Drive  From Orchard Drive south to Briarwood Drive.  

Lake Street  From Central Avenue to Leversee Road, except at Big 
Woods Road.  

Laurinda Drive  From Orchard Drive south to Elmridge Drive.  

Lantz (East)  From Center Street to Jackson Avenue.  

Leversee Road  From Lincoln Street to the north city limits, except at the 
intersection of the railroad tracks which cross 
Independence Avenue, and except at Dunkerton Road.  

Lilac Lane  From Rownd Street to Boulder Drive, except at McClain 
Drive.  

Lincoln Street  From the city limits to North Main Street.  

Lone Tree Road  From Ford Road to Big Woods Road, except at Center 
Street.  

  Lone Tree Road from Ford Road to Leversee Road, 
except at Center Street.  

Longview (East)  From Central Avenue to Center Street.  

Madison Street  From Valley Park Drive to Waterloo Road.  

Main Street  From its intersection with North Main Street and Lincoln 
Street to University Avenue.  

Main Street (North)  From its intersection with Lincoln Street and Main Street 
to Independence Avenue.  

Main Street Road (South)  From University Avenue to the south city limits, except 
at Ridgeway Avenue.  

Maplewood Drive  From Rownd Street to Boulder Drive, except at McClain 
Drive and Carlton Drive.  

McClain Drive  From University Avenue to its southerly limit, except at 
Orchard Drive.  

Newman Avenue  From Waterloo Road east to Gibson Street.  

Orchard Drive  From South Main Street to the east city limits, except at 
Rownd Street and Cedar Heights Drive (South).  

Pleasant Drive  From Rownd Street east to the city limits, except at 
Cedar Heights Drive.  

446

Item 37.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-07-11 12:31:49 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 16) 

 
Page 4 of 5 

Rainbow Drive  From Waterloo Road to the east city limits.  

Ridgeway Avenue  From the east city limits to the west city limits, except at 
Hudson Road.  

Rownd Street  From Rainbow Drive south to the city limits, except at 
University Avenue and Hawthorne Drive.  

Scenic Street  From University Avenue to Pleasant Drive.  

Seerley Boulevard  From Main Street to College Street and from Main 
Street east to Royal Drive, except at Valley Park Drive.  

South Lawn Road  At its intersection with Bergstrom Boulevard.  
  At the intersection of Bergstrom Boulevard and at the 

intersection of Stanwood Drive.  

State Street  From East 13th Street to the intersection of First Street.  

Sunset Boulevard  At the intersection of Willow Lane  

Tremont Street  From West 9th Street to West 12th Street.  
  From West 20th Street to West 22nd Street.  

Tucson Drive  From the north line of University Avenue to the south 
line of Orchard Drive.  

Union Road  From the south city limits to the north city limits, except 
at Dike Road, West 27th Street, West 12th Street and 
West First Street.  

University Drive  From the east city limits to the west city limits, except at 
Hudson Road.  

U.S. Highway 20  From the east city limits to the west city limits.  

Valley High Drive  From Rownd Street to Cedar Heights Drive.  

Valley Park Drive  From University Avenue north to East 18th Street, 
except at East Seerley Boulevard.  

Veralta Drive  From University Avenue to Green Hill Road, except at 
Valley High Drive and Orchard Drive.  

Victory Drive  From Waterloo Road north to Rainbow Drive, except at 
Hawthorne Drive.  

Walnut Street  From First Street to the end of the street south of 29th 
Street, except at Sixth Street, 12th Street, 18th Street, 
Seerley Boulevard and University Avenue.  

Washington Street  From First Street to 18th Street, except at Sixth Street 
and 12th Street.  

Waterloo Road  From University Avenue to Main Street.  

Western (East)  From Central Avenue to Jackson Avenue.  

 

(Code 2017, § 26-170; Ord. No. 1929, § 1, 1-2-1991; Ord. No. 1973, § 1, 5-11-1992; Ord. No. 1997, § 2, 10-19-1992; 
Ord. No. 2070, § 3, 11-14-1994; Ord. No. 2104, § 1, 5-8-1995; Ord. No. 2116, § 1, 9-11-1995; Ord. No. 2295, § 1, 3-

447

Item 37.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-07-11 12:31:49 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 16) 

 
Page 5 of 5 

27-2000; Ord. No. 2311, § 1, 10-23-2000; Ord. No. 2384, § 1, 7-8-2002; Ord. No. 2390, § 1, 8-12-2002; Ord. No. 
2407, § 1, 12-9-2002; Ord. No. 2441, § 1, 8-11-2003; Ord. No. 2494, § 1, 11-15-2004; Ord. No. 2511, §§ 1, 2, 4-11-
2005; Ord. No. 2512, §§ 1—3, 4-11-2005; Ord. No. 2514, § 1, 4-11-2005; Ord. No. 2574, § 1, 5-22-2006; Ord. No. 
2863, § 1, 5-16-2016; Ord. No. 2970, § 1, 10-5-2020) 

 

448

Item 37.



449

Item 38.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
DAILY INVOICES FOR 8/7/23 COUNCIL MEETING



450

Item 38.



451

Item 38.



452

Item 38.



453

Item 38.



454

Item 38.



455

Item 38.



456

Item 38.



457

Item 38.



458

Item 38.



459

Item 38.



460

Item 38.



461

Item 38.



462

Item 38.



463

Item 38.



464

Item 38.



465

Item 38.



466

Item 38.



467

Item 38.



468

Item 38.



469

Item 38.



470

Item 38.



471

Item 38.



472

Item 38.



473

Item 38.



474

Item 38.



475

Item 38.



476

Item 38.



477

Item 38.



478

Item 38.



479

Item 38.



480

Item 38.



481

Item 38.



482

Item 38.



483

Item 38.



484

Item 38.



485

Item 38.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
COUNCIL INVOICES FOR 8/7/23 MEETING



486

Item 38.



487

Item 38.



488

Item 38.



489

Item 38.



490

Item 38.



491

Item 38.



492

Item 38.



493

Item 38.



494

Item 38.



495

Item 38.



496

Item 38.



497

Item 38.



498

Item 38.



499

Item 38.



500

Item 38.



501

Item 38.



502

Item 38.



503

Item 38.



504

Item 38.



505

Item 38.



506

Item 38.



507

Item 38.



508

Item 38.



509

Item 38.



510

Item 38.



511

Item 38.



512

Item 38.



513

Item 38.



514

Item 38.



515

Item 38.



516

Item 38.



517

Item 38.



518

Item 38.



519

Item 38.



520

Item 38.



521

Item 38.



522

Item 38.



523

Item 38.



524

Item 38.



525

Item 38.



526

Item 38.



527

Item 38.



528

Item 38.



529

Item 38.



530

Item 38.



531

Item 38.


	Top
	Item 1.	Regular meeting of July 17, 2023
	230717MINUTES

	Item 2.	PH-2023 Sidewalk Assessment Project - Zone 1
	1. PH Memo - 2023 Sidewalk Assessment
	2023 Sidewalk Assesssment Cost Estimate - Final

	Item 3.	Cont. PH-Agreement for Private Development - Ryan Companies US, Inc.
	1_CC Memo for Ryan Companies Public Hearing 08-07-23
	2_Site Map
	3_Site Plan
	4_FINAL Agreement for Private Development - Ryan Companies US, Inc.
	5_Authorizing Resolution - Ryan Companies US, Inc.
	6_Ryan Companies Deed Without Warranty

	Item 4.	Ord.3031-Rezoning C-1 to PC-2, 702 LeClair St.
	1. CC Staff Report Rezoning 702 Le Clair St.final
	2. ZoningLocationMap (11)
	3. ZoningLocationMap LU23-001 Exhibit A
	4. 22-1188-2023-04-06-Master Plan
	5. Rezoning Plat (1)
	6. PC-2 Howe Development Procedures Agreement 6-12-23
	7.  Building Concept Perspectives
	8. LOI
	9. Traffic Narrative
	10. Ord 3031-Rezoning-702 LeClair St

	Item 6.	Ord. 3032-Allowance for vinyl siding-6 or fewer in CD-DT
	1- CC ph.memo.vinyl siding referral.6.19.23
	2 - Ord 3032 - vinyl siding for residential buildings less than 7 units in CD-DT

	Item 7.	Ord. 3034-Removal of Snow & Ice
	1 -First reading for snow ordinance amendments
	2 - Snow ordinance amendment - redlined (1)
	3 - Ord 3034-Snow ordinance amendment - final

	Item 8.	Ord. 3035-Parking Prohibited on Specific Streets
	1. Memo - Parking Prohibited on Bluebell Road Ordinance
	2. Bluebell Parking Exhibit - Updates Page 001
	3. Redlined Sec._23_374 (1)
	4. Ord 3035 - Bluebell Road Parking

	Item 9.	Ord. 3036-Political Signs
	1-Memo to Mayor Council Political Sign ordinance
	2-Ordinance Amendment to Sec. 3-64 (1)

	Item 10.	Ord. 3037-Salary of Councilmembers
	1. Council Salary Ord Amend Memo 2023-Revised
	2. Ord-Council Salary Increase Ordinances Sec 2-47 (1)
	3. Ord 3037-Council Salary Increase Ordinances Sec 2-47 (1)-Final

	Item 11.	Committee Minutes - 07/17/23
	07-17-23 Standing Committees Minutes

	Item 12.	Boards & Commissions Appts.
	2023-07-28_UBT_EvensAppoint
	CFU-Evens App-Questionnaire
	V&T Thomas Appt

	Item 13.	Departmental Monthly Report
	06 - June 2023 Departmental Monthly Report

	Item 14.	Temporary Banner for Rotary Plaza
	Banner Sign Rotary Plaza.2

	Item 15.	Liquor Beer 8-7-23
	Retail alcohol 8-7-23

	Item 17.	MOU-IDR State Setoff Program
	1. IDR State Setoff Prog CC memo 080723
	2. State Setoff MOU & Enrollment form080723

	Item 18.	CivicPlus Agreement
	2023 Renewal Agreement Memo
	CivicPlus Master Services Agreement March 2023
	Cedar falls IOWA

	Item 19.	Library Contract-ByWater Solutions
	Memo and contract ByWater July 2023

	Item 20.	Police Dog Agreement
	K9 Contract Memo_
	Dog Training Contract (2)
	Dog Training Contract Exhibit A (3)
	Dog Training Contract Exhibit B (2)
	Exhibit C 22-23 actual policy (1)

	Item 21.	Wellworks contract
	Wellworks memo 7-27-23
	2024 Wellness Contract with Amendment

	Item 22.	Offer to Buy Real Estate - KATZ Properties, LLC
	1_Memo to Council for Approval of Purchase Agreement
	2_Site Map
	3_Signed Purchase Offer KATZ Properties, LLC

	Item 23.	CDBG Repair contract-Daniels Home Improvement
	1. 912 Cal CC memo
	2. contract with Daniels

	Item 24.	INRCOG Agreement - CDBG - Administration and Technical Services
	1. CDBG memo 8-7-23
	2. CDBG-INRCOG contract

	Item 25.	INRCOG Agreement - HOME - Technical Services -contract with INRCOG
	1. HOME memo  8-1-23
	2. HOME contract with INRCOG

	Item 26.	Purchase - 2021 Ford F-250
	1627_001

	Item 27.	TSIP Application - Viking Rd & Prairie Parkway Intersection Improvements
	1. Memo - Viking Road and Prairie Parkway Intersection Improvements TSIP Application Approval
	Res-TSIP Resolution Draft
	3. TSIP Application for Signature
	4. Exhibit

	Item 28.	Fiber Optic License Agreement -Windstream Intellectual Property Services
	1.  Fiber Optic License Agreement Memo - Windstream Leversee
	2. License Agreement Signed
	3. Exhibit A - Windstream Leversee
	4.Exhibit B - Windstream 707422924

	Item 29.	Final-2021 Sidewalk Repair and Infill Project
	1. 2021 Sidewalk Repair and Infill  Project Final Out Memo

	Item 30.	Final-2021 Street Construction Project
	1. Final Out - 2021 Street Construction
	2. Retainange Release
	3. Funding Source Breakdown
	4. Payment, Performance, and Maintenance Bond

	Item 31.	Final-2022 Street Reconstruction Project
	1. Final Out - 2022 Street Construction
	2. Retainage Release
	3. Funding Source Breakdown
	4. Payement, Performance, and Maintenance Bond

	Item 32.	Final-Clay Street Park Water Quality Improvements
	1. Final Out - Clay Street Drainage (002)
	Pay Application Workbook - 8 (Retainage Release) -Complete

	Item 33.	Set PH-convey vacated Hudson Rd ROW
	1. CC memo to set PH to convey Hudson Road ROW
	2. Acquisition Plat

	Item 34.	Set PH-Parking setbacks for civic and institutional uses
	1 - Memo.CC. set ph.parking for civic uses in CD-DT

	Item 35.	Ord-Parking Permits
	1-memocc-parking amendments
	2-Ord-Parking Permits-Redline

	Item 36.	Ord-Parking-UNI
	1. Memo - Limited Parking on University Avenue frontage road Ordinance
	2. Dakota Street
	4. Redlined Sec._23-374 and 23-379_Final
	3. Parking Ordinance for UNI Frontage Road Sec._23-374 and 23-379_Final

	Item 37.	Ord-Center Street/Lone Tree Rd. Stop Sign
	1. Center Street Stop Sign Ordinance Memo
	3.Center Street Stop Sign Ordinance Change
	4.Sec._23_231. - Center and Lone Tree Change

	Item 38.	Bills and Claims
	1 Daily Invoices 080723
	2 Council Invoices 080723

	Bottom

